
Page 1 of 3 
 

 
 

  
IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING  

PUBLIC ACCESS TO THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING & PARTICIPATION   
 

City Council will Meet Electronically on September 12, 2022 
 
Due to the ongoing efforts to limit the spread of the COVID-19 virus, the September 12, 2022 meeting will 
be conducted via videoconference. 
 
Observe and/or Listen to the Meeting (your options to join the meeting are below): 
Webinar via the link below: 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86280816680?pwd=SWs3VFZQdEoxK2pqdXFZTzNNbzFHQT09 
Passcode: 985312 

 
Live Stream via YouTube: 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCyN1EJ_-Q22918E9EZimWoQ 
 
Audio Only Call   

One tap mobile :  
 US: +13017158592,,86280816680#  or +13092053325,,86280816680#  
 
Telephone: 
 US: +1 301 715 8592  or +1 309 205 3325  or +1 312 626 6799  or +1 646 931 3860  or +1 929 205 6099  or 
877 853 5247 (Toll Free) or 888 788 0099 (Toll Free) 

Webinar ID: 862 8081 6680 
    International numbers available: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kcJd3GYJzP 

 
Citizen Participation and Public Hearing Comments: 
Those who wish to provide a comment during the "Citizen Participation" portion as indicated on the City Council 
agenda; may provide written comments to the City Clerk ahead of the meeting. 
 
ALL written comments must be received no later than 12:00 p.m. the day of the meeting.  Comments may be  
sent via email to: councilcomments@ucitymo.org, or mailed to the City Hall – 6801 Delmar Blvd. – Attention City 
Clerk.  Such comments will be provided to City Council prior to the meeting.  Comments will be made a part of the 
official record and made accessible to the public online following the meeting.  
 
Please note, when submitting your comments, a name and address must be provided.  Please also note if your 
comment is on an agenda or non-agenda item. If a name and address are not provided, the provided comment will 
not be recorded in the official record.  

The City apologizes for any inconvenience the meeting format change may pose to individuals, but it is extremely 
important that extra measures be taken to protect employees, residents, and elected officials during these 
challenging times  

MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY 
VIA VIDEOCONFERENCE 
Monday, September 12, 2022 

6:30 p.m. 
 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86280816680?pwd=SWs3VFZQdEoxK2pqdXFZTzNNbzFHQT09
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCyN1EJ_-Q22918E9EZimWoQ
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kcJd3GYJzP
mailto:councilcomments@ucitymo.org


Page 2 of 3 
 

 
 

  
A.    MEETING CALLED TO ORDER 
B. ROLL CALL 
C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
D. PROCLAMATIONS 

1. Commission on Stormwater Recognition 
2. Redbird Rookies Day in University City  

 
E. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

1. July 11, 2022 – Study Session Minutes (Trinity/Annex Update) 
2. August 8, 2022 – Study Session Minutes (Active Shooter and Proposed Bike Path) 
3. August 8, 2022 – Regular  Meeting Minutes 
4. August 22, 2022 – Special Session Minutes 
 

F. APPOINTMENTS to BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 
none 
 

G. SWEARING IN TO BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 
1. Helen Fuller was sworn-in to the Historic Preservation Commission on August 22nd in the Clerk’s office. 

 
H. CITIZEN PARTICIPATION  
Procedures for submitting comments for Citizen Participation and Public Hearings: 
ALL written comments must be received no later than 12:00 p.m. the day of the meeting.  Comments may be  sent via email 
to:  councilcomments@ucitymo.org, or mailed to the City Hall – 6801 Delmar Blvd. – Attention City Clerk.  Such comments will 
be provided to City Council prior to the meeting.  Comments will be made a part of the official record and made accessible to the 
public online following the meeting.  
Please note, when submitting your comments, a name and address must be provided.  Please also not if your comment is on 
an agenda or non-agenda item. If a name and address are not provided, the provided comment will not be recorded in the 
official record. 
I. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

1. Parking Text Amendment 
 

J. CONSENT AGENDA 
1. Ratification – Flood Emergency Expenses 
2. State of Missouri, Application for Federal/State Public Assistance – Ratifying Mayor’s signature 
3. Heman Park Pool Pump Replacement 
4. Golf Course - Fairway Mower Purchase 
 

K. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT   (vote required) 
1. Historic Flood Recovery Efforts Update 

 
L. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

1. Bill 9472 –   AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 400.2140 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, RELATING TO THE SCHEDULE OF OFF-STREET PARKING SPACE 
REQUIREMENTS, BY ESTABLISHING A MINIMUM PARKING REQUIREMENT FOR RETAIL STORES 
WITH MORE THAN 45,000 SQUARE-FEET OF COMBINED SPACE. 
 

2. Bill 9475 - AN ORDINANCE APPROVING THREE FINAL RIGHT-OF-WAY DEDICATION PLATS FOR 
LAND ALONG MCKNIGHT PLACE, SOUTH OF DELMAR BOULEVARD. 

  

MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY 
VIA VIDEOCONFERENCE 
Monday, September 12, 2022 

6:30 p.m. 
 

mailto:councilcomments@ucitymo.org


Page 3 of 3 
 

 
M. NEW BUSINESS 

Resolutions   (vote required) 
  None 

Bills   (Introduction and 1st reading - no vote required) 
 

1. Bill 9479 – AN ORDINANCE VACATING AND SURRENDERING THE RIGHT-OF-WAY OF ELMORE 
COURT. 

2. Bill 9480 – AN ORDINANCE VACATING AND SURRENDERING THE RIGHT-OF-WAY OF ORCHARD 
COURT. 

3. Bill 9481 – AN ORDINANCE VACATING AND SURRENDERING THE RIGHT-OF-WAY OF RICHARD 
COURT. 

4. Bill 9482 – AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FINAL PLAT FOR A MAJOR SUBDIVISION OF A TRACT 
OF LAND TO BE KNOWN AS “MARKET AT OLIVE PLAT 4.” 

5. Bill 9483 – AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FINAL PLAT FOR A MINOR SUBDIVISION OF A TRACT 
OF LAND TO BE KNOWN AS “ADJUSTED LOT 7” IN MARKET AT OLIVE PLAT 3R. 

6. Bill 9484 – AN ORDINANCE APPROVING ONE A-OF-WAY DEDICATION PLAT FOR A ORTION OF 
TRINITY AVENUE, NORTH OF DELMAR BOULAVARD, ADJACENT TO THE CITY HALL CIVIC 
COMPLEX. 

7. Bill 9485 – AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI TO ISSUE 
ITS TAXABLE INDUSTRIAL REVENUE BONDS (DELMAR BOULEVARD REDEVELOPMENT AREA 
PROJECT), SERIES 2022, IN A PRINCIPAL AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $90,000,000, FOR THE 
PURPOSE OF PROVIDING FUNDS TO PAY THE COSTS OF ACQUIRING, CONSTRUCTING AND 
IMPROVING A FACILITY FOR AN INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT PROJECT IN THE CITY; APPROVING 
A PLAN FOR THE PROJECT; AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY TO ENTER INTO CERTAIN 
AGREEMENTS AND TAKE CERTAIN OTHER ACTIONS IN CONNECTION THEREWITH. 

8. Bill 9486 – AN ORDINANCE DESIGNATING A CERTAIN TRACT OF LAND IN THE CITY OF 
UNIVERSITY CITY AS A BLIGHTED AREA; APPROVING THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR THE 
DELMAR BOULEVARD REDEVELOPMENT AREA; APPROVING A DEVELOPMENT AND 
PERFORMANCE AGREEMENT IN CONNECTION WITH THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN; AND 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY TO ENTER INTO CERTAIN AGREEMENTS AND TAKE CERTAIN OTHER 
ACTIONS IN CONNECTION THEREWITH. 

 
N. COUNCIL REPORTS/BUSINESS 

1. Boards and Commission appointments needed 
2. Council liaison reports on Boards and Commissions 
3. Boards, Commissions and Task Force minutes 
4. Other Discussions/Business 

 
O. COUNCIL COMMENTS 

P. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Motion to go into a Closed Session according to Missouri Revised Statutes 610.021 (1) Legal actions, causes 
of action or litigation involving a public governmental body and any confidential or privileged communications 
between a public governmental body or its representatives or attorneys  

 
Q. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Posted 9th day of September 2022. 
LaRette Reese 
City Clerk, MRCC 





WHEREAS, intense storms in 2008, 2015, and 2017 caused significant property damage and, sadly, the loss 
of life of two University City residents: Willie Johnson and Louise Bryan, prompting the City Council of 
University City to re-examine stormwater systems with a renewed focus; and 

WHEREAS, in 2017 the City Council assembled a task force of volunteers and later in 2020, the Commission 
on Stormwater Issues was established consisting of seven volunteers, including two Certified Floodplain 
Managers (CFM), who attacked the issues head on with enthusiasm, dedication, and empathy; and 

WHEREAS, in 2019, the Commission on Stormwater Issues authored a report with recommendations to the 
Council for a course of action on the projects and polices needed to protect the community from stormwater 
harm and promote the public health, safety and welfare of its residents; and  

WHEREAS, the city has made significant progress implementing the commission’s recommendations 
including establishing a flood warning system, developing an ongoing communications and outreach program 
that educates the public on flood risk, creating a stormwater master plan, and participating in the US Army 
Corps of Engineers’ Flood Mitigation Study; and  

WHEREAS, on Thursday, May 19, 2022 the Association of State Floodplain Managers (ASFPM) awarded 
the 2022 James Lee Witt Local Award for Excellence in Floodplain Management to the City of University City, 
Missouri; and  

WHEREAS, members of the Commission on Stormwater Issues are to be commended and recognized for 
their dedicated service and volunteerism to our community. 

NOW, THEREFORE, The City Council of the City of University City, Missouri, do hereby recognize and 
applauded the members of the Commission on Stormwater Issues,  the Public Works director and staff on 
receiving the distinguished 2022 James Lee Witt Local Award for Excellence in Floodplain Management. 

WHEREOF, We have hereunto set our hands and caused the Seal of the City of University City to be 
affixed this 12 the day of September in the year Two Thousand and Twenty-Two. 

 SEAL 

Councilmember Aleta Klein Councilmember Steve McMahon 

Councilmember Jeff Hales Councilmember Bwayne Smotherson 

Councilmember Tim Cusick Mayor Terry Crow 

Councilmember Stacy Clay ATTEST 
City Clerk, LaRette Reese 

PROCLAMATION 
OF THE 

CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY 

D - 1 - 1



WHEREAS, the University City Department of Parks, Recreation & Forestry - Recreation Division has been the organizer and 
administrator of the University City Redbird Rookies program, sponsored through the Cardinals Care Foundation since 2015. A 
foundation that instructs boys & girls ages 5 - 13 years, on how to play baseball, and provides off-field events to create a 
safe, nurturing environment for the children and their families to play and learn together in an atmosphere that is respectful 
of diversity and individuality; and 

WHEREAS, the University City Redbird Rookies program has capacity to serve 150 children with the vision of encouraging  them 
to lead an active lifestyle with lots of physical activity to combat occurrences of childhood obesity, to participate in a team sports, 
learn accountability, and enjoy small accomplishments for themselves and their teammates through “Americas National Pastime 
– Baseball”; and

WHEREAS, the University City Department of Parks, Recreation & Forestry - Recreation Division through its implementation of 
the Redbird Rookies program stimulates a culture rooted in values of trust, respect, compassion, and fun, all of which 
promotes a safe place for children and families, and enhances childhood memories both on and off the field; and 

WHEREAS, in 2022, the University City Redbird Rookies program participated in the Cardinals Care initiative to introduce a 
new generation of children to our national past-time by celebrating the 75th anniversary of the great Jackie Robinson and 
his introduction to Major League baseball, by providing our “young\uns” with a hat featuring the approved Major League 
Baseball logo representing pride and respect in celebration of the 75th anniversary of this “legend; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of University City honors and recognizes the City’s participation in the Redbird Rookies program; a 
great institution the strengthens self-esteem, team building, and character building while supporting the University City community 
and beyond.  We urge residents to involve the children in their lives to play in the yard, in one of many our parks, to throw a 
ball, hit a ball, catch a ball, and run like “nobody is watching”. 

NOW , THEREFORE, the City Council of University City in the State of Missouri, do hereby proclaim Friday, September 30, 2022 as: 

"UNIVERSITY CITY REDBIRD ROOKIES DAY" 

in the City of University City and urge all citizens to join us in congratulating the University City  Parks & Recreation Division 
on its continued contribution to the athletic and social framework of the children and families within the University City 
community and extending best wishes and continued success for many more years to come. 

WHEREOF, We have hereunto set our hands and caused the Seal of the City of University City to be affixed this 12th day of September  in the year 
Two Thousand and Twenty-Two. 

  SEAL 

Councilmember Aleta Klein Councilmember Steve McMahon 

Councilmember Jeff Hales Councilmember Bwayne Smotherson 

Councilmember Tim Cusick Mayor Terry Crow 

Councilmember Stacy Clay ATTEST  
City Clerk, LaRette Reese 

PROCLAMATION 
OF THE 

CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY 

D - 2 - 1



 

Page 1 of 8 
 

STUDY SESSION 
Fence Options for Annex /Trinity Renovations 

CITY HALL, Fifth Floor 
6801 Delmar Blvd. 

University City, Missouri 63130 
Monday, July 11, 2022 

5:30 p.m. 
 

AGENDA  
 

1. MEETING CALLED TO ORDER 
At the Study Session of the City Council of University City held on Monday, July 11, 2022, in the 
absence of Mayor Terry Crow, Mayor Pro Tem Bwayne Smotherson called the meeting to order at 
5:30 p.m. 
 
In addition to the Mayor Pro Tem, the following members of Council were present:  
 
   Councilmember Stacy Clay 
   Councilmember Aleta Klein 
   Councilmember Steven McMahon 
   Councilmember Jeffrey Hales 
   Councilmember Tim Cusick; (excused) 
    
Also in attendance were City Manager, Gregory Rose; City Attorney, John F. Mulligan, Jr.; Police 
Chief, Larry Hampton; Senior Project Manager, Amanda Truemper of Trivers, and Landscape 
Designer, Derek Don, of DG2 Design Landscape Architecture. 
 

2. CHANGES TO THE REGULAR AGENDA 
(No requested changes) 
 

3. FENCE OPTIONS - ANNEX AND TRINITY BUILDING RENOVATIONS 
Mr. Rose stated staff is asking that Council receive a presentation on the fencing options for the Annex 
and Trinity Building.  He stated although he has authorized Trivers to move forward with preparing 
bidding documents for the renovations, the fence will not be included until staff has received direction 
from Council.  This project will also be sent back to the Historic Preservation Commission for their 
consideration since the fence was added after their initial review.   
 Mr. Rose then introduced Ms. Truemper, the Senior Project Manager for Trivers, Derek Don 
of DG2 Design Landscape Architects, and Chief Hampton, who will kick this presentation off.   
 
Ms. Truemper informed Mr. Rose that while it may not have been in the graphic manner displayed to 
Council, the fence was depicted on the site plan at the time it was presented to the Historic 
Preservation Commission.  Nonetheless, they plan to revisit this with them again, sometime later this 
month.   

 
Chief Hampton stated he would be providing an update on CPTED's suggested site for law enforcement. 
 
Key Issues with Soft Targets for L. E. when Dealing with Criminals 

 In 2019, 2,231 inmates escaped from state or federal prisons in the United States.  This is a 
decrease from the previous year when 2,351 prisoners escaped from facilities across the United 
States.  (Oct 27, 2021.) 
 There is no tracking of these incidents for Municipal departments or holding cells. 

 Unlike in the movies, security experts say inmates tend to wait until they are outside of prison 
walls to make a run for it.  Kevin Tamez, an inmate advocacy consultant, says that any time an 

E - 1 - 1



 

Page 2 of 8 
 

inmate leaves a correctional facility there is a heightened risk of escape. "There are ways of 
minimizing it, but there's never a way to prevent it," he says. 
 U City conducts transports from their facility to courts, St. Louis County, hospitals, or other 

jurisdictions. 
 The Muskogee Oklahoma Police Department announced that it had implemented a new level of 

security for its officers, by building a fence in their back parking lot to provide the added security 
they were seeking. 

 This safety measure came after the department experienced a deadly ambush in December of 
2019.  Fayetteville Officer Stephen Carr was ambushed and executed sitting inside his patrol car.   
 

 Law enforcement personnel are ambushed more frequently than imagined. 
 

 
 UCPD has had officers attacked for simply wearing a uniform.   Therefore, officers must always 

remain on high alert.   
 
10 Most Dangerous Cities in the U.S. 

 
 

Fox News examined crime data from Baltimore, Chicago, Los Angeles, New York City, Philadelphia, 
Seattle, and Washington, D.C., and found violent crimes have increased anywhere from 5% to 40% 
compared to the same timeframe in 2021. Violent crimes are typically defined as rape, sexual assault, 
robbery, assault, and murder.  
 

Below is a recent (Feb. 2022) ranking amongst cities with 100,000 
population or more: Forbes.com 

 

10 M ost Dangerous Cities in the US (# 1 is the 
highest chances of crime)  297 cities whose population is 100,000 or more 

1. St. Louis, Missouri 
2. Jackson, Mississippi 
3. Detroit, Michigan 
4. New Orleans, Louisiana 
5. Baltimore, Maryland 
6. Memphis, Tennessee 
7. Cleveland, Ohio 
8. Baton Rouge, Louisiana 
9. Kansas City, Missouri 
10. Shreveport, Louisiana 

My concern is always safety.  

E - 1 - 2



Page 3 of 8

U City will soon have two prominent business districts, so as these trends continue to grow there is 
a greater need for state-of-the-art infrastructure.   

The Ballwin PD will be utilizing a wrought iron type fence around the perimeter of their new facility. 

The entire Belleville Police facility is surrounded by a 6ft black wrought iron fence on three sides and a 6ft 
black chain link fence on the back for police vehicles.  This facility houses all of its law enforcement 
functions except for the courts.  There is one entrance for the public and three entrances for officers. 

Department of Defense Best Practices 

Dept. of Defense Best 
Practices 

1-3 SECURITY FENCES AND GATES:

Security fences and gates are 
installed and used primarily to 
define the perimeter of 
protected areas, such as 
restricted areas, controlled 
areas, entry control/access 
control points, installation 
perimeters, and to provide a 
physical and psychological 
deterrent to entry and 
preventing unauthorized 
personnel from entering a 
protected area.

Security fences and gates are installed and used primarily to define the perimeter of protected areas, such 
as restricted areas, controlled areas, entry control/access control points, and installation perimeters, and 
to provide a physical and psychological deterrent to entry and to prevent unauthorized personnel from 
entering a protected area. 

CPTED - Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design  
CPTED focuses on the physical design of neighborhoods; fencing, lighting, and plantings, to identify 
areas or elements that may have the potential to attract crime.  It also focuses on areas of Natural 
Surveillance, Natural Access Control, and Territoriality/Defensible Space. 

CPTED promotes and prioritizes increased visibility in and around a property to deter burglars and 
thieves who frequently target areas and residences with low visibility.   This can be counteracted in the 
following ways:  

 Lighting - street lights should be well spaced and in working order.  Alleys and parking areas
should also be lit.  Lighting should reflect the intended hours of operation, i.e., lighting of ball
fields or structures in local parks may encourage after-hour criminal activities.  Motion-sensing
lights perform the double duty of providing light when needed and letting trespassers know that
"they have been seen."

 Landscaping - generally uniformly shaped sites are safer than irregularly shaped sites because
there are fewer hiding places.  Plants should follow the 3-8 rule of thumb; hedges no higher than
3 feet, and tree canopies starting no lower than 8 feet.  This is especially important around
entryways and windows.

E - 1 - 3

https://www.foxnews.com/category/us/crime


 

Page 4 of 8 
 

 Fencing - fences should allow people to see in even when they are built for privacy.  They 
should be of a design that is not too tall and has some visibility. 
 The UCPD experienced an attempted escape last weekend when a prisoner was able to 

remove his handcuffs.   
 Fences act as a deterrent by limiting a prisoner's ability to escape. 

 
 Windows - windows that look out onto streets and alleys are good natural surveillance; 

especially bay windows.  These should not be blocked. Retirees, stay-at-home parents, and 
people working from home offices can provide good surveillance for the neighborhood during the 
day. 

 
Natural Access Control   
Access Control refers to homes, businesses, parks, and other public areas having distinct and legitimate 
points for entry and exits.  However, this should also be balanced to avoid "user entrapment," or not 
allow for an easy escape or police response to an area. 
 
Generally, perpetrators will avoid areas that only allow them one way to enter and exit, have high 
visibility, and/or have a high volume of user traffic.   
 Park designs with open, uninhibited access and a defined entry point.  A good example is a park 

with transparent fencing around the perimeter and a large opening in the gate for entry.  Putting 
vendors or shared public facilities near this entrance creates more traffic and more surveillance.  

 River rocks used in landscaping can be thrown at buildings or individuals. 
 Climbable trees near a secured fence line enable an intruder to gain access to secured areas. 
 Signs identifying reserved parking spaces can reveal the identities of personnel in the building to 

the public. 
 

On February 7, Charles Lee Thornton wrote a note that promised, “The truth will win out in the end.” Then 
he drove to the Kirkwood City Hall with a gun.  Outside, he shot and killed Kirkwood Police Sgt. Bill Biggs 
and took his gun.  Inside the Council chamber, in exactly 1 minute and 13 seconds, he killed five City 
officials and critically wounded the mayor.  
 
Ms. Truemper stated she, Derek Don, and Chief Hampton, have looked at additional options for the fence 
material, as well as the geographic area for the fencing. 
 
Mr. Don then provided a recap of the previous plans: 
 An 8-foot anti-climb fence   
 Secured parking, vehicular gates with card readers, card reader access for pedestrian access, all 

within the 8-foot fence 
 A black ornamental fence for the 63 public parking spaces  
 Five temporary parking spaces at the connector entry; two of which are ADA  
 Seventy-six public spaces on the north lot next to the Trinity entrance; four of which are ADA 
 
Proposed Fence Designs 

 The Ballwin project uses an 8-foot Ameristar Fence, which is a deterrent, although it is not 
marketed as an anti-climb.  The vertical metal pickets are complimentary to the existing black 
ornamental fence around this campus and the Lewis Center.  This option maintains the existing 
perimeter, maximizes parking, and allows for vehicular and pedestrian gates.  

 
 Pedestrian connections through the site so that it does not appear like a secure area that will 

accommodate neighbors who expressed a desire to maintain their pedestrian access.  Along 
with the existing sidewalk, another sidewalk would be added on the north side of the Trinity 
Building to allow for a connection to Mike King Drive.  There could also be a 4-foot fence and 
gate, with a code that could be provided to residents living in this area.   
 Chief Hampton was willing to add this option as long as the secure zone remained as it 

was previously designed.  
E - 1 - 4



 

Page 5 of 8 
 

 
 Moving the fence line in closer along Trinity and Princeton Avenues to allow the existing 

parking lot to remain as it is; 12 spaces and no fencing.   
This would put the secure zone in line with the edge of the parking lot on the west side; result in 
25 parking spaces in the secure zone; 12 parking spaces for police or city staff in the 
unsecured zone and allow the parking on Mike King Drive to remain as it is.   
 From a security and operational perspective, Chief Hampton noted that the sally port 

needed to be within the secure zone.  And adjusting the fence line boundary on Mike King 
Drive would reduce the turning radius of the concrete pad for police vehicles and 
ambulances. 

 There is also a need for a specifically designated area on Kingston and Mike King Drive for 
staff and police parking that is not accessible to the public. 

 
Mr. Don stated if you put the proposed site plan into context with the south end of The Loop, it is an 
approximate 550-foot walk from the entry of the connector to City Hall; a 465-foot walk from Trinity to 
City Hall, and a 725-foot walk from Leland to Kingsland; although, public parking will still be available 
at the entrance to the connector. 
 
Ms. Truemper stated she would like to share some background on the historic questions that have 
come up related to the project. 
Q.  Are you familiar with the Master Plan from 1985?  

Trivers has reviewed it and fully believes that everything they are doing on the site is in full 
compliance.  Amy Gilbertson, the lead Historic Architect on the project provided the following 
summary of the ways in which she believes the site is being addressed.  
 
"The Master Plan recommends using the Secretary of Interior's standards for rehabilitation of 
individual projects undertaken within the Historic District.  Trivers has completed over one hundred 
historic projects, understands this to be the best practice standard, and is intimately familiar with 
these guidelines and how to properly apply them to historic structures.  Trivers has presented 
knowledge sessions about these standards at state, national, and international conferences, and can 
confidentially state that thus far this design for the Annex and Trinity Buildings, as well as the site 
development, complies with the Secretary of Interior's standards for rehabilitation.   
 Within the Master Plan, there are suggestions for site and circulation development within the 
District; however, on page 10 of that Plan, it acknowledges that projects have been developed from a 
planning perspective only with minimum design investigation.  It is the planner's expectation that not 
all of the projects will be achieved as described." 
 The current design does deviate from the site plans developed in 1985.  The current proposed plan 
must support the programs that will be held within these buildings, as well as address community 
wishes for better accessibility and additional public parking.  It is notable that this community's desire 
existed in 1985 and was confirmed as still being an issue in 2019 through public engagement 
surveys.  Public parking will be greatly improved through the current project, and although the 
circulation paths are different than those proposed in the 1985 Master Plan, the proposed site 
development does still comply with the standards for rehabilitation.   
 Historic light fixtures are planned for the public right-of-way to continue with the already existing 
design methodology that surrounds City Hall.  However, because the standards for rehabilitation 
specifically discourage creating a false sense of history with new design interventions, new site 
fixtures have been selected to be other time; 2022, while remaining compatible with and not 
detracting from the historic character-defining features of the building." 
 

 
Mr. Don stated he had failed to mention that for whatever option is selected, the landscape plan will 
supplement some of the existing trees with evergreens and landscaping adjacent to the fence as much 
as possible.  The generator will be at the parking lot elevation, and the retaining wall plus additional 
landscaping will be used as screening. 
 

E - 1 - 5



 

Page 6 of 8 
 

Mr. Rose stated he had received some questions from Council that he would ask the team to address. 
 
Q.  Will the current employee parking along Mike King Drive be converted to additional public 
parking? 
A.  (Mr. Don):  The scope did not include the parking on Mike King Drive which is currently designated 
for City staff only.  A preliminary investigation revealed that the curb on Mike King Drive would be a 
little restrictive, so there would have to be some variances made if it were to be converted to public 
parking.   
 
Q.  What is the number of ADA parking spaces allocated for the temporary parking located next 
to the connector? 
A.  (Mr. Don):  There are five spaces in total, with two being ADA.   
Q.  What are the standards for ADA parking spaces located next to an entrance? 
A.  (Mr. Don):  ADA parking has to be less than 2% in all directions, so the guidelines state that you 
should try to get them as close to the public entry as possible.  However, the reason why this parking 
is up against the building side of the drop-off is that there are significant grade changes from the 
southwest to the northeast.  And they also worked to make both the stairs and the ramp accessible for 
everyone.   
 
Q.  Are the recommendations being made for the fence based on best practices, and if so, is 
that information available? 
A.  (Mr. Don):  The best practices were derived from conversations with the Chief, which is also what 
he shared with Council today.   
 
Q.  Would an 8 or 6-foot wrought iron fence be less of a deterrent than an anti-climb fence?   
A.  (Chief Hampton):  Although there are no measurable components for deterrence, the likelihood of 
climbing a 6-foot fence is greater than climbing an 8-foot fence. 
 
Q.  How many secured parking spaces are needed for police or personal vehicles on a daily 
basis? 
A.  (Chief Hampton):  There are over 100 plus employees and based on the anticipated growth of the 
City there will be a need for more.  However, on a daily basis, six to ten electric vehicles will be 
absorbing these spaces, along with the personal and fleet vehicles for the department's four, eight, 
and twelve-hour shift rotations.  Although the understanding has always been that every employee 
would not be able to park their vehicle within that secured zone. 
 
Q.  What is the number of City Hall employees that actually use the parking lot in the evenings? 
A.  (Mr. Rose):  With the exception of meetings, janitorial staff, dispatchers, and public safety, it is a 
pretty small number of employees that use the parking lot in the evenings consistently. 
 
Chief Hampton stated the current number of fleet vehicles that will be utilizing the secured zone 
throughout the day and night is 30-plus. 
 
Q.  Can additional parking be achieved by removing the sally port from the secured zone and 
adding 45-degree angles facing southeast along Mike King Drive, with one-way access near the 
sally port, and a one-way exit on the south in front of the connector building entrance?  
A.  (Mr. Don):  From the very beginning of this project the Police Department's perspective was that the 
sally port should be designed to fit within the secured zone and that the staff and police vehicular 
circulation points were separated away from the public.   But again, there are significant grade 
changes throughout this area.  So, when that same question was asked previously, they talked to their 
civil engineer who stated that once you start punching parking in different directions your grade then 
becomes 8 to 10% rather than the preferred 5 to 6%.  And anytime you go over 6% car doors tend to 
swing open, which is not considered to be a best practice.  It would also impact the turning radius for 
the concrete apron in front of the sally port where the ambulance and transport van would be unable to 
get in or out of that area.  So, that location is pretty important to the functionality of the sally port. 

E - 1 - 6



 

Page 7 of 8 
 

 
 
Councilmember Clay posed the following questions to Mr. Don:  
Q.  Do you know the walking distance from the front of the public parking lot to either the front 
or back doors of City Hall?    
A.  I did not make any calculations for spaces located closer to the doors, but it would probably be in 
the 300 to 350-foot range.   
Q.  Will the public still be able to park on the side of the building next to the Scientology 
building?   
A.  Yes.  If the fence line is moved in, those twelve spaces could potentially be open during the 
evening hours. 
 
Councilmember Clay stated on a day like today with 100-degree temperatures, it might be challenging 
for some of our citizens to walk a long distance.  Mr. Don stated while that is a fair assessment, the 
bright side is that once they are in the building they should be able to transact all of their business at 
the one-stop shop.  He stated the key to this design was to be mindful of those arriving at City Hall by 
all means of transportation; car, bus, or bicycle. 
 
Councilmember Klein stated in trying to consider ways to balance the feeling of openness to the 
community and the need for security, she liked the alternative perimeter idea where the section of 
parking closest to Trinity is not fenced in.  She then posed the following questions to Mr. Don: 
Q.  In this alternative, is it correct that there will not be any fencing along Mike King Drive?  
A.  The fence encloses the sally port and then comes down Mike King Drive so that parking would be 
considered unsecured.  However, there will be an existing black ornamental fence that will run along 
the north side of the taller PVC plastic fence.     
Q.  I think the gate that would give access to residents is a visual deterrent to the public 
coming into Civic Plaza.  So, since this is an unsecured area is it even necessary to have a 
locked gate? 
A.  From an operational standpoint, I would prefer to have the Chief address that issue, although they 
are open to suggestions.   
 
Councilmember Klein noted that anyone coming from The Loop would not have access to the 
neighborhood without a code, so they would have to go all the way around to get in.   
Chief Hampton stated the rationale behind the gate is to provide safety for the residents living within 
that neighborhood.  Just last night, 46 vehicles were vandalized in the hospital parking lot, and 
employees have been impacted when their vehicles were vandalized or stolen while they were at work.  
So, the deterrence is not for residents walking to and from this area, it's to combat these current trends 
by limiting access to anyone with criminal intent.  As it stands, that parking lot is something his 
department will have to try to secure with technology since it cannot be surveilled 24/7.  
Councilmember Klein stated in her opinion if someone was intent on getting into that neighborhood 
they would find a way to do it.  So, she thinks it would be better to leave it open so that people have 
free access. Chief Hampton stated the intent is not to limit residents from accessing their 
neighborhood; his focus is on a criminal's ability to access these public parking lots.   
Councilmember Klein stated that's a little confusing because it seems like they could easily access the 
parking lot from Mike King Drive.  Chief Hampton stated they could, but he's looking at it from the 
aspect of the need to employ more technology and visible police patrols to act as a deterrent. 
 
Councilmember Hales stated he thinks that aesthetically these options are a vast improvement.  And 
while he would agree with Councilmember Klein's opinion about utilizing the alternative perimeter idea 
where the section of parking closest to Trinity is not fenced in, he would disagree with her opinion 
about the gate.  He stated he thinks it's a good idea, and that the residents who live in the Heights 
would probably prefer to have that limited access into their neighborhood.  Councilmember Hales 
stated even though the fence has been one of the most challenging elements of this project, he feels a 
lot better about how all of the puzzle pieces are fitting together.  In fact, the time spent talking about 
this fence is a testament to what a great process this has been.  So, at this point, the only thing that 

E - 1 - 7



 

Page 8 of 8 
 

has not been talked about is how many people will end up parking in the Library's parking lot since it's 
a lot closer than the north lot. 
Councilmember McMahon stated he agrees that moving the fence inward is a good compromise for 
the neighborhood and that if people are looking for a shorter route they will probably try to park on 
Trinity.  But the bottom line is that you can never be absolutely certain how people are going to react 
when you make these types of major changes, so, some things will probably have to be tweaked after 
they're built, in spite of the fact that they were laid out with all of the best intentions.  He stated all of 
the looking forward that Council and this administration try to do to come up with the best 
compromises is excellent, and with what has been presented tonight, I certainly think we are starting to 
get there.   
 
Mayor Pro Tem Smotherson posed the following questions to Mr. Don:  
Q. Will there be a fence on the south side of the sally port?  
A. Yes sir. 
Q.  Will there be any landscaping in front of that fence? 
A.  There will be landscaping on Mike King Drive where there is a 4-foot landscape zone between the 
curb and the sidewalk, the 3 to 4 feet area on the inside of the fence, and a 5-foot-wide landscape 
zone that connects to the Annex Building.  So basically, there will be some type of vertical landscape 
screening on every edge of the fence. 
Q.  Do you know the distance from the public sidewalk located along that fence, to the Sally 
Port?    
A.  I believe it is within the 6 to 8-foot range.  There is some wiggle-room with the fence type if you go 
with the alternate because it has smaller footings.  So, their goal will be to get as much separation as 
they can between the fence and the public sidewalk. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Smotherson posed his remaining questions to Chief Hampton: 
Q.  I spent the weekend visiting the Chesterfield, Creve Coeur, Clayton, Belleville, Olivette, St. 
Louis City, and Ballwin Police Stations, and in every case, their sally port and secured parking 
was nowhere near their public parking.  So, what is your comfort level with our sally port being 
so close to the public? 
A.  I'm very comfortable because the access for this sally port is only for our mobile transport teams to 
come in and out with prisoners, which is monitored and only takes a very short period of time.  
Prisoners that need to go to court are escorted out of a different exit located between Trinity and the 
Annex.   
Q.  But in this case, we are trying to put a police station in a public plaza.  So, are you really 
comfortable with the idea that your police station will be different than the standards set by all 
of these other municipalities?  
A.  For the last five years we've had to be different.  Within the temporary facility, they only had one 
accessible sally port for transporting prisoners.  And in the old Annex, there was no sally port at all, so 
his officers had to bring prisoners through the same entrance as citizens.  Therefore, in his 
professional opinion, he believes this facility exemplifies the type of state-of-the-art police station that 
will meet all of their needs. 
 

4. ADJOURNMENT  
Mayor Pro Tem Smotherson thanked everyone for their participation and adjourned the Study Session at 6:27 
p.m. 
 

 
LaRette Reese, 
City Clerk 

E - 1 - 8



 

Page 1 of 7 
 

STUDY SESSION   
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY 

Active Shooter Update & Bike Path Proposal 
VIA VIDEOCONFERENCE 
Monday, August 8, 2022 

5:30 p.m. 
 

AGENDA  

 
1. MEETING CALLED TO ORDER 

At the Study Session of the City Council of University City held via videoconference on Monday, 
August 8, 2022, Mayor Terry Crow called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. 
 
In addition to the Mayor, the following members of Council were present:  
 
   Councilmember Stacy Clay 
   Councilmember Aleta Klein 
   Councilmember Steven McMahon 
   Councilmember Jeffrey Hales 
   Councilmember Tim Cusick 
   Councilmember Bwayne Smotherson 
    
Also in attendance were City Manager, Gregory Rose; City Attorney, John F. Mulligan, Jr.; 
Police Chief, Larry Hampton; Deputy Fire Chief, Fred Kramer; Director of Parks, Recreation and 
Forestry, Darren Dunkle; Resident, Mark Winer, Angelica Gutierrez, and Mark Vogel of Great 
Rivers Greenway. 
 

Mayor Crow stated Council recognizes that a great travesty has occurred over the past weeks and 
would like to let everyone viewing this session know that he, the City Manager, and his colleagues 
will be making additional comments during the Regular Session.  
 

2. CHANGES TO THE REGULAR AGENDA 
Mr. Rose requested that Item J (1) be moved from the Consent Agenda to the City Manager's 
Report.   
 

3. ACTIVE SHOOTER UPDATE 
Mr. Rose stated pursuant to Council's request, staff will be presenting general information on the 
City's Active Shooter Program. 

 
Chief Hampton stated since the inception of the City's Joint MACTAC (Multi-Assault Counter 
Terrorism Action Capabilities) and Active Shooter Trainer Program in 2012, they have conducted 
dozens of sessions for schools, religious institutions, City employees, daycares, and even 
businesses throughout St. Charles and St. Louis County, on recommended responses for an 
Active Shooter incident.  
 Program inception in 2012 for Schools and Religious Institutions 
 At the time of our program's inception, we were one of the first departments in St. Louis 

City/County to utilize MACTAC techniques to benefit our educational institutions  
 MACTAC - Multi-Assault Counter Terrorism Action Capabilities Program was developed in 

California and brought to Saint Louis by the Saint Louis County Tactical Operations Unit in 
2012 

 The response to an Active Shooter Program was taught twice a year from 2012 through 
the present, to all University City Public Schools  

E - 2 - 1



Page 2 of 7 

 Each training/presentation is tailored to the school where the  program is presented
 The program was modified in 2014 and presented to the staff of University City Library,

University City Recreation Center staff, and City Hall employees
 The program was expanded in 2018 to include hands-on scenario training, which U City

officers take yearly
 University City High School (2018), Brittany Woods Middle School (2019), and City of

Lights Church (2021) have been utilized as operation grounds during department-wide
training

 UCPD training is also provided to the Fire Department, Paramedics, and Dispatch, which
includes the utilization of Drones and a Throw Bot (robot)

 This program is now MO-POST. Certified for L. E., using Department of Homeland
Security and FBI standards

School Programs Include: 
 Overview and definition of Active Shooter incidents
 The "deadly hour" definition, Run-Hide-Fight, and an Arsenal of Responses
 Lockdown protocol and door safety
 Identification of multiple geographically important collection points specific to each school
 Survival mindset and fight, Flight of Freeze response
 Response to dynamic entry by police

Religious Programs Include: 
 All topics included in the School Program
 Identification, Preparation, and Execution of Emergency Plans
 Establishment of the usher program and necessary training
 Identification of important information from phone, email, and/or social media threats

City Staff Programs Include:  
 All topics covered in the school and religious institution program
 MACTAC definition and application
 The 4 A's:  most important and time-saving tips for first responders on an active scene

Hands-On Interactive Training and Scenarios 
 1-person, 2-person, 3-person, 4-person, and buddy team movement techniques of

approach to an active shooter scene
 Proper building clearing techniques to include proper room entry and target acquisition
 Medical/first aid training
 Triage creation, paramedic escort techniques, multiple-threat assessments with UCFD
 Evidence collection and preservation

Drones 
The use of drones by UCPD & UCFD includes planning tactical active shooter responses during 
emergencies, assisting with search and rescue operations, assessing the scope of a scene, 
documenting crime scenes, and providing aerial views during special circumstances. 

Updated Presentations 
The PowerPoint program has been modified to fit into one-hour training for schools and two-hour 
training for religious institutions. In addition to the PowerPoint program, these presentations are 
paired with:  
 A security analysis of the facility and written report based on CPTED; Community Policing

Through Environmental Design, principles
 A sample action plan approved by DHS/FEMA for facilities' operation teams
 DHS/FBI documentation and data for the development of security teams; (available to the

public)

E - 2 - 2



 

Page 3 of 7 
 

 How to request assistance from the Jewish Federation of St. Louis which offers grants and 
security 

 How to request assistance from the State of Missouri/DHS with grants and security 
 
Training 

• As an organization, our goal is to continue to provide excellent service to our University 
City community in the most efficient manner possible.   

• Every member of the UCPD and UCFD is vital to our organizational realization.  We 
constantly reevaluate performances, training, and trends, to maximize our public safety 
efforts.  

• Training is also conducted with St. Louis County PD and Washington University on an 
annual basis. 

• During the calendar years 2019-2022 UCPD trainers conducted the following training 
seminars: 
 Response to An Active Shooter - 02-04-2019, Julia Goldstein Early Childhood  
 UCPD DEPARTMENT WIDE TRAINING - 03-06-2019 - Brittany Woods Middle 

School  
 Response to An Active Shooter - 03-11-2019, Brittany Woods Middle School  
 Response to An Active Shooter - 04-01-2019, Lieberman Learning Center  
 Response to An Active Shooter - 04-01-2019, Pershing Elementary School  
 Response to An Active Shooter - 04-29-2019, Jackson Park Elementary School  
 Response to An Active Shooter - 05-13-2019  University City High School  
 Response to An Active Shooter - 05-13-2019  Barbara C. Jordan Elementary School  
 Houses of Worship and Response to an Active Shooter - 06-03-2019 - 8124 Delmar 

Blvd.  
 Response to An Active Shooter - 08-19-2019 Epstein Hebrew Academy and Kadima 

High School  
 Response to An Active Shooter - 10-21-2019 Lieberman Learning Center  
 Response to An Active Shooter - 10-28-2019 - Pershing Elementary  
 Response to An Active Shooter - 11-18-2019 Flynn Park  
 Response to An Active Shooter - 11-26-2019 Barbara C. Jordan Elementary  
 Response to An Active Shooter - 12-02-2019 - Jackson Park Elementary  
 Response to An Active Shooter - 02-24-2020 - Brittany Woods Middle School  
 Response to An Active Shooter - 03-02-2020 - University City High School  
 Response to An Active Shooter - 08-26-2020 Epstein Hebrew Academy and Kadima 

High School  
 UCPD DEPARTMENT WIDE TRAINING - 08-12-2021 - City Lights Church  
 Response to An Active Shooter - 08-26-2021 Epstein Hebrew Academy and Kadima 

High School  
 Houses of Worship and Active Shooter Response - 12-13-2021 - 8124 Delmar Blvd. 

 
Chief Hampton played a video of an actual MACTAC training session being conducted at Brittany 
Woods Middle School. 
 
Councilmember Smotherson thanked staff for this presentation, which helps to reassure residents 
about its first-responders ability to address this critical issue that is now happening on a national 
level. 
 
Mayor Crow asked Chief Hampton if the majority of the City's religious institutions had opted to 
receive this training?  Chief Hampton stated although there are several programs available that 
can provide this same type of training, City staff has performed two-hour presentations and 
security assessments to the vast majority of the City's institutions. 
 

E - 2 - 3



 

Page 4 of 7 
 

Councilmember Cusick asked what age group of students participate in the presentations to 
schools?  Chief Hampton stated their training starts with the middle school age group.  
Councilmember Cusick asked if training for elementary schools and daycares was only provided 
to faculty and staff?  Chief Hampton stated that is correct, although some districts will utilize the 
Alice or DHS Active Shooter Response Programs. 
 
Premises Identification For Rapid Deployment of Emergency Personnel 
Deputy Fire Chief Kramer stated this system was developed by the Greater St. Louis County Fire 
Chiefs and Fire Marshals Associations to make navigating around schools easier for first 
responders.  The premises identification uses a color-coded system with numbers where a stripe 
is painted at the bottom of walls along the corridor, classrooms, and entryways to signify what 
zone responders are in.   

 
Sample Layout 
 

 
 
 

Deputy Fire Chief Kramer stated while he has only talked to one school about repainting to implement 
this system, his coworkers have reported that it's somewhat of a mixed bag as to the interest of most 
U City schools.  He stated an ordinance is required prior to implementation, however, before seeking 
the passage of an ordinance, their goal is to work with the schools, Fire Chief, and Council, to garner 
everyone's input.  To date, several meetings have already been scheduled to meet with U City School 
officials.  He noted that while St. Louis County has already passed such an ordinance, it is only 
applicable to unincorporated areas. 
 
Councilmember Clay posed the following questions to Deputy Fire Chief Kramer: 
Q.  Is it correct that this system has not been implemented in U City Schools?   
A.  That is correct.  A meeting has been scheduled for next week with the Superintendent of U City 
Schools, and his plan is to include the UCPD in this discussion.  This system has been implemented 
in some areas, and other municipalities are simply trying to work with schools without the 
implementation of an ordinance.   
Q.  Do you know which districts have already implemented this system?   
A.  It has been implemented in Jefferson County and the unincorporated areas of St. Louis County.   
 
Councilmember Clay stated he would be interested in finding out more information about schools that 
have already implemented this system. 
 
Mayor Crow thanked Chief Hampton and Deputy Fire Chief Kramer for their presentation, and all of 
the long hours they've put in over the last couple of weeks. 

E - 2 - 4



 

Page 5 of 7 
 

 
4. BIKE PATH PROPOSAL 

Mr. Dunkle stated Mr. Winer and his team from Great Rivers Greenway will make this presentation 
on a proposed East-West Connection Bike Path, running from Ackert Walkway to the Innerbelt. 
 

Mr. Winer thanked Council for taking time this evening to listen to Great Rivers' Presentation.  He 
stated he is a long-time U City resident and has served as a volunteer, chairing the Economic 
Development Commission, and as a member of the Pension Board.  He stated that Angelica 
Gutierrez and Mark Vogel of Great Rivers Greenway would be assisting him with the presentation. 
 Mr. Winer stated during COVID he spent a great deal of time walking in parks primarily 
around U City.  And what he realized is that U City already had two Greenway paths; one running 
from Wash U's campus to Vernon, and the other through Heman Park, ending at Purdue and Midland, 
with a final portion running along I-170 from the Ladue City Limits to Olive Blvd.  So, while speaking 
with Mr. Dunkle about the possibility of connecting these segments he was provided with several 
proposals that had been prepared by Great Rivers Greenway in 2014.  Mr. Winer stated he learned 
that there had been a lot of opposition to these alignments; (A & B), primarily from members of the 
community that would have to either grant an easement or allow the trail to be run through their 
property.  As a result, the proposal was deemed unfeasible, however, this proposal offers another way 
of making those connections. 
 
East West Connection to Centennial Greenway Trail  

 
Who 
 Stakeholders and potential beneficiaries 
 Residents, Visitors, Middle School, High School, and University Students and Staff, 

Pedestrians, Bicyclists, Persons with Disabilities 
 Partners 
 City of University City, City Leadership including City Council, Parks and Traffic 

Commissions, Parks, Recreation and Forestry Department, and  Public Works Department 
 School District of University City (2022 Green Ribbon School District Sustainability 

Awardee) 
 Great River Greenways 
 Trail Net 
 St. Louis County 
 Metropolitan Sewer District 
 Major Employers in St. Louis Region 
 Owners of multi-unit communities, including Parkview Gardens, The District, and 

thousands of other apartment building residents in U. City 
 Commercial Destinations including The Loop, Olive Boulevard, and Markets on Olive 

 
What & Why 
 What:  
 A safe Great Rivers Greenway Trail for pedestrians, people with disabilities, and bikers 

connecting two existing Greenways (Centennial Greenway in Ackert Park to Centennial 
Greenway along I-170)  

 Why:  
 Create healthy transportation and recreation options for all 
 Enhance sustainability in U. City 
 Connect destinations in U. City including eight U. City Parks, U. City High School, Brittany 

Woods Middle School, Washington University, and commercial and employment centers 
 Connect U. City residents and visitors to destinations throughout the St. Louis Region with 

existing and proposed Great Rivers Greenway Trails 
 

Mr. Winer stated Great Rivers Greenway (GRG) is looking for communities they can work with and 
believes this is a good time to complete its vision.  One of the very first trails initiated was the 

E - 2 - 5



 

Page 6 of 7 
 

Centennial Greenway Trail, and the vision has always been to create a safe, accessible greenway by 
connecting this trail to Forest Park and Creve Coeur Lake.  
 
Mr. Vogel stated a map illustrating the main thoroughfares within U City depicts where the proposed 
trail would run and how it forgoes the need to utilize anyone's property. 
 
 
 
Where 
 Using the existing public right-of-ways and best practices for safe urban trails from: 
 Ackert Park to Heman Park along Vernon with a “road diet” for vehicles and a Greenway 

for pedestrians and bicycles separated from the road with curbs 
 Vernon is an area that has been impacted by flooding, and St. Louis County has 

received approval and funding to repave this section.  Collaborations between St. 
Louis County and GRG could lead to some alternatives that would allow for a separate 
greenway along this road. 

 Existing Heman Park Greenway from the U. City Community Center to Midland and 
Purdue 

 Midland and Wilson to Shaftesbury adjacent to U. City High School with a “road diet” for 
vehicles and a Greenway for pedestrians and bicycles separated from the road with curbs 

 Shaftesbury to Kaufman Park with a “road diet” for vehicles and a Greenway for 
pedestrians and bicycles separated from the road with curbs CROSSING Mona Trail 

 Groby Road from Kaufman Park to Ruth Park with a “road diet” for vehicles and a 
Greenway for pedestrians and bicycles separated from the road with curbs 

 Two alternatives for the final segment: 
 Alternative A- Along the East and North sides of Ruth Park (possibly through Ruth Park 

Woods) and The Market at Olive to Centennial Greenway at I-170 and Olive 
 Alternative B-Along the South Side of Ruth Park on Groby Road and Old Bonhomme, 

continuing on Old Bonhomme to the Centennial Greenway Trail along I-170 with a 
“road diet” for vehicles and a Greenway for pedestrians and bicycles separated from 
the road with curbs 

 
Mr. Vogel stated he believes it would be more feasible to use Alternative B since there is an existing 
connection on Old Bonhomme. 
 
How 
 Reduce cost and impact on residents by establishing Greenway using U. City parks and 

streets 
 Provide clear signage, curbs, and select streets, whenever possible, that are wide, have 

relatively little traffic, and few residences on at least one side of the street to minimize the 
impact on residential parking. 

 Work with residents and other stakeholders to plan and advocate for Greenway 
 Leadership to Support Feasibility Study with Great Rivers Greenway  

 
Mr. Vogel asked Council to consider taking the following actions: 
 Moving forward with this proposal by exploring its feasibility with Great Rivers Greenway, and  
 Advocating for St. Louis County to use their resources currently available for redesigning 

streets in conjunction with GRG's proposal  
 
Mr. Winer stated GRG places a huge value on community engagement and has a solid process for 
conducting alignment studies to make sure that concerns are heard and addressed.  Once this project 
has been studied and community support has been achieved, GRG's long-term vision is to connect 
Forest Park with Creve Coeur Park and Centennial Trails, as well as St. Charles County, all the way 
to 370 Lakeside Park.   
 

E - 2 - 6



 

Page 7 of 7 
 

Ms. Gutierrez stated they value all of the work that has been done, and while GRG believes this 
proposal is feasible, it will take some time to make sure all of the partners are aligned. 
 
Councilmember Smotherson asked if any consideration had been given to making the connection at 
the end of Ackert Park, to Vernon, Hanley, and Blackberry, which immediately connects to Old 
Bonhomme?  Mr. Vogel stated while he has not studied this route, these kinds of considerations 
would be a part of GRG's typical process when looking at alternative routes to determine the pros and 
cons before formulating the preferred plan.  
 
Ms. Gutierrez stated during the 2014 plan St. Louis County was very restrictive about coordinating 
activities on their right-of-ways.  And ultimately, the City decided to avoid all County roads.  So that is 
another element that will have to be taken into account when developing routes. 
 
Mr. Winer stated one standard he was trying to achieve was eliminating the need to take away 
anyone's parking spot.  There is parking in the middle of the street near the duplexes and homes from 
Midland to the high school, so he is not sure how you could create a separate trail without impacting 
that parking.  And that may also be true as you go west on Blackberry.  
 
Councilmember Hales asked the team if they had a rough estimate for how long this process might 
take?  Mr. Vogel stated while they would not be starting completely from scratch, typically it is a nine 
to twelve-month process to conduct the planning study.  The next steps would be to obtain 
engineered drawings and grant opportunities.  So, it takes several years from the time GRG starts an 
engagement to the first round of construction. 
 
Councilmember Klein stated she thinks this is a great time to be having this discussion because it 
meets a lot of the objectives identified in the City's 2040 Visioning Plan.  She then asked if there was 
a precedent for utilizing feeder trails to gain access to the main trail so that every section of the 
community could feel included?   Ms. Gutierrez stated consideration will be given to connectivity, and 
in fact, the 2014 Master Plan was great in that respect, with several networks that can be viewed 
online.  Of course, revisions will be necessary, but it contained many north and south connections 
from Clayton, Page, 82nd Street, and Pennsylvania.   
 
Mayor Crow asked the team if they could describe what a "road diet" looks like in these plans?  Ms. 
Gutierrez said try to imagine a road like Shaftsbury where you create a wide sidewalk with a buffer in 
between the greenway and the street.  She stated the idea is to shift the geometry of the street to 
separate traffic from the greenway while maintaining parking and allowing for two-way traffic.  Mayor 
Crow asked if this was similar to the sidewalk and bike path along Forsyth and the Danforth Campus?  
Ms. Gutierrez stated that it was. 
 
Mr. Winer asked if someone could provide him with a brief summary of the City's 2040 Vision Plan?  
Mr. Rose stated the intent of the plan was to create a clear vision for the City that was created and 
developed by residents, addressing parks, recreation, education, transportation, etc.  The component 
that Councilmember Klein referred to was a stated goal about the need for connectivity within U City.  
Mr. Rose stated staff would be happy to share this document with him after it has been adopted and 
approved by Council.   

 

5. ADJOURNMENT    
Mayor Crow thanked everyone for their presentations and adjourned the Study Session at 6:28 p.m. 

 
LaRette Reese, 
City Clerk, MRCC 

E - 2 - 7



E - 2 - 8



Page 1 of 10 

A. MEETING CALLED TO ORDER
At the Regular Session of the City Council of University City held on Monday, August 8, 2022,
via videoconference, Mayor Terry Crow called the meeting to order at 6:31 p.m.

B. ROLL CALL
In addition to the Mayor, the following members of Council were present:

Councilmember Stacy Clay 
Councilmember Aleta Klein 
Councilmember Steven McMahon 
Councilmember Jeffrey Hales 
Councilmember Tim Cusick 
Councilmember Bwayne Smotherson 

Also in attendance were City Manager, Gregory Rose; City Attorney, John F. Mulligan, Jr., and 
Director of Finance, Keith Cole.  

C. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA
Mayor Crow noted that Mr. Rose had requested that Item K (1) be moved from the Consent
Agenda to the City Manager's Report and that they both be allowed to address the floods which
recently impacted the City.

Councilmember Hales moved to approve the Agenda as amended, it was seconded by 
Councilmember Smotherson, and the motion carried unanimously. 

Mayor Crow stated this City as well as other communities suffered tragic events on July 26th and 
28th, when the River Des Peres flooded, impacting over 300 homes.  Two hundred of those homes 
have now been condemned leaving citizens displaced.  Floods of this magnitude have occurred in 
2008, 2011, 2013, 2014, 2019, and 2020, so something has to change.  And even though U City 
has been working with the Army Corps of Engineers to build a basin in Overland; that's only the 
beginning because this is a regional issue that no one city can remedy on its own.  So, he hopes 
that all of the areas impacted by this flood will start to work together in an effort to come up with a 
resolution.  

Mayor Crow stated the City's ability to purchase some of the condemned properties, as it did 
on Wilson Avenue, can only occur after an Emergency Declaration has been declared since the 
City will be reliant upon additional federal and state funds to do so.  And while his understanding is 
that President Biden has signed the Emergency Declaration, unfortunately, it is a rather slow-
moving process.  

Mayor Crow stated he would like to thank the City's employees for their service, as they have 
had to work long hours in very distressed situations and extends his sympathies to everyone 
impacted.  He stated he would also like to thank those who have already provided their time and 
talents and encourage everyone who has the opportunity to please get involved by housing a 
displaced family or contributing to a supporting charity.    

Mr. Rose stated he received his first CODE RED notification around 12:30 a.m. on July 26th and 
began taking action at 3:00 a.m.  He then read the following comments into the record regarding 
the event: 

MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY 
VIA VIDEOCONFERENCE 
Monday, August 8, 2022 

6:30 p.m. 

E - 3 - 1



 

Page 2 of 10 
 

"On Tuesday, July 26, 2022, many areas of U City were flooded due to the 9 inches of rain that fell 
within approximately three hours.  This historic amount of rain caused severe stormwater runoff into 
the River Des Peres which was unable to accommodate the flow and resulted in flooding in areas 
that have never flooded before to anyone’s knowledge.  
 Initially, this flooding impacted approximately 300 homes and forced roughly 45 residents to 
be rescued from their homes.  These residents were taken to a shelter operated by the Red Cross.   
Subsequently, approximately 207 dwelling units have been condemned; displacing all of those 
families.  In addition to the flooding of residential areas, the City's facilities sustained approximately 
18 million dollars in damage to Fire Station Number 1, Centennial Commons, the Heman Park 
pool, community center, the Public Works yard, six police vehicles, and six Public Works vehicles. 
This list will continue to grow as other faulty equipment is discovered, and the full impact may not 
be known for weeks.  The City is still assessing its public infrastructure, as some areas were too 
covered with debris to make a complete assessment.   
 Staff has been in close contact with the St. Louis County Emergency Center, the State 
Emergency Management Agency (SEMA), and the Federal Emergency Management Agency 
(FEMA), which has been helpful with the recovery phase of this disaster.  On Friday, July 29, 2022, 
staff met with representatives of the County Emergency Center to discuss the documentation 
needed to meet the Disaster Declaration requirements and provide needed assistance to its 
residents.  Residents were prompted to call 211 and/or visit the website, 211health.org.   
 The City's first multi-agency meeting with SEMA and FEMA occurred at Centennial Commons 
on August 1st, where an initial assessment of the damage was reviewed and additional resources 
for residents were discussed. 
 An extra bulky item pickup was approved on July 28th and began on August 1st in the east 
area of the City, which sustained the greatest damage.  The criteria outlining items that qualify for 
bulky item pickup will remain in effect, but the number of items that can be placed at the curb has 
been waived.  Under normal conditions, it takes staff approximately one month to complete bulky 
item pickups; however, based on the extensive amount of damage and the extraordinary volume of 
items that have been set out, this process will take an extended period of time.  Therefore, staff 
would appreciate everyone's patience as they try to navigate through these very difficult conditions.  
 Community cleanup efforts include streets, public right-of-ways, and extra police patrols.  In 
addition, all permit fees for single-family, owner-occupied homes have been waived for 90 days.   
 I would like to thank the first responders and street crews who have provided outstanding 
service during this emergency.  As many of the City's resources were exhausted early on, a great 
deal of gratitude is also owed to the Red Cross, U City School District, City of Olivette, and the City 
of Clayton for all of their assistance.  As the Mayor mentioned, the President has signed the 
Emergency Declaration declaring this a Disaster Area.  That means federal funding will now be 
available for citizens to receive more assistance and the reimbursement of City expenses related to 
its recovery.  Therefore,  he would like to thank the City's federal and state delegation members, 
Senator Josh Hawley, Governor Parson, Representative Cory Bush, Senator Brian Williams, and 
Representative Joe Adams for their help in getting the Declaration to the President's desk."  
 
Mayor Crow stated while he is sure many of his colleagues have questions, he would like to defer 
any Q & A session to the Council Reports/Business section of the agenda. 
 

D. PROCLAMATIONS 
1. National Stepfamily Day – A Proclamation declaring September 16, 2022, as a day to 

support the stepfamilies of this nation in their mission to rear happy, healthy, and socially 
well-adjusted children, create strong family structures, and instill in them a sense of 
responsibility to all extended family members. 

E - 3 - 2



 

Page 3 of 10 
 

 
E. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

1. June 20, 2022, Study Session Minutes (FY23 Budget) were moved by Councilmember 
Smotherson, it was seconded by Councilmember Klein, and the motion carried 
unanimously. 

2. July 11, 2022, Regular Meeting Minutes were moved by Councilmember Clay, it was 
seconded by Councilmember Hales, and the motion carried unanimously, with the exception 
of Councilmember Cusick who was not in attendance at this meeting. 

3. July 25, 2022, Special Meeting Minutes were moved by Councilmember Smotherson, it was 
seconded by Councilmember Clay, and the motion carried unanimously. 

 
F. APPOINTMENTS TO BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 

1. Helen Fuller is nominated for appointment to the Historic Preservation Commission as a fill-
in by Councilmember Tim Cusick, it was seconded by Councilmember Klein and the motion 
carried unanimously. 

 
G. SWEARING IN TO BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 

2. Amy Gascon was sworn into the Park Commission on July 27th via Zoom. 
 

H. CITIZEN PARTICIPATION  
Citizens may provide written comments ahead of the meeting, which must be received no later than 
12:00 p.m. on the day of the meeting.  Comments may be sent via email to: 
councilcomments@ucitymo.org, or mailed to City Hall at 6801 Delmar Blvd.; Attention City Clerk.  Please 
note that to be recorded in the official record, a name and address must be provided, as well as 
whether your comment is related to an agenda or non-agenda item.   
 
Comments adhering to the aforementioned guidelines will be provided to City Council prior to the meeting 
and made a part of the official record.  Public access will be made available online following the meeting.   

 
Mayor Crow thanked everyone for taking the time to share their comments and concerns with 
Council. 

 
I. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

1. Liquor License – 6700 Olive (Gas Mart #38) 
 

Mayor Crow opened the Public Hearing at 6:48 p.m., and after acknowledging that no comments 
were received, closed the hearing at 6:48 p.m. 
 

2. Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Application (Programs) 
 

Mayor Crow opened the Public Hearing at 6:48 p.m., and after acknowledging that no comments 
were received, closed the hearing at 6:48 p.m. 
 

J. CONSENT AGENDA 
1. Liquor License – 6700 Olive; (moved to City Manager's Report) 
2. Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Application (Programs) 
3. Canton Ave. Phase I – Construction Engineering Services Contract 
4. Golf Course Driving Range Repair and Rehabilitation Contract 
5. Ratification of Emergency Purchases due to Flooding  
6. Federal Lobbying Services Contract 

 
Councilmember Smotherson moved to approve Items 2 through 6 of the Consent Agenda, it was 
seconded by Councilmember Hales, and the motion carried unanimously. 

 

E - 3 - 3

mailto:councilcomments@ucitymo.org


 

Page 4 of 10 
 

K. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT - (vote required) 
1. Carryover for LSBD Funds 

 
Mr. Rose stated staff is recommending that Council consider carrying over the LSBD Funds 
from the previous fiscal year to cover the events held in FY22 by the Loop Special Business 
District. 
 

Councilmember Cusick moved to approve, it was seconded by Councilmember Clay, and the 
motion carried unanimously. 

 
2. University City's Community Vision 2040 Road Map Report 

 
Mr. Rose stated staff is recommending that Council consider approving the Community 
Vision Road Map Report.  Some of the key issues highlighted in this report include:   

• A strong desire to incorporate intentional equity into community planning   
• Support for a creative approach to economic and urban development   
• Strengthening partnerships with the School District and other municipalities   
• Using Olive Blvd. redevelopment as an opportunity to effect social change   
• A desire for bold items in urban design   
• A willingness to recognize and address environmental issues 

   
Councilmember Klein moved to approve, it was seconded by Councilmember Clay.   
 
Councilmember Smotherson stated he does not understand why this report needs Council’s 
approval because, in his opinion, its consideration and acceptance occurred on July 11th.  And 
based on that acceptance he sees this as a roadmap rather than a guide to be used by the Plan 
Commission in their involvement with the Comprehensive Plan. 

 
Mr. Rose stated since the Plan Commission will certainly use this information as it begins to update 
the Comprehensive Plan, he believes it is important to obtain Council's approval rather than 
acceptance.  He stated in his opinion, an acceptance simply indicates that the report is adequate, 
while approval means that Council is in agreement with its contents and represents the direction 
they would like to follow.  So, in his mind, it carries a lot more weight and is an important step 
because of the significance of the Comprehensive Plan. 
 
Councilmember Smotherson stated he thinks the statement on page K2 (33) which states, "You 
have to develop the residential facing side of Olive Blvd businesses as part of the neighborhood," is 
incomplete because it does not indicate which streets should be developed; that "Retain unique 
stores and international character," needs further explanation, and that he absolutely disagrees 
with the statement that "Residents are concerned about the loss of small businesses and the 
potential for 3rd Ward gentrification," because this report is only talking about commercial 
developments.  So, he would like to learn more about what the community means by 
"gentrification," to make sure everyone is on the same page. 

 
Mr. Rose stated the significance of this report is that it was completely resident driven with no input 
from staff.  So, Council might want to address any questions by having staff review the report, 
develop a list of questions for your review, and then invite the Chair back to directly respond to 
those questions. 
 
Mayor Crow stated reading between the lines he does not think anyone actually believes that 
gentrification has occurred and that this statement is more of an acknowledgment that some 
members of this community were concerned that it might happen.  He stated he views the details in 
this report as a vision that the Plan Commission will drill down on before its incorporation into the 
Comprehensive Plan, and thereafter, staff will advise Council on the next steps to be taken 
regarding that Plan.    

E - 3 - 4



 

Page 5 of 10 
 

Councilmember Clay asked if it was fair to say that the vision is where we want to go; the 
Comprehensive Plan is the roadmap for how we get there, and the strategies developed by staff 
will be the vehicles used to accomplish those goals?  Mr. Rose stated that is a good way to 
describe it. 
 Councilmember Clay stated he would agree with his colleague regarding gentrification 
because he thinks they have taken great pains to mitigate that from happening in the 3rd Ward.  
So, while he is okay with the report as it is, there will be a need and an opportunity; as the Mayor 
has articulated, to weigh in on some of the details to ensure it accurately represents the direction 
Council believes it should be going in and how citizens think it should be manifested.   
 
Councilmember Hales stated this report was derived from multiple surveys/meetings, as well as 
discussions with the Plan Commission in regular updates conducted by the Task Force.  So, he 
also does not have an issue with accepting the report as presented, which in a broad sense, merely 
represents a big picture of what the community would like to see the City accomplish by 2040. 
 
Councilmember Smotherson stated as Councilmember Hales just alluded to, accepting this 
document is fine since it does sort of represent a broad sense of direction.  But he would hate to 
see Council get trapped into some of the more specific statements with respect to the Olive 
Development, which the Task Force has identified as "A Guide to Redevelopment".  
 
Voice vote on Councilmember Klein's motion to approve carried unanimously. 
 

3. Liquor License for 6700 Olive 
 
Mr. Rose stated staff is recommending that Council consider the issuance of a Liquor 
License for 6700 Olive Blvd. 
 

Councilmember Cusick posed the following questions to staff: 
Q.  Do you know what type of liquor will be sold at this location?   
A.  (Mr. Rose):  The applicant is requesting intoxicating liquor of not more than 22%, although there 
was an error in Staff's Report that states, "not more than 5%". 
A.  (Mr. Cole):   Although the applicant's original request listed malt liquor in excess of 3.2%, his 
understanding after speaking with the managing officer is that they will be selling some specialized 
beers consisting of not more than 9% alcohol, and wine.   
Q.  So, what does the statement of intoxicating liquor of not more than 22% refer to? 
A.  (Mr. Cole):  I am not really familiar with the percentages. 
Q:  Does the City require businesses of this nature to maintain a certain percentage of other 
sales?   
A.  (Mr. Mulligan):  That requirement pertains to businesses wanting to sell only liquor. 
 
Councilmember Hales posed the following questions to Mr. Cole: 
Q.  Items J1(2) and J1(6) of this application have either a checkmark or a circle for 
intoxicating liquor not more than 22% by the package retail, and also refer to a restaurant 
and bar; which this is not.  So, is the 22% listed on line 12 referring to the percentage of 
alcohol?  
A.  My understanding is that the types of liquor they intend to sell will not contain more than 22% 
alcohol. 
Q.  Does the City have any gas stations that sell up to 22% alcohol? 
A.  I would have to conduct a review before I would be able to provide a correct answer to that 
question.   
 
Councilmember Hales stated while he is not necessarily opposed to a convenience store selling 
beer and wine, he does have questions about the meaning of "by the package," and whether it is 
defined in the City's Ordinances.  
 

E - 3 - 5



 

Page 6 of 10 
 

Councilmember Smotherson stated he has visited the applicant's store at Goodfellow and Delmar 
on several occasions and they don't sell alcohol there.  So, he would like more information about 
why there is a difference in what is being sold at the two locations.  And to his 2nd Ward 
colleagues, he would like to express concern about the location of this business, which represents 
the doorway to the 3rd Ward.  He stated he would like to see this area remain fresh and clean to 
pave the way for future developments and make sure that residents who live in this area continue 
to feel safe and secure. 
 
Councilmember McMahon posed the following questions to Mr. Cole: 
Q.  Under the definition of Sunday Liquor License, it states that a business must have at 
least $275,000 in sales from prepared meals or food.  However, the applicant states they will 
have $240,000 in sales.  So, does that mean they should be prohibited from being issued a 
Sunday Liquor License? 
A.  (No answer provided.) 
Q.  Do you know if they are talking about selling large bottles or cans, as opposed to a six-
pack because 22% alcohol content is pretty high for single-serve?  And for reference, a Bud 
Light has 4 1/2 % of alcohol.  
A.  My understanding is that this specialty beer will have roughly 8 or 9% alcohol, but no specifics 
were provided concerning the brand name. 
 
Mr. Rose stated many of the questions being asked could probably be answered by the Applicant, 
who was not invited to tonight's meeting.  So, if Council is amenable, he would recommend tabling 
this item and inviting the Applicant to attend the next meeting. 
 
Councilmember Clay stated wines that fall in the same category as MD-2020 could constitute a 
beverage that goes above 5% and below 22%. 
 
Councilmember Hales moved to postpone this item until the next meeting, it was seconded by 
Councilmember Smotherson, and the motion carried unanimously. 

 
L. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

1. Bill 9473 – AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FINAL PLAT FOR A MAJOR SUBDIVISION 
OF A TRACT OF LAND TO BE KNOWN AS “6801 DELMAR BOULEVARD.  Bill Number 
9473 was read for the second and third time. 
 

Councilmember Smotherson moved to approve, it was seconded by Councilmember Cusick. 
 
Roll Call Vote Was: 
Ayes:  Councilmember Klein, Councilmember McMahon, Councilmember Hales, Councilmember 
Cusick, Councilmember Clay, Councilmember Smotherson, and Mayor Crow. 
Nays:  None. 
 

2. Bill 9474 – AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR THE 
PROPOSED TRU HOTEL DEVELOPMENT LOCATED AT 711 KINGSLAND AVENUE.  Bill 
Number 9474 was read for the second and third time. 

 
Councilmember Cusick moved to approve, it was seconded by Councilmember Klein. 
 
Roll Call Vote Was: 
Ayes:  Councilmember McMahon, Councilmember Hales, Councilmember Cusick, Councilmember 
Clay, Councilmember Smotherson, Councilmember Klein, and Mayor Crow. 
Nays:  None. 
 

E - 3 - 6



 

Page 7 of 10 
 

M. NEW BUSINESS 
Resolutions - (vote required) 

1. Resolution 2022-9 - Municipal Parks Grant; (Heman Park Splash Spray-ground) 
 

Councilmember Smotherson moved to approve, it was seconded by Councilmember McMahon, 
and the motion carried unanimously. 
 

New Bills - (Introduction and 1st reading - no vote required) 
 
Introduced by Councilmember Hales 

1. Bill 9475 - AN ORDINANCE APPROVING THREE FINAL RIGHT-OF-WAY DEDICATION 
PLATS FOR LAND ALONG MCKNIGHT PLACE, SOUTH OF DELMAR BOULEVARD.  Bill 
Number 9475 was read for the first time. 

 
  Introduced by Councilmember Smotherson 

2. Bill 9476 - AN ORDINANCE VACATING AND SURRENDERING THE RIGHT-OF-WAY OF 
BRISCOE PLACE.  Bill Number 9476 was read for the first time. 

 
  Introduced by Councilmember Klein 

3. Bill 9477 – AN ORDINANCE VACATING AND SURRENDERING A PORTION OF THE 
BARBY LANE RIGHT-OF-WAY.  Bill Number 9477 was read for the first time. 

 
  Introduced by Councilmember McMahon 

4. Bill 9478 – AN ORDINANCE VACATING AND SURRENDERING A PORTION OF 
MCKNIGHT PLACE RIGHT-OF-WAY.  Bill Number 9478 was read for the first time. 

 
N. COUNCIL REPORTS/BUSINESS 

1.  Boards and Commission appointments needed 
2.  Council liaison reports on Boards and Commissions 

Councilmember Klein stated last week the Historic Preservation Commission met where the 
discussion focused on the Historic District guidelines and the restoration plans submitted by 
Trivers.   The Commission determined that the plan complied with those standards and voted 
to approve it. 

3.  Boards, Commissions, and Task Force minutes 
4.  Other Discussions/Business 

 (Flooding) 
 

Councilmember Smotherson stated since people are concerned about the length of time it is taking 
for the removal of their bulky items can you tell us about the progress that is being made?   
 Mr. Rose stated while he has not received a report for the work completed today, staff has 
completed the following blocks: 

•  6700 through 7200 block of Vernon 
•  7000 through 7200 block of Dartmouth 
•  7000 through 7200 block of Amherst 
•  7000 through 7200 block of Tulane 
•  6200 through 6300 block of Cabanne, and  
•  6200 through 6300 block of North Drive 

 
 Typically, residents are allowed to set a limited number of bulky items out the weekend before 
a scheduled collection.  But this is not a typical collection and based on the circumstances 
residents were encouraged to set all of their damaged items out at the curb even though they 
knew, based on the volume, that it was going to take an additional amount of time to complete.  
The bottom line is that staff is moving as quickly as they can to get everything collected and at this 
time he does not have an estimate for when that will occur. 

E - 3 - 7



 

Page 8 of 10 
 

 Councilmember Smotherson stated on Thursday the flood caused everyone's trashcans on 
Purdue and Waldron to be washed away, dumping trash everywhere, but by Friday all of that trash 
had been removed.  So, he has personally seen the exceptional work being performed by staff and 
would like to thank them for all of their efforts. 
 
Councilmember Cusick posed the following questions to Mr. Rose: 
Q.  How many dwellings have been condemned? 
A.  Approximately 207 single-family and multi-family units. 
Q.  My home is among those that were condemned and the letter advising me of that 
condemnation states that I have until October 5th to make all of the necessary repairs.  
However, eight weeks may not be enough time, especially since it has been extremely 
difficult to secure a contractor.  So, what are the options available for homeowners who find 
themselves in this situation? 
A.  Our inspectors understand that residents were severely impacted and recognize the various 
socio-economic factors associated with their ability to make timely repairs.  And hopefully, residents 
understand that it is not their desire to condemn anyone's home because they do understand the 
impact it will have on families.  So, each condemnation will be dealt with on a case-by-case basis 
with the intent of working with residents in whatever way they can to help them bring their homes 
back into compliance. 
 
Q.  Once the repairs are made should homeowners contact the inspector to schedule an 
inspection?   
A.  Yes. 
Q.  Are the inspections currently being conducted on a timely basis? 
A.  As of Friday, I was informed that there were no significant backlogs. 
Q.  Did you say that the City would be waiving inspection and permit fees for 90 days? 
A.  That is correct.  The initial thought was that most dwellings would be back in compliance within 
that timeframe, but if not, he may have to ask Council to approve extending that 90-day period.  
 
Q.  The Commission on Stormwater issues has obtained the necessary GPS equipment to 
measure the flood levels and determine exactly how much flooding occurred.  So, will the 
City be working with this Commission to prepare a final report on this event?   
A.  I was aware that the Commission was taking measurements and if there is a desire for staff to 
work with them and create a final report they would be happy to do so.   
 
Q.  What does the President's action mean for people that do not have flood insurance or 
are underinsured?    
A.  The Flooding Declaration is the first step towards accessing the flow of federal funding for both 
underinsured and noninsured residents, as well as the City.  However, in addition to working with 
the designated federal agencies, it might be wise to ask for assistance from the City's federal 
delegation to help expedite the availability of those funds.   
 
Councilmember Hales stated as recently as today, he noticed that some folks on Vernon had just 
started to set their bulky items out on the curb.  So, there may be a need for staff to circle back 
through some of those blocks that have already been completed.   
 
Mr. Rose stated once staff has finished their initial run an examination will be conducted to 
determine if and when another collection should be scheduled to pick up any remaining items. 
 
Councilmember Klein stated a lot of residents are concerned about putting money back into their 
homes when they might be eligible for a buy-out.  It took three years to accomplish buy-outs after 
the last flood, so she was wondering if there was any way these homes could at least be identified 
sooner?  Mr. Rose stated currently the City does not have a buy-out program.  But if Council would 
like to establish such a program staff could work with MSD, FEMA, SEMA, and the Army Corps of 
Engineers to determine the potential for creating one.  

E - 3 - 8



 

Page 9 of 10 
 

Councilmember Clay stated he attended the multi-agency meeting conducted at Centennial 
Commons and could plainly see the amount of preparation that was necessary to accommodate 
this extremely large throng of people.  So, while this is only one instance, he would like to echo his 
colleague's appreciation for the work being performed by staff.  He stated there has also been 
some clamoring from folks interested in donating or volunteering to help in these cleanup efforts, 
and while he understands that the City certainly does not have the capacity to lead in the 
coordination of these efforts, he does think there is a role that it can play.    
 
Councilmember McMahon asked whether staff was able to capture a percentage of the 300 homes 
that were damaged by either the flood or a sewer backup?  Because having a clear picture might 
help to impress the need for MSD's continued efforts on Project Clear, which does not appear to 
have updated some of the overflows projected to be completed in this area since 2020.  Mr. Rose 
stated none of the 300 homes includes backups.  What that number reflects are the homes that 
needed to be inspected to determine if they were still habitable because of the severe damage they 
sustained.  Councilmember McMahon stated moving forward it might be important to make sure 
that the City is clear when communicating about what actually took place with respect to flooding 
vs. a sewer backup since the correct terminology will be vital when folks are dealing with these 
federal agencies.   Mr. Rose stated staff is encouraging everyone who sustained damage to file a 
claim with the United Way to ensure they gain access to any funding available for repairs and 
reimbursement.  And from a financial perspective, this process will also give the City a better 
picture of the total devastation. 
 Councilmember McMahon stated his home was condemned after a fire and his family was 
displaced for over a year.  So, to offer a little hope to Councilmember Cusick, in his case, there 
were no hard and fast deadlines.  In fact, the City inspectors were great when it came to working 
with their contractors and extending the deadlines until they were able to move back in. 
 
Mr. Rose stated these comments validate his decision to recommend changing the division's name 
from Code Enforcement to Code Compliance because he believes it represents the City's approach 
to establishing a partnership with its residents to achieve compliance rather than enforcement of 
the Code.   
 

O. COUNCIL COMMENTS 
Councilmember Cusick stated what he would like everyone impacted by these floods to know is 
that the homes of several members of this Council were also flooded.  So, they are not only with 
its residents in thoughts but are personally experiencing these same frustrations.  He stated his 
frustrations are targeted more at the Army Corps of Engineers and MSD; the two agencies that 
could have something to do with the continual problems associated with the River Des Peres yet 
have done nothing to correct them.  Because as the Mayor stated, this unrelenting flooding is a 
regional issue that must be addressed at a regional level. 
 Underneath portions of the river are numerous stormwater tunnels and manhole covers 
where wastewater mixes with rainwater runoff.  MSD has failed to repair or replace these covers 
which exacerbates these problems when the comingling of this water occurs during flooding 
events.  There is also bank erosion, which MSD has done nothing to address.  On its own, U City 
does not have the funds to make the necessary repairs, but even if it did, they are restricted by 
MSD's control of these areas because any projects designed to repair this erosion must first be 
approved by MSD.  
 Once again, the City asked the Army Corps of Engineers to conduct a study of the River to 
see what could be done; this is roughly the ninth study since 1966.  They proposed to build a 
detention basin in Olivette to prevent some of the flooding, even though they had no idea exactly 
how much water the basin would hold.  Next, they proposed floodproofing or elevating homes.  
However, if the City elected this option every resident in these designated areas would be 
mandated to participate; meaning that they would have to permanently relinquish their 
basements.  And they weren't even sure if every home could be elevated high enough to have an 
impact.  They said buy-outs wouldn't work because the return on investment would be too high to 
make it worth their while.   

E - 3 - 9



 

Page 10 of 10 
 

And today, a resident sent me a picture of a huge tree in the river that has been reported on 
numerous occasions that no one has bothered to remove. 
 Councilmember Cusick stated although none of the things he mentioned could have 
prevented the flooding, they would have mitigated some of the damage.  Therefore, this lack of 
leadership from both organizations and their unwillingness to assist the residents of U City has 
prompted him to make the following recommendations: 

•  That Council take immediate action to discuss and hopefully develop a Buy-Out Program, 
and 

•  That Council initiates discussions to determine who has control of the River Des Peres 
and what can be done to pressure the responsible party/parties to come up with a 
regional solution that would help to alleviate some of this massive flooding. 

 
Councilmember Cusick thanked everyone who volunteered their time, energy, and money to 
support those affected by this event and the individuals responsible for implementing the CODE-
RED System, which provided an early warning to residents about the potential for floods.  Please 
make sure that you are signed up to receive this very important notification. 
 
Mayor Crow stated he agrees that going forward, U City must find a new course of action to 
address this regional problem. 
 
Councilmember Smotherson stated he supports Councilmember Cusick's recommendation 
related to buy-outs because, in his opinion, there are specific issues associated with an 
apartment complex in his Ward that could hold the answers to some of these issues with 
flooding. 
  And just so this does not come as a surprise, he wanted to inform Mr. Rose that there may 
be an upcoming request from some of his neighbors to convene a forum with MSD to explain 
why all of the work they performed on certain streets had little or no impact during the floods.   
 

P. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Motion to go into a Closed Session according to Missouri Revised Statutes 610.021 (1) Legal 
actions, causes of action, or litigation involving a public governmental body and any confidential 
or privileged communications between a public governmental body or its representatives or 
attorneys. 
 

Councilmember Hales moved to close the Regular Session to go into a Closed Session, it was 
seconded by Councilmember Smotherson. 
 
Roll Call Vote Was: 
Ayes:  Councilmember Hales, Councilmember Cusick, Councilmember Smotherson, 
Councilmember Clay, Councilmember Klein, Councilmember McMahon, and Mayor Crow. 
Nays:  None. 
 

Q. ADJOURNMENT 
Mayor Crow closed the Regular City Council meeting at 8:01 p.m. to go into a Closed Session 
on the second floor.  The Closed Session reconvened in an Open Session at 8:37 p.m. 
 
LaRette Reese, 
City Clerk, MRCC 

E - 3 - 10



E - 3 - 11



E - 3 - 12



E - 3 - 13



E - 3 - 14



 

Page 1 of 4 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A. MEETING CALLED TO ORDER 
At the Special Session of the City Council of University City held via Videoconference, on 
Monday, August 22, 2022, Mayor Terry Crow called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. 
 

B. ROLL CALL 
In addition to the Mayor, the following members of Council were present:  
   Councilmember Stacy Clay 
   Councilmember Steven McMahon 
   Councilmember Jeffrey Hales 
   Councilmember Tim Cusick 
   Councilmember Bwayne Smotherson 
   Councilmember Aleta Klein (excused) 
 
Also in attendance were City Manager, Gregory Rose; City Attorney, John F. Mulligan, Jr. 
 

C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Mayor Crow noted that Mr. Rose had requested that Item J (2), the ratification of emergency 
purchases be moved from the Consent Agenda to the City Manager's Report. 
 
Councilmember Hales moved to approve the Agenda as amended, it was seconded by 
Councilmember Clay, and the motion carried unanimously. 
 
Councilmember Smotherson moved to approve the Amended Agenda, it was seconded by 
Councilmember Cusick, and the motion carried unanimously. 
 

D. PROCLAMATION - none 

E. APPROVAL OF MINUTES - none 

F. APPOINTMENTS TO BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS - none 
 

G. SWEARING IN TO BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS - none 
H. CITIZEN PARTICIPATION (Total of 15 minutes allowed) 

Procedures for submitting comments for Citizen Participation and Public Hearings: 
ALL written comments must be received no later than 12:00 p.m. the day of the meeting.  Comments may be  sent via 
email to:  councilcomments@ucitymo.org, or mailed to the City Hall – 6801 Delmar Blvd. – Attention City Clerk.  Such 
comments will be provided to City Council prior to the meeting.  Comments will be made a part of the official record and 
made accessible to the public online following the meeting.  
Please note, when submitting your comments, a name and address must be provided.  Please also not if your 
comment is on an agenda or non-agenda item. If a name and address are not provided, the provided comment will not be 
recorded in the official record. 
 
Mayor Crow acknowledged the written comments had been received by members of Council and 
he thanked the citizens that had provided comments.  He stated everyone is looking forward to 
meeting in person soon. 
 

I. PUBLIC HEARINGS – none 

SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
University City, Missouri 63130 

VIA VIDEOCONFERENCE 
Monday, August 22, 2022 

5:30 p.m. 
 

E - 4 - 1

mailto:councilcomments@ucitymo.org


Page 2 of 4 

J. CONSENT AGENDA
1. Canton Phase II Engineering Services Contract
2. Ratification of Emergency Purchases due to Flooding (2nd) - (moved to City Manager’s

Report)

Councilmember Smotherson moved to approve item #1 of the Consent Agenda, it was seconded 
by Councilmember Cusick. 

Voice vote on Councilmember Smothers’ motion carried unanimously. 

K. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT   (vote required) – none

1. Ratification of Emergency Purchases due to Flooding (2nd)

Mr. Rose stated that University City was severely impacted by the historic rain levels which
resulted in major flooding on July 26 and July 28, 2022.  To allow impacted residents to
remove damaged items and materials from their homes, staff started the cleanup efforts on
August 1, 2022.  Bulky item pickup in the most severely impacted areas of the city has been
completed, and staff is making good progress towards completion of removing all damaged
materials.  We’re on schedule to complete the initial pickups in about two weeks.  As today,
we have completed all of the east area and are about 75% complete in the central area.
The west area should start sooner than we had anticipated.

Based upon the volume of materials to be removed and the number of resources
available, staff and the other municipalities that aided us is to be commended for their hard
work to clean up our community.  A special thank you to the City of Richmond Heights, who
not only assisting with clean up efforts but who has agreed to allow our Centennial
Commons members to use their facilities while Centennial Commons is being restored.  Our
members just need to show their membership card.  Mr. Rose thanked Mayor Crow for his
assistance in this arrangement.

Mr. Rose shared that he met with a representative from FEMA earlier in the day and have
been in contract with FEMA on all levels trying to ensure that we provide residents with good
information and assess regarding the services that FEMS provides.  We also want to ensure
FEMA understands the damages that the City has incurred as  a result of the flooding and
that we work through their process for reimbursement when appropriate.  We are working
closely with FEMA and our insurance company as multiple claims have been filed for
reimbursement for equipment and damages to the facilities.

Mr. Rose stated the emergency ratification item was removed from the consent agenda to
allow Interim Public Works Director, Darren Dunkle, to make your aware of changes.
Mr. Dunkle stated the due to market conditions around supply and demand, storage and
availability of computer chips for vehicles things are continually changing.  Since the vehicle
list contained in the packet, several vehicles are no longer available.  You almost need cash
in hand because deals will not hold anything due to the high demands in the market.  We
lost out on 5 trucks that were listed in the packet, we were able to locate 2 replacement
trucks and we are moving forward to secure.  We are moving forward with the purchase of
(3) One Ton Dump Trucks and going through the process for the mowers etc. We are
working to do due diligence and trying move quickly on theses purchases.  This is what
we’ve identified at this time.  Some vehicles initially looked like they were working but after
driving a day or so, damages are determined, or they completed die completely.  We will
continue to monitor and evaluate and work to find replacement purchases.

Mr. Dunkle stated without the assistances and efforts of Maryland Heights, Clayton, Ladue, 
Olivette, Chesterfield and Ellisville we could not have gotten through the bulk pickup as our 
dump truck and other pickup trucks were damaged in the flood.  These municipalities have 
helped over the past three weeks and will be heading back to their normal responsibilities 
after this week.   

E - 4 - 2



 

Page 3 of 4 
 

We are also leasing equipment on short-term bases to get through this process. 
 
Mr. Rose stated for clarification, we are asking for approval to purchase 2 pickup trucks, one 
F-150 for approximately $42,000 and one Chevy Silverado for approximately $43,000. The 
dump trucks listed on the ratification list will remain.  The F-250 Super Cab Long Bed 4WD, 
F-250 Crew Cab Long Bed 2WD, F-250 Super Duty Regular Cab Long Bed 4WD, Chevy 
Pickup Truck K2500, GMC Pickup Truck K2500 HD should be removed from this list.  The 
mowers and everything else on the can remain.  There will be an additional charge for  
about $13,000 for the addition of a cab to the mower that we also use for snow plowing and 
spare tires.  
 
Councilmember Clay moved to amend emergency purchase list by removing the five items 
listed below and adding the two trucks listed below.  It was seconded by Councilmember 
Hales. 
 
Remove:  
F-250 Super Cab Long Bed 4WD   48,975.00  
F-250 Crew Cab Long Bed 2WD   46,390.00  
F-250 Super Duty Regular Cab Long Bed 4WD 46,430.00 
Chevy Pickup Truck K2500     54,097.00  
GMC Pickup Truck K2500 HD     54,234.00 
 
Additions:  
Ford F-150 Pickup Truck    42,700.00 
Chevy Silverado Pickup Truck    45,200.00 

 
Councilmember Smotherson asked Mr. Rose to please send Council the updated list reflecting 
these changes.  Mr. Rose said he would. 
 
Councilmember Hales asked what are the 2 new pickups that have been located? 
Mr. Dunkle stated one is the Ford F-150 and the other is a Chevy Silverado. 
 
Voice vote on Councilmember Clay’s motion carried unanimously. 
 
Councilmember Clay moved to approve the emergency purchase as amended, it was seconded by 
Councilmember Cusick, and the motion carried unanimously. 
 

L. UNFINISHED BUSINESS – none 
M. NEW BUSINESS– none 

Resolutions   (vote required) 
 

N. COUNCIL REPORTS/BUSINESS 
1. Boards and Commission appointments needed 
2. Council liaison reports on Boards, and Commissions 
3. Boards, Commissions, and Task Force minutes 
4. Other Discussions/Business 

 
O. COUNCIL COMMENTS 

 
Councilmember Cusick reminded everyone of the importance of going the FEMA website if you 
were affected in any matter by the rainwater, over land flooding or sew backup.  Everyone affected 
should be get listed with FEMA to they are aware of all flooding regardless of the type of flooding.  
FEMA has indicated that they need to know the extend of all the damages throughout University 
City from stormwater, runover or sewer backups.   

E - 4 - 3



 

Page 4 of 4 
 

Please go to the website:  https://www.fema.gov/ to complete an application.  They may not be able 
to help everyone financially but it’s better to find out if you’re eligible for any benefits. 
 
Mayor Crow shared that idea for going to Richmond Heights for use of their recreation facilities 
came from a resident.  We may have helped it along, but someone else came up the idea. 
 
 

P. ADJOURNMENT 
Councilmember Cusick moved to approve to adjourn the meeting, it was seconded by 
Councilmember Clay, and the motion carried unanimously. 

 
Mayor Crow adjourned the Regular Session at 5:49 p.m.  

 
LaRette Reese, 
City Clerk, MRCC 
 

E - 4 - 4

https://www.fema.gov/


I - 1 - 1



COPY FOR YOUR RECORDS ONLY,
NOT AN INVOICE OR AFFIDAVIT OF PUBLICATION 

Please Read Carefully

Missouri  Lawyers  Media  is  not  responsible  for  
errors  or  omissions  after  the  First  Run  Date.  If  
any  errors,  contact  1  (314)  421-1880.  Attorneys  
placing  legal  advertisements  are  responsible  for  
payment  of  same.

John Wagner
University City, City Of
6801 Delmar Blvd 
St. Louis, MO 63130-3104

ORDER KEYWORDS:

1 of 1
Missouri Lawyers Media

Missouri Lawyers Weekly, St Louis Daily Record, St Charles Business 
Record The Countian (St Louis, Jefferson), The Daily Record and LAN

319 N Fourth Street, 5th Floor 
St. Louis,  MO 63102

1 (314) 421-1880 
www.molawyersmedia.com

Subsequent Rate:
Anchor Rate: $25.52

$0.00

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
(CASE NUMBER: TXT 22-02) NOTICE 
IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT THE CITY 
COUNCIL OF UNIVERSITY CITY 
WILL HOLD A PUBLIC HEARING ON 
MONDAY SEPTEMBER 12, 2022, IN 
THE 5TH FLOOR COUNCIL 
CHAMBERS OF CITY HALL, 6801 
DELMAR BOULEVARD, TO 
CONSIDER

PO #
Order #
Placement

Schedule
# of Times
Base Charge*
Addt'l Charges/Disc*
Payment Amount

TOTAL:
(Not an Invoice)

12150283
Countian St. Louis (MO)

Government
Hearings and Minutes
8/28/2022 - 8/28/2022

1 inserts
25.52

0.00
0.00

25.52

*Changes to this order may result in pricing changes. 
Order: 12150283 Proof Printed: 12:58:12PM on 8/25/2022 by Jacob BeranCustomer: 10017118/University City, City Of

I - 1 - 2



J - 1 - 1



City of University City Council Meeting
Agenda Item - Addendum (September 12, 2022)

Subject/Title:
Ratification of Emergency Purchases due to Flooding

New Original
Description Amount Costs Costs

Leach 8 Cubic Yard Mini Rear Curved Rear Load
  Refuse (Trash) Truck 205,362.20   
Dodge Ram 2500 Pickup Trucks 4x4 Crew Cab 8ft bd 51,740.00     
Dodge Ram 2500 Pickup Trucks 4x4 Crew Cab 8ft bd 51,740.00     
Compact Utility Tractor with Backhoe Attachment 3,295.60       54,534.65    51,239.05   
John Deere Z930M Ztrak Front End Mowers (2) - Street 
Dept; John Deere Z960M Ztrak Front End Mowers (3) - 
Parks Dept 1,522.96       63,277.56    61,754.60   
John Deere 1570 Terrain Cut Front End Mowers with 
Snow Blade (2) 14,469.75     75,536.66    61,066.91   
John Deere W48R Walk Behind Mowers (Deleted) -                 (13,088.46)   13,088.46   
John Deere W48R Commercial Walk Behind Mower 7,116.11       
Chevy Silverado 2500HD - Parks 52,514.00     
Chevy Silverado 2500HD - Parks / Service Truck 60,314.00     
Chevy Silverado 2500HD - Parks 52,914.00     
Chevy Silverado 2500HD - Streets 52,914.00     
Chevy Silverado 2500HD - Streets 52,914.00     

606,816.62   

J - 1 - 2



Attachment 1

J - 1 - 3



J - 1 - 4



J - 1 - 5



J - 1 - 6



J - 1 - 7



J - 1 - 8



J - 1 - 9



J - 1 - 10



J - 1 - 11



J - 1 - 12



J - 1 - 13



J - 1 - 14



J - 1 - 15



J - 1 - 16



J - 1 - 17



J - 1 - 18



J - 1 - 19



J - 1 - 20



J - 1 - 21



J - 1 - 22



J - 1 - 23



J - 1 - 24



Attachment 2

J - 1 - 25



J - 1 - 26



J - 1 - 27



J - 1 - 28



J - 1 - 29



J - 1 - 30



J - 1 - 31



Attachment 1

J - 1 - 32



J - 1 - 33



J - 1 - 34



J - 1 - 35



J - 1 - 36



J - 1 - 37



J - 1 - 38



J - 1 - 39



J - 1 - 40



J - 1 - 41



J - 1 - 42



J - 1 - 43



J - 1 - 44



J - 1 - 45



J - 1 - 46



J - 1 - 47



J - 1 - 48



J - 1 - 49



J - 1 - 50



J - 1 - 51



J - 1 - 52



J - 1 - 53



J - 1 - 54



J - 1 - 55



J - 1 - 56



J - 1 - 57



J - 1 - 58



J - 1 - 59



J - 1 - 60



J - 1 - 61



J - 1 - 62



J - 1 - 63



J - 1 - 64



J - 1 - 65



J - 1 - 66



J - 1 - 67



J - 1 - 68



J - 1 - 69



J - 1 - 70



                              MEMORANDUM 
 
 

  TO:  Mr. Gregory Rose, City Manager 
 
 FROM: Darren Dunkle, Director of Parks, Recreation and Forestry 
          Acting Director of Public Works 

 
DATE: September 6, 2022 

 
SUBJECT: Chevy Silverado HD Pickup Trucks – Emergency Purchase 

 

 
I am following up on our conversation regarding the emergency replacements of vehicles and 
equipment that were lost in the storm event that took place on July 26th and 28th.   
 
Staff has been contacting vendors across the area to seek out the availability of vehicles and 
equipment, as there currently is a shortage of inventory of vehicles within the marketplace due 
the supply chain issues along with the labor market. In doing so, we have been able to locate 
five (5) Chevrolet Silverado 2500 HD pickup trucks from Jansen Ford to replace Two (2) trucks 
within the Street Division and Thee (3) trucks within the Parks Division that were lost. 
 
The immediate purchase of this pickup truck will allow to us to put it into action and return a 
pickup truck that we are currently leasing from Enterprise. 
 
Accordingly, I request your approval in the emergency purchase of the five (5) Chevrolet 
Silverado 2500 HD pickup trucks from Jansen Ford in the amount of $271,570.00. 
 
If you have any questions or need additional information, please let me know. 
 
 
 
 

J - 1 - 71



J - 1 - 72



J - 1 - 73



J - 1 - 74



J - 1 - 75



J - 1 - 76



J - 2 - 1



J - 2 - 2



J - 2 - 3



J - 2 - 4



J - 2 - 5



J - 2 - 6



J - 2 - 7



J - 2 - 8



J - 2 - 9



J - 2 - 10



J - 2 - 11



J - 2 - 12



J - 2 - 13



J - 2 - 14



J - 2 - 15



J - 2 - 16



J - 2 - 17



J - 2 - 18



J - 3 - 1



  

     PROPOSAL 

                                          ~THE PUMP SHOP ~ 

      MISSOURI MACHINERY & ENGINEERING COMPANY 

   1228 SOUTH 8TH
 STREET, ST. LOUIS, MO  63104 

       TEL: (314) 231-98,6, FX: (314) 231-7922 
PROPOSAL SUBMITTED TO: 

City of University City 
DATE     

8-24-2022 
STREET  

6801 Delmar Bvld. 
JOB NAME 

Pool Pumps 

University City MO. 63130 
JOB LOCATION 

  
POINT OF CONTACT 

Mike Warmbold 
DATE OF PLANS 

 
PHONE 

314-505-8624 
Cell 

314-985-8246 
PAYMENT  

 

30 Days 
 

 

SHIPMENT/ DELIVERY 

 

10 Week 

Authorized        MIKE HUFFMAN, PUMP SYSTEMS CONSULTANT 

Signature  

Note:  This proposal may be 

Withdrawn by us if not accepted within                 10                      days. 

WE PROPOSE hereby to furnish material complete in accordance with specification and estimates below for: 

 

    Missouri Machinery & Engineering Co. propose the following pumps to replace the pumps and motors that went under 

water in the July of 2022 flood. The Crown pumps are 40 H.P. 3/230/460V/1150 RPM, 364T ODP premium efficient 

motor (2), and miscellaneous plumbing parts.   

 

                                                     Pumps and Parts ………………………………. $116,445.00 

                                                     Labor ………………………………………….. $    9,350.00 

                                                     Total …………………………………………... $125,795.00 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

Mike Huffman 

Pump System Consultant 
 

 

  

 

 

PRICE DOES NOT INCLUDE FREIGHT OR MISSOURI SALES TAX, IF APPLICABLE 

 

NOTE:  Any work done beyond the scope described above will be quoted at our standard time and material 

rates, for approval of customer. 
 

ACCEPTANCE OF PROPOSAL – The above prices, specifications and 

conditions are satisfactory and are hereby accepted.  You are authorized 

to do the work as specified.  Payment will be made as outlined above. 

 

 

Signature:                                                                   Date: 

THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS, INCLUDING ANY WARRANTY AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITY ON THE REVERSE SIDE ARE PART OF THIS AGREEMENT. 

J - 3 - 2



  

     PROPOSAL 

                                          ~THE PUMP SHOP ~ 

      MISSOURI MACHINERY & ENGINEERING COMPANY 

   1228 SOUTH 8TH
 STREET, ST. LOUIS, MO  63104 

       TEL: (314) 231-98,6, FX: (314) 231-7922 
PROPOSAL SUBMITTED TO: 

City of University City 
DATE     

8-24-2022 
STREET  

6801 Delmar Bvld. 
JOB NAME 

Pool Pumps 

University City MO. 63130 
JOB LOCATION 

  
POINT OF CONTACT 

Mike Warmbold 
DATE OF PLANS 

 
PHONE 

314-505-8624 
Cell 

314-985-8246 
PAYMENT  

 

30 Days 

 

SHIPMENT/ DELIVERY 

 

10 Week 

Authorized        MIKE HUFFMAN, PUMP SYSTEMS CONSULTANT 

Signature  

Note:  This proposal may be 

Withdrawn by us if not accepted within                 10                      days. 

WE PROPOSE hereby to furnish material complete in accordance with specification and estimates below for: 

 

    Missouri Machinery & Engineering Co. propose the following pumps to replace the pumps and motors that went under 

water in the July of 2022 flood. The 0111659 C Series Pentair pump (1), and 011658 C-Series Pentair pump (1), 015583 

Whisper Flo pump (1), and miscellaneous plumbing parts.   

 

                                                     Pumps and Parts ………………………………. $24,756.00 

                                                     Labor ………………………………………….. $     880.00 

                                                     Total …………………………………………... $25,636.00 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Mike Huffman 

Pump System Consultant 
 

 

  

 

 

PRICE DOES NOT INCLUDE FREIGHT OR MISSOURI SALES TAX, IF APPLICABLE 

 

NOTE:  Any work done beyond the scope described above will be quoted at our standard time and material 

rates, for approval of customer. 
 

ACCEPTANCE OF PROPOSAL – The above prices, specifications and 

conditions are satisfactory and are hereby accepted.  You are authorized 

to do the work as specified.  Payment will be made as outlined above. 

 

 

Signature:                                                                   Date: 

THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS, INCLUDING ANY WARRANTY AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITY ON THE REVERSE SIDE ARE PART OF THIS AGREEMENT. 

J - 3 - 3



J - 3 - 4



J - 4 - 1



J - 4 - 2



K - 1 - 1





L - 1 - 1



June 22, 2022 

Ms. LaRette Reese 
City Clerk 
City of University City 
6801 Delmar Boulevard 
University City, MO 63130 

RE: Zoning Code Text Amendment (TXT 22-02) 

Dear Ms. Reese, 

At a regularly scheduled meeting on June 22, 2022, at 6:30 p.m. via videoconference, 
the Plan Commission considered the application for a Zoning Code Text Amendment to 
add a new category for retail stores with more than 45,000 square-feet of combined 
space. 

By a vote of 6 to 1, the Plan Commission recommended approval of the Text 
Amendment  

Sincerely, 

Margaret Holly, Chairperson 
University City Plan Commission 

Plan Commission
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168  
 

L - 1 - 2L - 1 - 2



  
 
 
 
Department of Community Development 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168   
 
 

STAFF REPORT 
City Council 

 
MEETING DATE:  July 11, 2022 
 
FILE NUMBER:  TXT 22-02 
 
COUNCIL DISTRICT:  N/A 
 
Applicant: City of University City 
 
Request: Text Amendment to amend the Schedule of Off-Street Parking 

Spaces, §400.2140 of the City’s Zoning Ordinance, adding a new 
category for retail stores with more 45,000 square-feet of 
combined space.  

 
Summary.  The proposed text amendment would add a new parking equation for large 
format retail stores, those with more than 45,000 pf square-feet of floor area, to 
accommodate “e-commerce” strategies such as delivery and customer pick-up.  

 
PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO SECTION 400.2140 

Use Minimum Parking Requirements 

Retail store - large format retail with 
greater than 45,000 square-feet of 
combined of warehouse, retail, or other 
flexible space (including but not limited to 
fulfillment, distribution, storage, or other 
area(s) not open to the general public but 
utilized for servicing customers) 

One (1) space for every 250 square feet 
of floor area used as retail space devoted 
to sales and open to the public; plus one 
(1) space for every 1,000 square feet of 
floor area used as warehouse, fulfillment, 
distribution, storage, or other area(s) not 
open to the public. 

 
Rationale for the Text Amendment 

The current requirement for retail parking is 1 space for each 200 square-feet of floor area. 
This new category for larger retail stores – more than 45,000 square-feet in area – would 
require less parking for larger retail stores as they adapt to changing consumer preferences 
for rapid home delivery or phone-in pick up/delivery orders. It would also avoid having too 
many unused parking spaces, leaving more room for enhanced landscaping or similar 
amenities.  
 
One of the strategies employed by the successful brick and mortar retailers has been to 
devote a portion of the back of their store for the purpose of “e-commercing,” offering last 
mile delivery as well as “pack and pickup” and “pick and deliver” merchandise strategies. This 
approach is being employed by a variety of retailers today as a way to make shopping more 
convenient for consumers. 

L - 1 - 3L - 1 - 3



One of the outcomes of this new strategy is that it reduces the actual retail area in a store 
while expanding the area devoted to the “back of the house” fulfillment purpose. With this 
reallocation of square-footage comes a reduced need for parking since the back of the store 
functions like a warehouse/distribution center with very few employees, thus reducing the 
number of parking spaces needed to accommodate these employees. 
 
Additionally, with a certain portion of the “front of the house” being shopped by the store’s 
employees fulfilling customer orders, there is less need to provide parking for the consumer 
who either no longer comes to the store to shop or comes to the store for just a few minutes to 
pick up their order. The combination of these circumstances has led to a reduction in the need 
for the number of parking spaces that were required in the previous model. 
  
Taking these factors into account, the square-footage retail selling area open to the public 
can be adequately parked by providing 1 parking space per 250 square-feet of retail floor 
area, while the back of the house area that serves as a pack and ship distribution operation 
can be adequately parked at a ratio of 1 space per 1,000 square-feet of warehouse area.  

 
Plan Commission 
The Plan Commission recommended approval of this text amendment to the schedule of off-
street parking spaces by a vote of six (6) to one (1). 
 
 

L - 1 - 4L - 1 - 4



INTRODUCED BY:____________      DATE:____________ 
 
BILL NO.  9472          ORDINANCE NO.____________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 400.2140 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF 
THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, RELATING TO THE SCHEDULE OF OFF-

STREET PARKING SPACE REQUIREMENTS, BY ESTABLISHING A MINIMUM 
PARKING REQUIREMENT FOR RETAIL STORES WITH MORE THAN 45,000 

SQUARE-FEET OF COMBINED SPACE. 
 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, 
MISSOURI AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 400 (Zoning Code) of the Municipal Code of the City of University 
City, Missouri divides the City into several zoning districts and establishes standards to which 
land, buildings, structures and their uses must conform; and 
 

WHEREAS, at its meeting on June 22, 2022, the City Plan Commission reviewed the 
application for said Zoning Code text amendment and recommended to the City Council approval 
of the text amendment; and  
 
 WHEREAS, due notice of a public hearing to be held by the City Council in the 5th Floor 
City Council Chambers at City Hall at 6:30 pm, August 8, 2022, was duly published in the St. 
Louis Countian, a newspaper of general circulation within said City on July 24, 2022; and 
 
 WHEREAS, said public hearing was held at the time and place specified in said notice, 
and all suggestions or objections concerning said amendment of the Zoning Code were duly heard 
and considered by the City Council. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1.   Section 400.2140 of the Municipal Code of the City of University City, relating 
to off-street parking space requirements, is hereby amended by adding the following: 
 

Use Minimum Parking Requirements 
Retail store - large format retail with 
greater than 45,000 square-feet of 
combined warehouse, retail, or other 
flexible space (including but not limited to 
fulfillment, distribution, or other area(s) 
not open to the general public but utilized 
for servicing customers) 

1 space for every 250 square-feet of floor 
area used as retail space devoted to sales 
and open to the public; 1 space for every 
1000 square-feet of floor area used as 
fulfillment, distribution, storage, or other 
area(s) not open to the public; plus one 
space for each vehicle customarily used in 
the operation of the use(s) and/or 
employee(s) on the premises 

 

L - 1 - 5L - 1 - 5



 
Section 2.   This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage as 

provided by law. 
 

 
 
 
PASSED this ________ day of ________________, 2022. 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
         MAYOR 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
 CITY CLERK 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFIED TO BE CORRECT AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
 CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 

L - 1 - 6L - 1 - 6



L - 2 - 1



  
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
July 27, 2022 
 
 
Ms. LaRette Reese 
City Clerk 
City of University City 
6801 Delmar Boulevard 
University City, MO 63130 
 
 
RE: Final Plat / Right-of-Way Dedication Plat - Avenir 

 
Dear Ms. Reese, 
 
At a regularly scheduled meeting, on July 27, 2022, at 6:30 p.m. via video conference, 
the Plan Commission considered the above-referenced application by Delmar View 
Properties, LLC and Brentmoor Holdings, LLC for a Final Plat / Right-of-Way Dedication 
Plat. 
 
By a vote of 6 for and 0 against, the Plan Commission recommended approval of said 
plat. 

 
Margaret Holly, Chairperson 
University City Plan Commission 
 

Plan Commission 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168   
 

L - 2 - 2



  
 
 
 
Department of Community Development 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168   
 
 

STAFF REPORT 
City Council 

 
MEETING DATE:   August 8, 2022 
 
FILE NUMBER:   SUB 22-08 
 
COUNCIL DISTRICT:  1 
 
Location:    McKnight Place, 
 
Applicant:    Delmar View Properties, LLC 
     Brentmoor Holdings, LLC 
 
Request: Right-of-Way Dedications – Final Plat  
 
Existing Zoning: “PD” Planned Development Commercial District,  

“GC” General Commercial District 
Proposed Zoning:   No Change 
Existing Land Use:   Senior Housing, Office building 
Proposed Land Use:  Senior Housing, Office building 
 
Surrounding Zoning and Land Use: 
North:     HRO – High Density Residential/Office 
East:      HR – High Density Residential & CC – Core Commercial 
South:     PA – Public Activity 
West:      PA – Public Activity    
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONFORMANCE 
[  ] Yes [  ] No   [ x ] No reference 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
[x] Approval    [  ] Approval with Conditions     [ ] Denial 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

A. Three (3) Right-of-Way Dedication Plats 
 
Existing Property and Applicant Request 
There are three (3) right-of-way dedication plats involved in this request, all of which are 
part of the Avenir development. All three (3) plats propose to dedicate a portion of land 
to the City of University City. Each parcel of land is adjacent to McKnight Place, just 
south of Delmar Boulevard. A copy of each plat is attached for the Commission’s 
information. L - 2 - 3



Staff Review  
Staff reviewed this as part of the “Final Plat Submittal Requirements” process identified 
in Section 405.380 of the Subdivision regulations.    
 
Analysis 
Staff has determined that the Plat meets all requirements of 405.380 of the Subdivision 
and Land Development Regulations.     
 
Conclusion/Recommendation 
The proposals meets the intent of all Zoning Code and Subdivision Regulation 
requirements for a Final Plat.  Thus, staff recommends approval of the proposed right-
of-way dedications.  
 
Plan Commission 
The Plan Commission recommended approval of this Final Plat and Right-of-Way 
Dedication Plat by a vote of six (6) to zero (0). 
 

L - 2 - 4



INTRODUCED BY:________________ DATE:__________ 

BILL NO. 9475 ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING THREE FINAL RIGHT-OF-WAY DEDICATION 
PLATS FOR LAND ALONG MCKNIGHT PLACE, SOUTH OF DELMAR BOULEVARD 

WHEREAS, an application was submitted by Delmar View Properties, LLC and 
Brentmoor Holdings, LLC to dedicate to the City of University City right-of-way on the east and 
west side of McKnight Place, south of Delmar Boulevard; and 

WHEREAS, at its meeting on July 27, 2022, the City Plan Commission reviewed the 
three (3) final plats for the right-of-way dedication and determined that the final plats are in 
substantial compliance with the requirements of the University City Municipal Code and 
recommended to the City Council approval of the final plats; and 

WHEREAS, the final plats, including all required documents submitted therewith, are 
before the City Council for its consideration. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Attached, marked “Exhibit A,” “Exhibit B” and “Exhibit C”, and made parts 
hereof are final right-of-way dedication plats for three parcels of land east and west of McKnight 
Place, south of Delmar Boulevard. 

Section 2. It is hereby found and determined that the final plats are in full compliance 
with the University City Municipal Code, including Sections 405.380 and 400.390. Accordingly, 
the final plats for the right-of-way dedication, marked “Exhibit A,” “Exhibit B” and “Exhibit C” 
are hereby approved. 

Section 3. The City Clerk is hereby directed to endorse upon the final plats for the major 
subdivisions the approval of the City Council under the hand of the City Clerk and the seal of 
University City. 

Section 4. This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage as 
provided by law. 

PASSED and ADOPTED this ________ day of ____________, 2022. 

L - 2 - 5



 
 
 

________________________________ 
MAYOR 

ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 

  CITY CLERK 
 
CERTIFIED TO BE CORRECT AS TO FORM: 
 
 
________________________________ 

 CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

L - 2 - 6



“EXHIBIT A” 
PARCEL I.D. NUMBER: 18K430491 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: A tract of land being part of Adjusted Lot 4 of McKnight Place Assisted Living 
Boundary Adjustment Plat 2, Recorded in Plat Book 365, Pages 7-8, located in Section 8, Township 45 
North, Range 6 East, City of University City, St. Louis County, Missouri. 

 

“EXHIBIT B” 
PARCEL I.D. NUMBER: 18K430347 

L - 2 - 7



LEGAL DESCRIPTION: A tract of land being part of Lots 2, 3, 4, and 5 of Barby Lane, Recorded in Plat 
Book 61, Page 30, located in Section 8, Township 45 North, Range 6 East, City of University City, St. 
Louis County, Missouri. 

 

L - 2 - 8



“EXHIBIT C” 
PARCEL I.D. NUMBER:  18K430314 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  A tract of land being part of Lot 6 of Barby Lane, Recorded in Plat 
Book 61, Page 30, located in Section 8, Township 45 North, Range 6 East, City of University 
City, St. Louis County, Missouri. 

 

L - 2 - 9



L - 2 - 10



M - 1 - 1



DATE:__________ INTRODUCED BY:________________ 

BILL NO. 9479 ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE VACATING AND SURRENDERING THE RIGHT-OF-WAY OF 
ELMORE COURT. 

WHEREAS, Elmore Court is a public street located in St. Patrick Courts, a subdivision 
within the City of University City, in St. Louis County, Missouri and recorded in Plat Book 48 
Page 33 of the St. Louis County Recorder of Deeds in Clayton, Missouri; and 

WHEREAS, due notice of a public hearing on the vacation of said public street to be held 
by the City Council of City of University City Council on September 27, 2022 at 6:30 p.m., was 
duly published in the St. Louis Countian, a newspaper of general circulation within said City, 
on September 11, 2022; and 

WHEREAS, said public hearing was held at the time and place specified in said notice, and 
all comments concerning said vacation were duly heard and considered by the City Council. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  The right-of-way of Elmore Court in the City of University City in St. 
Louis County, Missouri, and all of the City of University City's rights, title and interest therein 
is hereby vacated, surrendered and quitclaimed, but reserving all public utility easements, if 
any; said property is more specifically described as follows: 

ALL OF ELMORE COURT, 50 FEET WIDE, AS ESTABLISHED BY ST. PATRICK COURTS, A 
SUBDIVISION ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 48, 
PAGE 33 OF THE ST. LOUIS COUNTY RECORDS, LOCATED IN TOWNSHIP 45 NORTH, 
RANGE 6 EAST OF THE FIFTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, ST. 
LOUIS COUNTY, MISSOURI BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS 

BEGINNING AT THE EASTERNMOST CORNER OF LOT 1, BLOCK 1 OF THE ABOVE SAID 
ST. PATRICK COURTS, SAID POINT ALSO BEING LOCATED ON THE WEST LINE OF 
WOODSON ROAD, VARIABLE WIDTH, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE BEGINNING OF A 
CURVE TO THE RIGHT HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET; THENCE ALONG THE 
SOUTHERN RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF SAID ELMORE COURT THE FOLLOWING COURSES 
AND DISTANCES: ALONG SAID CURVE WITH AN ARC LENGTH OF 39.28 AND A CHORD 
WHICH BEARS NORTH  44 DEGREES 45 MINUTES 32 SECONDS WEST, 35.28 FEET TO A 
POINT OF TANGENCY; NORTH 89 DEGREES 46 MINUTES 03 SECONDS WEST, 269.81 FEET 
TO THE BEGINNING OF A CURVE TO THE LEFT HAVING A RADIUS OF 50.00 FEET, AN 
ARC LENGTH OF 36.14 FEET AND A CHORD WHICH BEARS SOUTH 69 DEGREES 31 
MINUTES 39 SECONDS WEST, 35.36 FEET TO A POINT OF REVERSE CURVATURE TO THE 
RIGHT HAVING A RADIUS OF 50.00 FEET, AN ARC LENGTH OF 229.35 FEET AND A 
CHORD WHICH BEARS NORTH 00 DEGREES 13 MINUTES 37 SECONDS EAST, 75.00 FEET 
TO A POINT OF REVERSE CURVATURE TO THE LEFT HAVING A RADIUS OF 50.00 FEET, 
SAID POINT ALSO BEING LOCATED ON  THE NORTHERN RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF 
ELMORE COURT; THENCE ALONG SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE THE FOLLOWING 
COURSES AND DISTANCES: ALONG SAID CURVE WITH AN ARC LENGTH OF 36.14 FEET  

M - 1 - 2



AND A CHORD WHICH BEARS SOUTH 69 DEGREES 03 MINUTES 46 SECONDS EAST, 36.36 
FEET TO A POINT OF TANGENCY; SOUTH 89 DEGREES 46 MINUTES 03 SECONDS EAST, 
269.84 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE TO THE LEFT HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 AN 
ARC LENGTH OF 39.26 FEET AND A CHORD WHICH BEARS NORTH 45 DEGREES 14 
MINUTES 28 SECONDS EAST, 35.35 FEET ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE WEST RIGHT-OF-
WAY LINE OF ABOVE SAID WOODSON ROAD; THENCE CROSSING ELMORE COURT, 
SOUTH 00 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 59 SECONDS WEST, 100.00 FEET TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING, CONTAINING 23,897 SQUARE FEET OR 0.549 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 

Section 2. Said right-of-way us further described and shown hachured on the attached Right-of-
Way Vacation, marked “Exhibit A” and incorporated herein by this reference thereto. 

Section 3. The City Clerk is hereby directed to have this ordinance recorded in the office of the 
Recorder of Deeds of St. Louis County, Missouri. 

Section 4. This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage as 
provided by law. 
 
PASSED and ADOPTED this ________ day of ____________, 2022. 
 
 

________________________________ 
MAYOR 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 

  CITY CLERK 
 
CERTIFIED TO BE CORRECT AS TO FORM: 
 
 
________________________________ 

 CITY ATTORNEY 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

M - 1 - 3



 
“EXHIBIT A” 

 

M - 1 - 4



M - 2 - 1



INTRODUCED BY:________________     DATE:__________ 
 
 
BILL NO.  9480        ORDINANCE NO. 
 

AN ORDINANCE VACATING AND SURRENDERING THE RIGHT-OF-WAY 
OF ORCHARD COURT. 

 
WHEREAS, Orchard Court is a public street located in St. Patrick Courts, a 

subdivision within the City of University City, in St. Louis County, Missouri and recorded 
in Plat Book 48 Page 33 of the St. Louis County Recorder of Deeds in Clayton, Missouri; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, due notice of a public hearing on the vacation of said public street to 
be held by the City Council of City of University City Council on September 27, 2022 at 
6:30 p.m., was duly published in the St. Louis Countian, a newspaper of general 
circulation within said City, on September 11, 2022; and 

 
WHEREAS, said public hearing was held at the time and place specified in said 

notice, and all comments concerning said vacation were duly heard and considered by the 
City Council. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1.  The right-of-way of Orchard Court in the City of University City in 
St. Louis County, Missouri, and all of the City of University City's rights, title and interest 
therein is hereby vacated, surrendered and quitclaimed, but reserving all public utility 
easements, if any; said property is more specifically described as follows: 

 
ALL OF ORCHARD COURT, 50 FEET WIDE, AS ESTABLISHED BY ST. PATRICK 
COURTS, A SUBDIVISION ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF AS RECORDED IN 
PLAT BOOK 48, PAGE 33 OF THE ST. LOUIS COUNTY RECORDS, LOCATED IN 
TOWNSHIP 45 NORTH, RANGE 6 EAST OF THE FIFTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, CITY 
OF UNIVERSITY CITY, ST. LOUIS COUNTY, MISSOURI BEING MORE 
PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING AT THE EASTERNMOST CORNER OF LOT 13, BLOCK 3 OF THE ABOVE 
SAID ST. PATRICK COURTS, SAID POINT ALSO BEING LOCATED ON THE WEST 
LINE OF WOODSON ROAD, VARIABLE WIDTH, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE 
BEGINNING OF A CURVE TO THE LEFT HAVING A RADIUS OF 331.46 FEET; THEN 
ALONG SAID CURVE, CROSSING ORCHARD COURT, WITH AN ARC LENGTH OF 
96.31 FEET AND A CHORD WHICH BEARS SOUTH 14 DEGREES 05 MINUTES 33 
SECONDS EAST, 95.97 FEET TO THE  BEGINNING OF A NON-TANGENTIAL CURVE 
TO THE LEFT HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET, SAID POINT ALSO BEING 
LOCATED ON THE SOUTHERN RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF ORCHARD COURT, ; 
THENCE ALONG SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE THE FOLLOWING COURSES AND 
DISTANCES: ALONG SAID CURVE WITH AN ARC LENGTH OF 29.39 AND A CHORD 
WHICH BEARS NORTH  56 DEGREES 05 MINUTES 32 SECONDS WEST, 27.72 FEET TO 
A POINT OF TANGENCY; NORTH 89 DEGREES 46 MINUTES 3 SECONDS WEST, 180.66 
FEET TO THE BEGINNING OF A CURVE TO THE LEFT HAVING A RADIUS OF 50.00 

M - 2 - 2



FEET, AN ARC LENGTH OF 36.14 FEET AND A CHORD WHICH BEARS SOUTH 69 
DEGREES 31 MINUTES 39 SECONDS WEST, 35.36 FEET TO A POINT OF REVERSE 
CURVATURE TO THE RIGHT HAVING A RADIUS OF 50.00 FEET, AN ARC LENGTH 
OF 229.35 FEET AND A CHORD WHICH BEARS NORTH 00 DEGREES 13 MINUTES 37 
SECONDS EAST, 75.00 FEET TO A POINT OF REVERSE CURVATURE TO THE LEFT 
HAVING A RADIUS OF 50.00 FEET, SAID POINT ALSO BEING LOCATED ON  THE 
NORTHERN RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF ORCHARD COURT; THENCE ALONG SAID 
RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE THE FOLLOWING COURSES AND DISTANCES: ALONG SAID 
CURVE WITH AN ARC LENGTH OF 36.14 FEET AND A CHORD WHICH BEARS SOUTH 
69 DEGREES 03 MINUTES 46 SECONDS EAST, 36.36 FEET TO A POINT OF 
TANGENCY; SOUTH 89 DEGREES 46 MINUTES 03 SECONDS EAST, 155.12 FEET TO A 
POINT OF CURVATURE TO THE LEFT HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET, AN ARC 
LENGTH OF 41.89 FEET AND A CHORD WHICH BEARS NORTH 42 DEGREES 13 
MINUTES 56 SECONDS EAST, 37.16 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, 
CONTAINING 18,631 SQUARE FEET OR 0.428 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 

Section 2. Said right-of-way us further described and shown hachured on the attached 
Right-of-Way Vacation, marked “Exhibit A” and incorporated herein by this reference thereto. 

Section 3. The City Clerk is hereby directed to have this ordinance recorded in the office 
of the Recorder of Deeds of St. Louis County, Missouri. 

Section 4. This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage as 
provided by law. 
 
PASSED and ADOPTED this ________ day of ____________, 2022. 
 
 

________________________________ 
MAYOR 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 

  CITY CLERK 
 
CERTIFIED TO BE CORRECT AS TO FORM: 
 
 
________________________________ 

 CITY ATTORNEY 
 

 
 
 
 
 

M - 2 - 3



 
 

“EXHIBIT A” 

 

M - 2 - 4



M - 3 - 1



 
INTRODUCED BY:________________     DATE:__________ 
 
BILL NO.  9481        ORDINANCE NO. 
 

AN ORDINANCE VACATING AND SURRENDERING THE RIGHT-OF-WAY OF 
RICHARD COURT. 

 
WHEREAS, Richard Court is a public street located in St. Patrick Courts, a subdivision 

within the City of University City, in St. Louis County, Missouri and recorded in Plat Book 48 
Page 33 of the St. Louis County Recorder of Deeds in Clayton, Missouri; and 
 

WHEREAS, due notice of a public hearing on the vacation of said public street to be held 
by the City Council of City of University City Council on September 27, 2022 at 6:30 p.m., was 
duly published in the St. Louis Countian, a newspaper of general circulation within said City, 
on September 11, 2022; and 

 
WHEREAS, said public hearing was held at the time and place specified in said notice, and 

all comments concerning said vacation were duly heard and considered by the City Council. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1.  The right-of-way of Richard Court in the City of University City in St. 
Louis County, Missouri, and all of the City of University City's rights, title and interest therein 
is hereby vacated, surrendered and quitclaimed, but reserving all public utility easements, if 
any; said property is more specifically described as follows: 

 
A TRACT OF LAND SITUATED IN THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY1 THE COUNTY OF 
ST. LOUIS, AND THE STATE OF MISSOURI, LYING IN PART OF SECTION 5, TOWNSHIP 
45 NORTH, RANGE 6 EAST, BEING PART OF RICHARD COURT, A PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-
WAY AS DEDICATED BY ST. PATRICK'S COURT, A SUBDIVISION FILED FOR RECORD 
IN PLAT BOOK 48 PAGE 33 OF THE LAND RECORDS OF SAID ST. LOUIS COUNTY, AND 
BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

 
BEGINNING AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE NORTHERN RIGHT-OF-WAY OF 
RICHARD COURT AND THE WESTERN RIGHT-OF-WAY WOODSON ROAD, AS 
WIDENED, SAID INTERSECTION ALSO BEING THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 18 
OF BLOCK 2 OF SAID ST. PATRICK'S COURT; THENCE, ALONG THE SOUTHERN LINE 
OF SAID LOT 18, 41.16 FEET ALONG THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING A 
RADIUS 25.00 FEET, THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 94 DEGREES 19 MINUTES 26 
SECONDS, WITH A CHORD THAT BEARS SOUTH 43 DEGREES 04 MINUTES 14 
SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 36.66 FEET; THENCE, ALONG SAID SOUTHERN LINE 
AND ALONG THE SOUTHERN LINES OF LOTS 13, 14, 15, 16, AND 17 OF SAID BLOCK 2, 
NORTH 89 DEGREES 46 MINUTES 03 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 269.37 FEET; 
THENCE, ALONG THE SOUTHERN LINE OF LOTS 12 AND 13 OF SAID BLOCK 2, 36.14 
FEET ALONG THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING A RADIUS OF 50.00 
FEET, THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 41 DEGREES 24 MINUTES 35 SECONDS. WITH 
A CHORD THAT BEARS NORTH 69 DEGREES 03 MINUTES 46 SECONDS WEST, A 
DISTANCE OF 35.36 FEET; THENCE, ALONG THE SOUTHERN LINE OF SAID LOT 12, 

M - 3 - 2



THE SOUTHERN LINE OF LOT 11, THE EASTERN LINE OF LOTS 10 AND 9, AND THE 
NORTHERN LINES OF LOTS 8 AND 7 OF SAID BLOCK 2, 229.35 FEET ALONG THE ARC 
OF A CURVE TO THE LEFT, HAVING A RADIUS OF 50.00 FEET, THROUGH A CENTRAL 
ANGLE OF 262 DEGREES 49 MINUTES 09 SECONDS, WITH A CHORD THAT BEARS 
SOUTH 00 DEGREES 13 MINUTES 57 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 75.00 FEET; 
THENCE ALONG THE NORTHERN LINE OF SAID LOT 7 AND THE NORTHERN LINE OF 
LOT 6 OF SAID BLOCK 2, 36.14 FEET ALONG THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, 
HAVING A RADIUS OF 50.00 FEET, THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 41 DEGREES 24 
MINUTES 35 SECONDS. WITH A CHORD THAT BEARS NORTH 69 DEGREES 31 
MINUTES 39 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 35.36 FEET; THENCE ALONG THE 
NORTHERN LINE OF SAID LOT 6 AND THE NORTHERN LINES OF LOTS 1, 2, 3, 4, AND 5 
OF SAID BLOCK 2, SOUTH 89 DEGREES 46 MINUTES 03 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE 
OF 269.90 FEET; THENCE, ALONG THE NORTHERN LINE OF SAID LOT 1, 39.28 FEET 
ALONG THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET, 
THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 90 DEGREES 01 MINUTES 02 SECONDS, WITH A 
CHORD THAT BEARS SOUTH 44 DEGREES 45 MINUTES 32 SECONDS EAST, A 
DISTANCE OF 35.36 FEET TO THE WESTERN RIGHT-OF-WAY OF SAID WOODSON 
ROAD. AS WIDENED; THENCE ALONG SAID WESTERN RIGHT-OF-WAY, THE 
FOLLOWING COURSES AND DISTANCES: NORTH 00 DEGREES 17 MINUTES 51 
SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 75.01 FEET; 26.90 FEET ALONG THE ARC OF A 
CURVE TO THE LEFT, HAVING A RADIUS OF 268.70 FEET, THROUGH A CENTRAL 
ANGLE OF 005 DEGREES 44 MINUTES 13 SECONDS. WITH A CHORD THAT BEARS 
NORTH 01 DEGREES 13 MINUTES 22 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 26.89 FEET TO 
THE POINT OF BEGINNING, CONTAINING 0.549 ACRES, BY GRIMES CONSULTING 
INC., LS-343-D, DATED FEBRUARY 2022. 

 
Section 2. Said right-of-way us further described and shown hachured on the attached Right-of-

Way Vacation, marked “Exhibit A” and incorporated herein by this reference thereto. 

Section 3. The City Clerk is hereby directed to have this ordinance recorded in the office of the 
Recorder of Deeds of St. Louis County, Missouri. 

Section 4. This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage as 
provided by law. 
 
PASSED and ADOPTED this ________ day of ____________, 2022. 
 

 
________________________________ 

MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 

  CITY CLERK 
 
CERTIFIED TO BE CORRECT AS TO FORM: 
 
 
________________________________ 

 CITY ATTORNEY 

M - 3 - 3



 
“EXHIBIT A” 

 

M - 3 - 4



M - 4 - 1



  
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
August 24, 2022 
 
 
Ms. LaRette Reese 
City Clerk 
City of University City 
6801 Delmar Boulevard 
University City, MO 63130 
 
 
RE: Major Subdivision – Record Plat and Right-of-Way Dedication (SUB-10) 

 
Dear Ms. Reese, 
 
At a regularly scheduled meeting on August 24, 2022, at 6:30 p.m. via videoconference, 
the Plan Commission considered the application of U-City, LLC for Final Plat Approval 
of a proposed major subdivision and right-of-way dedication plat for Phase IV of the 
Market at Olive development. 
 
By a vote of 5 to 0, the Plan Commission recommended approval of said major 
subdivision. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Margaret Holly, Chairperson 
University City Plan Commission 
 

Plan Commission 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168   
 

M - 4 - 2



  
 
 
 
Department of Community Development 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168   
 
 

STAFF REPORT 
City Council 

 
MEETING DATE:   September 12, 2022 
 
FILE NUMBER:   SUB 22-10 
 
COUNCIL DISTRICT:  3 
 
Location: Northwest corner of the intersection of Olive 

Boulevard and Woodson Road. 

Applicant:    U-City, LLC. 
 
Request: Major Subdivision – Record Plat and Right-of-Way 

Dedication  
 
Existing Zoning:   “GC” General Commercial, “SR” Single-family Residential. 
Proposed Zoning:   “PD” Planned Commercial District – Application forthcoming 
Existing Land Use:   Vacant, demolished residences and vacant commercial. 
Proposed Land Use:  Commercial 
 
Surrounding Zoning and Land Use: 
North:     IC – Industrial Commercial 
East:      “GC” General Commercial, “SR” Single-family Residential 
South:     “PD” Planned Commercial District  
West:      “PD” Planned Commercial District    
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONFORMANCE 
[  ] Yes [  ] No   [ x ] No reference 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
[x] Approval    [  ] Approval with Conditions     [ ] Denial 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

A. Subdivision Plat Application 
B. Record Plat and Legal Descriptions 

 
Existing Property and Applicant Request 
The 11.72-acres property currently consists of forty (40) lots that comprise Jeffrey Plaza 
at Olive Boulevard and Woodson Road, and the residential lots on Orchard, Richard 
and Elmore Courts, plus some right-of-way that is proposed to be dedicated to the City M - 4 - 3



of University City. 
The Applicant is proposing to create three (3) lots for commercial activities in addition to 
two (2) areas of common ground. Two (2) of the proposed commercial lots are adjacent 
to Olive Boulevard: Lot A is 1.414 acres and Lot B is 1.500 acres. The larger Lot C is 
situated north of the smaller parcels and consists of 7.571 acres.  
 
One area of common ground is located on the southwestern portion of the site, 
accommodating future drive aisles. The other common ground parcel is located at the 
northern edge of the site. The right-of-way area is located along the southern edge of 
the, adjacent to Olive Boulevard, and along Woodson Road on the site’s eastern border. 
 
 
Staff Review  
Staff reviewed this as part of the “Major Subdivision” process identified in Section 
405.165 of the Subdivision regulations and as part of the “Final Plat Submittal 
Requirements” process identified in Section 405.380.    
 
Analysis 
Staff has determined that the Plat meets all requirements of sections 405.165 and 
405.380 of the Subdivision and Land Development Regulations.     
 
Plan Commission Meeting 
At the Plan Commission meeting on August 24, 2022, the Plan Commission voted 
unanimously to approve the Minor Subdivision – Lot Consolidation for the Market at 
Olive, Phase II, combining Lots 6 and 7 or the original record plat, resulting in a new 
Adjusted Lot 7. 
 
Conclusion/Recommendation 
The proposal meets the intent of all Zoning Code and Subdivision Regulation 
requirements for a Final Plat.  Thus, staff recommends approval of the proposed Major 
Subdivision and Right-of-way Dedication Plat. 
 
 

 

M - 4 - 4



INTRODUCED BY:________________     DATE:__________ 
 
BILL NO.  9482        ORDINANCE NO. 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FINAL PLAT FOR A MAJOR SUBDIVISION  
OF A TRACT OF LAND TO BE KNOWN AS “MARKET AT OLIVE PLAT 4.”  

 
 

WHEREAS, a major subdivision application was submitted by U-City, LLC on August 
15, 2022, for the approval of a final subdivision plat of a tract of land that consolidates lots and 
dedicates land for public right-of-way us, to be known as “Market at Olive Plat 4”; and    
 

WHEREAS, at its meeting on August 24, 2022, the City Plan Commission reviewed the 
final plat for the major subdivision and determined that the final plat and right-of-way dedication 
plat is in substantial compliance with the requirements of the University City Municipal Code 
and recommended to the City Council approval of the final plat; and 
 

WHEREAS, the final plat for the major subdivision application, including all required 
documents submitted therewith, is before the City Council for its consideration. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. Attached, marked “Exhibit A”, and made a part hereof is a final subdivision 
plat of a tract of land to be known as “Market at Olive Plat 4.” 
 

Section 2. It is hereby found and determined that the final plat for the major subdivision 
is in full compliance with the University City Municipal Code, including Sections 405.165, 
405.380 and 405.390. Accordingly, the final plat for the major subdivision marked “Exhibit A” 
is hereby approved. 
 

Section 3. The City Clerk is hereby directed to endorse upon the final plat for the major 
subdivision the approval of the City Council under the hand of the City Clerk and the seal of 
University City. 
 

Section 4. This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage as 
provided by law. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PASSED and ADOPTED this ________ day of ____________, 2022. 

M - 4 - 5



 
 
 

________________________________ 
MAYOR 

ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 

  CITY CLERK 
 
CERTIFIED TO BE CORRECT AS TO FORM: 
 
 
________________________________ 

 CITY ATTORNEY 

M - 4 - 6



Exhibit A 

 

M - 4 - 7





M - 5 - 1



  
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
August 24, 2022 
 
 
Ms. LaRette Reese 
City Clerk 
City of University City 
6801 Delmar Boulevard 
University City, MO 63130 
 
 
RE: Minor Subdivision – Lot Consolidation (SUB-09) 

 
Dear Ms. Reese, 
 
At a regularly scheduled meeting on August 24, 2022, at 6:30 p.m. via videoconference, 
the Plan Commission considered the application of 170 and Olive Holdco, LLC for Final 
Plat Approval of a proposed minor subdivision to consolidate two (2) existing parcels 
into one (1) in Phase II of the Market at Olive Development.  
 
By a vote of 5 to 0, the Plan Commission recommended approval of said major 
subdivision. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Margaret Holly, Chairperson 
University City Plan Commission 
 

Plan Commission 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168   
 

M - 5 - 2



  
 
 
 
Department of Community Development 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168   
 
 

STAFF REPORT  
City Council 

 
MEETING DATE:   September 12, 2022 
 
FILE NUMBER:   SUB 22-09 
 
COUNCIL DISTRICT:  3 
 
Location:    8630 Olive Boulevard 
 
Applicant:    170 and Olive Holdco, LLC 
 
Request: Minor Subdivision – Lot Consolidation   
Existing Zoning:   PD-C – Planned Commercial District 
Existing Land Use:   Vacant 
Proposed Zoning:   No change – PD-C – Planned Commercial District 
Proposed Land Use:  Commercial, retail 
 
Surrounding Zoning and Land Use: 
North:  PD-C – Planned Commercial District, GC – General Commercial 
East:  PD-C – Planned Commercial District  
South:  SR – Single-family Residential 
West:  IC – Industrial Commercial          
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONFORMANCE 
[  ] Yes [  ] No   [ x ] No reference 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
[x] Approval    [  ] Approval with Conditions     [ ] Denial 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

A. Lot Consolidation Plat Application 
B. Lot Consolidation Plat 

 
Existing Property and Applicant Request 
The subject property is part of Phase II of the Market at Olive Development, on the 
south side of Olive Boulevard, west of McKnight Road. The record plat for the entirety of 
Phase II was approved by the Plan Commission on March 23, 2022, and subsequently 
by the City Council on April 25, 2022 via ordinance number 7177.  
 M - 5 - 3



The Applicant has submitted this application to consolidate Lots 6 and 7 of the original 
plat. The original Lot 6 was only 0.148 acres in size and was situated on the western 
end of the original Lot 7, as illustrated in Figure 1 below, along with the new Adjusted 
Lot 7. 
 

 
Figure 1. Market at Olive, Phase II: Original Lots 6 and 7 (left) and Adjusted Lot 7 (right).  
 
 
Staff Review  
Staff reviewed this as part of the “Minor Subdivision” process identified in Section 
405.170 of the Subdivision regulations.  
 
Analysis 
Staff has determined that the Plat meets all requirements of 405.380 of the Subdivision 
and Land Development Regulations.     
 
Plan Commission Meeting 
At the Plan Commission meeting on August 24, 2022, the Plan Commission voted 
unanimously to approve the Minor Subdivision – Lot Consolidation for the Market at 
Olive, Phase II, combining Lots 6 and 7 or the original record plat, resulting in a new 
Adjusted Lot 7. 
 
Conclusion/Recommendation 
The proposal meets the intent of all Zoning Code and Subdivision Regulation 
requirements for a Final Plat.  Thus, staff recommends approval of the proposed Minor 
Subdivision. 
 
 

M - 5 - 4



 
INTRODUCED BY:________________     DATE:__________ 
 
 
BILL NO.        ORDINANCE NO. 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FINAL PLAT FOR A MINOR SUBDIVISION  
OF A TRACT OF LAND TO BE KNOWN AS “ADJUSTED LOT 7” IN MARKET AT 

OLIVE PLAT 3R. 
 
 

WHEREAS, a minor subdivision application was submitted by the 170 and Olive Holdco, LLC 
on August 10, 2022, for the approval of a final subdivision plat that consolidates Lot 6 and Lot 7 of the 
Market at Olive Plat 2 into a new “Adjusted Lot 7;” and   
 

WHEREAS, at its meeting on August 24, 2022, the City Plan Commission reviewed the final 
plat for the minor subdivision and determined that the final plat is in substantial compliance with the 
requirements of the University City Municipal Code and recommended to the City Council approval of 
the final plat; and 
 

WHEREAS, the final plat for the minor subdivision application, including all required 
documents submitted therewith, is before the City Council for its consideration. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. Attached, marked “Exhibit A”, and made a part hereof is a final subdivision plat of a 
tract of land to be known as “A.” 
 

Section 2. It is hereby found and determined that the final plat for the minor subdivision is in full 
compliance with the University City Municipal Code, including Sections 405.170, 405.380 and 405.390. 
Accordingly, the final plat for the minor subdivision marked “Exhibit A” is hereby approved. 
  

Section 3. The City Clerk is hereby directed to endorse upon the final plat for the minor 
subdivision the approval of the City Council under the hand of the City Clerk and the seal of University 
City. 
 

Section 4. This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage as provided 
by law. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

M - 5 - 5



 
PASSED and ADOPTED this ________ day of ____________, 2022. 
 
 
 

________________________________ 
MAYOR 

ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 

  CITY CLERK 
 
 
 
CERTIFIED TO BE CORRECT AS TO FORM: 
 
 
________________________________ 

 CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Exhibit A 

M - 5 - 6



 

M - 5 - 7



M - 5 - 8



M - 6 - 1



  
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
August 24, 2022 
 
 
Ms. LaRette Reese 
City Clerk 
City of University City 
6801 Delmar Boulevard 
University City, MO 63130 
 
 
RE: Right-of-Way Dedication Plat – Trinity Avenue 

 
Dear Ms. Reese, 
 
At a regularly scheduled meeting, on August 24, 2022, at 6:30 p.m. via video 
conference, the Plan Commission considered the above-referenced application by 
University Heights Subdivision for a Final Plat / Right-of-Way Dedication Plat. 
 
By a vote of 4 for and 0 against, the Plan Commission recommended approval of said 
plat. 

 
Margaret Holly, Chairperson 
University City Plan Commission 
 

Plan Commission 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168   
 

M - 6 - 2



  
 
 
 
Department of Community Development 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168   
 
 

STAFF REPORT 
City Council 

 
MEETING DATE:   August 24, 2022 
 
FILE NUMBER:   SUB 22-11 
 
COUNCIL DISTRICT:  2 
 
Location:    Trinity Avenue, adjacent to City Hall 
 
Applicant:    University Heights Subdivision 
 
Request: Right-of-Way Dedication – Final Plat  
 
Existing Zoning: N/A 
Proposed Zoning:   No Change 
Existing Land Use:   Street 
Proposed Land Use:  No change 
 
Surrounding Zoning and Land Use: 
North:     “SR” Single-family Residential 
East:      “PA” Public Activity 
South:     “PA” Public Activity 
West:      “SR” Single-family Residential   
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONFORMANCE 
[  ] Yes [  ] No   [ x ] No reference 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
[x] Approval    [  ] Approval with Conditions     [ ] Denial 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

A. R-O-W Dedication Plat 
 
Existing Property and Applicant Request 
This plat proposes to dedicate to the City of University City a portion of Trinity Avenue. 
Both sides of the street would be dedicated to the City up to just past its intersection 
with Princeton Avenue. From that point, only half the street (the eastern side) would be 
dedicated to the City. The other (western) portion of Trinity Avenue would remain with 
the University Heights subdivision.  
 

M - 6 - 3



 
Also, at the intersection of Trinity and Princeton Avenues, a small portion of the 
dedicated area has been carved out around the antique light located there. This area 
would also remain with University Heights, and the subdivision would retain 
maintenance responsibilities for the light. 
 
Staff Review  
Staff reviewed this as part of the “Final Plat Submittal Requirements” process identified 
in Section 405.380 of the Subdivision regulations.    
 
Analysis 
Staff has determined that the Plat meets all requirements of 405.380 of the Subdivision 
and Land Development Regulations.   
   
Plan Commission Meeting 
At the Plan Commission meeting on August 24, 2022, the Plan Commission voted 
unanimously to approve the Right-of-Way Dedication Plat for Trinity Avenue. 
 
Conclusion/Recommendation 
The proposals meets the intent of all Zoning Code and Subdivision Regulation 
requirements for a Final Plat.  Thus, staff recommends approval of the proposed right-
of-way dedication.  

M - 6 - 4



 
INTRODUCED BY:________________     DATE:__________ 
 
BILL NO.  9484        ORDINANCE NO. 
 
 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING ONE A-OF-WAY DEDICATION PLAT FOR A ORTION 

OF TRINITY AVENUE, NORTH OF DELMAR BOULAVARD, ADJACENT TO THE 
CITY HALL CIVIC COMPLEX. 

 
WHEREAS, a major subdivision application was submitted by University Heights 

Subdivision to dedicate to the City of University City a portion Trinity Avenue north of Delmar 
Boulevard, adjacent to the City Hall Civic Complex; and 
 

WHEREAS, at its meeting on August 24, 2022, the City Plan Commission reviewed the 
final plat for the right-of-way dedication and determined that the final plat is in substantial 
compliance with the requirements of the University City Municipal Code and recommended to 
the City Council approval of the final plats; and 
 

WHEREAS, the final plat, including all required documents submitted therewith, are 
before the City Council for its consideration. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. Attached, marked “Exhibit A,” and made a part hereof is a final right-of-way 
dedication plat for a portion Trinity Avenue north of Delmar Boulevard, adjacent to the City Hall 
Civic Complex.  
  

Section 2. It is hereby found and determined that the final plat is in full compliance with 
the University City Municipal Code, including Sections 400.165, 405.380 and 400.390. 
Accordingly, the Trinity Avenue Right-of-Way Dedication Plat, marked “Exhibit A,” is hereby 
approved. 
 

Section 3. The City Clerk is hereby directed to endorse upon the final plat for the major 
subdivision the approval of the City Council under the hand of the City Clerk and the seal of 
University City. 
 

Section 4. This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage as 
provided by law. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

M - 6 - 5



 
 
 
 
PASSED and ADOPTED this ________ day of ____________, 2022. 
 
 
 

________________________________ 
MAYOR 

ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 

  CITY CLERK 
 
CERTIFIED TO BE CORRECT AS TO FORM: 
 
 
________________________________ 

 CITY ATTORNEY 

M - 6 - 6



 
“EXHIBIT A” 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: 

A tract of land being part of Trinity Avenue, 50 feet wide, (formerly Harvard Avenue), of “University 
Heights”, a subdivision according to the plat thereof recorded in Plat Book 6 pages 14 and 15 of the St. 
Louis County records, in U.S.  Survey 378, Township 45 North – Range 6 East, University City, St. Louis 
County, Missouri and being more particularly described as:  

Commencing at a point in the North line of Delmar Boulevard, 80 feet wide, being the Southwest corner 
of Lot 1 in Block 5 of said “University Heights”; thence Eastwardly along the South line of said Lot 1, 
being also the North line of said Delmar Boulevard, 80 feet wide, North 90 degrees 00 minutes 00 
seconds East 162.71 feet to the ACTUAL POINT OF BEGINNING; thence along a curve to the left 
whose radius point bears North 00 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds East 12.00 feet from the last mentioned 
point, a distance of 28.49 feet to a point in the Southwest line of Trinity Avenue, 50 feet wide; thence 
Northwestwardly along said Southwest line, the following courses and distances: along a curve to the 
right whose radius point bears North 43 degrees 47 minutes 43 seconds East 241.00 feet from the last 
mentioned point, a distance of 31.74 feet, along a curve to the right whose radius point bears North 51 
degrees 11 minutes 31 seconds East 485.00 feet from the last mentioned point, a distance of 127.18 feet 
and along a curve to the left whose radius point bears South 66 degrees 14 minutes 21 seconds West 
377.00 feet from the last mentioned point, a distance of 82.19 feet to a point; thence leaving said 
Southwest line of Trinity Avenue, North 00 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds West 52.31 feet to a point; 
thence North 90 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds East 10.99 feet to a point; thence along a curve to the left 
whose radius point bears North 00 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds West 5.00 feet from the last mentioned 
point, a distance of 15.71 feet to a point; thence North 90 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds West 10.99 feet 
to a point; thence North 00 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds West 49.56 feet to the P.R.C. rounding in the 
East line of Lot 1 in Block 6 of said “University Heights”; thence North 88 degrees 30 minutes 00 
seconds East 25.00 feet to a point in the centerline of said Trinity Avenue, 50 feet wide; thence 
Northwardly along said centerline, along a curve to the right whose radius point bears North 88 degrees 
30 minutes 00 seconds East 460.00 feet from the last mentioned point, a distance of 106.10 feet and along 
a curve to the right whose radius point bears South 78 degrees 17 minutes 03 seconds East 295.00 feet 
from the last mentioned point, a distance of 43.04 feet to a point; thence leaving said centerline, South 69 
degrees 55 minutes 28 seconds East 25.00 feet to a point in the East line of said Trinity Avenue, 50 feet 
wide; thence Southwardly and Southeastwardly along the East and Northeast lines of said Trinity Avenue, 
50 feet wide, the following courses and distances: along a curve to the left whose radius point bears South 
69 degrees 55 minutes 28 seconds East 270.00 feet from the last mentioned point, a distance of 39.39 feet, 
along a curve to the left whose radius point bears South 78 degrees 17 minutes 03 seconds East 435.00 
feet from the last mentioned point, a distance of 383.65 feet, along a curve to the left whose radius point 
bears North 51 degrees 21 minutes 39 seconds East 191.00 feet from the last mentioned point, a distance 
of 25.22 feet and along a curve to the left whose radius point bears North 43 degrees 47 minutes 43 
seconds East 203.93 feet from the last mentioned point, a distance of 155.88 feet to a point in the 
aforesaid North line of Delmar Boulevard, 80 feet wide; thence Westwardly along said North line, North 
90 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds West 184.07 to the point of beginning and containing 24,695 square 
feet according to a survey by Volz Incorporated during July, 2022.   

M - 6 - 7



 

“EXHIBIT A” 

 

M - 6 - 8



M - 7 - 1



M - 7 - 2



INTRODUCED BY:                                                                                       DATE: __________, 2022  
 
BILL NO.   9485 ORDINANCE NO. ________ 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 
TO ISSUE ITS TAXABLE INDUSTRIAL REVENUE BONDS (DELMAR BOULEVARD 
REDEVELOPMENT AREA PROJECT), SERIES 2022, IN A PRINCIPAL AMOUNT 
NOT TO EXCEED $90,000,000, FOR THE PURPOSE OF PROVIDING FUNDS TO 
PAY THE COSTS OF ACQUIRING, CONSTRUCTING AND IMPROVING A 
FACILITY FOR AN INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT PROJECT IN THE CITY; 
APPROVING A PLAN FOR THE PROJECT; AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY TO 
ENTER INTO CERTAIN AGREEMENTS AND TAKE CERTAIN OTHER ACTIONS 
IN CONNECTION THEREWITH. 
 
WHEREAS, the City of University City, Missouri (the “City”), is authorized and empowered pursuant 

to the provisions of Article VI, Section 27(b) of the Missouri Constitution and Sections 100.010 through 100.200 
of the Revised Statutes of Missouri (collectively, the “Act”), and the City Charter to purchase, construct, extend 
and improve certain projects (as defined in the Act) and to issue industrial development revenue bonds for the 
purpose of providing funds to pay the costs of such projects and to lease or otherwise dispose of such projects to 
private persons or corporations for manufacturing, commercial, office industry, warehousing and industrial 
development purposes upon such terms and conditions as the City deems advisable; and 

 
WHEREAS, in Attorney General Opinion 180-81, the Missouri Attorney General determined that the 

construction and rental of multi-family apartments for profit is a commercial enterprise; and 
 

WHEREAS, a Plan for an Industrial Development Project (the “Plan”) has been prepared in the form of 
Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference; and 

 
WHEREAS, notice of the City’s consideration of the Plan has been given in the manner required by the 

Act, and the City Council has fairly and duly considered all comments submitted to the City Council regarding 
the proposed Plan; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council hereby finds and determines that it is desirable for the improvement of 

the economic welfare and development of the City and within the public purposes of the Act that the City: (1) 
issue its Taxable Industrial Revenue Bonds (Delmar Boulevard Redevelopment Area Project), Series 2022, in 
the maximum principal amount of $90,000,000 (the “Bonds”), for the purpose of acquiring a leasehold interest 
in certain real property located south of Delmar Boulevard between McKnight Place and Kingdel Drive in the 
City (the “Project Site,” as more fully described in the below-defined Indenture) and constructing a development 
containing approximately 262 residential apartments, 1,300 square feet of commercial space, and parking and 
infrastructure thereon (the “Project Improvements,” as more fully described in the Indenture, and together with 
acquisition of a leasehold interest in the Project Site, the “Project”), (3) lease the Project to an affiliate of 
Charles Deutsch & Company (said affiliate being referred to herein as the “Developer”); and (4) enter into a 
Development and Performance Agreement with the Developer, under which the Developer will make certain 
payments in lieu of taxes and agree to certain additional development terms and conditions in consideration of the 
City issuing the Bonds; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Project is also the subject of the Development Plan for Delmar Boulevard 

Redevelopment Area (the “Development Plan”) approved by Ordinance No. ____ (Bill No.____), which 
Development Plan allows for real property tax abatement for the Project; and  

 

M - 7 - 3



WHEREAS, the City Council further finds and determines that it is necessary and desirable in 
connection with the implementation of the Plan and the issuance of the Bonds that the City enter into certain 
documents and take certain other actions as herein provided. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. Approval of the Plan.  The City Council hereby approves the Plan set forth as Exhibit 
A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference; provided,  however, as described in the below-
referenced City Documents, the City intends to implement the Plan to provide a sales tax exemption on 
construction materials and will, by separate legislation, consider the Development Plan for the purpose of 
providing for ad valorem real property tax abatement under Chapter 353, RSMo. 
 

Section 2. Authorization for the Project.  The City is hereby authorized to provide for the 
purchase and construction of the Project, in the manner and as more particularly described in the Indenture and 
the Lease Agreement hereinafter authorized. 

 
Section 3. Authorization of the Bonds.  The City is hereby authorized to issue and sell the Bonds 

as described in the recitals hereto for the purpose of providing funds to pay the costs of the Project.  The Bonds 
shall be issued and secured pursuant to the Indenture described below and shall have such terms, provisions, 
covenants and agreements as are set forth in the Indenture. 

 
Section 4. Limitation on Liability.  The Bonds and the interest thereon shall be limited 

obligations of the City, payable solely out of certain payments, revenues and receipts derived by the City from 
the Lease Agreement described below.  Such payments, revenues and receipts shall be pledged and assigned to 
the bond trustee named in the Indenture (the “Trustee”), as security for the payment of the Bonds as provided in 
the Indenture. The Bonds and the interest thereon shall not constitute general obligations of the City, the State of 
Missouri (the “State”) or any other political subdivision thereof, and neither the City nor the State shall be liable 
thereon.  The Bonds shall not constitute an indebtedness within the meaning of any constitutional, statutory or 
charter debt limitation or restriction, and are not payable in any manner by taxation. 

 
Section 5. Authorization of Documents.  The City is hereby authorized to enter into the 

following documents (collectively, the “City Documents”), in substantially the forms presented to and approved 
by the City Council and attached to this Ordinance, with such changes therein as shall be approved by the 
officials of the City executing the City Documents, such officials’ signatures thereon being conclusive evidence 
of their approval thereof: 

 
(a) Base Lease between the City and the Developer, in substantially the form of Exhibit B, 

attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, pursuant to which the Developer will 
lease the Project to the City pursuant to the terms and conditions contained therein.  

  
(b) Lease Agreement (the “Lease Agreement”) between the City and the Developer, in substantially 

the form of Exhibit C, attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, pursuant to which 
the City will lease the Project to the Developer pursuant to the terms and conditions therein, in 
consideration of rental payments by the Developer that will be sufficient to pay the principal of 
and interest on the Bonds. 

  
(c) Trust Indenture (the “Indenture”) between the City and the Trustee, in substantially the form of 

Exhibit D, attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, pursuant to which the Bonds 
will be issued and the City will pledge the Project and assign certain of the payments, revenues 
and receipts received pursuant to the Lease Agreement to the Trustee for the benefit and 
security of the owners of the Bonds upon the terms and conditions as set forth therein. 

 

M - 7 - 4



(d) Bond Purchase Agreement between the City and the Developer, in substantially the form of 
Exhibit E, attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, pursuant to which the 
Developer will purchase the Bonds. 

 
Section 6. Developer Substitution.  Notwithstanding the forms of documents approved in 

substantially final form pursuant to Section 5, at the request of Charles Deutsch & Company, any entity 
controlled by Charles Deutsch & Company or Charles J. Deutsch or under common control with Charles 
Deutsch & Company may be inserted as the Developer in the documents approved by Section 5 prior to 
execution.  

 
Section 7. Execution of Documents.  The City Manager is hereby authorized to execute the 

Bonds and to deliver the Bonds to the Trustee for authentication for and on behalf of and as the act and deed of 
the City in the manner provided in the Indenture.  The City Manager is hereby authorized to execute the City 
Documents and such other documents, certificates and instruments as may be necessary or desirable to carry out 
and comply with the intent of this Ordinance, for and on behalf of and as the act and deed of the City.  The City 
Clerk is hereby authorized to attest to and affix the seal of the City to the Bonds and the City Documents and 
such other documents, certificates and instruments as may be necessary or desirable to carry out and comply 
with the intent of this Ordinance. 

 
Section 8. Further Authority.  The City shall, and the officials, agents and employees of the City 

are hereby authorized to, take such further action, and execute such other documents, certificates and 
instruments as may be necessary or desirable to carry out and comply with the intent of this Ordinance and to 
carry out, comply with and perform the duties of the City with respect to the Bonds and the City Documents.  
The City Manager is hereby authorized, through the term of the Lease Agreement, to execute all documents on 
behalf of the City (including documents pertaining to the financing or refinancing of the Project by the 
Developer) as may be required to carry out and comply with the intent of this Ordinance, the Indenture and the 
Lease Agreement.  The City Manager is further authorized, on behalf of the City, to grant such consents, 
estoppels and waivers relating to the Bonds, the Indenture, or the Lease Agreement as may be requested during 
the term thereof; provided, such consents, estoppels and/or waivers shall not increase the principal amount of the 
Bonds, increase the term of the Lease Agreement or the economic incentives as provided for therein, waive an 
event of default or materially change the nature of the transaction.  The City Clerk is authorized to attest to and 
affix the seal of the City to any document authorized by this Section. 
 

Section 9. Severability.  The sections of this Ordinance shall be severable.  If any section of this 
Ordinance is found by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, the remaining sections shall remain valid, 
unless the court finds that (a) the valid sections are so essential to and inseparably connected with and dependent 
upon the void section that it cannot be presumed that the City Council has or would have enacted the valid 
sections without the void ones, and (b) the valid sections, standing alone, are incomplete and are incapable of 
being executed in accordance with the legislative intent. 
 

Section 10.  Effective Date. This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after the date of 
its passage and approval. 
 

M - 7 - 5



 PASSED and ADOPTED THIS ___ DAY OF ____________, 2022.  
 
 
 
 
 

       
MAYOR 

(Seal) 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
CITY CLERK 
 
CERTIFIED TO BE CORRECT AS TO FORM: 
 
 
________________________________ 
CITY ATTORNEY 

M - 7 - 6



EXHIBIT A 
 

PLAN FOR AN INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT PROJECT 
 
 

(On file in the office of the City Clerk) 
  

M - 7 - 7



M - 7 - 8



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

____________________________ 
 
 
 
 

UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 
 
 
 

PLAN FOR AN INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT PROJECT  
AND  

COST-BENEFIT ANALYSIS 
 
 
 
 

DELMAR BOULEVARD REDEVELOPMNT AREA PROJECT 
 

 
 
 

 
_____________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

M - 7 - 9



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 Page 
 
I.   PURPOSE OF THIS PLAN ......................................................................................................... 1 
 
II.  DESCRIPTION OF CHAPTER 100 FINANCINGS ................................................................ 1 

General ........................................................................................................................................... 1 
Issuance and Sale of Bonds .......................................................................................................... 1 
Property Tax Abatement ................................................................ Error! Bookmark not defined. 
Sales and Use Tax Exemption ...................................................................................................... 2 

 
III. DESCRIPTION OF THE PARTIES........................................................................................... 2 

Charles Deutsch & Company ...................................................................................................... 2 
University City, Missouri ............................................................................................................. 2 

 
IV. REQUIREMENTS OF THE ACT .............................................................................................. 2 

Description of the Project ............................................................................................................. 2 
Estimate of the Costs of the Project ............................................................................................ 3 
Source of Funds to be Expended for the Project ........................................................................ 3 
Statement of the Terms Upon Which the Project is to be Leased or Otherwise  
 Disposed of by the City .......................................................................................................... 3 
Affected School District, Community College District, Emergency Service  
 Providers, County and City ................................................................................................... 3 
Current Assessed Valuation ......................................................................................................... 3 
Payments in Lieu of Taxes ........................................................................................................... 3 
Sales and Use Tax Exemption ...................................................................................................... 4 
Cost-Benefit Analysis and Discussion of Exhibits ...................................................................... 4 

 
V. ASSUMPTIONS AND BASIS OF PLAN ..................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 
 
ATTACHMENT A - SUMMARY OF KEY ASSUMPTIONS (REAL PROPERTY TAX 
              ABATEMENT) 
 
EXHIBIT 1 - SUMMARY OF REAL PROPERTY TAX ABATEMENT 
EXHIBIT 2 - PROJECTED REAL PROPERTY TAX REVENUES IF PROJECT IS BUILT (NO 

ABATEMENT) 
EXHIBIT 3 - PROJECTED REAL PROPERTY PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF TAXES 
EXHIBIT 4 - PROJECTED NET VALUE OF REAL PROPERTY TAX ABATEMENT 
EXHIBIT 5 - PROJECTED VALUE OF SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION AND SUMMARY 
             OF KEY ASSUMPTIONS (PROJECT IMPROVEMENTS) 
 

*    *    * 

M - 7 - 10



 

I.   PURPOSE OF THIS PLAN   

University City, Missouri (the “City”), intends to issue taxable industrial revenue bonds in a 
principal amount not to exceed $90,000,000 (the “Bonds”) to finance the costs of a proposed industrial 
development project (as further described herein, the “Project”) for the benefit of Charles Deutsch & 
Company (including any affilitate of Charles Deutsch & Company used to implement the Project, the 
“Developer”).  The Bonds will be issued pursuant to the provisions of Sections 100.010 to 100.200 of the 
Revised Statutes of Missouri (“Chapter 100”), Article VI, Section 27(b) of the Missouri Constitution and 
the City Charter (collectively with Chapter 100, the “Act”).  The Bonds will initially be owned by the 
Developer and cannot be transferred, other than to the Developer’s affiliates and lenders, without the City’s 
prior approval. 

Gilmore & Bell, P.C. has prepared this Plan for an Industrial Development Project and Cost-
Benefit Analysis (this “Plan”) to satisfy requirements of the Act and to analyze the potential costs and 
benefits, including the related tax impact on all affected taxing jurisdictions, of using industrial revenue 
bonds to finance the Project and to facilitate the partial abatement of ad valorem real property taxes for 
the Project and provide a sales and use tax exemption on construction materials used to complete the 
bond-financed property.   

II.  DESCRIPTION OF CHAPTER 100 FINANCINGS 

General.  Chapter 100 authorizes cities, counties, towns and villages to issue industrial 
development revenue bonds to finance the purchase, construction, extension and improvement of 
warehouses, distribution facilities, research and development facilities, office industries, agricultural 
processing industries, service facilities that provide interstate commerce, industrial plants, including the 
real estate either within or without the limits of such municipalities, buildings, fixtures, and machinery.  
In addition, Article VI, Section 27(b) of the Missouri Constitution authorizes cities, counties, towns and 
villages to issue revenue bonds for the purpose of paying all or part of the cost of purchasing, 
constructing, extending or improving any facility for manufacturing, commercial, warehousing and 
industrial development purposes, including the real estate, buildings, fixtures and machinery.  Under 
Attorney General Opinion 180-81, the Missouri Attorney General determined that the construction and 
rental of multi-family apartments for profit is a commercial enterprise.   

 
Issuance and Sale of Bonds.  Revenue bonds issued pursuant to the Act do not require voter 

approval and are payable solely from revenues received from a lease or other disposition of the project.  
The municipality issues its bonds and in exchange, the benefited company promises to make payments 
that are sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the bonds as they become due.  Thus, the 
municipality merely acts as a conduit for the financing. 
  
 Concurrently with the closing of the bonds, the Developer will convey title or lease the site on 
which the Project will be located to the municipality.  (The municipality must be the legal owner of the 
property while the bonds are outstanding for the property to be eligible for tax abatement, as further 
described below.)  The municipality will immediately lease the project site and the improvements thereon 
back to the benefited company pursuant to a lease agreement.  The lease agreement will require the 
Developer, acting on behalf of the municipality, to use the bond proceeds to purchase and construct the 
project.   
 
 Under the lease agreement, the Developer typically: (1) unconditionally agrees to make payments 
sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the bonds as they become due; (2) agrees, at its own 
expense, to maintain the project, to pay all taxes and assessments with respect to the project, and to 

M - 7 - 11



maintain adequate insurance; (3) may, at its own expense, make certain additions, modifications or 
improvements to the project; (4) may assign its interests under the lease agreement or sublease the project 
while remaining responsible for payments under the lease agreement; (5) covenants to maintain its 
corporate existence during the term of the bond issue; and (6) agrees to indemnify the municipality for 
certain liability the municipality might incur as a result of its participation in the transaction.   

 
Property Tax Abatement.  Under Article X, Section 6 of the Missouri Constitution and Section 

137.100 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri, all property of any political subdivision is exempt from 
taxation.  In a typical Chapter 100 transaction, the municipality holds fee title to the project and leases the 
project to the benefited company.  Although the Missouri Supreme Court has held that the leasehold 
interest is taxable, it is taxable only to the extent that the economic value of the lease is less than the 
actual market value of the lease.  See Iron County v. State Tax Commission, 437 S.W.2d 665 (Mo. banc 
1968) and St. Louis County v. State Tax Commission, 406 S.W.2d 644 (Mo. banc 1966).  If the rental 
payments under the lease agreement equal the actual debt service payments on the bonds, the leasehold 
interest should have no “bonus value” and the bond-financed property should be exempt from ad valorem 
taxation while the bonds are outstanding. 
 

If the municipality and the company determine that partial tax abatement is desirable, the 
company may agree to make payments in lieu of taxes (sometimes referred to as “PILOTS”).  The amount 
of payments in lieu of taxes is negotiable.  The payments in lieu of taxes are payable by December 31 of 
each year and are distributed to the municipality and to each political subdivision within the boundaries of 
the project in the same manner and in the same proportion as property taxes would otherwise be 
distributed under Missouri law. 
 
 Sales and Use Tax Exemption.  The purpose of this Plan is to provide a sales and use tax 
exemption on qualified building materials.  Under the Act and other applicable state law, qualified 
building materials can be exempt from sales and use tax if approved by the municipality.  The sales and 
use tax exemption is evidenced by a project exemption certificate issued by the municipality. 

III. DESCRIPTION OF THE PARTIES 

Charles Deutsch & Company.  The Developer is a real estate development company with 
extensive experience developing and managing multi-family, senior living and other real estate projects. 
The Developer’s President, Charles J. Deutsch, has over 40 years of development experience in the St. 
Louis area, including development of The Gatesworth Communities in the City.   

University City, Missouri.  The City is a charter city and political subdivision of the State of 
Missouri.  The City is authorized and empowered pursuant to the provisions of the Act to purchase, 
construct, extend, equip and improve certain projects (as defined in the Act) and to issue industrial 
development revenue bonds for the purpose of providing funds to pay the costs of such projects and to 
lease or otherwise dispose of such projects to private persons or corporations for manufacturing, 
commercial, warehousing and industrial development purposes upon such terms and conditions as the 
City deems advisable.  

IV. REQUIREMENTS OF THE ACT 

 A. Description of the Project.  The Project consists of acquiring approximately 6.2 acres of 
real property located south of Delmar Boulevard, between McKnight Place and Kingdel Drive in the City 
(the “Project Site”) and constructing thereon a development consisting of approximately 262 residential 
apartments, 1,300 square feet of commercial space, and related parking and infrastructure (collectively, 
the “Project Improvements” and, together with the acquisition of the Project Site, the “Project”).  The 
Project is expected to be completed by mid-2024.   

M - 7 - 12



  
 B. Estimate of the Costs of the Project.  The acquisition and construction of the Project are 
expected to cost approximately $87,500,000.  Bonds will be issued in the maximum principal amount of 
$90,000,000 to provide for contingencies. 
 
 C. Sources of Funds to be Expended for the Project.  The sources of funds to be expended 
for the Project will be the proceeds of the Bonds in the maximum principal amount of $90,000,000 and 
other available funds of the Developer.  The Bonds will be payable solely from the revenues derived by 
the City from the lease or other disposition of the Project (as further described below).  The Bonds will 
not be an indebtedness or general obligation, debt or liability of the City or the State of Missouri.  No tax 
revenues will be used to repay the Bonds. 
 
 D. Statement of the Terms Upon Which the Project is to be Leased or Otherwise Disposed 
of by the City.  The Developer will lease the Project to the City during construction.  Upon completion of 
the Project, the Developer will convey title to the City.  The City will sublease or lease the Project back to 
the Developer for lease payments equal to the principal and interest on the Bonds.  Under the terms of the 
lease agreement with the City, the Developer (or applicable affiliate) will have the option to purchase the 
Project at any time for nominal consideration.  Unless terminated sooner by action of the parties, the lease 
back to the Developer will terminate on December 31 of the fifth calendar year following the year in 
which title is conveyed to the City.  Simultaneously with the termination of the lease, the Developer will 
have the obligation to purchase fee title to the Project back, thereby making the Project subject to ad 
valorem taxes. 
 
 E. Affected School District, Community College District, Emergency Service Providers, 
County and City.  The School District of University City is the school district affected by the Project. The 
Community College District of St. Louis, St. Louis County, Missouri is the community college district 
affected by the Project.  No fire or ambulance districts are affected by the Project. St. Louis County, 
Missouri is the county affected by the Project.  University City, Missouri is the city affected by the 
Project.  A Cost-Benefit Analysis showing the impact of the proposed ad valorem real property tax 
abatement and sales and use tax exemption on qualified building materials is included below.  The Cost-
Benefit Analysis attached hereto identifies all other taxing districts affected by the Project (other than 
those taxing entities whose tax revenues are affected by the Project solely with respect to the commercial 
surcharge tax). 
 
 F. Current Assessed Valuation.  The most recent equalized assessed valuation (2021) of the 
real property included in the Project is $1,479,200.  The Developer estimates that the total equalized 
assessed valuation of real property included in the Project after construction of the Project Improvements 
will be approximately $7,099,063.   

 
G. Payments in Lieu of Taxes.  In the year that the City acquires title to the Project, the 

Developer will make payments in lieu of taxes equal to 100% of the ad valorem real property taxes that 
would otherwise be due on the Project but for the City’s interest in the Project.  During the next five 
years, the Developer will make payments in lieu of taxes in amounts based on the then-current ad valorem 
real property tax rate and an assessed value of $1,479,200 (i.e., the pre-redevelopment assessed value). 

 
PILOTs are expected to be collected by the St. Louis County Collector in the same manner as real 

property taxes and disbursed to the respective taxing entities in the same proportion as the then-current ad 
valorem tax levy of each taxing entity.   

 

M - 7 - 13



 H. Sales and Use Tax Exemption.  Qualified building materials purchased for the 
construction of the Project Improvements are expected to be exempt from sales and use tax pursuant to 
the provisions of Section 144.062 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri and the Bond documents upon 
delivery of a project exemption certificate by the City to the Developer.  
 
 I. Cost-Benefit Analysis and Discussion of Exhibits.  In compliance with Section 
100.050.2(3) of the Revised Statutes of Missouri, as amended, this Plan has been prepared to show the 
costs and benefits to the City and to other taxing jurisdictions affected by the ad valorem real property tax 
abatement and the sales tax exemption for the Project. The projections in the Cost/Benefit Analysis are 
estimates based on numerous assumptions set forth in Attachment A hereto.  Therefore, the actual 
revenues generated from the Project may be significantly different from those shown in the Cost-Benefit 
Analysis.  The following is a summary of the exhibits attached to this Plan that show the direct tax impact 
the Project is expected to have on each taxing jurisdiction and key ancillary benefits expected to be 
derived from the Project.  This Plan does not attempt to quantify the overall economic impact of the 
Project. 
 

 Summary of Property Tax Abatement.  Exhibit 1 provides a summary for each affected 
taxing district of (1) the total estimated tax revenues that would be generated on the Project Site if 
the Project was built and the Project did not receive tax abatement, (2) the total estimated value of 
the PILOTs to be made by the Developer for the proposed abatement period and (3) the total 
estimated value of the abatement to the Developer.  Please note that the actual value of the Project 
may differ from the estimated value assumed in this Plan and may impact the value of the 
abatement realized by the Developer.   

 Real Property Tax Revenues.  Exhibit 2 provides the projected real property tax revenues 
that would be generated from the Project Site and the Project Improvements without tax 
abatement.  Exhibit 3 provides the projected value of the real property PILOTs to be made by the 
Developer.  Exhibit 4 provides the net value of the real property tax abatement after accounting 
for payment of PILOTs. 

 Refer to Attachment A for the assumptions related to the determination of the assessed 
values and the tax formulas. 

 Sales Tax Exemption on Construction Materials.  Exhibit 5 provides estimated values of 
the sales and use taxes exemption on construction materials purchased for the Project 
Improvements.  Key assumptions for these estimated values are also included in Exhibit 5. 

 Ancillary Project Benefits.  The City believes that the Developer’s investment in the 
Project will create construction jobs during the construction period and spur additional investment 
and economic activity in the City.  Construction of the Project will enhance the aesthetics and 
vibrancy of the Project Site and surrounding area.  These ancillary impacts were not measured for 
purposes of this Plan.   

V. ASSUMPTIONS AND BASIS OF PLAN 

This Plan includes assumptions that impact the amount of the abatement and exemptions 
proposed for the Project.  See Attachment A and Exhibit 5 for a summary of these assumptions. 

 
In addition to the foregoing, in order to complete this Plan, Gilmore & Bell, P.C. has generally 

reviewed and relied upon information furnished by, and has participated in conferences with, 
representatives of the City, representatives of the Developer, and other persons as the firm has deemed 
appropriate.  Gilmore & Bell, P.C. does not assume any responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or 

M - 7 - 14



fairness of any of the information provided to us and has not independently verified the accuracy, 
completeness or fairness of such information. 
 
 

 
*     *     * 

 

M - 7 - 15



ATTACHMENT A 
 

SUMMARY OF KEY ASSUMPTIONS (REAL PROPERTY TAX ABATEMENT) 
 

1. The Developer will invest approximately $87,500,000 in the Project. 
 

2. The Developer provided the projections of assessed value shown in the attached exhibits, 
which assume a 1% increase in each odd-numbered reassessment year. 
 

3. The acquisition and construction of the Project will be complete by the end of 2024.     
 
 4. The Project, upon completion, will be owned by the City and leased to the Developer 
with an option to purchase.  As long as the Project is owned by the City, they will be exempt from ad 
valorem real property taxes.   

 
 5. The Project will be excluded from the calculation of ad valorem real property taxes from 
2024 through 2029. 
 

6. During the period that the Project is excluded from the calculation of ad valorem real 
property taxes, the Developer will make the follwoing PILOTs: 

 
a. In the year the City obtains title to the Project, PILOTs will equal 100% of the ad 

valorem real property taxes that would otherwise be due with respect to the Project, but for the 
City’s interest therein. 

 
b. In each of the next five years, PILOTs will be based on the then-current ad 

valorem real property tax rate at the Project Site, a commercial assessed value of $407,460 and a 
residential assessed value of $1,071,740 (i.e., the 2021 assessed value of land and improvements 
at the Project Site).   

 
7. The tax rates used in this Plan reflect the rates in effect for the tax year 2021.  The tax 

rates were held constant throughout the abatement period. 
 
 

* * * 

 

M - 7 - 16



EXHIBIT 1 
 

SUMMARY OF REAL PROPERTY TAX ABATEMENT 
 
 
 

Tax Distribution

Real Property Tax 
Revenue Without 

Abatement

Revenue 
Generated 

from PILOT 
Payments

Value of 
Abatement

State of Missouri 11,036$                2,219$           8,818$          
St. Louis County - General 61,039                  12,631           48,408          
St. Louis County - Health 41,060                  8,495             32,566          
St. Louis County - Parks 14,780                  3,040             11,740          
St. Louis County - Bond Retirement 6,990                   1,405             5,584           
St. Louis County - Road & Bridge 30,695                  6,342             24,353          
St. Louis Community College 102,528                20,613           81,916          
Special School District 373,693                75,129           298,564        
Zoo - Museum District 90,315                  18,157           72,157          
University City Library 128,677                25,784           102,893        
Univeristy City School District 1,590,000             326,364          1,263,635     
Metropolitan Sewer District 38,296                  7,699             30,597          
Deer Creek Sewer District 24,522                  5,187             19,335          
University City 215,423                43,926           171,497        
Productive Living Board 26,329                  5,516             20,813          
Commercial Surcharge 27,418                  34,634           (7,216)          

2,782,801$           597,142$        2,185,659$   

Note: Commercial Surcharge shows a negative number because the Project is expected to include a 
substantial increase in residential assessed value, but a small decrease in commercial assessed 
value.

M - 7 - 17



EXHIBIT 2 
 

PROJECTED REAL PROPERTY TAX REVENUES IF PROJECT IS BUILT (NO ABATEMENT) 
 

Residential Assessed Value 1,071,740$        6,979,063$   6,979,063$   7,048,854$   7,048,854$   7,119,342$   
Commercial Assesed Value 407,460             320,000       320,000       323,200       323,200       326,432       
Total Assessed Value 1,479,200          7,299,063    7,299,063    7,372,054    7,372,054    7,445,774    
Base Assessed Value 1,479,200          1,479,200    1,479,200    1,479,200    1,479,200    1,479,200    
Incremental Assessed Value -$                  5,819,863$   5,819,863$   5,892,854$   5,892,854$   5,966,574$   

Taxing Jurisdiction

Total 
Residential 

Tax Rate per 
$100

Total 
Commercial 
Tax Rate per 

$100
Base Year                

(2021) 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
Total                

(2025 - 2029)

State of Missouri 0.0300        0.0300       444$                 2,190$         2,190$         2,212$         2,212$         2,234$         11,036$           
St. Louis County - General 0.1650        0.1860       2,526 12,111 12,111 12,232 12,232 12,354 61,039             
St. Louis County - Health 0.1110        0.1250       1,699 8,147 8,147 8,228 8,228 8,311 41,060             
St. Louis County - Parks 0.0400        0.0440       608 2,932 2,932 2,962 2,962 2,991 14,780             
St. Louis County - Bond Retirement 0.0190        0.0190       281.05 1,387 1,387 1,401 1,401 1,415 6,990              
St. Louis County - Road & Bridge 0.0830        0.0930       1,268 6,090 6,090 6,151 6,151 6,213 30,695             
St. Louis Community College 0.2787        0.2787       4,123 20,342 20,342 20,546 20,546 20,751 102,528           
Special School District 1.0158        1.0158       15,026 74,144 74,144 74,885 74,885 75,634 373,693           
Zoo - Museum District 0.2455        0.2455       3,631 17,919 17,919 18,098 18,098 18,279 90,315             
University City Library 0.3500        0.3450       5,157 25,531 25,531 25,786 25,786 26,044 128,677           
Univeristy City School District 4.3049        4.6963       65,273 315,470 315,470 318,625 318,625 321,811 1,590,000        
Metropolitan Sewer District 0.1041        0.1041       1,540 7,598 7,598 7,674 7,674 7,751 38,296             
Deer Creek Sewer District 0.0660        0.0810       1,037 4,865 4,865 4,914 4,914 4,963 24,522             
University City 0.5840        0.6200       8,785 42,742 42,742 43,169 43,169 43,601 215,423           
Productive Living Board 0.0710        0.0840       1,103 5,224 5,224 5,276 5,276 5,329 26,329             
Commercial Surcharge n/a 1.7000       6,927 5,440 5,440 5,494 5,494 5,549 27,418             

7.4680        9.6674       119,428$           552,132$     552,132$     557,653$     557,653$     563,230$     2,782,801$      

 

M - 7 - 18



EXHIBIT 3 
 

PROJECTED REAL PROPERTY PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF TAXES 
 
 

Residential Assessed Value 1,071,740$   6,979,063$   6,979,063$   7,048,854$   7,048,854$   7,119,342$   
Commercial Assessed Value 407,460        320,000        320,000        323,200        323,200        326,432        
Total Assessed Value 1,479,200$   7,299,063$   7,299,063$   7,372,054$   7,372,054$   7,445,774$   
Base Assessed Value 1,479,200     1,479,200     1,479,200     1,479,200     1,479,200     1,479,200     
Incremental Assessed Value -$             5,819,863$   5,819,863$   5,892,854$   5,892,854$   5,966,574$   

Taxing Jurisdiction

Total 
Residential 

Tax Rate per 
$100

Total 
Commercial 
Tax Rate per 

$100
Base Year                

(2021) 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
Total                

(2025 - 2029)

State of Missouri 0.0300        0.0300        444$            444$            444$            444$            444$            444$            2,219$            
St. Louis County - General 0.1650        0.1860        2,526 2,526 2,526 2,526 2,526 2,526 12,631
St. Louis County - Health 0.1110        0.1250        1,699 1,699 1,699 1,699 1,699 1,699 8,495
St. Louis County - Parks 0.0400        0.0440        608 608 608 608 608 608 3,040
St. Louis County - Bond Retirement 0.0190        0.0190        281.05 281.05 281.05 281.05 281.05 281.05 1,405
St. Louis County - Road & Bridge 0.0830        0.0930        1,268 1,268 1,268 1,268 1,268 1,268 6,342
St. Louis Community College 0.2787        0.2787        4,123 4,123 4,123 4,123 4,123 4,123 20,613
Special School District 1.0158        1.0158        15,026 15,026 15,026 15,026 15,026 15,026 75,129
Zoo - Museum District 0.2455        0.2455        3,631 3,631 3,631 3,631 3,631 3,631 18,157
University City Library 0.3500        0.3450        5,157 5,157 5,157 5,157 5,157 5,157 25,784
Univeristy City School District 4.3049        4.6963        65,273 65,273 65,273 65,273 65,273 65,273 326,364
Metropolitan Sewer District 0.1041        0.1041        1,540 1,540 1,540 1,540 1,540 1,540 7,699
Deer Creek Sewer District 0.0660        0.0810        1,037 1,037 1,037 1,037 1,037 1,037 5,187
University City 0.5840        0.6200        8,785 8,785 8,785 8,785 8,785 8,785 43,926
Productive Living Board 0.0710        0.0840        1,103 1,103 1,103 1,103 1,103 1,103 5,516
Commercial Surcharge n/a 1.7000        6,927 6,927 6,927 6,927 6,927 6,927 34,634

7.4680        9.6674        119,428$      119,428$      119,428$      119,428$      119,428$      119,428$      597,142$        

M - 7 - 19



EXHIBIT 4 
 

PROJECTED NET VALUE OF REAL PROPERTY TAX ABATEMENT 
 
 

Taxing Jurisdiction

Total 
Residential 
Tax Rate 
per $100

Total 
Commercial 
Tax Rate per 

$100 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
Total                

(2025 - 2029)

State of Missouri 0.0300     0.0300         1,746$       1,746$       1,768$       1,768$       1,790$       8,818$           
St. Louis County - General 0.1650     0.1860         9,584 9,584 9,706 9,706 9,828 48,408
St. Louis County - Health 0.1110     0.1250         6,448 6,448 6,529 6,529 6,612 32,566
St. Louis County - Parks 0.0400     0.0440         2,324 2,324 2,354 2,354 2,383 11,740
St. Louis County - Bond Retirement 0.0190     0.0190         1,106 1,106 1,120 1,120 1,134 5,584
St. Louis County - Road & Bridge 0.0830     0.0930         4,822 4,822 4,883 4,883 4,944 24,353
St. Louis Community College 0.2787     0.2787         16,220 16,220 16,423 16,423 16,629 81,916
Special School District 1.0158     1.0158         59,118 59,118 59,860 59,860 60,608 298,564
Zoo - Museum District 0.2455     0.2455         14,288 14,288 14,467 14,467 14,648 72,157
University City Library 0.3500     0.3450         20,374 20,374 20,629 20,629 20,887 102,893
Univeristy City School District 4.3049     4.6963         250,197 250,197 253,352 253,352 256,538 1,263,635
Metropolitan Sewer District 0.1041     0.1041         6,058 6,058 6,134 6,134 6,211 30,597
Deer Creek Sewer District 0.0660     0.0810         3,828 3,828 3,877 3,877 3,926 19,335
University City 0.5840     0.6200         33,957 33,957 34,384 34,384 34,816 171,497
Productive Living Board 0.0710     0.0840         4,121 4,121 4,173 4,173 4,226 20,813
Commercial Surcharge n/a 1.7000         (1,487) (1,487) (1,432) (1,432) (1,377) (7,216)

7.4680     9.6674         432,704$    432,704$    438,225$    438,225$    443,802$    2,185,659$    

Note: Commercial Surcharge shows a negative number because the Project is expected to include a substantial increase in residential assessed value, but a 
small decrease in commercial assessed value.

M - 7 - 20



EXHIBIT 5 
 

PROJECTED VALUE OF SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION AND  
SUMMARY OF KEY ASSUMPTIONS (PROJECT IMPROVEMENTS) 

 
The City will grant a sales and use tax exemption on the qualified building materials necessary to 

construct the Project Improvements.  For purposes of determining the impact of the sales and use tax 
exemption on the qualified building materials on the affected taxing jurisdictions granted by the City, 
certain assumptions have to be made as to the total costs of the building materials and as to the business 
location of the vendor selling the building materials.  The assumptions related to the business locations of 
the building materials vendors are important as wholly-intrastate sales are subject to state and local sales 
tax at the tax rate applicable at the vendors’ business locations, while interstate sales made by non-
Missouri vendors are subject to use tax at the tax rate applicable at the delivery location. It was assumed 
that: 

 
• $26,000,000 of the total costs of the Project Improvements will be allocated to construction 

material costs; 
 
• the applicable sales tax rate is 9.238%, of which 4.225% is allocated to the State of Missouri, 

2.513% is allocated to St. Louis County and various countywide taxing districts (i.e., 
Metrolink, E-911, Children’s Services, Zoo and Regional Parks and Trails) and 2.50% is 
allocated to the City; 

 
• the applicable use tax rate is 5.725%, of which 4.225% is allocated to the State of Missouri 

and 1.500% is allocated to the City; 
 
• 80% of the qualified construction materials will be subject to the State’s sales tax and 20% 

will be subject to the State’s use tax; 
 
• 20% of the qualified construction materials will be subject to the County’s and various 

countywide districts’ sales tax; and 
 
• 5% of the qualified construction materials will be subject to the City’s sales tax and 20% will 

be subject to the City’s use tax.   
 
Please note that any variance in these assumptions will alter the net fiscal impact of the sales and 

use tax exemption on the affected taxing jurisdictions.  
 
Based on the assumptions set forth above, the net fiscal impact of the sales and use tax exemption 

on the qualified building materials granted by the City is approximately $1,264,312, allocated as follows: 
 

 Sales Tax Use Tax Total 
    

State of Missouri  $878,800 $219,700 $1,098,500 
County (including all countywide taxing districts)1 130,676 0 130,676 
City1      32,500     2,636    35,136 

Total  $1,041,976 $222,336 $1,264,312 
 

1 County taxes include the 0.5% public safety sales tax, a portion of which will be distributed to the City.  City taxes 
include the 1.0% general sales tax and 0.5% capital improvements sales tax, which are subject to countywide sales 
tax sharing pools.  This analysis does not attempt to quantify the portion of those sales taxes that will ultimately be 
distributed to the City, the County or other participants in the sales tax sharing pools because the formulas for such 
distributions rely on variables outside the scope of this Plan, including the overall population of the City relative to 
the overall population of other participants in the sales tax sharing pools.   

M - 7 - 21



M - 7 - 22



EXHIBIT B 
 

BASE LEASE 
 
 

(On file in the office of the City Clerk) 
  

M - 7 - 23



M - 7 - 24



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

(The above space is reserved for Recorder's Certification.) 
 

 
 

 

TITLE OF DOCUMENT: BASE LEASE 
  
DOCUMENT DATED AS OF: September __, 2022 
  
GRANTOR: DELMAR VIEW PROPERTIES, LLC 
  
GRANTOR’S MAILING ADDRESS: c/o Charles Deutsch & Company 

One McKnight Place 
St. Louis, Missouri  63124 
Attn: Charles J. Deutsch 

  
GRANTEE: CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 
  
GRANTEE’S MAILING ADDRESS: 6801 Delmar Boulevard  

University City, Missouri  63130 
  
RETURN DOCUMENTS TO: Mark A. Spykerman, Esq. 

Gilmore & Bell, P.C. 
211 North Broadway, Suite 2000 
St. Louis, Missouri 63102 

  
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: See Exhibit A 

M - 7 - 25



 

BASE LEASE 

 

THIS BASE LEASE (this “Base Lease”) is made and entered into as of September __, 2022 
(the “Effective Date”), by and between DELMAR VIEW PROPERTIES, LLC, a Missouri limited 
liability company (the “Developer”), and the CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, a home-
rule city organized and existing under its charter and the laws of the State of Missouri (the “City”). 

RECITALS: 

A. The City is authorized and empowered pursuant to the provisions of Article VI, Section 
27(b) of the Missouri Constitution and Sections 100.010 through 100.200 of the Revised Statutes of 
Missouri (collectively, the “Act”) and the City Charter, to purchase, construct, extend and improve certain 
projects (as defined in the Act) and to issue industrial development revenue bonds for the purpose of 
providing funds to pay the costs of such projects and to lease or otherwise dispose of such projects to 
private persons or corporations for manufacturing, commercial, warehousing, office industry and 
industrial development purposes upon such terms and conditions as the City deems advisable. Under 
Attorney General Opinion 180-81, the Missouri Attorney General determined that the construction 
and rental of multi-family apartments for profit is a commercial enterprise.   

 
B. The Developer owns certain real property located in the City and described on 

Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference (the “Project Site”), which is the 
subject of an industrial development plan approved in accordance with the Act by the City on 
________, 2022 by passage of Ordinance No. _____. 

 
C. Pursuant to the Act and Ordinance No. ____, the City is authorized to (1) issue its 

Taxable Industrial Revenue Bonds (Delmar Boulevard Redevelopment Area Project), Series 2022, in 
the maximum principal amount of $90,000,000 (the “Bonds”), for the purpose of acquiring a leasehold 
interest in approximately 6.2 acres of real property located south of Delmar Boulevard, between 
McKnight Place and Kingdel Drive (the “Project Site,” as more fully described on Exhibit A) and 
constructing a development containing approximately 262 residential apartments, 1,300 square feet of 
commercial space, and related parking and infrastructure thereon (the “Project Improvements,” and 
together with the acquisition of a leasehold interest in the Project Site, the “Project”), (2) enter into this 
Base Lease for the purpose of acquiring a leasehold interest in the Project and (3) enter a Lease 
Agreement with the Developer of the same date herewith (the “Lease”) for the purpose leasing the 
Project back to the Developer for rent sufficient to pay debt service on the Bonds. 

 
D. In connection with the issuance of the Bonds and the execution of the Lease, the City has 

agreed to cooperate with the Developer and the contractors for the Project Improvements in acquiring the 
benefits of sales tax exemption for purchases of materials used to construct the Project Improvements. 

 
E. The Developer desires to lease the Project to the City and the City desires to lease the 

Project from the Developer, and to acquire and hold a leasehold interest for the term of this Base 
Lease as more fully described in this Base Lease. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual representations, 

covenants and agreements herein contained, the City and the Developer do hereby represent, covenant 
and agree as follows: 
 

M - 7 - 26



Section 1. Definitions.  In addition to any words and terms defined elsewhere in this 
Base Lease, capitalized words and terms used in this Base Lease shall have the meanings given to 
such terms in the Lease. 

Section 2. Representations by the City.  The City makes the following representations as 
the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained: 
 

 (a) The City is a home-rule city and political subdivision of the State of Missouri.   
 

(b) Under the provisions of the Act and the City Charter, the City has lawful power 
and authority to enter into the transactions contemplated by this Base Lease and to carry out its 
obligations hereunder.   

 
(c) By proper action of its governing body, the City has been duly authorized to 

execute and deliver this Base Lease, acting by and through its duly authorized officers. 
 
 Section 3. Representations by the Developer.  The Developer makes the following 
representations as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained: 
 

 (a) The Developer is a limited liability company validly existing and in good 
standing under the laws of the State of Missouri. 
 
 (b) The Developer has lawful power and authority to enter into this Base Lease and 
to carry out its obligations hereunder and the Developer has been duly authorized to execute and 
deliver this Base Lease, acting by and through its duly authorized officers and representatives. 
 
 (c) The Developer is the owner of a fee simple interest in the Project Site and is 
permitted to lease the Project located thereon to the City pursuant to this Base Lease. 
 
Section 4. Lease Term.  This Base Lease shall become effective upon execution and 

delivery, and subject to earlier termination pursuant to the provisions of this Base Lease, shall have a term 
commencing as of the Effective Date and terminating simultaneously with the termination of the Lease. 

 
Section 5. Granting of Leasehold Estate.  The Developer hereby rents, leases and lets the 

Project to the City, and the City hereby rents, leases and hires the Project from the Developer, subject to 
Permitted Encumbrances existing as of the date of the execution and delivery hereof, for the rentals and 
upon and subject to the terms and conditions herein contained.  

 
Section 6. Rent. In addition to the City’s obligations under the Lease and the 

Development and Performance Agreement, the City hereby agrees to pay to the Developer annual 
rent under this Base Lease (the “Rent”) equal to One Dollar and no/100 ($1.00), which shall be due 
on the date of this Base Lease and on each January 1 thereafter during the term of this Base Lease.  
The Developer hereby acknowledges that it has received the Rent due on the date of this Base Lease.  

 
Section 7. Use and Possession of the Project.  The City will have the rights of use and 

possession of the Project only to the extent permitted by the Lease. 
 
Section 8. Assignability.  The City will not assign, sublease, mortgage or otherwise 

transfer or encumber its interest in this Base Lease. 
 

M - 7 - 27



Section 9. Repairs and Maintenance.  The Developer shall, at its sole cost and 
expense, maintain and repair the Project, and all portions thereof and improvements thereto, to the 
extent required by the Lease. In no event shall the City be required to make any repairs, 
improvements, additions, replacements, reconstructions or other changes to the Project or perform 
any maintenance thereon. 

 
Section 10. Taxes.  Pursuant to Section 6.2 of the Lease, the Developer shall promptly 

pay all taxes or other governmental charges, that if unpaid, would encumber the City’s leasehold 
interest in the Project. 

 
Section 11. Insurance.  The Developer shall maintain the insurance policies required by 

Article VII of the Lease. 
 

Section 12. Condemnation.  If, at any time during the term of this Base Lease, there shall 
be a total or partial taking of the Project in condemnation proceedings or by any right of eminent 
domain or by sale in lieu thereof, the parties shall have the rights and obligations provided in the 
Lease, and this Base Lease shall terminate only to the extent and in the manner provided in the 
Lease. 

 
Section 13. Surrender of the Project.  Except as otherwise expressly provided in this 

Base Lease, the City shall surrender and deliver up the Project and all associated improvements to the 
Developer at the expiration or other termination of this Base Lease, to the limited extent that the City 
may have any rights to possession thereof as expressly provided herein, without fraud or delay. 

 
Section 14. Notices. Any and all notices, demands, requests, submissions, approvals, 

consents, disapprovals, objections, offers, or other communications or documents required to be 
given, delivered or served or which may be given, delivered or served under or by the terms and 
provisions of this Base Lease or pursuant to law or otherwise, shall be made in the form and manner 
provided in the Lease. 
 

Section 15. Developer’s Right to Terminate.  The Developer may terminate this Base 
Lease at any time pursuant to Article XI of the Lease. 
 
 Section 16. Conflict with the Lease.  In the event of any conflict between the terms 
hereof and the terms of the Lease, the terms of the Lease shall control. 

 
Section 17. Limitation on Liability of City.  No provision, covenant or agreement contained 

in this Base Lease or any obligation herein imposed upon the City, or the breach thereof, shall constitute 
or give rise to or impose upon the City a pecuniary liability or a charge upon the general credit or taxing 
powers of the City or the State of Missouri.   
 
 Section 18. Governing Law.  This Base Lease shall be construed in accordance with and 
governed by the laws of the State of Missouri. 
 
 Section 19. Binding Effect.  This Base Lease shall be binding upon and shall inure to the 
benefit of the City and the Developer and their respective successors and assigns. 

 Section 20. Severability.  If for any reason any provision of this Base Lease is determined to 
be invalid or unenforceable, the validity and enforceability of the other provisions hereof shall not be 
affected thereby. 
 

M - 7 - 28



 Section 21. Execution in Counterparts.  This Base Lease may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and 
the same instrument. 
 
 Section 22. Electronic Storage and Transactions.  The parties agree that the transaction 
described herein may be conducted and related documents may be sent, received or stored by electronic 
means. Copies, telecopies, facsimiles, electronic files and other reproductions of original executed 
documents shall be deemed to be authentic and valid counterparts of such original documents for all 
purposes, including the filing of any claim, action or suit in the appropriate court of law. 
 

Section 23.  Subordination of Base Lease.  By its execution hereof, each of the Developer 
and the City hereby agree that this Base Lease shall be, is and shall continue to be, subordinate and 
inferior to that certain Deed of Trust dated __________, 2022, executed by the Developer for the benefit 
of [*Lender*] (the “Fee Deed of Trust”) until all [*Obligations*] (as such term is defined in the Fee Deed 
of Trust) have been indefeasibly paid and performed in full, including but not limited to, all future 
advances and future obligations secured by the Fee Deed of Trust.  Such subordination shall be self-
operative and shall be irrespective of the time, manner, order of recording or perfection or any other 
priority that ordinarily would result under the Uniform Commercial Code as enacted in each and every 
applicable jurisdiction, and as amended from time to time, and other applicable law for the order of 
granting or perfecting any security interests referred to herein. 
 
 Section 24.  Anti-Discrimination Against Israel Act.  Pursuant to Section 34.600 of the 
Revised Statutes of Missouri, the Developer certifies it is not currently engaged in and shall not, for the 
duration of this Base Lease, engage in a boycott of goods or services from (a) the State of Israel, 
(b) companies doing business in or with the State of Israel or authorized by, licensed by or organized 
under the laws of the State of Israel or (c) persons or entities doing business in the State of Israel. 
 
 
 
 
 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 
 
 
 

M - 7 - 29



 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Base Lease as of the 
Effective Date. 
 
 
 

DELMAR VIEW PROPERTIES, LLC, 
a Missouri limited liability company 
 
 
 
By:       
Name:       
Title:       

 
 
 
STATE OF MISSOURI  ) 
    ) SS. 
COUNTY OF ST. LOUIS ) 
 
 On this _____ day of __________, 2022, before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for 
said State, personally appeared _______________ to me personally known, who, being by me duly 
sworn, did say that he is the _______________ of [*DELMAR VIEW PROPERTIES, LLC*], a 
Missouri limited liability company and that said instrument was signed on behalf of said company by 
authority of its governing body, and said officer acknowledged said instrument to be the free act and deed 
of said company. 
 
 IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal in the 
County and State aforesaid, the day and year first above written. 
 

 
 
       
Name:       
Notary Public - State of Missouri 
Commissioned in _____________ County 
 

 
My Commission Expires:  _______________ 
 
  

M - 7 - 30



CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 
 
(SEAL) 
 

By:       
Attest:       Gregory Rose, City Manager 
 
 
 
      
LaRette Reese, City Clerk 
 
 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 

STATE OF MISSOURI ) 
  )  SS. 
ST. LOUIS COUNTY ) 
 
 
 On this ____ day of ____________, 2022, before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public, appeared 
GREGORY ROSE, to me personally known, who, being by me duly sworn, did say that he is the City 
Manager of the CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, and that the seal affixed to the foregoing 
instrument is the corporate seal of said City, and that said instrument was signed and sealed by authority 
of its City Council, and said officers acknowledged said instrument to be executed for the purposes 
therein stated and as the free act and deed of said City. 
 

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal in the 
County and State aforesaid, the day and year first above written. 

 
 
        
Name:  ____________________________________ 
Notary Public in and for said State 
My Commission Expires: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PLEASE AFFIX SEAL FIRMLY AND CLEARLY IN 
THIS BOX 

M - 7 - 31



EXHIBIT A 
 

DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT SITE 
 

 

M - 7 - 32



EXHIBIT C 
 

LEASE AGREEMENT 
 
 

(On file in the office of the City Clerk) 
 

M - 7 - 33



M - 7 - 34



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, 
As Lessor, 

 
 

AND 
 
 

DELMAR VIEW PROPERTIES, LLC, 
 

As Lessee 
 
 

____________ 
 
 

LEASE AGREEMENT 
 
 

Dated as of September __, 2022 
 

____________ 
 

Relating to: 
 

$90,000,000 
(Aggregate Maximum Principal Amount) 

City of University City, Missouri 
Taxable Industrial Revenue Bonds 

(Delmar Boulevard Redevelopment Area Project) 
Series 2022 

 
 

 
Certain rights of the City of University City, Missouri (the “City”), in this Lease Agreement have 
been pledged and assigned to [*Trustee*], as trustee under the Trust Indenture dated as of September 
__, 2022, between the City and the Trustee. 
 

M - 7 - 35



 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
Page 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1. Definitions of Words and Terms ......................................................................................... 2 
Section 1.2. Rules of Interpretation ........................................................................................................ 2 
Section 1.3. Incorporation ....................................................................................................................... 3 

ARTICLE II 

REPRESENTATIONS 

Section 2.1. Representations by the City ................................................................................................ 3 
Section 2.2. Representations by the Developer ...................................................................................... 4 

ARTICLE III 

GRANTING PROVISIONS 

Section 3.1. Granting of Leasehold Estate .............................................................................................. 4 
Section 3.2. Lease Term ......................................................................................................................... 4 
Section 3.3. Possession and Use of the Project ....................................................................................... 4 

ARTICLE IV 

PURCHASE AND CONSTRUCTION OF THE PROJECT 

Section 4.1. Issuance of the Bonds ......................................................................................................... 5 
Section 4.2. Purchase and Construction and Equipping of the Project ................................................... 5 
Section 4.3. Project Costs ....................................................................................................................... 6 
Section 4.4. Payment for Project Costs ................................................................................................... 6 
Section 4.5. Establishment of Completion Date ..................................................................................... 6 
Section 4.6. Surplus in Project Fund ....................................................................................................... 6 
Section 4.7. Project Property of the City ................................................................................................ 7 
Section 4.8. Non-Project Improvements, Machinery and Equipment Property of the Developer .......... 7 

ARTICLE V 

RENT PROVISIONS 

Section 5.1. Basic Rent ........................................................................................................................... 7 
Section 5.2. Additional Rent ................................................................................................................... 8 
Section 5.3. Obligations of the Developer Absolute and Unconditional ................................................ 8 
Section 5.4. Prepayment of Basic Rent ................................................................................................... 9 

M - 7 - 36



ARTICLE VI 

MAINTENANCE, TAXES AND UTILITIES 

Section 6.1. Maintenance and Repairs .................................................................................................... 9 
Section 6.2. Taxes, Assessments and Other Governmental Charges ...................................................... 9 
Section 6.3. Utilities.............................................................................................................................. 10 

ARTICLE VII 

INSURANCE 

Section 7.1. Title Commitment ............................................................................................................. 10 
Section 7.2. Casualty Insurance ............................................................................................................ 10 
Section 7.3. Public Liability Insurance ................................................................................................. 10 
Section 7.4. Blanket Insurance Policies ................................................................................................ 11 
Section 7.5. Worker’s Compensation ................................................................................................... 11 
Section 7.6. Sovereign Immunity ......................................................................................................... 11 

ARTICLE VIII 

ALTERATION OF THE PROJECT 

Section 8.1. Additions, Modifications and Improvements to the Project ............................................. 11 
Section 8.2. Additional Improvements on the Project Site ................................................................... 11 
Section 8.3. Permits and Authorizations ............................................................................................... 12 
Section 8.4. Mechanics’ Liens .............................................................................................................. 12 

ARTICLE IX 

DAMAGE, DESTRUCTION AND CONDEMNATION 

Section 9.1. Damage or Destruction ..................................................................................................... 13 
Section 9.2. Condemnation ................................................................................................................... 14 
Section 9.3. Bondowner Approval ........................................................................................................ 15 

ARTICLE X 

SPECIAL COVENANTS 

Section 10.1. No Warranty of Condition or Suitability by the City; Exculpation and Indemnification . 16 
Section 10.2. Surrender of Possession .................................................................................................... 16 
Section 10.3. Right of Access to the Project ........................................................................................... 16 
Section 10.4. Granting of Easements; Leasehold Mortgages and Financing Arrangements .................. 16 
Section 10.5. Indemnification of City and Trustee ................................................................................. 19 
Section 10.6. Depreciation, Investment Tax Credit and Other Tax Benefits .......................................... 20 
Section 10.7. Developer to Maintain its Existence ................................................................................. 20 
Section 10.8. Security Interests ............................................................................................................... 20 
Section 10.9. Environmental Matters, Warranties, Covenants and Indemnities Regarding 

Environmental Matters ..................................................................................................... 20 

M - 7 - 37



ARTICLE XI 

OPTION AND OBLIGATION TO PURCHASE THE PROJECT 

Section 11.1. Option to Purchase the Project .......................................................................................... 22 
Section 11.2. Conveyance of the Project ................................................................................................ 23 
Section 11.3. Relative Position of Option and Indenture ........................................................................ 23 
Section 11.4. Obligation to Purchase the Project .................................................................................... 23 

ARTICLE XII 

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 

Section 12.1. Events of Default .............................................................................................................. 24 
Section 12.2. Remedies on Default ......................................................................................................... 24 
Section 12.3. Survival of Obligations ..................................................................................................... 25 
Section 12.4. Performance of the Developer’s Obligations by the City ................................................. 25 
Section 12.5. Rights and Remedies Cumulative ..................................................................................... 25 
Section 12.6. Waiver of Breach .............................................................................................................. 26 
Section 12.7. Trustee’s Exercise of the City’s Remedies ....................................................................... 26 

ARTICLE XIII 

ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLEASE 

Section 13.1. Assignment; Sublease ....................................................................................................... 26 
Section 13.2. Assignment of Revenues by City ...................................................................................... 27 
Section 13.3. Prohibition Against Mortgage of Project .......................................................................... 27 
Section 13.4. Restrictions on Sale or Encumbrance of Project by City .................................................. 27 

ARTICLE XIV 

AMENDMENTS, CHANGES AND MODIFICATIONS 

Section 14.1. Amendments, Changes and Modifications ....................................................................... 27 

ARTICLE XV 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

Section 15.1. Notices .............................................................................................................................. 28 
Section 15.2. City Shall Not Unreasonably Withhold Consents and Approvals .................................... 29 
Section 15.3. Net Lease .......................................................................................................................... 29 
Section 15.4. Limitation on Liability of City .......................................................................................... 29 
Section 15.5. Governing Law ................................................................................................................. 29 
Section 15.6. Binding Effect ................................................................................................................... 29 
Section 15.7. Severability ....................................................................................................................... 30 
Section 15.8. Execution in Counterparts................................................................................................. 30 
Section 15.9. Electronic Storage ............................................................................................................. 30 
Section 15.10. City Consent ..................................................................................................................... 30 
Section 15.11. Subordination of Lease ..................................................................................................... 30 

M - 7 - 38



Section 15.12. Anti-Discrimination Against Israel Act ............................................................................ 30 

Signatures and Seal ........................................................................................................... 31 

Exhibit A - Project Site 
Exhibit B - Form of Requisition Certificate 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

M - 7 - 39



LEASE AGREEMENT 
 
 

 THIS LEASE AGREEMENT, dated as of September __, 2022 (the “Lease”), between the CITY 
OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, a home-rule city organized and existing under its charter and the 
laws of the State of Missouri (the “City”), as lessor, and DELMAR VIEW PROPERTIES, LLC, a limited 
liability company organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware (the “Developer”); 
 

RECITALS: 
 

 1. The City is authorized and empowered pursuant to the provisions of Article VI, Section 
27(b) of the Missouri Constitution and Sections 100.010 through 100.200 of the Revised Statutes of 
Missouri (collectively, the “Act”) and the City Charter to purchase, construct, extend and improve certain 
projects (as defined in the Act) and to issue industrial development revenue bonds for the purpose of 
providing funds to pay the costs of such projects and to lease or otherwise dispose of such projects to private 
persons or corporations for manufacturing, commercial, office industry, warehousing and industrial 
development purposes upon such terms and conditions as the City deems advisable. Under Attorney 
General Opinion 180-81, the Missouri Attorney General determined that the construction and rental of 
multi-family apartments for profit is a commercial enterprise.   
 
 2. Pursuant to the Act, the City Council passed Ordinance No. _____ on __________, 2022 
(the “Ordinance”), authorizing the City to issue its Taxable Industrial Revenue Bonds (Delmar Boulevard 
Redevelopment Area Project), Series 2022, in the maximum principal amount of $90,000,000 (the 
“Bonds”), for the purposes of (a) acquiring a leasehold interest in certain real property located south of 
Delmar Boulevard, between McKnight Place and Kingdel Drive in the City (as legally described on Exhibit 
A, the “Project Site”) and (b) constructing thereon a development consisting of approximately 262 
residential apartments, 1,300 square feet of commercial space, and related parking and infrastructure (the 
“Project Improvements”). 
 
 3. Pursuant to the Act and the Ordinance, the City is authorized to (a) enter into a Trust 
Indenture of the same date herewith (the “Indenture”) with [*Trustee*], as trustee (the “Trustee”), for the 
purpose of issuing and securing the Bonds, as therein provided, (b) enter into a Base Lease of the same date 
herewith (the “Base Lease”) with the Developer under which the City will acquire a leasehold interest in 
the Project Site and (c) enter into this Lease with the Developer under which the City will, or will cause the 
Developer to, construct the Project Improvements and lease the Project Improvements, as they may at any 
time exist, together with the City’s leasehold interest in the Project Site (collectively, the “Project”) to the 
Developer in consideration of rental payments by the Developer that will be sufficient to pay the principal 
of and interest on the Bonds.   
 
 4. The City and the Developer acknowledge and agree that title to the Project is subject and 
subordinate to the Deed of Trust (the “Fee Deed of Trust”) granted by the Developer to [*Lender*] and its 
successors and assigns (the “Lender”), pursuant to various loan documents (the “Loan Documents”) 
evidencing the loan made by the Lender and secured by the Fee Deed of Trust.    
 

5. In consideration of the terms and conditions of this Lease, the Ordinance, issuance of the 
Bonds and certain other agreements, the City and the Developer have concurrently herewith entered into a 
Development and Performance Agreement of the same date herewith (the “Development and Performance 
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Developer has agreed to make certain payments in lieu of taxes. 
 

M - 7 - 40



6. Pursuant to the foregoing, the City desires to lease the Project to the Developer and the 
Developer desires to lease the Project from the City, for the rentals and upon the terms and conditions 
hereinafter set forth. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual representations, covenants 
and agreements herein contained, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the City 
and the Developer do hereby represent, covenant and agree as follows: 

 
 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS 
 
 Section 1.1. Definitions of Words and Terms.  In addition to any words and terms defined 
elsewhere in this Lease, capitalized words and terms used in this Lease shall have the meanings given to 
such words and terms in Section 101 of the Indenture (which definitions are hereby incorporated by 
reference). 
 
 Section 1.2. Rules of Interpretation. 
 
 (a) Words of the masculine gender shall be deemed and construed to include correlative words 
of the feminine and neuter genders. 
 
 (b) Unless the context otherwise indicates, words importing the singular number shall include 
the plural and vice versa, and words importing Persons shall include firms, associations and corporations, 
including governmental entities, as well as natural Persons. 
 
 (c) Wherever in this Lease it is provided that either party shall or will make any payment or 
perform or refrain from performing any act or obligation, each such provision shall, even though not so 
expressed, be construed as an express covenant to make such payment or to perform, or not to perform, as 
the case may be, such act or obligation. 
 
 (d) All references in this instrument to designated “Articles,” “Sections” and other 
subdivisions are, unless otherwise specified, to the designated Articles, Sections and other subdivisions of 
this instrument as originally executed.  The words “herein,” “hereof,” “hereunder” and other words of 
similar import refer to this Lease as a whole and not to any particular Article, Section or other subdivision. 
 
 (e) The Table of Contents and the Article and Section headings of this Lease shall not be 
treated as a part of this Lease or as affecting the true meaning of the provisions hereof. 
 
 (f) Whenever an item or items are listed after the word “including,” such listing is not intended 
to be a listing that excludes items not listed. 
 

(g) Whenever the City is required to “cooperate,” “cooperate fully” or “act promptly” on a 
matter set forth in this Lease, the City’s cooperation shall be deemed to be reasonable cooperation and the 
City’s promptness shall be deemed to be reasonable promptness; provided, however, the City shall not be 
required to incur any costs, expenses, obligations or liabilities in providing such reasonable cooperation 
and promptness.  

 

M - 7 - 41



Section 1.3. Incorporation.   
 
(a)  The Recitals hereof are all incorporated into this Lease as if fully and completely set out in 

this Section.  
 
(b)  The Exhibits to this Lease are hereby incorporated into and made a part of this Lease. 

 
 

ARTICLE II 
 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 
 Section 2.1. Representations by the City.  The City makes the following representations as 
the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained: 
 

 (a) The City is a home-rule city organized and validly existing under its charter and 
the laws of the State of Missouri.  Under the provisions of the Act, the City has lawful power and 
authority to enter into the transactions contemplated by this Lease and to carry out its obligations 
hereunder.  By proper action of its City Council, the City has been duly authorized to execute and 
deliver this Lease, acting by and through its duly authorized officers. 
 
 (b) As of the date of delivery hereof, the City agrees to acquire a leasehold interest in 
the Project Site pursuant to the Base Lease and construct or cause the construction of the Project 
Improvements.  The City agrees to lease the Project to the Developer and sell the Project to the 
Developer if the Developer exercises its option to purchase the Project or upon termination of this 
Lease, all for the purpose of furthering the public purposes of the Act. 
 
 (c) To the City’s knowledge, no member of the City Council or any other officer of 
the City has any significant or conflicting interest, financial, employment or otherwise, in the 
Developer or in the transactions contemplated hereby. 

 
(d) To finance the costs of the Project, the City proposes to issue the Bonds, which 

will be scheduled to mature as set forth in Article II of the Indenture and will be subject to 
redemption prior to maturity in accordance with the provisions of Article III of the Indenture. 

 
(e) The Bonds are to be issued under and secured by the Indenture, pursuant to which 

the Project and the net earnings therefrom, consisting of all rents, revenues and receipts to be 
derived by the City from the leasing or sale of the Project, will be pledged and assigned to the 
Trustee as security for payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds and amounts owing 
pursuant to this Lease. 

 
(f) The City will not knowingly take any affirmative action that would permit a lien 

to be placed on the Project or pledge the revenues derived therefrom for any bonds or other 
obligations, other than the Bonds, except with the written consent of the Authorized Developer 
Representative; provided, however, the City’s execution of this Lease, the Base Lease, the 
Indenture and the Development and Performance Agreement shall not be deemed to violate this 
Section 2.1(f). 

 
(g) The City will not operate the Project as a business or in any other manner except 

as the lessor thereof, except subsequent to an Event of Default hereunder. 

M - 7 - 42



 Section 2.2. Representations by the Developer.  The Developer makes the following 
representations as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained: 
 

 (a) The Developer is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and 
in good standing under the laws of the State of Missouri. 
 
 (b) The Developer has lawful power and authority to enter into this Lease and to carry 
out its obligations hereunder, and the Developer has been duly authorized to execute and deliver 
this Lease, acting by and through its duly authorized officers and representatives. 
 
 (c) The execution and delivery of this Lease, the consummation of the transactions 
contemplated hereby, and the performance of or compliance with the terms and conditions of this 
Lease by the Developer will not, to the Developer’s knowledge, conflict with or result in a breach 
of any of the terms, conditions or provisions of, or constitute a default under, any mortgage, deed 
of trust, lease or any other restrictions or any agreement or instrument to which the Developer is a 
party or by which it or any of its property is bound, or the Developer’s organizational documents, 
or any order, rule or regulation applicable to the Developer or any of its property of any court or 
governmental body, or constitute a default under any of the foregoing, or result in the creation or 
imposition of any prohibited lien, charge or encumbrance of any nature whatsoever upon any of 
the property or assets of the Developer under the terms of any instrument or agreement to which 
the Developer is a party.  
 
 (d) The Project will comply in all material respects with all applicable building and 
zoning, health, environmental and safety orders and laws and all other applicable laws, rules and 
regulations. 

 
 

ARTICLE III 
 

GRANTING PROVISIONS 
 
 Section 3.1. Granting of Leasehold Estate.  The City hereby exclusively rents, leases and lets 
the Project to the Developer, and the Developer hereby rents, leases and hires the Project from the City, 
subject to the Base Lease and other Permitted Encumbrances existing as of the date of the execution and 
delivery hereof, for the rentals and upon and subject to the terms and conditions herein contained.  The City 
and the Developer agree and acknowledge that title to the Project is subject to the lien granted to the Lender 
by the Developer and no further notice of the Fee Deed of Trust is required for the Lender to have all Lender 
rights and protections provided herein and in the Indenture. 
 
 Section 3.2. Lease Term.  This Lease shall become effective upon its execution and delivery. 
Subject to earlier termination pursuant to the provisions of this Lease, the lease of the Project shall terminate 
on December 31, 2026. 
 
 Section 3.3. Possession and Use of the Project. 
 
 (a) The City covenants and agrees that as long as neither the City nor the Trustee has exercised 
any of the remedies set forth in Section 12.2 following the occurrence and continuance of an Event of 
Default, as defined in Section 12.1, the Developer shall have sole and exclusive possession of the Project 
(subject to Permitted Encumbrances and the City’s and the Trustee’s right of access pursuant to 
Section 10.3) and shall and may peaceably and quietly have, hold and enjoy the Project during the Lease 

M - 7 - 43



Term.  The City covenants and agrees that it will not take any action, other than expressly pursuant to 
Article XII, the Indenture, the Base Lease and the Development and Performance Agreement to prevent 
the Developer from having quiet and peaceable possession and enjoyment of the Project during the Lease 
Term and will, at the request and expense of the Developer, cooperate with the Developer to defend the 
Developer’s quiet and peaceable possession and enjoyment of the Project. 
 
 (b) Subject to the provisions of this Section, the Developer shall have the exclusive right to 
use the Project for any lawful purpose contemplated by the Act and consistent with the terms of the 
Development and Performance Agreement.  The Developer shall comply in all material respects with all 
statutes, laws, ordinances, orders, judgments, decrees, regulations, directions and requirements of all 
federal, state, local and other governments or governmental authorities, now or hereafter applicable to the 
Project, as to the manner of use or the condition of the Project, or that otherwise may be applicable by virtue 
of the City’s interest in the Project Site.  The Developer shall also comply with the mandatory requirements, 
rules and regulations of all insurers under the policies carried under the provisions of Article VII.  The 
Developer shall pay all costs, expenses, claims, fines, penalties and damages that may in any manner arise 
out of, or be imposed as a result of, the failure of the Developer to comply with the provisions of this 
Section.  Notwithstanding any provision contained in this Section, however, the Developer may, at its own 
cost and expense, contest or review by legal or other appropriate procedures the validity or legality of any 
such governmental statute, law, ordinance, order, judgment, decree, regulation, direction or requirement, 
or any such requirement, rule or regulation of an insurer, and during such contest or review the Developer 
may refrain from complying therewith. 
 
 

ARTICLE IV 
 

PURCHASE AND CONSTRUCTION OF THE PROJECT 
 
 Section 4.1. Issuance of the Bonds.  To provide funds for the payment of Project Costs, the 
City agrees that, upon request of the Developer, it will issue, sell and cause to be delivered the Bonds to the 
purchaser thereof in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture and the Bond Purchase Agreement.   
 
 Section 4.2. Purchase and Construction of the Project.  The City and the Developer agree 
that the Developer, as the agent of the City, shall, but solely from the Project Fund, purchase and construct 
the Project as follows: 
 

 (a) The City will acquire a leasehold interest in the Project Site at the execution hereof.  
Concurrently with the execution of this Lease, (i) the Base Lease will be executed by the City and 
the Developer and placed of record, and (ii) the commitment for title insurance or ownership and 
encumbrance report required by Article VII will be delivered to the City and the Trustee.   

 (b) On behalf of the City, the Developer will purchase and construct the Project 
Improvements on the Project Site and otherwise improve the Project Site in accordance with the 
Plans and Specifications.  The Developer may revise the Plans and Specifications from time to time 
as it deems necessary to carry out the Project, but revisions that affect the status of the Project as a 
“project” under the Act or that would materially alter the accuracy of the description of the Project 
in the Plan for an Industrial Development Project and Cost/Benefit Analysis distributed under the 
Act may be made only with the prior written approval of the City.  The Developer agrees that the 
aforesaid construction and improvement will, with such changes and additions as may be made 
hereunder, result in facilities suitable for use by the Developer for its purposes, and that all real and 

M - 7 - 44



personal property described in the Plans and Specifications, with such changes and additions as 
may be made hereunder, is desirable and appropriate in connection with the Project.  The provisions 
of this paragraph are in addition to and do not supersede any of the provisions of Article VIII. 
 
 (c) The Developer will comply with the provisions of Section 107.170 of the Revised 
Statutes of Missouri to the extent applicable to the construction of the Project.   

 
  (d) The Developer will cause the purchase and construction of the Project to be 
completed on or before the Completion Date, except as otherwise provided in Section 4.5. 

 
 (e) The Project Improvements shall be constructed in a good and workmanlike manner 
and in strict compliance with all applicable laws, orders and ordinances. 

  
 Section 4.3. Project Costs.  The City hereby agrees to pay for, but solely from the Project Fund, 
and hereby authorizes and directs the Trustee to pay for, but solely from the Project Fund, all Project Costs 
upon receipt by the Trustee of a certificate pursuant to Section 4.4.  The Developer may not submit any 
requisition certificates for Project Costs incurred after the Completion Date.  The Developer must submit 
all requisitions for Project Costs incurred before the Completion Date within three months after the 
Completion Date.  The maximum amount of Project Costs for which requisitions may be submitted is 
expressly limited to $90,000,000.   
 

Section 4.4. Payment for Project Costs.  The City hereby authorizes and directs the Trustee 
to make disbursements from the Project Fund and endorse the Bonds, upon receipt by the Trustee of 
certificates in substantially the form of Exhibit B attached hereto, signed by the Authorized Developer 
Representative and approved by the Authorized City Representative.  Upon request by the City, the 
Developer shall provide the City with copies of invoices, bills, lien waivers and other reasonable 
documentation to support each submitted requisition certificate.  The Trustee may rely conclusively on any 
such certificate and shall not be required to make any independent inspection or investigation in connection 
therewith.  The approval of any requisition certificate by the Authorized Developer Representative and the 
Authorized City Representative shall constitute, unto the Trustee, an irrevocable determination that all 
conditions precedent to the payments requested have been completed. 

 Section 4.5. Establishment of Completion Date.  The Completion Date shall be evidenced to 
the City and the Trustee by approval or deemed approval of the Certificate of Substantial Completion 
required by the Development and Performance Agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, such certificate 
shall be deemed given on December 31, 2025 if not actually filed with the City by December 31, 2025, 
subject to any delay permitted by Section 3.1 of the Development and Performance Agreement (a 
“Permitted Excuse”).  No Permitted Excuse shall be deemed to exist unless the Developer provides a written 
notice to the City, within 30 days after the Developer has actual notice of the claimed event, specifying the 
Permitted Excuse.  In no event shall a Permitted Excuse extend the Completion Date beyond December 31, 
2026.  The Developer and the City agree to cooperate in causing such certificate to be furnished to the 
Trustee.   
 

Section 4.6. Surplus in Project Fund.  Upon receipt of the certificate described in Section 4.5 
and payment from the Project Fund of the Project Costs described therein, the Trustee shall, as provided in 
Section 504 of the Indenture, transfer any remaining moneys then in the Project Fund to the Bond Fund to 
be applied as directed by the Developer solely to (a) the payment of principal and premium, if any, of the 
Bonds through the payment (including regularly scheduled principal payments, if any) or redemption 
thereof at the earliest date permissible under the terms of the Indenture, or (b) at the option of the Developer, 

M - 7 - 45



to the purchase of Bonds at such earlier date or dates as the Developer may elect.  Any amount so deposited 
in the Bond Fund may be invested as permitted by Section 702 of the Indenture. 
 
 Section 4.7. Project Property of the City.  The Project Site and the Project Improvements 
located thereon at the execution hereof and which the Developer desires to lease to the City, all work and 
materials related to the Project as such work progresses, and all additions or enlargements thereto or thereof, 
the Project as fully completed, anything under this Lease which becomes, is deemed to be, or constitutes a 
part of the Project, and the Project as repaired, rebuilt, rearranged, restored or replaced by the Developer 
under the provisions of this Lease, except as otherwise specifically provided herein, shall immediately when 
erected or installed become the absolute leasehold property of the City, subject only to this Lease, the 
Indenture, Permitted Encumbrances, the Fee Deed of Trust and the Leasehold Mortgage, if any.  Upon 
reasonable request of and at the expense of the Developer, the City agrees to cooperate with the Developer 
regarding the enforcement of any claims the Developer may have against third parties relating to the 
construction of the Project. 
 
 Section 4.8. Non-Project Improvements, Machinery and Equipment Property of the 
Developer.  Any improvements or items of machinery or equipment which do not constitute part of the 
Project and the entire purchase price of which is paid for by the Developer with the Developer’s own funds, 
and no part of the purchase price of which is paid for from funds deposited pursuant to the terms of this 
Lease in the Project Fund, shall be the property of the Developer and shall not constitute a part of the Project 
for purposes of Section 6.4 and therefore are subject to taxation, to the extent otherwise provided by law. 
 
 

ARTICLE V 
 

RENT PROVISIONS 
 
 Section 5.1. Basic Rent.  The Developer covenants and agrees to pay to the Trustee in same 
day funds for the account of the City during the Lease Term, on or before 11:00 a.m., Trustee’s local time, 
on each Payment Date, as Basic Rent for the Project, an amount which, when added to any collected funds 
then on deposit in the Bond Fund and available for the payment of principal of the Bonds and the interest 
thereon on such Payment Date, shall be equal to the amount payable on such Payment Date as principal of 
the Bonds and the interest thereon as provided in the Indenture.  Except as offset pursuant to the right of 
the Developer set forth below, all payments of Basic Rent provided for in this Section shall be paid directly 
to the Trustee and shall be deposited in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture into the Bond Fund 
and shall be used and applied by the Trustee in the manner and for the purposes set forth in this Lease and 
the Indenture.  In furtherance of the foregoing, and notwithstanding any other provision in this Lease, the 
Base Lease, the Indenture, the Bond Purchase Agreement or the Development and Performance Agreement 
to the contrary, and provided that the Developer is the sole holder of the Bonds, the Developer may set-off 
the then-current Basic Rent payment against the City’s obligation to the Developer as bondholder to pay 
principal of and interest on the Bonds under the Indenture in lieu of delivery of the Basic Rent on any 
Payment Date, without providing notice of such set-off to the Trustee.  The Trustee may conclusively rely 
on the absence of any notice from the Developer to the contrary as evidence that such set-off has occurred 
and that pursuant to the set-off, the City is deemed to have paid its obligation to the Developer as bondholder 
to pay principal of and interest on the Bonds under the Indenture.  On the final Payment Date, the Developer 
will (a) if the Trustee holds the Bonds, notify the Trustee of the Bonds not previously paid that are to be 
canceled or (b) if an entity other than the Trustee holds the Bonds, deliver or cause to be delivered to the 
Trustee for cancellation Bonds not previously paid.  The Developer shall receive a credit against the Basic 

M - 7 - 46



Rent payable by the Developer in an amount equal to the principal amount of the Bonds so tendered for 
cancellation plus accrued interest thereon. 
 
 Section 5.2. Additional Rent.  The Developer shall pay as Additional Rent, within 30 days 
after receiving an itemized invoice therefor, the following amounts: 
 

 (a) all fees, charges and expenses, including agent and counsel fees and expenses, of 
the City, the Trustee and the Paying Agent incurred under or arising from the Indenture, this Lease, 
the Base Lease or the Development and Performance Agreement, including, but not limited to, 
claims by contractors or subcontractors and the City’s legal costs associated with the termination 
of this Lease and the Base Lease, if any, as and when the same become due; 

 
 (b) all costs incident to the issuance of the Bonds (which are to be paid on the Closing 
Date) and the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds as the same become due and 
payable, including all costs and expenses in connection with the call, redemption and payment of 
all Outstanding Bonds; 
 
 (c) all fees, charges and expenses incurred in connection with the enforcement of any 
rights under this Lease, the Base Lease, the Indenture or the Development and Performance 
Agreement by the City, the Trustee or the Owners, including counsel fees and expenses; and 
 
 (d) all other payments of whatever nature which the Developer has agreed in writing 
to pay or assume under the provisions of this Lease, the Base Lease, the Development and 
Performance Agreement or the Indenture. 

 
 Section 5.3. Obligations of the Developer Absolute and Unconditional. 
 
 (a) The obligations of the Developer under this Lease to make payments of Basic Rent and 
Additional Rent on or before the date the same become due, and to perform all of its other obligations, 
covenants and agreements hereunder shall be absolute and unconditional, without notice or demand, and 
without abatement, deduction, set-off (except as described in Section 5.1), counterclaim, recoupment or 
defense or any right of termination or cancellation arising from any circumstance whatsoever, whether now 
existing or hereafter arising, and irrespective of whether the Project has been started or completed, or 
whether the City’s interest therein or to any part thereof is defective or nonexistent, and notwithstanding 
any damage to, loss, theft or destruction of, the Project or any part thereof, any failure of consideration or 
frustration of commercial purpose, the taking by eminent domain of title to or of the right of temporary use 
of all or any part of the Project, legal curtailment of the Developer’s use thereof, the eviction or constructive 
eviction of the Developer, any change in the tax or other laws of the United States of America, the State of 
Missouri or any political subdivision thereof, any change in the City’s legal organization or status, or any 
default of the City hereunder, and regardless of the invalidity of any action of the City; provided, however, 
that nothing in this Section is intended or shall be deemed to affect or impair in any way the rights of the 
Developer to tender Bonds for redemption in satisfaction of Basic Rent as provided in Section 5.1 and 
Section 5.4, nor the right of the Developer repurchase the Project and terminate this Lease as provided in 
Article XI. 
 
 (b) Nothing in this Lease shall be construed to release the City from the performance of any 
agreement on its part herein contained or as a waiver by the Developer of any rights or claims the Developer 
may have against the City under this Lease or otherwise, but any recovery upon such rights and claims shall 
be had from the City separately, it being the intent of this Lease that the Developer shall be unconditionally 

M - 7 - 47



and absolutely obligated to perform fully all of its obligations, agreements and covenants under this Lease 
(including the obligation to pay Basic Rent and Additional Rent) for the benefit of the Owners and the City.  
The Developer may, however, at its own cost and expense and in its own name or in the name of the City, 
prosecute or defend any action or proceeding or take any other action involving third Persons which the 
Developer deems reasonably necessary in order to secure or protect its right of possession, occupancy and 
use hereunder, and in such event the City hereby agrees, at the Developer’s expense, to cooperate fully with 
the Developer and to take all action necessary to effect the substitution of the Developer for the City in any 
such action or proceeding if the Developer shall so request. 
 
 Section 5.4. Prepayment of Basic Rent.   
 

(a) The Developer may at any time and from time to time prepay all or any part of the Basic 
Rent provided for hereunder (subject to the limitations of Section 301(a) of the Indenture relating to the 
partial redemption of the Bonds).  During such times as the amount held by the Trustee in the Bond Fund 
shall be sufficient to pay, at the time required, the principal of and interest on all the Bonds then remaining 
unpaid, the Developer shall not be obligated to make payments of Basic Rent under the provisions of this 
Lease. 
 
 (b) At its option, the Developer may deliver to the Trustee for cancellation Bonds owned by 
the Developer and not previously paid, and the Developer shall receive a credit against amounts payable by 
the Developer for the redemption of Bonds in an amount equal to the principal amount of the Bonds so 
tendered for cancellation, plus accrued interest thereon. 
 
 

ARTICLE VI 
 

MAINTENANCE, TAXES AND UTILITIES 
 
 Section 6.1. Maintenance and Repairs.  Throughout the Lease Term the Developer shall, at 
its own expense, keep the Project in reasonably safe operating condition and keep the Project in good repair, 
reasonable wear, tear, depreciation and obsolescence excepted, making from time to time all repairs thereto 
and renewals and replacements thereof it determines to be necessary.  Without limiting the generality of the 
foregoing, the Developer shall at all times remain in compliance with all provisions of the City’s code 
relating to maintenance and appearance.  The Developer shall also comply with Section 8.4. 
 
 Section 6.2. Taxes, Assessments and Other Governmental Charges.  The Developer shall 
promptly pay and discharge, as the same become due, all taxes and assessments, general and special, and 
other governmental charges of any kind whatsoever that may be lawfully taxed, charged, levied, assessed 
or imposed upon or against or be payable for or in respect of the Project, or any part thereof or interest 
therein (including the leasehold estate of the Developer therein) or any buildings, improvements, machinery 
and equipment at any time installed on the Project Site by the Developer, or the income therefrom, including 
any new taxes and assessments not of the kind enumerated above to the extent that the same are lawfully 
made, levied or assessed in lieu of or in addition to taxes or assessments now customarily levied against 
real or personal property, and further including all utility charges, assessments and other general 
governmental charges and impositions whatsoever, foreseen or unforeseen, which if not paid when due 
would impair the security of the Bonds or encumber the City’s interest in the Project; provided that with 
respect to any special assessments or other governmental charges that are lawfully levied and assessed 
which may be paid in installments, the Developer shall be obligated to pay only such installments thereof 
as become due and payable during the Lease Term. 
 

M - 7 - 48



 Section 6.3. Utilities.  All utilities and utility services used by the Developer in, on or about the 
Project shall be paid by the Developer and shall be contracted by the Developer in the Developer’s own 
name, and the Developer shall, at its sole cost and expense, procure any and all permits, licenses or 
authorizations necessary in connection therewith. 

 
 

ARTICLE VII 
 

INSURANCE 
 
 Section 7.1. Title Commitment.  Before leasing any real property to the City, the Developer 
will purchase, from a title insurance company reasonably acceptable to the City, a commitment for title 
insurance or provide such other report in a form reasonably acceptable to the City showing the ownership 
of and encumbrances on the Project Site.  Copies of such report shall be provided to the City and the Trustee. 
 
 Section 7.2. Casualty Insurance. 
 

(a) Prior to commencement of construction of the Project Improvements, the Developer shall 
at its sole cost and expense obtain a policy or policies of insurance (including, if appropriate, builder’s risk 
insurance) to keep the Project constantly insured against loss or damage by fire, lightning and all other risks 
covered by the extended coverage insurance endorsement then in use in the State of Missouri in an amount 
equal to the Full Insurable Value thereof (subject to reasonable loss deductible provisions).  The insurance 
required pursuant to this Section shall be maintained from commencement of construction through the 
Lease Term with a generally recognized responsible insurance company or companies authorized to do 
business in the State of Missouri or generally recognized international insurers or reinsurers with an A.M. 
Best rating of not less than “A-” or the equivalent thereof as may be selected by the Developer.  The 
Developer shall deliver certificates of insurance for such policies to the City and the Trustee no later than 
30 days after commencement of construction of the Project Improvements and promptly after renewal of 
each insurance policy.  All such policies of insurance pursuant to this Section, and all renewals thereof, 
shall name the City and the Developer as insureds, as their respective interests may appear, shall name the 
Trustee as loss payee and shall contain a provision that such insurance may not be canceled by the issuer 
thereof without at least 10 days’ advance written notice to the City, the Developer and the Trustee. 
 
 (b) In the event of loss or damage to the Project, the Net Proceeds of casualty insurance carried 
pursuant to this Section shall be (i) paid over to the Trustee and shall be applied as provided in Article IX, 
or (ii) applied as directed by, or on behalf of, the Owners of 100% in principal amount of the Bonds 
Outstanding, subject to the rights of the Lender under the Loan Documents and any Financing Party under 
any Financing Document.   
 
 Section 7.3. Public Liability Insurance. 
 

(a) The Developer shall at its sole cost and expense maintain or cause to be maintained at all 
times during the Lease Term commercial general liability insurance (including but not limited to coverage 
for operations, contingent liability, operations of subcontractors, completed operations and contractual 
liability), under which the City, the Developer and the Trustee shall be named as additional insureds, 
properly protecting and indemnifying the City and the Trustee, in an amount not less than the limits of 
liability set by Section 537.610 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri (subject to reasonable loss deductible 
clauses not to exceed the amounts normally or generally carried by the Developer).  The policies of said 
insurance shall contain a provision that such insurance may not be canceled by the issuer thereof without 

M - 7 - 49



at least 10 days’ advance written notice to the City, the Developer and the Trustee.  Certificates of such 
policies shall be furnished to the Trustee on the date of execution of this Lease and not less than 30 days 
before the expiration date of each insurance policy. 
 
 (b) In the event of a general liability occurrence, the Net Proceeds of liability insurance carried 
pursuant to this Section shall be applied toward the extinguishment or satisfaction of the liability with 
respect to which such proceeds have been paid. 
 
 Section 7.4. Blanket Insurance Policies.  The Developer may satisfy any of the insurance 
requirements set forth in this Article by using blanket policies of insurance, provided each and all of the 
requirements and specifications of this Article respecting insurance are complied with.   
 
 Section 7.5. Worker’s Compensation.  The Developer agrees throughout the Lease Term to 
maintain or cause to be maintained the worker’s compensation coverage required by the laws of the State 
of Missouri. 
 

Section 7.6. Sovereign Immunity.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, 
nothing in this Lease shall be construed to broaden the liability of the City beyond the provisions of Sections 
537.600 to 537.610 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri or abolish or waive any defense at law that might 
otherwise be available to the City or its officers, agents and employees.   

 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

ALTERATION OF THE PROJECT 
 
 Section 8.1. Additions, Modifications and Improvements to the Project.   
 

(a) The Developer may make such additions, modifications and improvements in and to any 
part of the Project as the Developer from time to time may deem necessary or desirable for its business 
purposes.  All additions, modifications and improvements made by the Developer pursuant to this Section 
shall (i) be made in a good and workmanlike manner and in compliance with all laws, orders and ordinances 
applicable thereto, and (ii) when commenced, be prosecuted to completion with due diligence.    Any such 
other additions, modifications and improvements shall be subject to ad valorem taxes, or if for any reason 
the St. Louis County Assessor determines that such additions, modifications and improvements are not 
subject to ad valorem taxes, the Developer shall make payments in lieu of taxes in an amount equal to the 
taxes that would otherwise be due but for the City’s interest therein, unless otherwise agreed to by the City.     

 
(b) The Developer shall, following the Completion Date, notify the City in writing of any 

improvements to the Project that in the aggregate are reasonably expected to exceed $1,000,000 during any 
calendar year.  If such improvements constitute personal property, any such improvements shall remain the 
property of the Developer, shall not become part of the Project, and shall be subject to ad valorem taxes.  

 Section 8.2. Additional Improvements on the Project Site.  Subject to Section 8.1(b) and 
Section 8.5, the Developer may, at its sole cost and expense, construct on portions of the Project Site not 
theretofore occupied by buildings or improvements such additional buildings and improvements as the 
Developer from time to time may deem necessary or desirable for its business purposes.  All additional 
buildings and improvements constructed on the Project Site by the Developer, and not paid for with Bond 
proceeds, pursuant to the authority of this Section shall not be included in the Project and, during the life 
of this Lease, shall remain the property of the Developer and may be added to, altered or razed and removed 

M - 7 - 50



by the Developer at any time.  All additional buildings and improvements shall be made in a good and 
workmanlike manner and in compliance with all material laws, orders and ordinances applicable thereto 
and when commenced shall be prosecuted to completion with due diligence.  The Developer covenants and 
agrees (a) to make any repairs and restorations required to be made to the Project because of the construction 
of, addition to, alteration or removal of said additional buildings or improvements, and (b) to promptly and 
with due diligence either raze and remove or repair, replace or restore any of said additional buildings and 
improvements as may from time to time be damaged by fire or other casualty.   
 
 Section 8.3. Permits and Authorizations.  The Developer shall not do or permit others under 
its control to do any work on the Project or any repair, rebuilding, restoration, replacement, modification or 
addition to the Project, or any part thereof, unless all requisite municipal and other governmental permits 
and authorizations shall have been first procured.  The City agrees to act promptly on all requests for such 
municipal permits and authorizations.  All such work shall be done in a good and workmanlike manner and 
in compliance with all applicable material building and zoning laws and governmental regulations and 
requirements, and in accordance with the requirements, rules and regulations of all insurers under the 
policies required to be carried under the provisions of Article VII. 
 
 Section 8.4. Mechanics’ Liens. 
 
 (a) The Developer will not directly or indirectly create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any 
mechanics’ or other similar lien on or with respect to the Project, and the Developer shall promptly notify 
the City of the imposition of such lien of which the Developer is aware and shall promptly, at its own 
expense, take such action as may be necessary to fully discharge or release any such lien.  Whenever and 
as often as any mechanics’ or other similar lien is filed against the Project, or any part thereof, purporting 
to be for or on account of any labor done or materials or services furnished in connection with any work in 
or about the Project, the Developer shall discharge the same of record.  Notice is hereby given that the City 
shall not be liable for any labor or materials furnished the Developer or anyone claiming by, through or 
under the Developer upon credit, and that no mechanics’ or other similar lien for any such labor, services 
or materials shall attach to or affect the reversionary or other estate of the City in and to the Project or any 
part thereof. 
 
 (b) Notwithstanding Section 8.4(a), the Developer may contest any such mechanics’ or other 
similar lien if the Developer (i) within 60 days after the Developer becomes aware of any such lien  notifies 
the City and the Trustee in writing of its intention so to do, (ii) diligently prosecutes such contest, (iii) at all 
times effectively stays or prevents any official or judicial sale of the Project, or any part thereof or interest 
therein, under execution or otherwise, (iv) promptly pays or otherwise satisfies any final judgment 
adjudging or enforcing such contested lien claim and (v) thereafter promptly procures record release or 
satisfaction thereof.  The Developer may permit the lien so contested to remain unpaid during the period of 
such contest and any appeal therefrom unless the Developer is notified by the City that, in the opinion of 
counsel, by nonpayment of any such items, the interest of the City in the Project will be subject to loss or 
forfeiture.  In that event, the Developer shall promptly, at its own expense, take such action as may be 
reasonably necessary to duly discharge or remove any such lien if the same shall arise at any time.  The 
Developer shall save and hold harmless the City from any loss, costs or expenses the City may incur related 
to any such contest.  The Developer shall reimburse the City for any expense incurred by it in connection 
with the imposition of any such lien or in order to discharge or remove any such lien.  The City shall 
cooperate fully with the Developer in any such contest. 
 
 

M - 7 - 51



ARTICLE IX 
 

DAMAGE, DESTRUCTION AND CONDEMNATION 
 
 Section 9.1. Damage or Destruction. 
 
 (a) If the Project is damaged or destroyed by fire or any other casualty, whether or not covered 
by insurance, the Developer, as promptly as practicable, shall either (i) make the determination described 
in Section 9.1(f), or (ii) repair, restore, replace or rebuild the same so that upon completion of such repairs, 
restoration, replacement or rebuilding the Project is of a value not less than the value thereof immediately 
before the occurrence of such damage or destruction or, at the Developer’s option, construct upon the 
Project Site new buildings and improvements thereafter together with all new machinery, equipment and 
fixtures that are either to be attached to or are to be used in connection with the operation or maintenance 
thereof, provided that (A) the value thereof shall not be less than the value of such destroyed or damaged 
Project immediately before the occurrence of such damage or destruction and (B) the nature of such new 
buildings, improvements, machinery, equipment and fixtures will not impair the character of the Project as 
a “project” permitted by the Act. 

 If the Developer elects to construct any such new buildings and improvements, for all purposes of 
this Lease, any reference to the words “Project Improvements” shall be deemed to also include any such 
new buildings and improvements and all additions thereto and all replacements and alterations thereof. 
 
 Unless the Developer makes the determination described in Section 9.1 (f), the Net Proceeds of 
casualty insurance required by Article VII received with respect to such damage or loss to the Project shall 
be used to pay the cost of repairing, restoring, replacing or rebuilding the Project or any part thereof, subject 
to the rights of the Lender under the Fee Deed of Trust and related Loan Documents.  Subject to the 
provisions of the Fee Deed of Trust and related Loan Documents, insurance monies in an amount less than 
$100,000 may be paid to or retained by the Developer to be held in trust and used as provided herein.  
Subject to the provisions of the Fee Deed of Trust and related Loan Documents, insurance monies in an 
amount of $100,000 or more shall be (i) paid to the Trustee and deposited in the Project Fund and shall be 
disbursed as provided in Section 4.4 to pay the cost of repairing, restoring, replacing or rebuilding the 
Project or any part thereof, or (ii) if determined by the Owners of 100% in principal amount of the Bonds 
Outstanding, applied as directed by, or on behalf of, such Owners of 100% in principal amount of the Bonds 
Outstanding, subject to the rights of the Lender.  If the Developer makes the determination described in 
Section 9.1 (f), the Net Proceeds shall be deposited with the Trustee and used to redeem Bonds as provided 
in Section 9.1 (f), subject to the rights of the Lender under the Fee Deed of Trust and related Loan 
Documents. 
 
 (b) If any of the insurance monies paid by the insurance company as hereinabove provided 
remain after the completion of such repairs, restoration, replacement or rebuilding, and this Lease has not 
been terminated, the excess shall be deposited in the Bond Fund, subject to the rights of the Lender, any 
leasehold mortgagee or any other Financing Party.  Completion of such repairs, restoration, replacement or 
rebuilding shall be evidenced by a certificate of completion provided to the City and the Trustee.  If the Net 
Proceeds are insufficient to pay the entire cost of such repairs, restoration, replacement or rebuilding, the 
Developer shall pay the deficiency. 
 
 (c) Except as otherwise provided in this Lease, in the event of any such damage by fire or any 
other casualty, the provisions of this Lease shall be unaffected and the Developer shall remain and continue 
liable for the payment of all Basic Rent and Additional Rent and all other charges required hereunder to be 
paid by the Developer, as though no damage by fire or any other casualty has occurred. 

M - 7 - 52



 
 (d) The Developer will prosecute or defend any action or proceeding arising out of, or for the 
collection of any insurance monies that may be due in the event of, any loss or damage. 
 
 (e) The Developer agrees to give prompt written notice to the City, the Trustee and the Lender 
of all fires and any other casualties occurring in, on, at or about the Project Site. 
 
 (f) If the Developer determines that rebuilding, repairing, restoring or replacing the Project is 
not practicable or desirable, or if the Developer does not have the right under the Fee Deed of Trust, any 
Leasehold Mortgage or any other Financing Document to use any Net Proceeds for repair or restoration of 
the Project, any Net Proceeds of casualty insurance required by Article VII received with respect to such 
damage or loss shall, after payment of all Additional Rent then due and payable, be paid into the Bond Fund 
and shall be used to redeem Bonds on the earliest practicable redemption date or to pay the principal of any 
Bonds as the same becomes due, all subject to rights of the Lender under the Loan Documents, any 
mortgagee under the Leasehold Mortgage (if any) and any Financing Party under the Financing Documents 
(if any).  The Developer agrees to be reasonable in exercising its judgment pursuant to this subsection.  
Alternatively, if the Developer is the sole owner of the Bonds and it has determined that rebuilding, 
repairing, restoring or replacing the Project is not practicable or desirable, it may tender Bonds to the 
Trustee for cancellation in a principal amount equal to the Net Proceeds of the casualty insurance, and retain 
such proceeds for its own account. 
 
 (g) The Developer shall not, by reason of its inability to use all or any part of the Project during 
any period in which the Project is damaged or destroyed or is being repaired, rebuilt, restored or replaced, 
nor by reason of the payment of the costs of such rebuilding, repairing, restoring or replacing, be entitled 
to any reimbursement from the City, the Trustee or the Owners or to any abatement or diminution of the 
rentals payable by the Developer under this Lease or of any other obligations of the Developer under this 
Lease except as expressly provided in this Section. 
 

(h) The rights of the City and the Trustee in and to any Net Proceeds are and will at all times 
be subject to the rights of the Lender with respect to such Net Proceeds. 
 
 (i) Nothing herein shall be deemed to authorize the Developer to allow an unsafe, dangerous, 
unhealthy or injurious condition to exist on the Project or any portion thereof, in violation of any applicable 
laws, codes and ordinances due to a fire or other casualty. 
 
 Section 9.2. Condemnation. 
 
 (a) If during the Lease Term, title to, or the temporary use of, all or any part of the Project is 
condemned by or sold under threat of condemnation to any authority possessing the power of eminent 
domain, to such extent that the claim or loss resulting from such condemnation is greater than $100,000, 
the Developer shall, within 90 days after the date of entry of a final order in any eminent domain 
proceedings granting condemnation or the date of sale under threat of condemnation, notify the City, the 
Trustee, the Lender, any mortgagee under the Leasehold Mortgage (if any) and any Financing Party under 
the Financing Documents (if any) in writing as to the nature and extent of such condemnation or loss of 
title and whether it is practicable and desirable to acquire or construct substitute improvements. 
 
 (b) If the Developer determines that such substitution is practicable and desirable, the 
Developer shall proceed promptly with and complete with reasonable dispatch the acquisition or 
construction of such substitute improvements, so as to place the Project in substantially the same condition 
as existed before the exercise of the power of eminent domain, including the acquisition or construction of 

M - 7 - 53



other improvements suitable for the Developer’s operations at the Project (which improvements will be 
deemed a part of the Project and available for use and occupancy by the Developer without the payment of 
any rent other than herein provided, to the same extent as if such other improvements were specifically 
described herein and demised hereby); provided, that such improvements will be acquired by the City 
subject to no liens, security interests or encumbrances before the lien and/or security interest afforded by 
the Indenture and this Lease other than Permitted Encumbrances (including, without limitation, any liens 
held by the Lender in and to the substitute Project).  In such case, any Net Proceeds received from any 
award or awards with respect to the Project or any part thereof made in such condemnation or eminent 
domain proceedings, or of the sale proceeds, shall be applied in the same manner as provided in Section 9.1 
(with respect to the receipt of casualty insurance proceeds). 
 
 (c) If the Developer determines that it is not practicable or desirable to acquire or construct 
substitute improvements, or if the Developer does not have the right under the Fee Deed of Trust to use any 
Net Proceeds of condemnation awards received by the Developer, then any Net Proceeds of condemnation 
awards received by the Developer shall, after payment of all Additional Rent then due and payable, be paid 
into the Bond Fund and shall be used to redeem Bonds on the earliest practicable redemption date or to pay 
the principal of any Bonds as the same becomes due and payable, all subject to the rights of the Lender 
under the Loan Documents, any mortgagee under the Leasehold Mortgage (if any) and any Financing Party 
under the Financing Documents (if any). 
 
 (d) The Developer shall not, by reason of its inability to use all or any part of the Project during 
any such period of restoration or acquisition nor by reason of the payment of the costs of such restoration 
or acquisition, be entitled to any reimbursement from the City, the Trustee or the Owners or to any 
abatement or diminution of the rentals payable by the Developer under this Lease nor of any other 
obligations hereunder except as expressly provided in this Section. 
 
 (e) The City shall cooperate fully with the Developer in the handling and conduct of any 
prospective or pending condemnation proceedings with respect to the Project or any part thereof, and shall, 
to the extent it may lawfully do so, permit the Developer to litigate in any such proceeding in the name and 
on behalf of the City.  In no event will the City voluntarily settle or consent to the settlement of any 
prospective or pending condemnation proceedings with respect to the Project or any part thereof without 
the prior written consent of the Developer and the Lender. 
 
 Section 9.3. Bondowner Approval.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this 
Article IX, subject to the rights of the Lender, the proceeds of any insurance received subsequent to a 
casualty or of any condemnation proceedings (or threats thereof) may before the application thereof by the 
City or the Trustee be applied as directed by the Owners or pledgees of 100% of the principal amount of 
Bonds Outstanding, subject and subordinate to (a) the rights of the City and the Trustee to be paid all their 
expenses (including attorneys’ fees, trustee’s fees and any extraordinary expenses of the City and the 
Trustee) incurred in the collection of such gross proceeds and (b) the rights of the City to any amounts then 
due and payable under the Development and Performance Agreement. 
 
 

M - 7 - 54



ARTICLE X 
 

SPECIAL COVENANTS 
 
 Section 10.1. No Warranty of Condition or Suitability by the City; Exculpation and 
Indemnification.  The City makes no warranty, either express or implied, as to the condition of the Project 
or that it will be suitable for the Developer’s purposes or needs.  The Developer releases the City and the 
Trustee from, agrees that the City and the Trustee shall not be liable for and agrees to hold the City and the 
Trustee harmless against, any loss or damage to property or any injury to or death of any Person that may 
be occasioned by any cause whatsoever pertaining to the Project or the Developer’s use thereof, unless such 
loss is the result of the City’s or the Trustee’s negligence or willful misconduct.  This provision shall survive 
termination of this Lease. 
 
 Section 10.2. Surrender of Possession.  Upon accrual of the City’s right of re-entry to the extent 
provided in Section 12.2(b), the Developer shall peacefully surrender possession of the Project to the City 
in good condition and repair; provided, however, the Developer may within 90 days (or such later date as 
the City may agree to) after the termination of this Lease remove from the Project Site any buildings, 
improvements, furniture, trade fixtures, machinery and equipment owned by the Developer and not 
constituting part of the Project.  All repairs to and restorations of the Project required to be made because 
of such removal shall be made by and at the sole cost and expense of the Developer, and during said 90-
day (or extended) period the Developer shall bear the sole responsibility for and bear the sole risk of loss 
of said buildings, improvements, furniture, trade fixtures, machinery and equipment owned by the 
Developer and not constituting part of the Project.  All buildings, improvements, furniture, trade fixtures, 
machinery and equipment owned by the Developer and which are not so removed from the Project Site 
before the expiration of said period shall be the separate and absolute property of the City.  Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, if the Developer has paid all obligations due and owing under the Indenture (or such 
obligations have been canceled), this Lease and the Development and Performance Agreement, the City 
shall convey the Project in accordance with Section 11.2. 
 
 Section 10.3. Right of Access to the Project.  The City may conduct such periodic inspections 
of the Project as may be generally provided in the City’s municipal code.  In addition, the Developer agrees 
that the City and the Trustee and their duly authorized agents may, at reasonable times during normal 
business hours and, except in the event of emergencies, upon not less than two Business Days’ prior notice, 
subject to the Developer’s usual business, proprietary, safety, confidentiality and security requirements, 
enter upon the Project Site (a) to examine and inspect the Project without interference or prejudice to the 
Developer’s operations, (b) to monitor the acquisition, construction and installation of the Project pursuant  
to Section 4.2 as may be reasonably necessary, (c) to examine all files, records, books and other materials 
in the Developer’s possession pertaining to the acquisition, installation or maintenance of the Project, or 
(d) upon either (i) the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default or (ii) the Developer’s failure to 
purchase the Project at the end of the Lease Term, to exhibit the Project to prospective purchasers, lessees 
or trustees. 
 
 Section 10.4. Granting of Easements; Leasehold Mortgages and Financing Arrangements. 
 
 (a) Subject to Sections 10.4(c) and (d), if no Event of Default under this Lease has happened 
and is continuing, the City agrees that it will execute and deliver and will cause and direct the Trustee to 
execute and deliver any instrument necessary or appropriate to confirm and grant, release or terminate any 
sublease, easement, license, right-of-way or other right or privilege or any such agreement or other 
arrangement, upon receipt by the City and the Trustee of:  (i) a copy of the instrument of grant, release or 

M - 7 - 55



termination or of the agreement or other arrangement, (ii) a written application signed by the Authorized 
Developer Representative requesting such instrument, and (iii) a certificate executed by the Authorized 
Developer Representative stating that such grant or release is not detrimental to the proper conduct of the 
business of the Developer, will not impair the effective use or interfere with the efficient and economical 
operation of the Project, will not materially adversely affect the security intended to be given by or under 
the Indenture or the Development and Performance Agreement, will be a Permitted Encumbrance, and that 
the Developer will defend, indemnify and save and hold harmless the City from and against all claims, 
demands, costs, liabilities, damages or expenses, including attorneys’ fees, arising from the execution and 
delivery of any instrument, agreement or other arrangement pursuant to this Section.  If no Event of Default 
has happened and is continuing beyond any applicable grace period, any payments or other consideration 
received by the Developer for any such grant or with respect to or under any such agreement or other 
arrangement shall be and remain the property of the Developer; but, subject to Sections 10.4(c) and (d), 
upon (A) termination of this Lease for any reason other than the redemption of the Bonds and/or the 
purchase of the Project by the Developer or (B) the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default by 
the Developer, all rights then existing of the Developer with respect to or under such grant shall inure to 
the benefit of and be exercisable by the City and the Trustee. 
 
 (b) Subject to the Fee Deed of Trust, the Developer may mortgage or grant a deed of trust 
against the leasehold estate created by this Lease, with prior notice to but without the consent of the City, 
provided and upon condition that a duplicate original or certified copy or photostatic copy of each such 
mortgage, and the note or other obligation secured thereby, is delivered to the City within 30 days after the 
execution thereof.  The sale of the Developer’s leasehold estate at a foreclosure sale or trustee’s sale under 
the Leasehold Mortgage or any assignment in lieu thereof shall not require the consent of the City, if 
(i) written notice of the proposed sale or assignment is provided to the City at least 15 days prior thereto, 
and (ii) before such sale or assignment, all payments then owing to the City under the Development and 
Performance Agreement are paid. 
 
 (c) The City acknowledges and agrees that the Developer may finance and refinance its rights 
and interests in the Project, this Lease and the leasehold estate created hereby and, in connection therewith 
and subject to the terms of the Loan Documents, the Developer may execute Financing Documents with 
one or more Financing Parties.  Notwithstanding anything contained to the contrary in this Lease, the 
Developer may, at any time and from time to time, with prior notice to but without the consent of the City, 
(i) execute one or more Financing Documents upon the terms contained in this Section 10.4 and (ii) sublease 
or assign this Lease, the leasehold estate, any sublease and rights in connection therewith, and/or grant liens 
or security interests therein, to any Financing Party.  Any further sublease or assignment by any Financing 
Party shall be subject to the provisions of Section 13.1(c). 
 
 (d) As long as the Fee Deed of Trust remains outstanding or upon notice by the Developer to 
the City in writing that the Developer has executed one or more Financing Documents under which it has 
granted rights in this Lease to a Financing Party, which includes the name and address of such Financing 
Party, then the following provisions shall apply in respect of each such Financing Party: 

 (i) there shall be no merger of this Lease or of the leasehold estate created hereby with 
fee title to the Project, notwithstanding that this Lease or said leasehold estate and said fee title 
shall be owned by the same Person or Persons, without the prior written consent of each such 
Financing Party; 

   
(ii) the City shall serve upon each such Financing Party (at the address, if any, 

provided to the City) a copy of each notice of the occurrence of an Event of Default and each notice 
of termination given to the Developer under this Lease, at the same time as such notice is served 

M - 7 - 56



upon the Developer.  No such notice to the Developer shall be effective unless a copy thereof is 
thus served upon each such Financing Party; 

 
  (iii) each such Financing Party shall have the same period of time which the Developer 

has, after the service of any required notice upon it, plus 30 days, within which to remedy or cause 
to be remedied any payment default under this Lease which is the basis of the notice, and the City 
shall accept performance by any Financing Party as timely performance by the Developer; 

 
  (iv) the City may exercise any of its rights or remedies with respect to any Event of 

Default by the Developer, subject to the rights of any Financing Party under this Section 10.4(d) 
as to such Event of Default.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the holder of the Fee 
Deed of Trust may cause the sale of the fee simple interest or the leasehold interest of the Developer 
to be sold at foreclosure sale conducted in accordance with applicable law and the terms of the Fee 
Deed of Trust, to accept assignment of this Lease in lieu of foreclosure and to appoint a receiver 
for the Project, all without obtaining the prior written consent of the City but subject to the 
provisions of Section 10.4(b); 

 
 (v) upon the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default by the Developer 
under this Lease, other than a default in the payment of money, the City shall take no action to 
effect a termination of this Lease by service of a notice or otherwise, without first giving notice 
thereof to each such Financing Party and permitting each such Financing Party (or its designee, 
nominee, assignee or transferee) a reasonable time within which to remedy such default in the case 
of an Event of Default which is susceptible of being cured (provided that the period to remedy such 
Event of Default shall continue beyond any period set forth in this Lease to effect said cure so long 
as the Financing Party (or its designee, nominee, assignee or transferee) is diligently prosecuting 
such cure); provided that the Financing Party (or its designee, nominee, assignee or transferee) shall 
pay or cause to be paid to the City and the Trustee all expenses, including reasonable counsel fees, 
court costs and disbursements incurred by the City or the Trustee in connection with any such 
default; 

 
  (vi) each such Financing Party (and its designees, nominees, assignees or transferees) 

may enter, possess and use the Project at such reasonable times and manner as are necessary or 
desirable to effectuate the remedies and enforce its rights under its respective Financing 
Documents;  

 
(vii) except for terminations of this Lease expressly authorized herein, this Lease may 

not be modified, amended, canceled or surrendered by agreement between the City and the 
Developer, without prior written consent of each such Financing Party; and 

 
(viii) each such Financing Party may, upon an event of default under any of its respective 

Financing Documents, on behalf of the Developer and without the consent of the Developer, but 
only having first caused the redemption of the Bonds, exercise the right to purchase the Project 
pursuant to Section 11.1, upon compliance with the provisions of that Section.  The Developer 
agrees that the City will have no liability for taking direction from any Financing Party in 
connection with a conveyance of the Project back to the Developer pursuant to Article XI.     

 
The City acknowledges that the Lender is a Financing Party and is entitled to the benefits of 

Sections 10.4(d)(i)-(viii).       
 

M - 7 - 57



 (e) In connection with the execution of one or more Financing Documents, upon the request 
of the Developer, the City agrees to execute such documents as shall be reasonably requested by the Lender 
or any other Financing Party and which are usual and customary in connection with the closing of the 
financing or refinancing pursuant to the Financing Documents, including, without limitation, subordination 
of the City’s interest in the Project to any new fee deed of trust or any modification of the existing Fee Deed 
of Trust.  Moreover, to facilitate the recordation of a new fee deed of trust or a modification of the existing 
Fee Deed of Trust, the City agrees to subordinate its leasehold interest in the Project to the Financing 
Documents. The Developer agrees to reimburse the City for any and all costs and expenses incurred by the 
City pursuant to this Section, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses, in complying with such 
request. 
 

(f) The Developer’s obligations under any mortgage or Financing Document relating to the 
Project entered into after the date of execution of this Lease (except for any construction loans or other 
Financing Documents related to the Project that the Developer and the Lender hereafter execute), the 
execution of which shall be expressly subject to the prior written consent of the Lender in accordance with 
the Fee Deed of Trust, shall be subordinate to the Developer’s obligations under this Lease.   
 

(g) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City may agree to other provisions and documents 
requested by the Developer, the Lender or any Financing Party not contemplated by this Section 10.4, 
subject to approval by the City Council. 

 
 Section 10.5. Indemnification of City and Trustee.  The Developer shall indemnify and save 
and hold harmless the City and the Trustee and their governing body members, officers, agents and 
employees from and against all claims, demands, costs, liabilities, damages or expenses, including 
attorneys’ fees, by or on behalf of any Person, firm or corporation arising from the issuance of the Bonds 
and the execution of the Development and Performance Agreement, this Lease (or any instrument requested 
by the Developer pursuant to Section 10.4) or the Indenture and from the conduct or management of, or 
from any work or thing done in or on the Project during the Lease Term, and against and from all claims, 
demands, costs, liabilities, damages or expenses, including attorneys’ fees, arising during the Lease Term 
from (a) any condition of the Project, (b) any breach or default on the part of the Developer in the 
performance of any of its obligations under the Development and Performance Agreement, this Lease, the 
Base Lease or any related document, (c) any contract entered into in connection with the acquisition, 
purchase, construction, extension, installation or improvement of the Project, (d) any act of negligence of 
the Developer or of any of its agents, contractors, servants, employees or licensees, (e) unless the Developer 
has been released from liability pursuant to Section 13.1(c), any act of negligence of any assignee or 
sublessee of the Developer, or of any agents, contractors, servants, employees or licensees of any assignee 
or sublessee of the Developer, (f) obtaining any applicable state and local sales and use tax exemptions for 
materials or goods that become part of the Project, and (g) any violation of Section 107.170 of the Revised 
Statutes of Missouri; provided, however, the indemnification contained in Sections 10.5(a)-(e) shall not 
extend (i) to the City to the extent that such claims, demands, costs, liabilities, damages or expenses, 
including attorneys’ fees, are (A) the result of work being performed at the Project by employees of the 
City, or (B) the result of negligence or willful misconduct by the City or (ii) to the Trustee to the extent that 
such claims, demands, costs, liabilities, damages or expenses, including attorneys’ fees, are the result of 
negligence or willful misconduct by the Trustee.  Upon written notice from the City or the Trustee of any 
such claims or demand, the Developer shall defend them or either of them in any such action or proceeding; 
provided, that the City shall cooperate with the Developer and provide reasonable assistance in such 
defense.  All costs related to the defense of the City or the Trustee pursuant to this Section 10.5 shall be 
paid by the Developer.  This Section 10.5 shall survive any termination of the Development and 
Performance Agreement and this Lease or the satisfaction and discharge of the Indenture. 

M - 7 - 58



 
 Section 10.6. Depreciation, Investment Tax Credit and Other Tax Benefits.  This Lease is 
intended to convey to the Developer all of the benefits and burdens of ownership and to cause the Developer 
to be treated as the owner of the Project for federal income tax purposes.  The Trustee, the Developer and 
the City agree to treat this Lease in a manner consistent with such treatment.  The Developer alone shall be 
entitled to all of the federal income tax attributes of ownership of the Project, including without limitation 
the right to claim depreciation, amortization deductions, investment tax credits or any other tax benefits.  
The City agrees that any depreciation, amortization deductions, investment tax credits or any other tax 
benefits with respect to the Project or any part thereof shall be made available to the Developer, and the 
City will fully cooperate with the Developer in any effort by the Developer to avail itself of any such 
depreciation, amortization deductions, investment tax credit or other tax benefits. 
 
 Section 10.7. Developer to Maintain its Existence.  The Developer agrees that until the Bonds 
are paid or payment is provided for in accordance with the terms of the Indenture, it will maintain its 
corporate existence in good standing, and will not dissolve or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all 
of its assets; provided, however, that the Developer may, without violating the agreement contained in this 
Section, consolidate with or merge into another Person or permit one or more other Persons to consolidate 
with or merge into it, or may sell or otherwise transfer to another Person all or substantially all of its assets 
as an entirety and thereafter dissolve or convert into a different type of legal entity, if the surviving, resulting 
or transferee Person expressly assumes in writing all the obligations of the Developer contained in this 
Lease, and the surviving, resulting or transferee Person either (a) has a long-term debt rating or is controlled 
by or under common control with an entity with a long-term debt rating in any of the top three long-term 
debt rating categories established by any nationally recognized rating service, (b) is controlled by, under 
common control with or controls the Developer, or (c) is otherwise approved by the City Council.  This 
Section does not limit the Developer’s transfer rights under Section 13.1. 
 
 Section 10.8. Security Interests.  The City and the Developer hereby authorize the Trustee to 
file all appropriate financing and continuation statements as may be required under the Uniform 
Commercial Code in order to fully preserve and protect the security of the Owners and the rights of the 
Trustee under the Indenture.  Upon the written instructions of the Owners or pledgees of 100% of the Bonds 
then-Outstanding, the Trustee shall file all instruments the Owners deem necessary to be filed and shall 
continue or cause to be continued such instruments for so long as the Bonds are Outstanding.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trustee shall not be obligated to file any original instrument unless such 
instrument has been prepared by an attorney acceptable to the Trustee (any attorneys’ fees incurred in 
connection therewith shall be paid by the Developer), and the Trustee shall not be responsible for the 
accuracy or sufficiency of any such original instrument.  The City and the Developer shall cooperate with 
the Trustee in this regard by providing such information as the Trustee may require to file or to renew such 
statements.   
 
 Section 10.9. Environmental Matters, Warranties, Covenants and Indemnities Regarding 
Environmental Matters. 
 
 (a) As used in this Section, the following terms have the following meanings: 
 
 “Environmental Laws” means any now-existing or hereafter enacted or promulgated federal, state, 
local, or other law, statute, ordinance, order, rule, regulation or court order pertaining to (i) environmental 
protection, regulation, contamination or clean-up, (ii) toxic waste, (iii) underground storage tanks, 
(iv) asbestos or asbestos-containing materials, or (v) the handling, treatment, storage, use or disposal of 
Hazardous Substances, including without limitation the Comprehensive Environmental Response, 

M - 7 - 59



Compensation and Liability Act and the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, all as amended from 
time to time. 
 
 “Hazardous Substances” means all (i) “hazardous substances” (as defined in 42 U.S.C. §9601(14)), 
(ii) “chemicals” subject to regulation under Title III of the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization 
Act of 1986, as amended from time to time, (iii) natural gas liquids, liquefied natural gas or synthetic gas, 
(iv) any petroleum, petroleum-based products or crude oil, or (v) any other hazardous or toxic substances, 
wastes or materials, pollutants, contaminants or any other substances or materials which are included under 
or regulated by any Environmental Law. 
 
 (b) The Developer warrants and represents to the City and the Trustee that to the knowledge 
of the Developer there are no conditions on the Project Site which materially violate any applicable 
Environmental Laws and no claims or demands have been asserted or made in writing by any third parties 
arising out of, relating to or in connection with any Hazardous Substances on, or allegedly on, the Project 
Site for any injuries suffered or incurred, or allegedly suffered or incurred, by reason of the foregoing. 
 
 (c) The Developer will provide the City and the Trustee with copies of any notifications of 
releases of Hazardous Substances or of any environmental hazards or potential hazards in material violation 
of Environmental Laws which are given by or on behalf of the Developer to any federal, state or local or 
other agencies or authorities or which are received by the Developer from any federal, state or local or other 
agencies or authorities with respect to the Project Site.  Such copies shall be sent to the City and the Trustee 
concurrently with their being mailed or delivered to the governmental agencies or authorities or within 
10 days after they are received by the Developer.  The Developer will provide to the City for review only, 
any environmental assessments (“Assessments”) and reports regarding the correction or remediation of 
material environmental issues required by Environmental Laws to be addressed in the Assessments 
(“Reports”) concerning the Project; upon the completion of the City’s review of the Assessments and the 
Reports, the City shall immediately return to the Developer all originals and copies of the Assessments and 
Reports. 
 
 (d) The Developer warrants and represents that the Developer has provided the City and the 
Trustee with copies of all emergency and hazardous chemical inventory forms (hereinafter “Environmental 
Notices”) showing Hazardous Substances on the Project Site given within two years preceding the date 
hereof, as of the date hereof, by the Developer to any federal, state or local governmental authority or 
agency as required pursuant to the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act of 1986, 42 
U.S.C.A. §11001 et seq., or any other applicable Environmental Laws.  The Developer will provide the 
City and the Trustee with copies of all Environmental Notices concerning Hazardous Substances on the 
Project Site subsequently sent to any such governmental authority or agency as required pursuant to the 
Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act of 1986 or any other applicable Environmental 
Laws.  Such copies of subsequent Environmental Notices shall be sent to the City and the Trustee 
concurrently with their being mailed to any such governmental authority or agency. 
 
 (e) The Developer will comply with and operate and at all times use, keep and maintain the 
Project and every part thereof (whether or not such property constitutes a facility, as defined in 42 U.S.C. 
§ 9601 et. seq.) in material conformance with all applicable Environmental Laws.  Without limiting the 
generality of the foregoing, the Developer will not use, generate, treat, store, dispose of or otherwise 
introduce any Hazardous Substance into or on the Project or any part thereof nor cause, suffer, allow or 
permit anyone else to do so except in material compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws. 
 
 (f) The Developer agrees to indemnify, protect and hold harmless the City and the Trustee and 
their directors, officers, shareholders, officials or employees from and against any and all claims, demands, 

M - 7 - 60



costs, liabilities, damages or expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, arising from (i) any release (as 
defined in 42 U.S.C. § 9601 (22)), actual or alleged, of any Hazardous Substances, upon the Project Site or 
respecting any products or materials previously, now or thereafter located upon the Project Site, regardless 
of whether such release or alleged release has occurred before the date hereof or hereafter occurs and 
regardless of whether such release or alleged release occurs as a result of any act, omission, negligence or 
misconduct of the Developer or any third party or otherwise (except, with respect to the City, to the extent 
such release occurs as a result of any negligence or willful misconduct of the City), (ii) (A) any violation 
now existing or hereafter arising (actual or alleged) of, or any other liability under or in connection with, 
any applicable Environmental Laws relating to or affecting the Project Site, or (B) any violation now 
existing or hereafter arising, or any other liability, under or in connection with, any applicable 
Environmental Laws relating to any products or materials previously, now or hereafter located upon the 
Project Site, regardless of whether such violation or alleged violation or other liability is asserted or has 
occurred or arisen before the date hereof or hereafter is asserted or occurs or arises and regardless of whether 
such violation or alleged violation or other liability occurs or arises, as the result of any act, omission, 
negligence or misconduct of the Developer or any third party or otherwise (except, with respect to the City, 
to the extent such violation occurs as a result of any negligence or willful misconduct of the City), (iii) any 
assertion by any third party of any claims or demands for any loss or injury arising out of, relating to or in 
connection with any Hazardous Substances on or allegedly on the Project Site, or (iv) any material breach, 
falsity or failure of any of the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements contained in this 
Section; provided, however, that the Developer’s obligations under this Section 10.9(f) shall not apply to 
the extent such claims, demands, costs, liabilities, damages or expenses, including attorneys’ fees, are the 
result of (1) work being performed at the Project by employees of the City or (2) negligence or willful 
misconduct by the City or the Trustee.  The City shall cooperate with the Developer in the defense of any 
matters included within the foregoing indemnity without any obligation to expend money.  This 
Section 10.9(f) shall survive any termination of this Lease. 

 
 

ARTICLE XI 
 

OPTION AND OBLIGATION TO PURCHASE THE PROJECT 
 
 Section 11.1. Option to Purchase the Project.  The Developer shall have, and is hereby granted, 
the option to purchase all or any portion of the City’s interest in the Project at any time, upon payment in 
full or redemption of the Outstanding Bonds to be redeemed or provision for their payment or redemption 
having been made pursuant to Article XIII of the Indenture.  To exercise such option, the Developer shall 
give written notice to the City and to the Trustee, and shall specify therein the date of closing of such 
purchase, which date shall be not less than 15 nor more than 90 days from the date such notice is mailed, 
and, in case of a redemption of the Bonds in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture, the Developer 
shall make arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee for the giving of the required notice of redemption.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the City or the Trustee provides notice of its intent to exercise its remedies 
hereunder upon an Event of Default (a “Remedies Notice”), the Developer shall be deemed to have 
exercised its repurchase option under this Section on the 29th day following the issuance of the Remedies 
Notice without any further action by the Developer; provided said Remedies Notice has not been rescinded 
by such date (such option to take place on the 29th day following the issuance of the Remedies Notice).  
The Developer may rescind such exercise by providing written notice to the City and the Trustee on or 
before the 29th day and by taking such action as may be required to cure the default that led to the giving 
of the Remedies Notice.  The purchase price payable by the Developer in the event of its exercise of the 
option granted in this Section shall be the sum of the following: 
 

M - 7 - 61



 (a) an amount of money which, when added to the amount then on deposit in the Bond 
Fund, will be sufficient to redeem all or a portion of the then-Outstanding Bonds on the earliest 
redemption date next succeeding the closing date, including, without limitation, principal and 
interest to accrue to said redemption date and redemption expense; plus 
 
 (b) an amount of money equal to the Trustee’s and the Paying Agent’s agreed to and 
reasonable fees, charges and expenses under the Indenture accrued and to accrue until such 
redemption of the Bonds; plus 

 
(c) an amount of money equal to the City’s reasonable charges and expenses incurred 

in connection with the Developer exercising its option to purchase all or a portion of the Project; 
plus 
 
 (d) an amount of money equal to all payments due and payable pursuant to the 
Development and Performance Agreement through the end of the calendar year in which the date 
of purchase occurs; plus 
 
 (e) the sum of $10.00. 

 
 Section 11.2. Conveyance of the Project.  At the closing of the purchase of the Project pursuant 
to this Article, the City will upon receipt of the purchase price deliver to the Developer the following: 
 

 (a) a release from the Trustee of the Project from the lien and/or security interest of 
the Indenture and this Lease and appropriate termination of financing statements as required under 
the Uniform Commercial Code; and 

 
 (b) such other documents as reasonably necessary to effectuate the conveyance of the 
Project, including without limitation a termination of the Base Lease and this Lease. 

 
 Section 11.3. Relative Position of Option and Indenture.  The option to purchase the Project 
granted to the Developer in this Article shall be and remain prior and superior to the Indenture and may be 
exercised whether or not the Developer is in default under this Lease; provided that such option will not 
result in nonfulfillment of any condition to the exercise of any such option (including the payment of all 
amounts specified in Section 11.1) and further provided that the option herein granted shall terminate upon 
the termination of this Lease. 
 
 Section 11.4. Obligation to Purchase the Project.  The Developer hereby agrees to purchase, 
and the City hereby agrees to sell, the Project upon the occurrence of (a) the expiration of the Lease Term 
following full payment of the Bonds or provision for payment thereof having been made in accordance with 
the provisions of the Indenture, and (b) the final payment due under the Development and Performance 
Agreement.  The amount of the purchase price under this Section shall be the sum of the items set forth in 
Sections 11.1(a)-(e).  The purchase price shall be paid by the Developer within 90 days of the expiration of 
the Lease Term. 
 

Section 11.5. Right to Set-Off.  At its option, to be exercised at least five days before the date 
of closing such purchase, the Developer may deliver to the Trustee for cancellation Bonds not previously 
paid, and the Developer shall receive a credit against the purchase price payable by the Developer in an 
amount equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds so delivered for cancellation, plus the accrued 
interest thereon.  The Developer may set-off any payment obligation under Section 11.1(a) by tendering a 
corresponding amount of the Bonds to the Trustee for cancellation. 

M - 7 - 62



ARTICLE XII 
 

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 
 
 Section 12.1. Events of Default.  If any one or more of the following events occurs and is 
continuing, it is hereby defined as and declared to be and to constitute an “Event of Default” under this 
Lease: 
 

 (a) default in the due and punctual payment of Basic Rent or Additional Rent within 
10 days after written notice thereof from the City to the Developer and the Lender; or 
 
 (b) default in the due observance or performance of any other covenant, agreement, 
obligation or provision of this Lease on the Developer’s part to be observed or performed, and such 
default continues for 60 days after the City or the Trustee has given the Developer and the Lender 
written notice specifying such default (or such longer period as is reasonably required to cure such 
default, provided that (i) the Developer or the Lender, as applicable, has commenced such cure 
within said 60-day period, and (ii) the Developer or the Lender, as applicable, diligently prosecutes 
such cure to completion); or 
 
 (c) the Developer:  (i) admits in writing its inability to pay its debts as they become 
due; or (ii) files a petition in bankruptcy or for reorganization, arrangement, composition, 
readjustment, liquidation, dissolution or similar relief under the Bankruptcy Code as now or in the 
future amended or any other similar present or future federal or state statute or regulation, or files 
a pleading asking for such relief; or (iii) makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors; or (iv) 
consents to the appointment of a trustee, receiver or liquidator for all or a substantial portion of its 
property or fails to have the appointment of any trustee, receiver or liquidator made without the 
Developer’s consent or acquiescence, vacated or set aside; or (v) is finally adjudicated as bankrupt 
or insolvent under any federal or state law; or (vi) is subject to any proceeding, or suffers the entry 
of a final and non-appealable court order, under any federal or state law appointing a trustee, 
receiver or liquidator for all or a substantial portion of its property or ordering the winding-up or 
liquidation of its affairs, or approving a petition filed against it under the Bankruptcy Code, as now 
or in the future amended, which order or proceeding, if not consented to by it, is not dismissed, 
vacated, denied, set aside or stayed within 90 days after the day of entry or commencement; or (vii) 
suffers a writ or warrant of attachment or any similar process to be issued by any court against all 
or any substantial portion of its property, and such writ or warrant of attachment or any similar 
process is not contested, stayed or released within 60 days after the final entry, or levy or after any 
contest is finally adjudicated or any stay is vacated or set aside; or 

 
(d) an Event of Default under the Development and Performance Agreement, as 

defined in Section 5.1 thereof. 
 

The Trustee shall give the Lender notice of the occurrence of any Event of Default of which the 
Trustee has notice pursuant to the terms of the Indenture.  The Lender may, at its election, but shall have 
no obligation to, cure such Event of Default.   
 
 Section 12.2. Remedies on Default.  If any Event of Default referred to in Section 12.1 has 
occurred and continues beyond the period provided to cure, then the City may at the City’s election (subject, 
however, to any restrictions against acceleration of the maturity of the Bonds or termination of this Lease 

M - 7 - 63



in the Indenture), then or at any time thereafter, and while such default continues, take any one or more of 
the following actions, in addition to the remedies provided in Section 12.5: 
 

 (a) cause all amounts payable with respect to the Bonds for the remainder of the term 
of this Lease to become due and payable, as provided in the Indenture; or 
 
 (b) give the Developer written notice of intention to terminate this Lease on a date 
specified therein, which date shall not be earlier than 60 days after such notice is given, and if all 
defaults have not then been cured, on the date so specified, the Owners shall tender or be deemed 
to have tendered the Outstanding principal amount of the Bonds for cancellation with instruction 
that such tender is in lieu of payment in accordance with Sections 11.1 and 11.5, the Developer’s 
or the Lender’s rights to possession of the Project shall cease and this Lease shall thereupon be 
terminated, and the City may re-enter and take possession of the Project or the City may convey 
the Project to the Developer and bring an action against the Developer for the purchase price of the 
Project under Section 11.1; provided, however, if the Developer has paid all obligations due and 
owing under the Indenture, this Lease, the Base Lease and the Development and Performance 
Agreement, the City shall convey the Project in accordance with Section 11.2.  The Developer’s 
rights to cause the conveyance of the Project in accordance with Section 11.2 shall survive the 
expiration or termination of this Lease. 

 
If the City defaults on any of its obligations under this Lease, the Developer’s sole remedy for such 

default shall be to sue for specific performance of this Lease. 
 
 Section 12.3. Survival of Obligations.  The Developer covenants and agrees with the City and 
Owners that its obligations under this Lease shall survive the cancellation and termination of this Lease, for 
any cause, and that the Developer shall continue to pay the Basic Rent and Additional Rent (to the extent 
the Bonds remain Outstanding) and perform all other obligations provided for in this Lease, all at the time 
or times provided in this Lease; provided, however, that except for the indemnification contained in Section 
10.5, upon the payment of all Basic Rent and Additional Rent required under Article V, and upon the 
satisfaction and discharge of the Indenture under Section 1301 thereof, and upon the Developer’s exercise 
of the purchase option contained in Article XI, the Developer’s obligations under this Lease shall thereupon 
cease and terminate in full, except that obligations with respect to indemnification of the City and the 
Trustee shall not so terminate. 
 
 Section 12.4. Performance of the Developer’s Obligations by the City.  Upon an Event of 
Default, the City, or the Trustee in the City’s name, may (but shall not be obligated so to do) upon the 
continuance of such failure on the Developer’s part for 60 days after written notice of such failure is given 
to the Developer by the City or the Trustee, and without waiving or releasing the Developer from any 
obligation hereunder, as an additional but not exclusive remedy, make any such payment or perform any 
such obligation, and all reasonable sums so paid by the City or the Trustee and all necessary incidental 
reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the City or the Trustee (including, without limitation, attorneys’ 
fees and expenses) in performing such obligations shall be deemed Additional Rent and shall be paid to the 
City or the Trustee on demand, and if not so paid by the Developer, the City or the Trustee shall have the 
same rights and remedies provided for in Section 12.2 in the case of default by the Developer in the payment 
of Basic Rent. 
 
 Section 12.5. Rights and Remedies Cumulative.  The rights and remedies reserved by the City 
and the Developer hereunder are in addition to those otherwise provided by law and shall be construed as 
cumulative and continuing rights.  No one of them shall be exhausted by the exercise thereof on one or 

M - 7 - 64



more occasions.  The City and the Developer shall each be entitled to specific performance and injunctive 
or other equitable relief for any breach or threatened breach of any of the provisions of this Lease, 
notwithstanding the availability of an adequate remedy at law, and each party hereby waives the right to 
raise such defense in any proceeding in equity.  Notwithstanding anything in this Section 12.5 or elsewhere 
in this Lease to the contrary, however, the Developer’s option to re-purchase the property as provided in 
Article XI above shall not be terminated upon an Event of Default unless and until this Lease is terminated 
to the extent permitted pursuant to Section 12.2(b).  The parties agree that no provision of this Lease shall 
be construed to allow the City to require the Developer to acquire, construct or install the Project. 

 Section 12.6. Waiver of Breach.  No waiver of any breach of any covenant or agreement herein 
contained shall operate as a waiver of any subsequent breach of the same covenant or agreement or as a 
waiver of any breach of any other covenant or agreement, and in case of a breach by the Developer of any 
covenant, agreement or undertaking by the Developer, the City may nevertheless accept from the Developer 
any payment or payments hereunder without in any way waiving the City’s right to exercise any of its rights 
and remedies provided for herein with respect to any such default or defaults of the Developer which were 
in existence at the time such payment or payments were accepted by the City. 
 
 Section 12.7. Trustee’s Exercise of the City’s Remedies.  Whenever any Event of Default has 
occurred and is continuing, the Trustee may, but except as otherwise provided in the Indenture shall not be 
obliged to, exercise any or all of the rights of the City under this Article, upon notice as required of the City 
unless the City has already given the required notice.  In addition, the Trustee shall have available to it all 
of the remedies prescribed by the Indenture. 
 
 

ARTICLE XIII 
 

ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLEASE 
 
 Section 13.1. Assignment; Sublease. 
 
 (a) The Developer may assign, transfer, encumber or dispose of this Lease or any interest 
herein or part hereof for any lawful purpose under the Act.  Except as otherwise provided in this Section, 
the Developer must obtain the City’s prior written consent before any such disposition, unless such 
disposition is to (i) any party related to the Developer or Charles Deutsch & Company or by one of the 
relationships described in Section 267(b) of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, 
(ii) any party controlled by or under common control with the Developer or Charles Deutsch & Company 
(c) any affiliated entity (including any joint venture) in which the Developer, Charles Deutsch & Company 
or Charles J. Deutsch has an ownership interest, directly or indirectly or (iii) the Lender.  Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, the Lender may sell at foreclosure sale or by deed in lieu of foreclosure, the interest of the 
Developer in this Lease. 
 
 (b) With respect to any assignment, the Developer or the Lender, as applicable, shall comply 
with the following conditions: 
 

(i) the Developer shall notify the City of the assignment in writing; 
 

(ii) such assignment shall be duly executed and acknowledged by the assignor and in 
proper form for recording; 
 
 (iii) such assignment shall include the entire then unexpired term of this Lease; and 

M - 7 - 65



 
 (iv) a duplicate original of such assignment shall be delivered to the City and the 
Trustee within 10 days after the execution thereof, together with an assumption agreement, duly 
executed and acknowledged by the assignee and in proper form for recording, by which the assignee 
shall assume all of the terms, covenants and conditions of this Lease on the part of the Developer 
to be performed and observed. 

 
 (c) Any assignee of all the rights of the Developer shall agree to be bound by the terms of this 
Lease, the Base Lease, the Development and Performance Agreement and any other documents related to 
the issuance of the Bonds.  Upon such assignment of all the rights of the Developer and agreement by the 
assignee to be bound by the terms of this Lease, the Base Lease, the Development and Performance 
Agreement and any other documents related to the Bonds, the Developer shall be released from and have 
no further obligations under this Lease, the Base Lease, the Development and Performance Agreement or 
any other document related to the issuance of the Bonds.   

 (d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Developer may, in its ordinary course of business, 
sublease all or portions of the Project to tenants without the prior consent of the City so long as the 
Developer  remains obligated to perform all of its obligations under this Lease, the Base Lease and the 
Development and Performance Agreement. 
  
 Section 13.2. Assignment of Revenues by City.  The City shall assign and pledge any rents, 
revenues and receipts receivable under this Lease, to the Trustee pursuant to the Indenture as security for 
payment of the principal of and interest and premium, if any, on the Bonds, and the Developer hereby 
consents to such pledge and assignment. 
 
 Section 13.3. Prohibition Against Mortgage of Project.  The City shall not mortgage its 
leasehold interest in the Project but may assign its interest in and pledge any moneys receivable under this 
Lease to the Trustee pursuant to the Indenture as security for payment of the principal of and interest on the 
Bonds. 
 
 Section 13.4. Restrictions on Sale or Encumbrance of Project by City.  During the Lease 
Term, the City agrees that, except to secure the Bonds to be issued pursuant to the Indenture and except to 
enforce its rights under Section 12.2(b), it will not sell, assign, encumber, mortgage, transfer or convey the 
Project or any interest therein. 
 
  

ARTICLE XIV 
 

AMENDMENTS, CHANGES AND MODIFICATIONS 
 
 Section 14.1. Amendments, Changes and Modifications.  Except as otherwise provided in this 
Lease or in the Indenture, subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds and before the payment in full of the 
Bonds (or provision for the payment thereof having been made in accordance with the provisions of the 
Indenture), this Lease may not be effectively amended, changed, modified, altered or terminated without 
the prior written consent of the Trustee, given in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture, which 
consent, however, shall not be unreasonably withheld, and the written consent of all of the Owners, the 
Lender and any other Financing Party. 
 
 

M - 7 - 66



ARTICLE XV 
 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 
 Section 15.1. Notices.  All notices, certificates or other communications required or desired to 
be given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed duly given when (a) mailed by registered or 
certified mail, postage prepaid, or (b) sent by overnight delivery or other delivery service which requires 
written acknowledgment of receipt by the addressee, addressed as follows: 
 

(i) To the City: 
 

City of University City 
6801 Delmar Boulevard 
University City, Missouri 63130 
Attn:  City Manager 
grose@ucitymo.org 
 
with copies to: 
 
John F. Mulligan, Jr. 
Attorney at Law 
6 Carrswold 
Clayton, Missouri 63105 
jfmulliganjr@aol.com 
 

(ii) To the Trustee: 
 

[*Trustee*] 
__________ 
__________ 
Attn:  Corporate Trust Department 
 

(iii) To the Developer: 
 

Delmar View Properties, LLC 
c/o Charles Deutsch & Company 
One McKnight Place 
St. Louis, Missouri  63124 
Attn: Charles J. Deutsch 
cdeutsch@gatecodevelopment.com 
 

 with a copy to: 
 

Spencer Fane LLP 
 1 N. Brentwood Boulevard, Suite 1000 
 St. Louis, Missouri 63105 
 Attn:  Robert Preston, Esq. 
 rpreston@spencerfane.com 

 

M - 7 - 67



(iv) To the Lender: 
 

    [*Lender*] 
    __________ 

__________ 
Attn:  __________ 

 
 All notices given by certified or registered mail as aforesaid shall be deemed fully given as of the 
date they are so mailed, provided, however, that notice to the Trustee shall be effective only upon receipt.  
A duplicate copy of each notice, certificate or other communication given hereunder by either the City or 
the Developer to the other shall also be given to the Trustee and the Lender.  The City, the Developer and 
the Trustee may from time to time designate, by notice given hereunder to the others of such parties, such 
other address to which subsequent notices, certificates or other communications shall be sent. 
 
 Section 15.2. City Shall Not Unreasonably Withhold Consents and Approvals.  Wherever in 
this Lease it is provided that the City shall, may or must give its approval or consent, or execute 
supplemental agreements or schedules, the City shall not unreasonably, arbitrarily or unnecessarily 
withhold or refuse to give such approvals or consents or refuse to execute such supplemental agreements 
or schedules; provided, however, that nothing in this Lease shall be interpreted to affect the City’s rights to 
approve or deny any additional project or matter unrelated to the Project subject to zoning, building permit 
or other regulatory approvals by the City. 
 
 Section 15.3. Net Lease.  The parties hereto agree (a) that this Lease shall be deemed and 
construed to be a net lease, (b) that the payments of Basic Rent are designed to provide the City and the 
Trustee funds adequate in amount to pay all principal of and interest accruing on the Bonds as the same 
becomes due and payable, (c) that to the extent that the payments of Basic Rent are not sufficient to provide 
the City and the Trustee with funds sufficient for the purposes aforesaid, the Developer shall be obligated 
to pay, and it does hereby covenant and agree to pay, upon demand therefor, as Additional Rent, such further 
sums of money, in cash, as may from time to time be required for such purposes, and (d) that if after the 
principal of and interest on the Bonds and all costs incident to the payment of the Bonds (including the fees 
and expenses of the City and the Trustee) have been paid in full the Trustee or the City holds unexpended 
funds received in accordance with the terms hereof such unexpended funds shall, after payment therefrom 
of all sums then due and owing by the Developer under the terms of this Lease, and except as otherwise 
provided in this Lease and the Indenture, become the absolute property of and be paid over forthwith to the 
Developer. 
 
 Section 15.4. Limitation on Liability of City.  No provision, covenant or agreement contained 
in this Lease, the Indenture or the Bonds, or any obligation herein or therein imposed upon the City, or the 
breach thereof, shall constitute or give rise to or impose upon the City a pecuniary liability or a charge upon 
the general credit or taxing powers of the City or the State of Missouri. 
 
 Section 15.5. Governing Law.  This Lease shall be construed in accordance with and governed 
by the laws of the State of Missouri. 
 
 Section 15.6. Binding Effect; Third-Party Beneficiary.  This Lease shall be binding upon and 
shall inure to the benefit of the City and the Developer and their respective successors and assigns.  The 
Lender shall be a third-party beneficiary of any provisions contained herein granting rights to the Lender.         
 

M - 7 - 68



 Section 15.7. Severability.  If for any reason any provision of this Lease shall be determined to 
be invalid or unenforceable, the validity and enforceability of the other provisions hereof shall not be 
affected thereby. 

 Section 15.8. Execution in Counterparts.  This Lease may be executed in several counterparts, 
each of which shall be deemed to be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same 
instrument. 
 
 Section 15.9. Electronic Transaction.  The parties agree that the transaction described herein 
may be conducted and related documents may be sent, received or stored by electronic means. Copies, 
telecopies, facsimiles, electronic files and other reproductions of original executed documents shall be 
deemed to be authentic and valid counterparts of such original documents for all purposes, including the 
filing of any claim, action or suit in the appropriate court of law. 
 

Section 15.10. City Consent.  Pursuant to the Ordinance, the City Manager is authorized to 
execute all documents on behalf of the City (including documents pertaining to the transfer of property or 
the financing or refinancing of the Project by the Developer) as may be required to carry out and comply 
with the intent of the Ordinance, the Indenture and this Lease.  The City Manager is also authorized, unless 
expressly prohibited herein, to grant on behalf of the City such consents, estoppels and waivers relating to 
the Bonds, the Indenture, the Base Lease, this Lease or the Development and Performance Agreement as 
may be requested during the term hereof; provided, such consents, estoppels and/or waivers shall not 
increase the principal amount of the Bonds, increase the term of this Lease or the tax exemption as provided 
for herein, waive an Event of Default or materially change the nature of the transaction unless otherwise 
approved by the City Council.  

 
Section 15.11. Subordination of Lease.  By its execution hereof, each of the Developer and the 

City hereby agree that this Lease shall be, is and shall continue to be, subordinate and inferior to the Fee 
Deed of Trust and the other Loan Documents until all [*Obligations*] (as such term is defined in the Fee 
Deed of Trust) have been indefeasibly paid and performed in full, including but not limited to, all future 
advances and future obligations secured by the Fee Deed of Trust and the other Loan Documents.  Such 
subordination shall be self-operative and shall be irrespective of the time, manner, order of recording or 
perfection or any other priority that ordinarily would result under the Uniform Commercial Code as enacted 
in each and every applicable jurisdiction, and as amended from time to time, and other applicable law for 
the order of granting or perfecting any security interests referred to herein. 

 
Section 15.12. Anti-Discrimination Against Israel Act.  Pursuant to Section 34.600 of the 

Revised Statutes of Missouri, the Developer certifies it is not currently engaged in and shall not, for the 
duration of this Lease, engage in a boycott of goods or services from (a) the State of Israel, (b) companies 
doing business in or with the State of Israel or authorized by, licensed by or organized under the laws of 
the State of Israel or (c) persons or entities doing business in the State of Israel. 

 
 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 
 
 

  

M - 7 - 69



 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Lease to be executed in their 
respective names by their duly authorized signatories, all as of the date first above written. 
 
 

CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 
 
 
 

By:       
Attest:        Gregory Rose, City Manager 
 
 
 
      
LaRette Reese, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[Lease Agreement] 

M - 7 - 70



DELMAR VIEW PROPERTIES, LLC,  
a Missouri limited liability company 
 

  
 

By:       
Name:       
Title:       

  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[Lease Agreement] 

M - 7 - 71



EXHIBIT A 
 

PROJECT SITE 
 
 

The land situated in the County of St. Louis, State of Missouri, and described as follows: 
 

M - 7 - 72



EXHIBIT B 
 

FORM OF REQUISITION CERTIFICATE 
 
 

Requisition No. _____ 
Date:  _______________ 

 
REQUISITION CERTIFICATE 

 
TO: [*TRUSTEE*], AS TRUSTEE UNDER A TRUST INDENTURE DATED AS OF September 

__, 2022, BETWEEN THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, AND THE 
TRUSTEE, AND THE LEASE AGREEMENT DATED AS OF September __, 2022, 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, AND DELMAR VIEW 
PROPERTIES, LLC 

 
 The undersigned Authorized Developer Representative hereby states and certifies that: 
 

1. A total of $__________ is requested to pay for Project Costs associated with the acquisition 
of the Project Site and the construction of the Project Improvements.  The total amount of this requisition 
and all prior requisitions are as follows: 
 

 
Date of Project Costs 

Amount Submitted in  
   this Requisition    

Requisitions Submitted to Date  
(Including this Requisition) 

 
   
   
   
   
   
   
   

 
 2. Said Project Costs shall be paid in whole from Bond proceeds in such amounts, to such 
payees and for such purposes as set forth on Schedule 1 hereto. 
 
 3. Each of the items for which payment is requested are or were desirable and appropriate in 
connection with the purchase and construction of the Project, have been properly incurred and are a proper 
charge against the Project Fund, and have been paid by the Developer or are justly due to the Persons whose 
names and addresses are stated on Schedule 1, and have not been the basis of any previous requisition from 
the Project Fund. 
 
 4. As of this date, except for the amounts referred to above, to the best of my knowledge there 
are no outstanding disputed statements for which payment is requested for labor, wages, materials, supplies 
or services in connection with the purchase and construction of the Project which, if unpaid, might become 
the basis of a vendors’, mechanics’, laborers’ or materialmen’s statutory or similar lien upon the Project or 
any part thereof. 
 

5. Capitalized words and terms used in this Requisition Certificate have the meanings given 
to such words and terms in Section 101 of the Trust Indenture. 

M - 7 - 73



 
DELMAR VIEW PROPERTIES, LLC 

 
 
 
      By:        
       Authorized Developer Representative 
 
 
Approved this _____ day of ____________________, 20___. 
 
 
      CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 
 
 
 
      By:        
       Gregory Rose, City Manager 

M - 7 - 74



SCHEDULE 1 TO REQUISITION CERTIFICATE 
 

PROJECT COSTS 
 

 
Payee and Address Description Amount 

   
   
   

 
 
 
 

M - 7 - 75



M - 7 - 76



EXHIBIT D 
 

TRUST INDENTURE 
 
 

(On file in the office of the City Clerk) 
 

M - 7 - 77



M - 7 - 78



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, 

 
 

AND 
 
 

[*TRUSTEE*], 
as Trustee 

 
 
 

________________ 
 

TRUST INDENTURE 
 

Dated as of September __, 2022 
________________ 

 
 

Relating to: 
 

$90,000,000 
(Aggregate Maximum Principal Amount) 

City of University City, Missouri 
Taxable Industrial Revenue Bonds 

(Delmar Boulevard Redevelopment Area Project) 
Series 2022 

 
 
 
 
 

M - 7 - 79



TRUST INDENTURE 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

Page 
 
Parties  ........................................................................................................................................... 1 
Recitals  ........................................................................................................................................... 1 
Granting Clauses .......................................................................................................................................... 2 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 101. Definitions of Words and Terms ........................................................................................ 3 
Section 102. Rules of Interpretation ....................................................................................................... 8 
Section 103. Incorporation ...................................................................................................................... 9 

ARTICLE II 

THE BONDS 

Section 201. Title and Amount of Bonds ................................................................................................ 9 
Section 202. Nature of Obligation .......................................................................................................... 9 
Section 203. Denomination, Number and Dating of the Bonds............................................................ 10 
Section 204. Method and Place of Payment of Bonds .......................................................................... 10 
Section 205. Execution and Authentication of Bonds .......................................................................... 11 
Section 206. Registration, Transfer and Exchange of Bonds ................................................................ 11 
Section 207. Persons Deemed Owners of Bonds .................................................................................. 12 
Section 208. Authorization of the Bonds .............................................................................................. 12 
Section 209. Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Bonds .................................................................... 14 
Section 210. Cancellation and Destruction of Bonds Upon Payment ................................................... 14 

ARTICLE III 

REDEMPTION OF BONDS 

Section 301. Redemption of Bonds ...................................................................................................... 14 
Section 302. Effect of Call for Redemption .......................................................................................... 15 
Section 303. Notice of Redemption ...................................................................................................... 15 

ARTICLE IV 

FORM OF BONDS 

Section 401. Form Generally ................................................................................................................ 15 

M - 7 - 80



ARTICLE V 

CUSTODY AND APPLICATION OF BOND PROCEEDS 

Section 501. Creation of Funds ............................................................................................................. 16 
Section 502. Deposits into the Project Fund ......................................................................................... 16 
Section 503. Disbursements from the Project Fund .............................................................................. 16 
Section 504. Completion of the Project ................................................................................................ 16 
Section 505. Disposition Upon Acceleration ........................................................................................ 17 

ARTICLE VI 

REVENUES AND FUNDS 

Section 601. Deposits into the Bond Fund............................................................................................ 17 
Section 602. Application of Moneys in the Bond Fund ........................................................................ 17 
Section 603. Payments Due on Days Other than Business Days .......................................................... 18 
Section 604. Nonpresentment of Bonds................................................................................................ 18 

ARTICLE VII 

SECURITY FOR DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENT OF FUNDS 

Section 701. Moneys to be Held in Trust .............................................................................................. 18 
Section 702. Investment of Moneys in Project Fund and Bond Fund .................................................. 18 
Section 703. Record Keeping ............................................................................................................... 19 

ARTICLE VIII 

GENERAL COVENANTS AND PROVISIONS 

Section 801. Payment of Principal and Interest .................................................................................... 19 
Section 802. Authority to Execute Indenture and Issue Bonds ............................................................. 19 
Section 803. Performance of Covenants ............................................................................................... 19 
Section 804. Instruments of Further Assurance .................................................................................... 20 
Section 805. Recordings and Filings .................................................................................................... 20 
Section 806. Inspection of Project Books ............................................................................................. 20 
Section 807. Enforcement of Rights Under the Lease .......................................................................... 20 

ARTICLE IX 

DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

Section 901. Events of Default; Notice; Opportunity to Cure .............................................................. 20 
Section 902. Acceleration of Maturity in Event of Default .................................................................. 21 
Section 903. Surrender of Possession of Trust Estate; Rights and Duties of Trustee in Possession ..... 21 
Section 904. Appointment of Receivers in Event of Default ................................................................ 22 
Section 905. Exercise of Remedies by the Trustee ............................................................................... 22 
Section 906. Limitation on Exercise of Remedies by Owners ............................................................. 22 
Section 907. Right of Owners to Direct Proceedings ........................................................................... 23 
Section 908. Application of Moneys in Event of Default ..................................................................... 23 

M - 7 - 81



Section 909. Remedies Cumulative ...................................................................................................... 24 
Section 910. Waivers of Events of Default ........................................................................................... 25 

ARTICLE X 

THE TRUSTEE 

Section 1001. Acceptance of the Trusts .................................................................................................. 25 
Section 1002. Fees, Charges and Expenses of the Trustee ..................................................................... 28 
Section 1003. Notice to Owners if Default Occurs ................................................................................. 28 
Section 1004. Intervention by the Trustee .............................................................................................. 28 
Section 1005. Successor Trustee Upon Merger, Consolidation or Sale .................................................. 28 
Section 1006. Resignation of Trustee ..................................................................................................... 29 
Section 1007. Removal of Trustee .......................................................................................................... 29 
Section 1008. Appointment of Successor Trustee .................................................................................. 29 
Section 1009. Vesting of Trusts in Successor Trustee ............................................................................. 29 
Section 1010. Right of Trustee to Pay Taxes and Other Charges ........................................................... 30 
Section 1011. Trust Estate May be Vested in Co-Trustee ....................................................................... 30 
Section 1012. Accounting ....................................................................................................................... 30 
Section 1013. Performance of Duties Under the Lease .......................................................................... 31 

ARTICLE XI 

SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES 

Section 1101. Supplemental Indentures Not Requiring Consent of Owners .......................................... 31 
Section 1102. Supplemental Indentures Requiring Consent of Owners ................................................. 31 
Section 1103. Developer’s Consent to Supplemental Indentures ........................................................... 32 
Section 1104. Opinion of Counsel .......................................................................................................... 32 

ARTICLE XII 

SUPPLEMENTAL LEASES 

Section 1201. Supplemental Leases Not Requiring Consent of Owners ................................................ 32 
Section 1202. Supplemental Leases Requiring Consent of Owners ....................................................... 33 
Section 1203. Opinion of Counsel .......................................................................................................... 33 

ARTICLE XIII 

SATISFACTION AND DISCHARGE OF INDENTURE 

Section 1301. Satisfaction and Discharge of this Indenture ................................................................... 33 
Section 1302. Bonds Deemed to be Paid ................................................................................................ 34 

ARTICLE XIV 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

Section 1401. Consents and Other Instruments by Owners .................................................................... 34 
Section 1402. Limitation of Rights Under this Indenture ....................................................................... 35 

M - 7 - 82



Section 1403. Rights of Lender .............................................................................................................. 35 
Section 1404. Notices ............................................................................................................................. 35 
Section 1405. Severability ...................................................................................................................... 36 
Section 1406. Execution in Counterparts................................................................................................ 37 
Section 1407. Governing Law ................................................................................................................ 37 
Section 1408. Electronic Transaction ..................................................................................................... 37 
Section 1409. City Consent .................................................................................................................... 37 
Section 1410. Anti-Discrimination Against Israel Act ........................................................................... 37 

Signature and Seals .................................................................................................................................... 38 

Exhibit A - Project Site 
Exhibit B - Form of Bonds 
Exhibit C - Form of Representation Letter 

 
 

M - 7 - 83



TRUST INDENTURE 
 
 THIS TRUST INDENTURE dated as of September __, 2022 (this “Indenture”), between the 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, a home-rule city organized and existing under its charter 
and the laws of the State of Missouri (the “City”), and [*TRUSTEE*], a national banking association duly 
organized and existing and authorized to accept and execute trusts of the character herein set forth under 
the laws of the United States of America, with a corporate trust office located in St. Louis, Missouri, as 
Trustee (the “Trustee”); 
 

RECITALS: 
 

 1. The City is authorized and empowered pursuant to the provisions of Article VI, Section 
27(b) of the Missouri Constitution and Sections 100.010 through 100.200 of the Revised Statutes of 
Missouri (collectively, the “Act”) and the City Charter to purchase, construct, extend and improve certain 
projects (as defined in the Act) and to issue industrial development revenue bonds for the purpose of 
providing funds to pay the costs of such projects and to lease or otherwise dispose of such projects to private 
persons or corporations for manufacturing, commercial, office industry, warehousing and industrial 
development purposes upon such terms and conditions as the City deems advisable. Under Attorney 
General Opinion 180-81, the Missouri Attorney General determined that the construction and rental of 
multi-family apartments for profit is a commercial enterprise.   
 
 2. Pursuant to the Act, the City Council passed Ordinance No. ____ on _________, 2022 (the 
“Ordinance”), authorizing the City to issue its Taxable Industrial Revenue Bonds (Delmar Boulevard 
Redevelopment Area Project), Series 2022, in the maximum principal amount of $90,000,000 (the 
“Bonds”), for the purposes of (a) acquiring a leasehold interest in certain real property located south of 
Delmar Boulevard, between McKnight Place and Kingdel Drive in the City (as legally described on Exhibit 
A, the “Project Site”) and (b) constructing thereon a development consisting of approximately 262 
residential apartments, 1,300 square feet of commercial space, and related parking and infrastructure (the 
“Project Improvements”).   
 

3. Pursuant to the Act and the Ordinance, the City is authorized to (a) enter into this Indenture 
with the Trustee for the purpose of issuing and securing the Bonds, as herein provided, (b) enter into a Base 
Lease of the same date herewith (the “Base Lease”) with [*Delmar View Properties, LLC*] (the 
“Developer”), under which the City will acquire a leasehold interest in the Project Site and (c) enter into a 
Lease Agreement of the same date herewith (the “Lease”) with the Developer under which the City will, or 
will cause the Developer to, construct the Project Improvements and lease the Project Improvements, as 
they may at any time exist, together with the City’s leasehold interest in the Project Site (collectively, the 
“Project”), to the Developer in consideration of rental payments by the Developer that will be sufficient to 
pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds.   

 
4. All things necessary to make the Bonds, when authenticated by the Trustee and issued as 

provided in this Indenture, the valid and legally binding obligations of the City, and to constitute this 
Indenture a valid and legally binding pledge and assignment of the Trust Estate (as defined herein) herein 
made for the security of the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds, have been done and 
performed, and the execution and delivery of this Indenture and the execution and issuance of the Bonds, 
subject to the terms hereof, have in all respects been duly authorized. 

 

M - 7 - 84



 NOW, THEREFORE, THIS TRUST INDENTURE WITNESSETH: 
 

GRANTING CLAUSES 
 
 That the City, in consideration of the premises, the acceptance by the Trustee of the trusts hereby 
created, the purchase and acceptance of the Bonds by the Owners (as defined herein) thereof, and of other 
good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, and in order to secure the 
payment of the principal of and interest on all of the Bonds issued and Outstanding (as defined herein) 
under this Indenture from time to time according to their tenor and effect, and to secure the performance 
and observance by the City of all the covenants, agreements and conditions herein and in the Bonds 
contained, does hereby pledge and assign to the Trustee and its successors and assigns forever, the property 
described in paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) below (said property being herein referred to as the “Trust Estate”), 
to-wit: 
 

(a) All right, title and interest of the City in and to the Project together with the 
tenements, hereditaments, appurtenances, rights, easements, privileges and immunities thereunto 
belonging or appertaining and, to the extent permissible, all permits, certificates, approvals and 
authorizations; 
 

(b) All right, title and interest of the City in, to and under the Lease (excluding the 
Unassigned Rights, as defined herein), and all rents, revenues and receipts derived by the City from 
the Project including, without limitation, all rentals and other amounts to be received by the City 
and paid by the Developer under and pursuant to and subject to the provisions of the Lease; and 
 

(c) All moneys and securities from time to time held by or now or hereafter required 
to be paid to the Trustee under the terms of this Indenture, and any and all other real or personal 
property of every kind and nature from time to time hereafter, by delivery or by writing of any kind, 
pledged, assigned or transferred as and for additional security hereunder by the City or by anyone 
in its behalf, or with its written consent, to the Trustee, which is hereby authorized to receive any 
and all such property at any and all times and to hold and apply the same subject to the terms hereof. 

 
 TO HAVE AND TO HOLD, all and singular, the Trust Estate with all rights and privileges hereby 
pledged and assigned or agreed or intended so to be, to the Trustee and its successors and assigns forever; 
 
 IN TRUST NEVERTHELESS, upon the terms and subject to the conditions herein set forth, for 
the equal and proportionate benefit, protection and security of all Owners from time to time of the Bonds 
Outstanding under this Indenture, without preference, priority or distinction as to lien or otherwise of any 
of the Bonds over any other of the Bonds except as expressly provided in or permitted by this Indenture; 
 
 PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that if the City pays, or causes to be paid, the principal of and interest 
on the Bonds, at the time and in the manner mentioned in the Bonds, according to the true intent and 
meaning thereof, or provides for the payment thereof (as provided in Article XIII), and pays or causes to 
be paid to the Trustee all other sums of money due or to become due to it in accordance with the terms and 
provisions hereof, then upon such final payments this Indenture and the rights hereby granted shall cease, 
determine and be void; otherwise, this Indenture shall be and remain in full force and effect. 
 
 THIS INDENTURE FURTHER WITNESSETH, and it is hereby expressly declared, 
covenanted and agreed by and between the parties hereto, that all Bonds issued and secured hereunder are 
to be issued, authenticated and delivered and that all the Trust Estate is to be held and applied under, upon 

M - 7 - 85



and subject to the terms, conditions, stipulations, covenants, agreements, trusts, uses and purposes as 
hereinafter expressed, and the City does hereby agree and covenant with the Trustee and with the respective 
Owners from time to time, as follows: 
 
 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS 
 
 Section 101. Definitions of Words and Terms.  In addition to words and terms defined in the 
Lease, which definitions are hereby deemed to be incorporated by reference, and any words and terms 
defined elsewhere in this Indenture, the following words and terms as used in this Indenture shall have the 
following meanings, unless some other meaning is plainly intended: 
 

“Act” means, collectively, Article VI, Section 27(b) of the Missouri Constitution and Sections 
100.010 through 100.200 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri. 
 
 “Additional Rent” means the additional rental described in Section 5.2 of the Lease. 

 
“Approved Investor” means (a) the Developer, (b) an affiliate of the Developer, (c) the Lender, 

(d) a “qualified institutional buyer” under Rule 144A promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, or 
(e) any general business corporation or enterprise with total assets in excess of $100,000,000. 

 
 “Authorized City Representative” means the City Manager or such other Person at the time 
designated to act on behalf of the City as evidenced by written certificate furnished to the Developer and 
the Trustee containing the specimen signature of such Person and signed on behalf of the City by its City 
Manager.  Such certificate may designate an alternate or alternates, each of whom may perform all duties 
of the Authorized City Representative. 

  
“Authorized Developer Representative” means the Person at the time designated to act on behalf 

of the Developer as evidenced by written certificate furnished to the City and the Trustee containing the 
specimen signature of such Person and signed on behalf of the Developer by an authorized officer of the 
Developer.  Such certificate may designate an alternate or alternates, each of whom may perform all duties 
of the Authorized Developer Representative. 
 
 “Base Lease” means the Base Lease dated as of September __, 2022 between the City and the 
Developer, as may be amended from time to time. 

  
“Basic Rent” means the rental described in Section 5.1 of the Lease. 
 
“Bond” or “Bonds” means the Taxable Industrial Revenue Bonds (Delmar Boulevard 

Redevelopment Area Project), Series 2022, in the maximum aggregate principal amount of $90,000,000, 
issued, authenticated and delivered under and pursuant to this Indenture. 
 

“Bond Fund” means the “City of University City, Missouri, Series 2022 Bond Fund – Delmar 
Boulevard Redevelopment Area” created in Section 501. 
 

“Bond Purchase Agreement” means the agreement by that name with respect to the Bonds by 
and between the City and the Purchaser. 

M - 7 - 86



“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday or Sunday or legal holiday or a day on which 
banks located in the city in which the principal corporate trust office or the principal payment office of the 
Trustee are required or authorized by law to remain closed. 

 
“City” means the City of University City, Missouri, a home-rule city organized and existing under 

its charter and the laws of the State. 
  
“Closing Date” means the date identified in the Bond Purchase Agreement for the initial issuance 

and delivery of the Bonds. 
 
“Closing Price” means the amount specified in writing by the Purchaser and agreed to by the City 

as the amount required to pay for the initial issuance of the Bonds on the Closing Date, which amount shall 
be equal to (a) any Project Costs spent by the Developer from its own funds before the Closing Date, and, 
at the Developer’s option, the costs of issuance of the Bonds if such costs are not paid for from Bond 
proceeds, or (b) the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds, if all of the proceeds of the Bonds are being 
transferred to the Trustee on the Closing Date. 

 
“Completion Date” means the date of execution of the certificate required by Section 4.5 of the 

Lease and Section 504 hereof, which shall be deemed executed and filed on December 31, 2025 if not 
actually executed and filed by December 31, 2025, except as otherwise provided in Section 4.5 of the Lease, 
including an extension to December 31, 2026 in the event of a Permitted Excuse. 

  
“Cumulative Outstanding Principal Amount” means the aggregate principal amount of all 

Bonds Outstanding under the provisions of this Indenture, not to exceed $90,000,000, as reflected in the 
records maintained by the Trustee as provided in the Bonds and this Indenture. 

 
“Developer” means Delmar View Properties, LLC and its successors or assigns. 
 
“Development and Performance Agreement” means the Development and Performance 

Agreement dated as of September __, 2022 between the City and the Developer. 
 
“Event of Default” means, with respect to this Indenture, any Event of Default as defined in 

Section 901 hereof and, with respect to the Lease, any Event of Default as described in Section 12.1 of the 
Lease. 
 

“Fee Deed of Trust” means the Deed of Trust executed by the Developer for the benefit of the 
Lender recorded against the Project Site prior to the City’s acquisition of the Project Site. 

 
“Financing Document” means any loan agreement, credit agreement, mortgage, participation 

agreement, lease agreement, sublease, ground lease, hedging agreement or other document related to the 
Project and executed by or on behalf of a Financing Party, including, without limitation, any loan 
agreement, credit agreement, mortgage or other document executed in connection with the loans made to 
the Developer by the Lender. 
 

“Financing Party” means any Person providing debt, lease or equity financing (including equity 
contributions or commitments) or hedging arrangements, or any renewal, extension or refinancing of any 
such financing or hedging arrangements, or any guarantee, insurance, letters of credit or credit support for 
or in connection with such financing or hedging arrangements, in connection with the development, 
construction, ownership, lease, operation or maintenance of the Project or interests or rights in the Lease, 

M - 7 - 87



or any part thereof, including any trustee or agent acting on any such Person’s behalf.  The Lender is a 
Financing Party. 
 

“Full Insurable Value” means the reasonable replacement cost of the Project less physical 
depreciation and exclusive of land, excavations, footings, foundation and parking lots as determined at the 
expense of the Developer from time to time. 

 
“Government Securities” means (a) noncallable, nonredeemable direct obligations of the United 

States of America, and (b) obligations the timely payment of the principal of, and interest on, which is fully 
and unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America, and (c) securities or receipts evidencing 
ownership interests in obligations or specified portions (such as principal or interest) of obligations 
described in (a) or (b). 
 

“Indenture” means this Trust Indenture, as from time to time amended and supplemented by 
Supplemental Indentures in accordance with the provisions of Article XI. 
 

“Investment Securities” means any of the following securities: 
 

(a) Government Securities; 
 

(b) bonds, notes or other obligations of the State or any political subdivision of the 
State, which at the time of their purchase are rated in either of the two highest rating categories by 
a nationally recognized rating service; 

 
(c) obligations of Fannie Mae, the Government National Mortgage Association, the 

Federal Financing Bank, the Federal Intermediate Credit Corporation, Federal Banks for 
Cooperatives, Federal Land Banks, Federal Home Loan Banks, Farmers Home Administration and 
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation;  

 
(d) repurchase agreements with any bank, bank holding company, savings and loan 

association, trust company, or other financial institution organized under the laws of the United 
States or any state, that are continuously and fully secured by any one or more of the securities 
described in clause (a), (b) or (c) above and that have a market value at all times at least equal to 
the principal amount of such repurchase agreement and are held in a custodial or trust account; 

 
(e) certificates of deposit, time deposits or demand deposits, whether negotiable or 

nonnegotiable, issued by any bank or trust company organized under the laws of the United States 
or any state, provided that such certificates of deposit, time deposits or demand deposits shall be 
either (1) continuously and fully insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or 
(2) continuously and fully collateralized by such securities as are described above in clauses 
(a) through (d), inclusive, which shall have a market value at all times at least equal to the principal 
amount of such certificates of deposit, time deposits or demand deposits; 

 
(f) money market funds registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, whose 

shares are registered under the Securities Act of 1933, and which are rated in any of the three 
highest rating categories by a nationally recognized rating service; or 
 

(g) any other investment approved in writing by the Authorized City Representative 
and the Owners of all of the Outstanding Bonds. 

M - 7 - 88



 “Lease” means the Lease Agreement dated as of September __, 2022 between the City, as lessor, 
and the Developer, as lessee, as from time to time amended and supplemented by Supplemental Leases in 
accordance with the provisions thereof and of Article XII. 
 

“Lease Term” means the period from the effective date of the Lease until the expiration thereof 
pursuant to Section 3.2 of the Lease. 

 
“Leasehold Mortgage” means any leasehold mortgage, leasehold deed of trust, assignment of 

rents and leases or other agreement relating to the Project permitted pursuant to the provisions of 
Section 10.4 of the Lease and subject to the express, prior written consent of the Lender. 

 
“Lender” means [*Lender*] and its successors or assigns.  
 
“Net Proceeds” means, when used with respect to any insurance or condemnation award with 

respect to the Project, the gross proceeds from the insurance or condemnation award remaining after 
payment of all expenses (including attorneys’ fees, the Trustee’s fees and any extraordinary expenses of 
the City and the Trustee) incurred in the collection of such gross proceeds. 
 

“Outstanding” means, when used with reference to Bonds, as of a particular date, all Bonds 
theretofore authenticated and delivered, except: 
 

(a) Bonds previously canceled by the Trustee or delivered to the Trustee for 
cancellation; 

 
(b) Bonds deemed to be paid in accordance with the provisions of Section 1302; and 

 
(c) Bonds in exchange for or in lieu of which other Bonds have been authenticated 

and delivered pursuant to this Indenture. 
 

“Owner” means the registered owner of any Bond as recorded on the bond registration records 
maintained by the Trustee, and for any actions requiring the consent of an Owner hereunder, the Lender. 

 
“Paying Agent” means the Trustee and any other bank or trust company designated by this 

Indenture as paying agent for the Bonds at which the principal of or interest on the Bonds shall be payable. 
 
 “Payment Date” means the date on which the principal of or interest on any Bond, whether at the 
stated maturity thereof or the redemption date thereof, is payable, which shall be December 1 of each year 
that the Bonds are Outstanding. 

 
“Permitted Encumbrances” means, as of any particular time, as the same may encumber the 

Project Site, (a) liens for ad valorem taxes and special assessments not then delinquent, (b) this Indenture, 
the Base Lease, the Lease and the Development and Performance Agreement, (c) utility, access and other 
easements and rights-of-way, mineral rights, restrictions, exceptions and encumbrances that will not 
materially interfere with or impair the operations being conducted on the Project Site or easements granted 
to the City, (d) such minor defects, irregularities, encumbrances, easements, rights-of-way and clouds on 
title as normally exist with respect to properties similar in character to the Project Site and as do not in the 
aggregate materially impair the property affected thereby for the purpose for which it was acquired or is 
held by the City, (e) liens, security interests or encumbrances granted pursuant to the Lease, any Leasehold 
Mortgage, the Fee Deed of Trust or any other Financing Documents, and (f) such exceptions to title set 

M - 7 - 89



forth in the [*Pro Forma Owner’s Policy of Title Insurance, File No. __________,*] prepared by [*Title 
Company*].  
 

“Person” means an individual, partnership, corporation, business trust, joint stock company, 
limited liability company, bank, insurance company, unincorporated association, joint venture or other 
entity of whatever nature. 

 
“Plans and Specifications” means the plans and specifications prepared for and showing the 

Project, as amended by the Developer from time to time before the Completion Date, the same being on 
file at the principal office of the Developer, and which shall be available for reasonable inspection during 
normal business hours and upon not less than one Business Day’s prior notice by the City, the Trustee and 
their duly appointed representatives. 

  
“Project” means, collectively, the Project Site and the Project Improvements as they may at any 

time exist. 
 

“Project Costs” means all costs of purchasing and constructing the Project, including the 
following: 
 

(a) all costs and expenses necessary or incident to the acquisition, construction and 
improvement of the Project; 

 
(b) fees and expenses of architects, appraisers, surveyors and engineers for estimates, 

surveys, soil borings and soil tests and other preliminary investigations and items necessary to the 
commencement of construction, preparation of plans, drawings and specifications and supervision 
of construction, as well as for the performance of all other duties of professionals and consultants 
in relation to the purchase and construction of the Project or the issuance of the Bonds; 

 
(c) all costs and expenses of every nature incurred in purchasing and constructing the 

Project Improvements and otherwise improving the Project Site, including the actual cost of labor 
and materials as payable to contractors, builders and materialmen in connection with the purchase 
and construction of the Project; 

 
(d) interest accruing on the Bonds during the construction period of the Project; 

 
(e) the cost of title insurance policies and the cost of any other insurance maintained 

during the period of construction of the Project in accordance with Article VII of the Lease; 
 

(f) reasonable expenses of administration, supervision and inspection properly 
chargeable to the Project, legal fees and expenses, fees and expenses of accountants and other 
consultants, publication and printing expenses, and initial fees and expenses of the Trustee to the 
extent that said fees and expenses are necessary or incident to the issuance and sale of the Bonds 
or the purchase and construction of the Project; 

 
(g) all other items of expense not elsewhere specified in this definition as may be 

necessary or incident to: (1) the authorization, issuance and sale of the Bonds, including costs of 
issuance of the Bonds; (2) the purchase and construction of the Project; and (3) the financing 
thereof; and 

M - 7 - 90



(h) reimbursement to the Developer or those acting for it for any of the above 
enumerated costs and expenses incurred and paid by them before or after the execution of the Lease. 
 
“Project Fund” means the “City of University City, Missouri, Series 2022 Project Fund – Delmar 

Boulevard Redevelopment Area” created in Section 501. 
 

“Project Improvements” means a development consisting of approximately 262 residential 
apartments, 1,300 square feet of commercial space, related parking and infrastructure, and any other 
improvements located on the Project Site, to the extent paid for in whole with Bond proceeds, and all 
additions, alterations, modifications and improvements thereof made pursuant to the Lease. 

 
“Project Site” means all of the real estate as described in Exhibit A attached hereto and 

incorporated herein by reference. 
 

“Purchaser” means the entity identified in the Bond Purchase Agreement as the purchaser of the 
Bonds.  

 
“State” means the State of Missouri. 
 
“Supplemental Indenture” means any indenture supplemental or amendatory to this Indenture 

entered into by the City and the Trustee pursuant to Article XI. 
 

“Supplemental Lease” means any supplement or amendment to the Lease entered into pursuant 
to Article XII. 

 
 “Trust Estate” means the Trust Estate described in the Granting Clauses of this Indenture. 

 
“Trustee” means [*Trustee*], a national banking association duly organized and existing and 

authorized to accept and execute trusts of the character herein set forth under the laws of the United States 
of America, and its successor or successors and any other corporation which at the time may be substituted 
in its place pursuant to and at the time serving as Trustee under this Indenture. 

 
“Unassigned Rights” means the City’s rights under the Lease to receive moneys for its own 

account and the City’s rights to indemnification or to be protected from liabilities by insurance policies 
required by the Lease, as provided in the Lease. 
 
 Section 102. Rules of Interpretation. 
 

(a) Words of the masculine gender shall be deemed and construed to include correlative words 
of the feminine and neuter genders.  

 
(b) Unless the context otherwise indicates, words importing the singular number shall include 

the plural and vice versa, and words importing Persons shall include firms, associations and corporations, 
including governmental entities, as well as natural Persons. 
 

(c) Wherever in this Indenture it is provided that either party shall or will make any payment 
or perform or refrain from performing any act or obligation, each such provision shall, even though not so 
expressed, be construed as an express covenant to make such payment or to perform, or not to perform, as 
the case may be, such act or obligation. 

M - 7 - 91



 
(d) All references in this instrument to designated “Articles,” “Sections” and other 

subdivisions are, unless otherwise specified, to the designated Articles, Sections and other subdivisions of 
this instrument as originally executed.  The words “herein,” “hereof,” “hereunder” and other words of 
similar import refer to this Indenture as a whole and not to any particular Article, Section or other 
subdivision. 
 

(e) The Table of Contents and the Article and Section headings of this Indenture shall not be 
treated as a part of this Indenture or as affecting the true meaning of the provisions hereof. 
 

(f) Whenever an item or items are listed after the word “including,” such listing is not intended 
to be a listing that excludes items not listed. 

 
(g) Whenever the City is required to “cooperate,” “cooperate fully” or “act promptly” on a 

matter set forth in this Indenture, the City’s cooperation shall be deemed to be reasonable cooperation and 
the City’s promptness shall be deemed to be reasonable promptness; provided, however, the City shall not 
be required to incur any costs, expenses, obligations or liabilities in providing such reasonable cooperation 
and promptness.  
 

Section 103. Incorporation.   
 
(a)  The Recitals hereof are all incorporated into this Indenture as if fully and completely set 

out in this Section.  
 
(b)  The Exhibits to this Indenture are hereby incorporated into and made a part of this 

Indenture. 
 

 
ARTICLE II 

 
THE BONDS 

 
Section 201. Title and Amount of Bonds.  No Bonds may be issued under this Indenture except 

in accordance with the provisions of this Article.  The Bonds authorized to be issued under this Indenture 
shall be designated as the “City of University City, Missouri, Taxable Industrial Revenue Bonds (Delmar 
Boulevard Redevelopment Area Project), Series 2022.”  The maximum total principal amount of Bonds 
that may be issued hereunder is hereby expressly limited to $90,000,000. 
 

Section 202. Nature of Obligation.  The Bonds and the interest thereon shall be special 
obligations of the City payable solely out of the rents, revenues and receipts derived by the City from the 
Project and the Lease, and not from any other fund or source of the City.  The Bonds are secured by a pledge 
and assignment of the Trust Estate to the Trustee in favor of the Owners, as provided in this Indenture.  The 
Bonds and the interest thereon shall not constitute general obligations of the City, the State or any other 
political subdivision thereof, and none of the City, the State or other political subdivision thereof shall be 
liable thereon, and the Bonds shall not constitute an indebtedness within the meaning of any constitutional, 
statutory or charter debt limitation or restriction, and are not payable in any manner by taxation. 
 

M - 7 - 92



Section 203. Denomination, Number and Dating of the Bonds. 
 

(a) The Bonds shall be issuable in the form of one fully-registered Bond, in substantially the 
form set forth in Exhibit B attached hereto, in the denomination of $0.01 or any multiple thereof. 
 

(b) The Bonds shall be dated by the Trustee as of the date of initial delivery thereof as provided 
herein.  If the Bonds are at any time thereafter transferred, any replacement Bonds shall be dated as of the 
date of authentication thereof. 
 

Section 204. Method and Place of Payment of Bonds. 
 

(a) The principal of and interest on the Bonds shall be payable in any coin or currency of the 
United States of America which on the respective dates of payment thereof is legal tender for payment of 
public and private debts. 
 

(b) Payment of the principal of the Bonds shall be made upon the presentation and surrender 
of such Bonds at the principal payment office of any Paying Agent named in the Bonds.  The payment of 
principal of the Bonds shall be noted on the Bonds on Schedule I thereto and the registration books 
maintained by the Trustee pursuant to Section 206.  Payment of the interest on the Bonds shall be made by 
the Trustee on each Payment Date to the Person appearing on the registration books of the Trustee 
hereinafter provided for as the Owner thereof on the fifteenth day (whether or not a Business Day) of the 
calendar month next preceding such Payment Date by check or draft mailed to such Owner at such Owner’s 
address as it appears on such registration books. 

 
(c) The Bonds and the original Schedule I thereto shall be held by the Trustee in trust, unless 

otherwise directed in writing by the Owner.  If the Bonds are held by the Trustee, the Trustee shall, on each 
Payment Date, send a revised copy of Schedule I via facsimile or other electronic means to the Owner, the 
Developer (if not the Owner) and the City.  Absent manifest error, the amounts shown on Schedule I as 
noted by the Trustee shall be conclusive evidence of the principal amount paid on the Bonds. 

 
(d) If there is one Owner of the Bonds, the Trustee is authorized to make the final or any 

interim payments of principal on such Bonds by internal bank transfer or by electronic transfer to an account 
at a commercial bank or savings institution designated in writing by such Owner and located in the United 
States.  The Trustee is also authorized to make interest payments on such Bonds by internal bank transfer 
or by electronic transfer to an account at a commercial bank or savings institution designated by such Owner 
and located in the United States. 

 
(e) If the Developer is the sole Owner of the Bonds, then the Developer may set-off its 

obligation to the City as lessee to pay Basic Rent under the Lease against the City’s obligations to the 
Developer as the bondholder to pay principal of and interest on the Bonds under this Indenture. The Trustee 
may conclusively rely on the absence of any notice from the Developer to the contrary as evidence that 
such set-off has occurred and that pursuant to the set-off, the Developer is deemed to have paid its obligation 
to the City as lessee to pay Basic Rent under the Lease and the City is deemed to have paid its obligation 
to the Developer as bondholder to pay principal of and interest on the Bonds under this Indenture.  On the 
final Payment Date, the Developer may deliver to the Trustee for cancellation the Bonds and the Developer 
shall receive a credit against the Basic Rent payable by the Developer under Section 5.1 of the Lease in an 
amount equal to the remaining principal of the Bonds so tendered for cancellation plus accrued interest 
thereon. 
 

M - 7 - 93



Section 205. Execution and Authentication of Bonds. 
 

(a) The Bonds shall be executed on behalf of the City by the manual or facsimile signature of 
its City Manager and attested by the manual or facsimile signature of its City Clerk, and shall have the 
corporate seal of the City affixed thereto or imprinted thereon.  If any officer whose signature or facsimile 
thereof appears on the Bonds ceases to be such officer before the delivery of such Bonds, such signature or 
facsimile thereof shall nevertheless be valid and sufficient for all purposes, the same as if such Person had 
remained in office until delivery.  Any Bond may be signed by such Persons as at the actual time of the 
execution of such Bond are the proper officers to sign such Bond although at the date of such Bond such 
Persons may not have been such officers. 
 

(b) The Bonds shall have endorsed thereon a Certificate of Authentication substantially in the 
form set forth in Exhibit B, which shall be manually executed by the Trustee.  No Bond shall be entitled to 
any security or benefit under this Indenture or shall be valid or obligatory for any purposes until such 
Certificate of Authentication has been duly executed by the Trustee.  The executed Certificate of 
Authentication upon any Bond shall be conclusive evidence that such Bond has been duly authenticated 
and delivered under this Indenture.  The Certificate of Authentication on any Bond shall be deemed to have 
been duly executed if signed by any authorized signatory of the Trustee. 
 

Section 206. Registration, Transfer and Exchange of Bonds. 
 

(a) The Trustee shall keep books for the registration and transfer of Bonds as provided in this 
Indenture. 
 

(b) The Bonds may be transferred to an Approved Investor only upon the books kept for the 
registration and transfer of Bonds upon surrender thereof to the Trustee duly endorsed for transfer or 
accompanied by an assignment duly executed by the Owner or such Owner’s attorney or legal 
representative in such form as shall be satisfactory to the Trustee.  In connection with any such transfer of 
the Bonds, the City and the Trustee shall receive an executed representation letter signed by the proposed 
assignee in substantially the form of Exhibit C attached hereto.  Upon any such transfer, the City shall 
execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver in exchange for such Bond a new fully-registered 
Bond or Bonds, registered in the name of the transferee, of any denomination or denominations authorized 
by this Indenture, in an aggregate principal amount equal to the Outstanding principal amount of such Bond, 
of the same maturity and bearing interest at the same rate. 
 

(c) In all cases in which Bonds are exchanged or transferred hereunder the provisions of any 
legend restrictions on the Bonds shall be complied with and the City shall execute and the Trustee shall 
authenticate and deliver at the earliest practicable time Bonds in accordance with the provisions of this 
Indenture.  All Bonds surrendered in any such exchange or transfer shall forthwith be canceled by the 
Trustee.  The City or the Trustee may make a reasonable charge for every such exchange or transfer of 
Bonds sufficient to reimburse it for any tax, fee or other governmental charge required to be paid with 
respect to such exchange or transfer, and such charge shall be paid before any such new Bond shall be 
delivered.  Neither the City nor the Trustee shall be required to make any such exchange or transfer of 
Bonds during the 15 days immediately preceding a Payment Date on the Bonds or, in the case of any 
proposed redemption of Bonds, during the 15 days immediately preceding the selection of Bonds for such 
redemption or after such Bonds or any portion thereof has been selected for redemption. 
 

(d) If any Owner fails to provide a certified taxpayer identification number to the Trustee, the 
Trustee may make a charge against such Owner sufficient to pay any governmental charge required to be 

M - 7 - 94



paid as a result of such failure, which amount may be deducted by the Trustee from amounts otherwise 
payable to such Owner under such Owner’s Bond. 
 

Section 207. Persons Deemed Owners of Bonds.  As to any Bond, the Person in whose name 
the same is registered as shown on the bond registration books required by Section 206 shall be deemed 
and regarded as the absolute owner thereof for all purposes.  Payment of or on account of the principal of 
and interest on any such Bond shall be made only to or upon the order of the Owner thereof or a legal 
representative thereof.  All such payments shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability 
upon such Bond, including the interest thereon, to the extent of the sum or sums so paid. 
 
 Section 208. Authorization of the Bonds. 
 

(a) The Bonds are authorized in the aggregate maximum principal amount of $90,000,000 for 
the purpose of providing funds to pay Project Costs, which Bonds shall be designated the “City of 
University City, Missouri, Taxable Industrial Revenue Bonds (Delmar Boulevard Redevelopment Area 
Project), Series 2022.”  The Bonds shall be dated as provided in Section 203(b), shall become due on 
December 1, 2026 (subject to prior redemption as provided in Article III) and shall bear interest as specified 
in Section 208(f), payable on the dates specified in Section 208(f). 
 

(b) The Trustee is hereby designated as the Paying Agent.  The Owners of a majority of Bonds 
then-Outstanding may designate a different Paying Agent upon written notice to the City and the Trustee. 
 

(c) The Bonds shall be executed without material variance from the form and in the manner 
set forth in Exhibit B and delivered to the Trustee for authentication.  Prior to or simultaneously with the 
authentication and delivery of the Bonds by the Trustee, there shall be filed with the Trustee the following: 
 

(1) An original or certified copy of the ordinance passed by the City Council 
authorizing the issuance of the Bonds and the execution of this Indenture, the Development and 
Performance Agreement, the Bond Purchase Agreement, the Base Lease, and the Lease; 

 
(2) Executed counterparts or copies of this Indenture, the Development and 

Performance Agreement, the Bond Purchase Agreement, the Base Lease and the Lease; 
 

(3) A representation letter from the Purchaser in substantially the form attached as 
Exhibit C; 

 
(4) A request and authorization to the Trustee on behalf of the City, executed by the 

Authorized City Representative, to authenticate the Bonds and deliver the same to or at the written 
direction of the Purchaser upon payment to the Trustee, for the account of the City, of the purchase 
price thereof specified in the Bond Purchase Agreement.  The Trustee shall be entitled to 
conclusively rely upon such request and authorization as to the name of the Purchaser and the 
amount of such purchase price; and 

 
(5) Such other certificates, statements, receipts and documents as the Trustee shall 

reasonably require for the delivery of the Bonds. 
 

(d) When the documents specified in subsection (c) of this Section have been filed with the 
Trustee, and when the Bonds have been executed and authenticated as required by this Indenture, either: 
 

M - 7 - 95



(1) The Purchaser shall pay the Closing Price to the Trustee, and the Trustee shall 
endorse the Bonds in an amount equal to the Closing Price and then either hold the Bonds in trust 
or if so directed in writing deliver the Bonds to or upon the order of the Purchaser; or 

 
(2) The Developer shall submit a requisition certificate in accordance with Section 4.4 

of the Lease, in an amount equal to the Closing Price, and the Trustee shall authenticate and endorse 
the Bonds in an amount equal to the Closing Price and then either hold the Bonds in trust or if so 
directed in writing deliver the Bonds to the Developer (or another purchaser designated by the 
Developer). 

 
In either case, the Purchaser shall be deemed to have paid over to the Trustee, and the Trustee shall be 
deemed to have deposited into the Project Fund, an amount equal to the Closing Price. In authenticating 
Bonds, the Trustee makes no certification or representation that the Bonds have been validly issued or 
constitute legally binding obligations of the City. 
 

(e) Following the initial issuance and delivery of the Bonds, the Developer may submit 
additional requisition certificates in accordance with Section 4.4 of the Lease.  If the Purchaser does not 
pay to the Trustee the amount set forth in the applicable requisition certificate, the Purchaser will be deemed 
to have advanced an amount equal to the amount set forth in the applicable requisition certificate and, if the 
Trustee is holding the Bonds, the Trustee shall endorse the Bonds in an amount equal to the amount set 
forth in the applicable requisition certificate.  The date of endorsement of each Principal Amount Advanced 
as set forth on Schedule I to the Bonds shall be the date of the City’s approval of each requisition certificate.  
The Trustee shall keep a record of the total requisitions submitted to the Trustee for the Project, and shall 
notify the City if the requisitions submitted exceed the maximum principal amount of the Bonds. 
  

(f) The Bonds shall bear interest at the rate of 5.0% per annum on the Cumulative Outstanding 
Principal Amount of the Bonds.  Such interest shall be payable in arrears on each December 1, commencing 
on December 1, 2023, and continuing thereafter until the Cumulative Outstanding Principal Amount is paid 
in full, but not later than December 1, 2026.  Interest shall be calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days 
consisting of 12 months of 30 days each. 
 

(g) The Trustee shall keep and maintain a record of the amount deposited or deemed to be 
deposited into the Project Fund pursuant to the terms of this Indenture as “Principal Amount Advanced” 
and shall enter the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding on its records as the 
“Cumulative Outstanding Principal Amount.”  If the Trustee is holding the Bonds, such advanced amounts 
shall be reflected on Schedule I to the Bonds.  To the extent that advances are deemed to have been made 
pursuant to a requisition, the Trustee’s records of such advances shall be based solely on the requisitions 
provided to it.  On each date upon which a portion of the Cumulative Outstanding Principal Amount is paid 
to the Owners, pursuant to the redemption provisions of this Indenture, the Trustee shall enter on its records 
and Schedule I to the Bonds (if the Trustee is holding the Bonds) the principal amount paid on the Bonds 
as “Principal Amount Redeemed,” and shall enter the then-Outstanding principal amount of the Bonds as 
“Cumulative Outstanding Principal Amount.”  The records maintained by the Trustee as to amounts 
deposited into the Project Fund or principal amounts paid on the Bonds shall be the official records of the 
Cumulative Outstanding Principal Amount for all purposes, absent manifest error, and shall be in 
substantially the form of the Table of Cumulative Outstanding Principal Amount as set out in the form of 
Bonds in Exhibit B.  To the extent the Developer sets off its obligation to the City as lessee under the Lease 
against the City’s obligations to the Developer as permitted by Section 204(e) the Trustee shall not be 
required to confirm that such set-off has occurred.  If any moneys are deposited by the Trustee into the 
Project Fund, then the Trustee shall provide a statement of receipts and disbursements with respect thereto 
to the City and the Developer on a monthly basis.  After the Project has been completed and the certificate 

M - 7 - 96



of payment of all costs is filed as provided in Section 504, the Trustee, to the extent it has not already done 
so pursuant to this Section or Section 1012, shall file a final statement of receipts and disbursements with 
respect thereto with the City and the Developer. 
 
 Section 209. Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Bonds.  If any Bond becomes mutilated, or 
is lost, stolen or destroyed, the City shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver a new Bond 
of like series, date and tenor as the Bond mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed; provided that, in the case of 
any mutilated Bond, such mutilated Bond shall first be surrendered to the Trustee, and in the case of any 
lost, stolen or destroyed Bond, there shall be first furnished to the City and the Trustee evidence of such 
loss, theft or destruction satisfactory to the Trustee, together with indemnity satisfactory to the Trustee to 
save, defend and hold each of the City and the Trustee harmless.  If any such Bond has matured, instead of 
delivering a substitute Bond, the Trustee may pay the same without surrender thereof.  Upon the issuance 
of any substitute Bond, the City and the Trustee may require the payment of an amount sufficient to 
reimburse the City and the Trustee for any tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in relation 
thereto and any other reasonable fees and expenses incurred in connection therewith. 
 
 Section 210. Cancellation and Destruction of Bonds Upon Payment. 
 

(a) All Bonds that have been paid or redeemed or that have otherwise been surrendered to the 
Trustee under this Indenture, either at or before maturity, shall be canceled by the Trustee immediately 
upon the payment or redemption of such Bonds and the surrender thereof to the Trustee. 
 

(b) All Bonds canceled under any of the provisions of this Indenture shall be destroyed by the 
Trustee in accordance with applicable laws and regulations and the Trustee’s policies and practices.  The 
Trustee shall execute a certificate describing the Bonds so destroyed, and shall file executed counterparts 
of such certificate with the City and the Developer. 
 
 

ARTICLE III 
 

REDEMPTION OF BONDS 
 
 Section 301. Redemption of Bonds.  
 

(a) The Bonds are subject to redemption and payment at any time before the stated maturity 
thereof, at the option of the City, upon written instructions from the Developer, (1) in whole, if the 
Developer exercises its option to purchase the Project and deposits an amount sufficient to effect such 
purchase pursuant to the Lease on the applicable redemption date, or (2) in part, if the Developer prepays 
additional Basic Rent pursuant to the Lease.  If only a portion of the Bonds are to be redeemed, (A) Bonds 
aggregating at least 10% of the maximum aggregate principal amount of Bonds authorized hereunder shall 
not be subject to redemption and payment before the stated maturity thereof, and (B) the Trustee shall keep 
a record of the amount of Bonds to remain Outstanding following such redemption.  Any redemption of 
Bonds pursuant to this paragraph shall be at a redemption price equal to the par value thereof being 
redeemed, plus accrued interest thereon, without premium or penalty, to the redemption date. 
 

(b) The Bonds are subject to mandatory redemption, in whole or in part, to the extent of 
amounts deposited in the Bond Fund pursuant to Section 9.1(f) or 9.2(c) of the Lease, in the event of 
substantial damage to or destruction or condemnation of substantially all of the Project.  Bonds to be 
redeemed pursuant to this paragraph shall be called for redemption by the Trustee on the earliest practicable 

M - 7 - 97



date for which timely notice of redemption may be given as provided hereunder.  Any redemption of Bonds 
pursuant to this paragraph shall be at a redemption price equal to the par value thereof being redeemed, plus 
accrued interest thereon, without premium or penalty, to the redemption date.  Before giving notice of 
redemption to the Owners pursuant to this paragraph (b), money in an amount equal to the redemption price 
shall have been deposited in the Bond Fund. 
 
 (c) At its option, the Developer may deliver to the Trustee for cancellation any Bonds owned 
by the Developer and not previously paid, and the Developer shall receive a credit against the amounts 
payable by the Developer for the redemption of such Bonds in an amount equal to the principal amount of 
the Bonds so tendered for cancellation, plus accrued interest. 
 

Section 302. Effect of Call for Redemption.  Before or on the date fixed for redemption, funds, 
Government Securities, or a combination thereof, shall be placed with the Trustee which are sufficient to 
pay the Bonds called for redemption and accrued interest thereon, if any, to the redemption date.  Upon the 
happening of the above conditions and appropriate written notice having been given, the Bonds or the 
portions of the principal amount of Bonds thus called for redemption shall cease to bear interest on the 
specified redemption date, and shall no longer be entitled to the protection, benefit or security of this 
Indenture and shall not be deemed to be Outstanding under the provisions of this Indenture.  If the Bonds 
are fully redeemed before maturity and an amount of money equal to the Trustee’s and the Paying Agent’s 
agreed to fees and expenses hereunder accrued and to accrue in connection with such redemption is paid or 
provided for, the City shall, at the Developer’s direction, deliver to the Developer the items described in 
Section 11.2 of the Lease. 
 

Section 303. Notice of Redemption.  If the Bonds are to be called for redemption as provided 
in Section 301(a), the Developer shall deliver written notice to the City and the Trustee that it has elected 
to redeem all or a portion of the Bonds at least 40 days (10 days if there is one Owner) before the scheduled 
redemption date.  The Trustee shall then deliver written notice to the Owners at least 30 days (five days if 
there is one Owner) before the scheduled redemption date by facsimile or other electronic communication 
and by first-class mail stating the date upon which the Bonds will be redeemed and paid, unless such notice 
period is waived by the Owners in writing. 
 
 

ARTICLE IV 
 

FORM OF BONDS 
 
 Section 401. Form Generally.  The Bonds and the Trustee’s Certificate of Authentication to be 
endorsed thereon shall be issued in substantially the forms set forth in Exhibit B.  The Bonds may have 
endorsed thereon such legends or text as may be necessary or appropriate to conform to any applicable rules 
and regulations of any governmental authority or any custom, usage or requirements of law with respect 
thereto. 
 
 

M - 7 - 98



ARTICLE V 
 

CUSTODY AND APPLICATION OF BOND PROCEEDS 
 

Section 501. Creation of Funds.  There are hereby created and ordered to be established in the 
custody of the Trustee the following special trust funds in the name of the City: 

 
(a) “City of University City, Missouri, Series 2022 Project Fund – Delmar Boulevard 

Redevelopment Area” (herein called the “Project Fund”). 
 

(b) “City of University City, Missouri, Series 2022 Bond Fund – Delmar Boulevard 
Redevelopment Area” (herein called the “Bond Fund”). 

 
Section 502. Deposits into the Project Fund.  The proceeds of the sale of the Bonds (whether 

actually paid or deemed paid under Section 208(d)), including Additional Payments provided for in the 
Bond Purchase Agreement, when received, excluding such amounts required to be paid into the Bond Fund 
pursuant to Section 601, shall be deposited by the Trustee into the Project Fund.  Any money received by 
the Trustee from any other source for the purpose of purchasing, constructing and installing the Project 
shall pursuant to any written directions from the Person depositing such moneys also be deposited into the 
Project Fund. 

 
Section 503. Disbursements from the Project Fund. 

 
(a) The moneys in the Project Fund shall be disbursed by the Trustee for the payment of, or 

reimbursement to the Developer (or any other party that has made payment on behalf of the Developer) for 
payment of, Project Costs upon receipt of requisition certificates signed by the Developer in accordance 
with the provisions of Article IV of the Lease.  The Trustee hereby covenants and agrees to disburse such 
moneys in accordance with such provisions. 

 
(b) If, pursuant to Section 208(d), the Trustee is deemed to have deposited into the Project 

Fund the amount specified in the requisition certificates submitted by the Developer in accordance with the 
provisions of Article IV of the Lease, the Trustee shall upon endorsement of the Bonds in an equal amount 
be deemed to have disbursed such funds from the Project Fund to the Developer (or such other purchaser 
designated by the Developer) in satisfaction of the requisition certificates.  If the Trustee is holding the 
Bonds, such deemed disbursement will be deemed to have been made on each date the Trustee endorses 
the Bonds with respect to such additional amounts. 

 
(c) In paying any requisition under this Section, the Trustee may rely as to the completeness 

and accuracy of all statements in such requisition certificate if such requisition certificate is signed by the 
Authorized Developer Representative.  If the City so requests in writing, a copy of each requisition 
certificate submitted to the Trustee for payment under this Section shall be promptly provided by the Trustee 
to the City.  The City hereby authorizes and directs the Trustee to make disbursements in the manner and 
as provided for by the aforesaid provisions of the Lease. 
 

Section 504. Completion of the Project.  The completion of the purchase, construction and 
installation of the Project and payment of all costs and expenses incident thereto shall be evidenced by the 
filing with the Trustee of the certificate required by the provisions of Section 4.5 of the Lease.  As soon as 
practicable after the Completion Date any balance remaining in the Project Fund shall without further 
authorization be transferred by the Trustee to the Bond Fund and applied as provided in Section 4.6 of the 
Lease. 

M - 7 - 99



Section 505. Disposition Upon Acceleration.  If the principal of the Bonds has become due 
and payable pursuant to Section 902, upon the date of payment by the Trustee of any moneys due as 
hereinafter provided in Article IX, any balance remaining in the Project Fund shall without further 
authorization be deposited in the Bond Fund by the Trustee, with advice to the City and to the Developer 
of such action. 
 

ARTICLE VI 
 

REVENUES AND FUNDS 
 

Section 601. Deposits into the Bond Fund.   
 
(a) The Trustee shall deposit into the Bond Fund, as and when received, (1) all accrued interest 

on the Bonds, if any, paid by the Purchaser; (2) all Basic Rent payable by the Developer to the City specified 
in Section 5.1 of the Lease; (3) any Additional Rent payable by the Developer specified in Section 5.2 of 
the Lease; (4) any amount in the Project Fund to be transferred to the Bond Fund pursuant to Section 504 
or Section 505; (5) subject to the terms and conditions of the Fee Deed of Trust and the other Financing 
Documents executed in favor of the Lender, the balance of any Net Proceeds of condemnation awards or 
insurance received by the Trustee pursuant to Article IX of the Lease; (6) the amounts to be deposited in 
the Bond Fund pursuant to Sections 9.1(f) and 9.2(c) of the Lease; (7) all interest and other income derived 
from investments of Bond Fund moneys as provided in Section 702; and (8) all other moneys received by 
the Trustee under and pursuant to any of the provisions of the Lease when accompanied by directions from 
the Person depositing such moneys that such moneys are to be paid into the Bond Fund. 
 
 (b) The Trustee shall notify the Developer in writing, at least 15 days before each date on 
which a payment is due under Section 5.1 of the Lease, of the amount that is payable by the Developer 
pursuant to such Section. 
 

Section 602. Application of Moneys in the Bond Fund. 
 

(a) Except as provided in Section 604 and Section 908 hereof or in Section 4.6 of the Lease, 
moneys in the Bond Fund shall be expended solely for the payment of the principal of and the interest on 
the Bonds as the same matures and becomes due or upon the redemption thereof before maturity; provided, 
however, that any amounts received by the Trustee as Additional Rent under Section 5.2 of the Lease and 
deposited to the Bond Fund as provided in Section 601 above, shall be expended by the Trustee for such 
items of Additional Rent as they are received or due without further authorization from the City. 
 

(b) The City hereby authorizes and directs the Trustee to withdraw sufficient funds from the 
Bond Fund to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds as the same becomes due and payable and to 
make said funds so withdrawn available to the Paying Agent for the purpose of paying said principal and 
interest. 
 

(c) Whenever the amount in the Bond Fund from any source whatsoever is sufficient to redeem 
all of the Bonds Outstanding and to pay interest to accrue thereon before and until such redemption, the 
City covenants and agrees, upon request of the Developer, to take and cause to be taken the necessary steps 
to redeem all such Bonds on the next succeeding redemption date for which the required redemption notice 
may be given or on such later redemption date as may be specified by the Developer.  The Trustee may use 
any moneys in the Bond Fund to redeem a part of the Bonds Outstanding in accordance with and to the 

M - 7 - 100



extent permitted by Article III so long as the Developer is not in default with respect to any payments 
under the Lease and to the extent said moneys are in excess of the amount required for payment of Bonds 
theretofore matured or called for redemption and past due interest, if any, in all cases when such Bonds 
have not been presented for payment. 

 
(d) After payment in full of the principal of and interest, if any, on the Bonds (or provision has 

been made for the payment thereof as provided in this Indenture), and the fees, charges and expenses of the 
Trustee, the City and any Paying Agent and any other amounts required to be paid under this Indenture, the 
Lease and the Development and Performance Agreement, all amounts remaining in the Bond Fund shall be 
paid to the Developer upon the expiration or sooner termination of the Lease. 
 

Section 603. Payments Due on Days Other than Business Days.  In any case where the date 
of maturity of principal of or interest, if any, on the Bonds or the date fixed for redemption of any Bonds is 
not a Business Day, then payment of principal or interest, if any, need not be made on such date but may 
be made on the next succeeding Business Day with the same force and effect as if made on the date of 
maturity or the date fixed for redemption, and no interest, if any, shall continue to accrue for the period 
after such date. 
 

Section 604. Nonpresentment of Bonds.  If any Bond is not presented for payment when the 
principal thereof becomes due, either at maturity or otherwise, or at the date fixed for redemption thereof, 
if funds sufficient to pay such Bond shall have been made available to the Trustee, all liability of the City 
to the Owner thereof for the payment of such Bond shall forthwith cease, determine and be completely 
discharged, and thereupon it shall be the duty of the Trustee to hold such fund or funds, without liability 
for interest thereon, for the benefit of the Owner of such Bond who shall thereafter be restricted exclusively 
to such fund or funds for any claim of whatever nature on his part under this Indenture or on, or with respect 
to, said Bond.  If any Bond is not presented for payment within one year following the date when such 
Bond becomes due, whether by maturity or otherwise, the Trustee shall without liability for interest thereon 
repay to the Developer the funds theretofore held by it for payment of such Bond, and such Bond shall, 
subject to the defense of any applicable statute of limitation, thereafter be an unsecured obligation of the 
Developer, and the Owner thereof may look only to the Developer for payment, and then only to the extent 
of the amount so repaid, and the Developer shall not be liable for any interest thereon and shall not be 
regarded as a trustee of such money. 
 

 
ARTICLE VII 

 
SECURITY FOR DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENT OF FUNDS 

 
Section 701. Moneys to be Held in Trust.  All moneys deposited with or paid to the Trustee 

for account of the Bond Fund or the Project Fund under any provision of this Indenture, and all moneys 
deposited with or paid to any Paying Agent under any provision of this Indenture, shall be held by the 
Trustee or Paying Agent in trust and shall be applied only in accordance with the provisions of this Indenture 
and the Lease, and, until used or applied as herein provided, shall constitute part of the Trust Estate and be 
subject to the lien hereof.  Neither the Trustee nor any Paying Agent shall be under any liability for interest 
on any moneys received hereunder except such as may be agreed upon in writing. 
 

Section 702. Investment of Moneys in Project Fund and Bond Fund.  Moneys held in the 
Project Fund and the Bond Fund shall, pursuant to written direction of the Developer, signed by the 
Authorized Developer Representative, be separately invested and reinvested by the Trustee in Investment 

M - 7 - 101



Securities which mature or are subject to redemption by the Owner before the date such funds will be 
needed.  If the Developer fails to provide written directions concerning investment of moneys held in the 
Project Fund and the Bond Fund, the Trustee is authorized to invest in such Investment Securities specified 
in paragraph (e) of the definition of Investment Securities, provided they mature or are subject to 
redemption before the date such funds will be needed.  The Trustee is specifically authorized to implement 
its automated cash investment system to assure that cash on hand is invested and to charge its normal cash 
management fees and cash sweep account fees, which may be deducted from income earned on 
investments; provided that any such fees shall not exceed the interest income on the investment.  The 
Trustee shall be provided ample time to clear any such fees that exceed interest income on the investment.  
Any such Investment Securities shall be held by or under the control of the Trustee and shall be deemed at 
all times a part of the fund in which such moneys are originally held, and the interest accruing thereon and 
any profit realized from such Investment Securities shall be credited to such fund, and any loss resulting 
from such Investment Securities shall be charged to such fund.  After the Trustee has notice pursuant to 
Section 1001(h) of the existence of an Event of Default, the Trustee shall direct the investment of moneys 
in the Bond Fund and the Project Fund.  The Trustee shall sell and reduce to cash a sufficient amount of 
such Investment Securities whenever the cash balance in any fund is insufficient for the purposes of such 
fund.  In determining the balance in any fund, investments in such fund shall be valued at the lower of their 
original cost or their fair market value as of the most recent Payment Date.  The Trustee may make any and 
all investments permitted by the provisions of this Section through its own bond department or any affiliate 
or short-term investment department. 
 

Section 703. Record Keeping.  The Trustee shall maintain records designed to show 
compliance with the provisions of this Article and with the provisions of Article VI while any of the Bonds 
are Outstanding. 
 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

GENERAL COVENANTS AND PROVISIONS 
 

Section 801. Payment of Principal and Interest.  The City covenants and agrees that it will, 
but solely from the rents, revenues and receipts derived from the Project and the Lease as described herein, 
deposit or cause to be deposited in the Bond Fund sufficient sums payable under the Lease promptly to 
meet and pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds as they become due and payable at the place, on the 
dates and in the manner provided herein and in the Bonds according to the true intent and meaning thereof.  
Nothing herein shall be construed as requiring the City to operate the Project as a business other than as 
lessor or to use any funds or revenues from any source other than funds and revenues derived from the 
Project. 
 

Section 802. Authority to Execute Indenture and Issue Bonds.  The City covenants that it is 
duly authorized under the Constitution and laws of the State to execute this Indenture, to issue the Bonds 
and to pledge and assign the Trust Estate in the manner and to the extent herein set forth; that all action on 
its part for the execution and delivery of this Indenture and the issuance of the Bonds has been duly and 
effectively taken; and that the Bonds in the hands of the Owners thereof are and will be valid and 
enforceable obligations of the City according to the import thereof. 
 

Section 803. Performance of Covenants.  The City covenants that it will faithfully perform or 
cause to be performed at all times any and all covenants, undertakings, stipulations and provisions contained 
in this Indenture, in the Bonds and in all proceedings of its City Council pertaining thereto.  The Trustee 

M - 7 - 102



may take such action as it deems appropriate to enforce all such covenants, undertakings, stipulations and 
provisions of the City hereunder. 
 

Section 804. Instruments of Further Assurance.  The City covenants that it will do, execute, 
acknowledge and deliver, or cause to be done, executed, acknowledged and delivered, such Supplemental 
Indentures and such further acts, instruments, financing statements and other documents as the Trustee may 
reasonably require for the better pledging and assigning unto the Trustee the property and revenues herein 
described to the payment of the principal of and interest, if any, on the Bonds, upon being first indemnified 
by the Developer for the cost thereof.  The City covenants and agrees that, except as herein and in the Lease 
provided, it will not sell, convey, mortgage, encumber or otherwise dispose of any part of the Project or the 
rents, revenues and receipts derived therefrom or from the Lease, or of its rights under the Lease. 
 

Section 805. Recordings and Filings.  The City shall file or cause to be kept and filed all 
financing statements, and hereby authorizes and directs the Trustee to file or cause to be kept and filed 
continuation statements with respect to such originally filed financing statements related to this Indenture 
and all supplements hereto and such other documents as may be required under the Uniform Commercial 
Code in order to fully preserve and protect the security of the Owners and the rights of the Trustee 
hereunder.  The City will cooperate in causing this Indenture and all Supplemental Indentures, the Lease 
and all Supplemental Leases and all other security instruments to be recorded and filed in such manner and 
in such places as may be required by law in order to fully preserve and protect the security of the Owners 
and the rights of the Trustee hereunder.  The Trustee shall file continuation statements with respect to each 
Uniform Commercial Code financing statement relating to the Trust Estate filed by the City at the time of 
the issuance of the Bonds; provided that a copy of the filed initial financing statement is timely delivered 
to the Trustee.  In addition, unless the Trustee has been notified in writing by the City that any such initial 
filing or description of collateral was or has become defective, the Trustee shall be fully protected in 
(a) relying on such initial filing and descriptions in filing any financing or continuation statements or 
modifications thereto pursuant to this Section, and (b) filing any continuation statements in the same filing 
offices as the initial filings were made.  The Developer shall be responsible for the customary fees charged 
by the Trustee for the preparation and filing of continuation statements and for the reasonable costs incurred 
by the Trustee in the preparation and filing of all continuation statements hereunder, including attorneys’ 
fees and expenses.  These fees shall be considered “extraordinary services” fees. 
 

Section 806. Inspection of Project Books.  The City covenants and agrees that all books and 
documents in its possession relating to the Project and the rents, revenues and receipts derived from the 
Project shall at all times be open to inspection by such accountants or other agencies as the Trustee may 
from time to time designate. 
 

Section 807. Enforcement of Rights Under the Lease.  The Trustee, as assignee, transferee, 
pledgee, and owner of a security interest under this Indenture, in its name or in the name of the City, may 
enforce all assigned rights of the City and the Trustee and all obligations of the Developer under and 
pursuant to the Lease for and on behalf of the Owners, whether or not the City is in default hereunder. 
 
 

ARTICLE IX 
 

DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 
 

Section 901. Events of Default; Notice; Opportunity to Cure.  If any of the following events 
occur, it is hereby defined as and declared to be and to constitute an “Event of Default”: 

M - 7 - 103



(a) Default in the due and punctual payment of the principal of any Bond, whether at 
the stated maturity or accelerated maturity thereof, or at any date fixed for redemption thereof; 

 
(b) Default in the due and punctual payment of the interest on any Bond, whether at 

the stated maturity or accelerated maturity thereof, or at any date fixed for redemption thereof; 
 

(c) Default as specified in Section 12.1 of the Lease has occurred; or 
 

(d) Default in the performance, or breach, of any other covenant or agreement under 
this Indenture. 

 
 No default specified above shall constitute an Event of Default until the City, the Trustee or the 
Owners of 25% in aggregate principal amount of all Bonds Outstanding has given actual notice of such 
default by registered or certified mail or recognized overnight delivery service to the Developer and the 
Lender, and the Developer and the Lender have had 30 days after receipt of such notice to correct said 
default or cause said default to be corrected and have not corrected said default or caused said default to be 
corrected within such period; provided, however, if any such default (other than a default in the payment 
of any money) is such that it cannot be corrected within such period, it shall not constitute an Event of 
Default if corrective action is instituted by the Developer, the Lender or the City, as the case may be, within 
such period and diligently pursued until the default is corrected.  Nothing herein shall constitute an 
obligation of the Lender to cure any defaults hereunder. 
 

Section 902. Acceleration of Maturity in Event of Default.   
 
(a) If an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing after the notice and cure period 

described in Section 901 elapses, the Trustee may, and upon the written request of the City or the Owners 
of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then-Outstanding, shall, by notice in writing 
delivered to the City, the Lender and the Developer, declare the principal of all Bonds then Outstanding 
and the interest accrued thereon immediately due and payable, and such principal and interest and all other 
amounts due hereunder shall thereupon become and be immediately due and payable. 

 
(b) If, at any time after such declaration, but before the Bonds have matured by their terms, all 

overdue installments of principal and interest upon the Bonds, together with the reasonable and proper 
expenses of the Trustee, and all other sums then payable by the City under this Indenture are either paid or 
provisions satisfactory to the Trustee are made for such payment, then and in every such case the Trustee 
shall, but only with the approval of a majority of the Owners of the Bonds then-Outstanding, rescind such 
declaration and annul such default in its entirety.  In such event, the Trustee shall rescind any declaration 
of acceleration of installments of rent payments on the Bonds as provided in Section 11.1 of the Lease. 
 
 (c) In case of any rescission, then and in every such case the City, the Trustee, the Developer 
and the Owners shall be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder respectively, but no such 
rescission shall extend to any subsequent or other default or Event of Default or impair any right consequent 
thereon. 
 

Section 903. Surrender of Possession of Trust Estate; Rights and Duties of Trustee in 
Possession.  If an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing after the notice and cure period described 
in Section 901 elapses, the City, upon demand of the Trustee, shall forthwith surrender the possession of, 
and it shall be lawful for the Trustee, by such officer or agent as it may appoint, to take possession of all or 
any part of the Trust Estate, together with the books, papers and accounts of the City pertaining thereto, and 
including the rights and the position of the City under the Lease, and to hold, operate and manage the same, 

M - 7 - 104



and from time to time make all needful repairs and improvements.  The Trustee may lease the Project or 
any part thereof, in the name and for account of the City, and collect, receive and sequester the rents, 
revenues and receipts therefrom, and out of the same and any moneys received from any receiver of any 
part thereof pay, and set up proper reserves for the payment of all proper costs and expenses of so taking, 
holding and managing the same, including without limitation (a) reasonable compensation to the Trustee, 
its agents and counsel, (b) any reasonable charges of the Trustee hereunder, (c) any taxes and assessments 
and other charges before the lien of this Indenture, (d) all expenses of such repairs and improvements and 
(e) any amounts payable under the Development and Performance Agreement.  The Trustee shall apply the 
remainder of the moneys so received in accordance with the provisions of Section 908.  Whenever all that 
is due upon the Bonds has been paid and all defaults cured, the Trustee shall surrender possession of the 
Trust Estate to the City, its successors or assigns, the same right of entry, however, to exist upon any 
subsequent Event of Default.  While in possession of such property, the Trustee shall render annually to the 
City and the Developer a summarized statement of receipts and expenditures in connection therewith. 
 

Section 904. Appointment of Receivers in Event of Default.  If an Event of Default has 
occurred and is continuing after the notice and cure period described in Section 901 elapses, and upon the 
filing of a suit or other commencement of judicial proceedings to enforce the rights of the Trustee and of 
the Owners under this Indenture, the Trustee shall be entitled, as a matter of right, to the appointment of a 
receiver or receivers of the Trust Estate or any part thereof, pending such proceedings, with such powers as 
the court making such appointment shall confer. 
 

Section 905. Exercise of Remedies by the Trustee. 
 

(a) Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Trustee may pursue any available remedy 
at law or in equity by suit, action, mandamus or other proceeding to enforce the payment of the principal 
of and interest on the Bonds then-Outstanding and all other amounts due hereunder, and to enforce and 
compel the performance of the duties and obligations of the City or the Developer as herein set forth or as 
set forth in the Lease, respectively. 
 

(b) If an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing after the notice and cure period 
described in Section 901 elapses, and if requested in writing to do so by (1) the City (in the case of an Event 
of Default pursuant to Section 12.1(a) (but only as it relates to Additional Rent), (b) (but only as it relates 
to Unassigned Rights), (c) or (d) of the Lease), or (2) the Owners of 25% in aggregate principal amount of 
Bonds then-Outstanding and indemnified as provided in Section 1001(l), the Trustee shall be obligated to 
exercise such one or more of the rights and powers conferred by this Article as the Trustee, being advised 
by counsel, shall deem most expedient and in the interests of the City or the Owners, as the case may be. 
 

(c) All rights of action under this Indenture or under any of the Bonds may be enforced by the 
Trustee without the possession of any of the Bonds or the production thereof in any trial or other 
proceedings relating thereto, and any such suit or proceeding instituted by the Trustee shall be brought in 
its name as Trustee without necessity of joining as plaintiffs or defendants any Owners, and any recovery 
of judgment shall, subject to the provisions of Section 908, be for the equal benefit of all the Owners of the 
Outstanding Bonds. 
 

Section 906. Limitation on Exercise of Remedies by Owners.  No Owner shall have any right 
to institute any suit, action or proceeding in equity or at law for the enforcement of this Indenture or for the 
execution of any trust hereunder or for the appointment of a receiver or any other remedy hereunder, unless 
(a) a default has occurred of which the Trustee has been notified as provided in Section 1001(h) or of which 
by said subsection the Trustee is deemed to have notice, (b) such default has become an Event of Default, 

M - 7 - 105



(c) the Owners of 25% in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then-Outstanding have made written request 
to the Trustee, have offered it reasonable opportunity either to proceed for such reasonable period not to 
exceed 60 days following such notice and to exercise the powers hereinbefore granted or to institute such 
action, suit or proceeding in its own name, and have offered to the Trustee indemnity as provided in Section 
1001(l), and (d) the Trustee thereafter fails or refuses to exercise the powers herein granted or to institute 
such action, suit or proceeding in its own name; such notification, request and offer of indemnity are hereby 
declared in every case, at the option of the Trustee, to be conditions precedent to the execution of the powers 
and trusts of this Indenture, and to any action or cause of action for the enforcement of this Indenture, or 
for the appointment of a receiver or for any other remedy hereunder, it being understood and intended that 
no one or more Owners shall have any right in any manner whatsoever to affect, disturb or prejudice this 
Indenture by their action or to enforce any right hereunder except in the manner herein provided, and that 
all proceedings at law or in equity shall be instituted, had and maintained in the manner herein provided 
and for the equal benefit of the Owners of all Bonds then-Outstanding.  Nothing in this Indenture contained 
shall, however, affect or impair the right of any Owner to payment of the principal of and interest on any 
Bond at and after the maturity thereof or the obligation of the City to pay the principal of and interest on 
each of the Bonds issued hereunder to the respective Owners thereof at the time, place, from the source and 
in the manner herein and in the Bonds expressed. 
 

Section 907. Right of Owners to Direct Proceedings. 
 

(a) The Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then-Outstanding may, 
at any time, by an instrument or instruments in writing executed and delivered to the Trustee, direct the 
time, method and place of conducting all proceedings to be taken in connection with the enforcement of the 
terms and conditions of this Indenture, or for the appointment of a receiver or any other proceedings 
hereunder; provided that such direction shall not be otherwise than in accordance with the provisions of 
law and of this Indenture, including Section 1001(l). 
 

(b) Notwithstanding any provision in this Indenture to the contrary, including paragraph (a) of 
this Section, the Owners shall not have the right to control or direct any remedies hereunder upon an Event 
of Default under Section 12.1(a) (but only as it relates to Additional Rent), (b) (but only as it relates to 
Unassigned Rights), (c) or (d) of the Lease. 
 

Section 908. Application of Moneys in Event of Default. 
 

(a) All moneys received by the Trustee pursuant to any right given or action taken under the 
provisions of this Article shall be applied first to the costs and expenses of the proceedings resulting in the 
collection of such moneys and of the fees, expenses, liabilities and advances incurred or made by the Trustee 
(including any attorneys’ fees and expenses) or amounts to be paid pursuant to Section 903 and second to 
any obligations outstanding under the Lease and the Development and Performance Agreement.  Any 
remaining moneys shall be deposited in the Bond Fund and applied as follows: 
 

 (1) Unless the principal of all the Bonds has become or has been declared due and 
payable, all such moneys shall be applied: 

 
FIRST -- To the payment to the Persons entitled thereto of all installments of 

interest, if any, then due and payable on the Bonds, in the order in which such installments 
of interest became due and payable, and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to 
pay in full any particular installment, then to the payment, ratably, according to the amounts 

M - 7 - 106



due on such installment, to the Persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or 
privilege; 
 

SECOND -- To the payment to the Persons entitled thereto of the unpaid principal 
of any of the Bonds which have become due and payable (other than Bonds called for 
redemption for the payment of which moneys are held pursuant to the provisions of this 
Indenture), in the order of their due dates, and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient 
to pay in full Bonds due on any particular date, together with such interest, then to the 
payment, ratably, according to the amount of principal due on such date, to the Persons 
entitled thereto without any discrimination or privilege. 

 
(2) If the principal of all the Bonds has become due or has been declared due and 

payable, all such moneys shall be applied to the payment of the principal and interest, if any, then 
due and unpaid on all of the Bonds, without preference or priority of principal over interest or of 
interest over principal or of any installment of interest over any other installment of interest or of 
any Bond over any other Bond, ratably, according to the amounts due respectively for principal and 
interest, to the Persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or privilege. 

 
(3) If the principal of all the Bonds has been declared due and payable, and if such 

declaration thereafter has been rescinded and annulled under the provisions of Section 910, then, 
subject to the provisions of subsection (2) of this Section, if the principal of all the Bonds later 
becomes due or is declared due and payable, the moneys shall be applied in accordance with the 
provisions of subsection (1) of this Section. 

 
(b) Whenever moneys are to be applied pursuant to the provisions of this Section, such moneys 

shall be applied at such times and from time to time as the Trustee shall determine, having due regard to 
the amount of such moneys available and which may become available for such application in the future.  
Whenever the Trustee shall apply such moneys, it shall fix the date (which shall be a Payment Date unless 
it shall deem another date more suitable) upon which such application is to be made and upon such date 
interest on the amounts of principal to be paid on such date shall cease to accrue. 
 

(c) Whenever all of the Bonds and interest thereon, if any, have been paid under the provisions 
of this Section, and all fees, expenses and charges of the City and the Trustee and any other amounts 
required to be paid under this Indenture and the Lease have been paid (including any amounts payable under 
the Development and Performance Agreement), any balance remaining in the Bond Fund shall be paid to 
the Developer as provided in Section 602. 
 
 Section 909. Remedies Cumulative.  No remedy by the terms of this Indenture conferred upon 
or reserved to the Trustee or to the Owners is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, but each and 
every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to any other remedy given to the Trustee or 
to the Owners hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute.  No delay or omission 
to exercise any right, power or remedy accruing upon any Event of Default shall impair any such right, 
power or remedy or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such Event of Default or acquiescence therein; 
every such right, power or remedy may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed 
expedient.  If the Trustee has proceeded to enforce any right under this Indenture by the appointment of a 
receiver, by entry, or otherwise, and such proceedings have been discontinued or abandoned for any reason, 
or have been determined adversely, then and in every such case the City, the Developer, the Trustee and 
the Owners shall be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder, and all rights, remedies and 
powers of the Trustee shall continue as if no such proceedings had been taken. 

M - 7 - 107



Section 910. Waivers of Events of Default.  The Trustee shall waive any Event of Default 
hereunder and its consequences and rescind any declaration of maturity of principal of and interest, if any, 
on the Bonds, but only upon the written request of the Owners of at least 50% in aggregate principal amount 
of all the Bonds then-Outstanding, provided, however, that (a) there shall not be waived without the consent 
of the City an Event of Default hereunder arising from an Event of Default under Section 12.1(a) (but only 
as it relates to Additional Rent), (b) (but only as it relates to Unassigned Rights), (c) or (d) of the Lease, 
and (b) there shall not be waived without the consent of the Owners of all the Bonds Outstanding (1) any 
Event of Default in the payment of the principal of any Outstanding Bonds when due (whether at the date 
of maturity or redemption specified therein), or (2) any Event of Default in the payment when due of the 
interest on any such Bonds, unless before such waiver or rescission, all arrears of interest, or all arrears of 
payments of principal when due, as the case may be, and all reasonable expenses of the Trustee and the 
City (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses), in connection with such default, have been paid 
or provided for.  In case of any such waiver or rescission, or in case any proceeding taken by the Trustee 
on account of any such default has been discontinued or abandoned or determined adversely, then and in 
every such case the City, the Developer, the Trustee and the Owners shall be restored to their former 
positions, rights and obligations hereunder, respectively, but no such waiver or rescission shall extend to 
any subsequent or other default, or impair any right consequent thereon and all rights, remedies and powers 
of the Trustee shall continue as if no such proceedings had been taken. 
 
 

ARTICLE X 
 

THE TRUSTEE 
 

Section 1001. Acceptance of the Trusts.  The Trustee hereby accepts the trusts imposed upon it 
by this Indenture, but only upon and subject to the following express terms and conditions, and no implied 
covenants or obligations shall be read into this Indenture against the Trustee: 
 

(a) The Trustee, before the occurrence of an Event of Default and after the curing or 
waiver of all Events of Default that may have occurred, undertakes to perform such duties and only 
such duties as are specifically set forth in this Indenture.  If any Event of Default has occurred and 
is continuing, subject to Section 1001(l) below, the Trustee shall exercise such of the rights and 
powers vested in it by this Indenture, and shall use the same degree of care and skill in their exercise, 
as a prudent Person would exercise or use under the circumstances in the conduct of its own affairs. 

 
(b) The Trustee undertakes to perform such duties as are specifically set forth in this 

Indenture, and in the absence of bad faith, negligence or willful misconduct on its part, the Trustee 
may conclusively rely, as to the truth of the statements and the correctness of the opinions expressed 
therein, upon certificates or opinions furnished to the Trustee and conforming to the requirements 
of this Indenture.  No provision of this Indenture shall be construed to relieve the Trustee from 
liability for its own negligent action, its own negligent failure to act, or its own willful misconduct. 
The Trustee may execute any of the trusts or powers hereunder or perform any duties hereunder 
either directly or through agents, affiliates, attorneys or receivers and shall not be responsible for 
any misconduct or negligence on the part of any agent, attorney or receiver appointed or chosen by 
it with due care.  The Trustee may conclusively rely upon and act or refrain from acting upon any 
opinion or advice of counsel, who may be counsel to the City or to the Developer, concerning all 
matters of trust hereof and the duties hereunder, and may in all cases pay such reasonable 
compensation to all such agents, attorneys and receivers as may reasonably be employed in 
connection with the trusts hereof.  The Trustee shall not be responsible for any loss or damage 

M - 7 - 108



resulting from any action or nonaction by it taken or omitted to be taken in good faith in reliance 
upon such opinion or advice of counsel addressed to the City and the Trustee. 

 
(c) The Trustee shall not be responsible for any recital herein or in the Bonds (except 

with respect to the Certificate of Authentication of the Trustee endorsed on the Bonds), or except 
as provided in the Lease and particularly Section 10.8 thereof, for the recording or rerecording, 
filing or refiling of this Indenture or any security agreement in connection therewith (excluding the 
continuation of Uniform Commercial Code financing statements), or for insuring the Project or 
collecting any insurance moneys, or for the validity of the execution by the City of this Indenture 
or of any Supplemental Indentures or instruments of further assurance, or for the sufficiency of the 
security of the Bonds.  The Trustee shall not be responsible or liable for any loss suffered in 
connection with any investment of funds made by it in accordance with Article VII. 

 
(d) The Trustee shall not be accountable for the use of any Bonds authenticated and 

delivered hereunder.  The Trustee, in its individual or any other capacity, may become the Owner 
or pledgee of Bonds with the same rights that it would have if it were not the Trustee.  The Trustee 
shall not be accountable for the use or application by the City or the Developer of the proceeds of 
any of the Bonds or of any money paid to or upon the order of the City or the Developer under any 
provision of this Indenture. 

 
(e) The Trustee may rely and shall be protected in acting or refraining from acting 

upon any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, direction, 
consent, order, affidavit, letter, telegram or other paper or document provided for under this 
Indenture believed by it to be genuine and correct and to have been signed, presented or sent by the 
proper Person or Persons.  Any action taken by the Trustee pursuant to this Indenture upon the 
request or authority or consent of any Person who, at the time of making such request or giving 
such authority or consent is an Owner, shall be conclusive and binding upon all future Owners of 
the same Bond and upon Bonds issued in exchange therefor or upon transfer or in place thereof. 

 
(f) As to the existence or nonexistence of any fact or as to the sufficiency or validity 

of any instrument, paper or proceeding, or whenever in the administration of this Indenture the 
Trustee shall deem it desirable that a matter be proved or established before taking, suffering or 
omitting any action hereunder, the Trustee may rely upon a certificate signed by the Authorized 
City Representative or the Authorized Developer Representative as sufficient evidence of the facts 
therein contained, and before the occurrence of a default of which the Trustee has been notified as 
provided in subsection (h) of this Section or of which by said subsection it is deemed to have notice, 
the Trustee shall also be at liberty to accept a similar certificate to the effect that any particular 
dealing, transaction or action is necessary or expedient, but may at its discretion secure such further 
evidence deemed necessary or advisable, but shall in no case be bound to secure the same. 

 
(g) The permissive right of the Trustee to do things enumerated in this Indenture shall 

not be construed as a duty, and the Trustee shall not be answerable for other than its negligence or 
willful misconduct. 

 
(h) The Trustee shall not be required to take notice or be deemed to have notice of any 

default hereunder except failure by the City to cause to be made any of the payments to the Trustee 
required to be made in Article VI, unless the Trustee is specifically notified in writing of such 
default by the City or by the Owners of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of all Bonds 
then-Outstanding. 

M - 7 - 109



(i) At any and all reasonable times and subject to the Developer’s reasonable and 
standard security procedures, the Trustee and its duly authorized agents, attorneys, experts, 
engineers, accountants and representatives may, but shall not be required to, inspect any and all of 
the Project, and all books, papers and records of the City pertaining to the Project and the Bonds, 
and to take such memoranda from and in regard thereto as may be desired.  The Trustee shall treat 
all proprietary information of the Developer as confidential. 

(j) The Trustee shall not be required to give any bond or surety in respect to the 
execution of its trusts and powers hereunder or otherwise in respect of the Project. 

 
(k) The Trustee may, but shall not be required to, demand, in respect of the 

authentication of any Bonds, the withdrawal of any cash, the release of any property, or any action 
whatsoever within the purview of this Indenture, any showings, certificates, opinions, appraisals or 
other information, or corporate action or evidence thereof, in addition to that by the terms hereof 
required, as a condition of such action by the Trustee deemed desirable for the purpose of 
establishing the right of the City to the authentication of any Bonds, the withdrawal of any cash, or 
the taking of any other action by the Trustee. 

 
(l) Notwithstanding anything in this Indenture or the Lease to the contrary, before 

taking any action under this Indenture other than the payments from moneys on deposit in the 
Project Fund or the Bond Fund, as provided herein, the Trustee may require that satisfactory 
indemnity be furnished to it for the reimbursement of all costs and expenses (including, without 
limitation, attorneys’ fees and expenses) to which it may be put and to protect it against all liability 
which it may incur in or by reason of such action, except liability which is adjudicated to have 
resulted from its negligence or willful misconduct by reason of any action so taken. 

 
 (m) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Indenture to the contrary, any 
provision relating to the conduct of, intended to provide authority to act, right to payment of fees 
and expenses, protection, immunity and indemnification to the Trustee, shall be interpreted to 
include any action of the Trustee, whether it is deemed to be in its capacity as Trustee, bond 
registrar or Paying Agent. 
 
 (n) The Trustee agrees to accept and act on instructions or directions pursuant to this 
Indenture sent by the City or the Developer, as the case may be, by unsecured e-mail, facsimile 
transmission or other similar unsecured electronic methods, provided, however, that the City or the 
Developer, respectively, shall provide to the Trustee an incumbency certificate listing designated 
Persons with the authority to provide such instructions, which incumbency certificate shall be 
amended whenever a Person is to be added or deleted from the listing.  If the City or the Developer, 
as applicable, elects to give the Trustee e-mail or facsimile instructions (or instructions by a similar 
electronic method) and the Trustee acts upon such instructions, the Trustee’s understanding of such 
instructions shall be deemed controlling.  The Trustee shall not be liable for any losses, costs or 
expenses arising directly or indirectly from the Trustee’s reliance upon and compliance with such 
instructions notwithstanding such instructions conflict or are inconsistent with a subsequent written 
instruction.  The City or the Developer, as applicable, agrees to assume all risks arising out of the 
use of such electronic methods to submit instructions and directions to the Trustee, including 
without limitation the risk of the Trustee acting on unauthorized instructions, and the risk of 
interception and misuse by third parties. 
 

(o) The Trustee shall have no responsibility with respect to any information, statement 
or recital in any official statement, offering memorandum or any other disclosure material prepared 

M - 7 - 110



or distributed with respect to the Bonds and shall have no responsibility for compliance with any 
state or federal securities laws in connection with the Bonds. 
 

(p) None of the provisions of this Indenture shall require the Trustee to expend or risk 
its own funds or otherwise to incur any liability, financial or otherwise, in the performance of any 
of its duties hereunder, or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers if it has reasonable grounds 
for believing that repayment of such funds or indemnity satisfactory to it against such risk or 
liability is not assured to it. 

 
Section 1002. Fees, Charges and Expenses of the Trustee.  The Trustee shall be entitled to 

payment of and/or reimbursement for reasonable fees for its ordinary services rendered hereunder and all 
advances, agent and counsel fees and other ordinary expenses reasonably made or incurred by the Trustee 
in connection with such ordinary services.  If it becomes necessary for the Trustee to perform extraordinary 
services, it shall be entitled to reasonable extra compensation therefor and to reimbursement for reasonable 
extraordinary expenses in connection therewith; provided that if such extraordinary services or 
extraordinary expenses are caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of the Trustee, it shall not be 
entitled to compensation or reimbursement therefor.  The Trustee shall be entitled to payment and 
reimbursement for the reasonable fees and charges of the Trustee as Paying Agent for the Bonds.  Pursuant 
to the provisions of Section 5.2 of the Lease, the Developer has agreed to pay to the Trustee all reasonable 
fees, charges and expenses of the Trustee under this Indenture.  The Trustee agrees that the City shall have 
no liability for any reasonable fees, charges and expenses of the Trustee, and the Trustee agrees to look 
only to the Developer for the payment of all reasonable fees, charges and expenses of the Trustee and any 
Paying Agent as provided in the Lease.  Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default and during its 
continuance, the Trustee shall have a lien with right of payment before payment on account of principal of 
or interest on any Bond, upon all moneys in its possession under any provisions hereof for the foregoing 
reasonable advances, fees, costs and expenses incurred.  The Trustee’s right to compensation and 
indemnification shall survive the satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture or its resignation or removal 
hereunder and payment in full of the Bonds. 
 

Section 1003. Notice to Owners if Default Occurs.  If a default occurs of which the Trustee is 
by Section 1001(h) required to take notice or if notice of default is given as in said subsection (h) provided, 
then the Trustee shall give written notice thereof to the last known Owners of all Bonds then-Outstanding 
as shown by the bond registration books required by Section 206 to be kept at the corporate trust office of 
the Trustee. 
 

Section 1004. Intervention by the Trustee.  In any judicial proceeding to which the City is a 
party and which, in the opinion of the Trustee and its counsel, has a substantial bearing on the interests of 
Owners, the Trustee may intervene on behalf of Owners and, subject to the provisions of Section 1001(l), 
shall do so if requested in writing by the Owners of at least 25% of the aggregate principal amount of Bonds 
then-Outstanding. 
 

Section 1005. Successor Trustee Upon Merger, Consolidation or Sale.  With the prior written 
consent of the Developer, any corporation or association into which the Trustee may be merged or converted 
or with or into which it may be consolidated, or to which it may sell or transfer its corporate trust business 
and assets as a whole or substantially as a whole, or any corporation or association resulting from any 
merger, conversion, sale, consolidation or transfer to which it is a party, shall be and become successor 
Trustee hereunder and shall be vested with all the trusts, powers, rights, obligations, duties, remedies, 
immunities and privileges hereunder as was its predecessor, without the execution or filing of any 
instrument or any further act on the part of any of the parties hereto. 
 

M - 7 - 111



Section 1006. Resignation of Trustee.  The Trustee and any successor Trustee may at any time 
resign from the trusts hereby created by giving 30 days’ written notice to the City, the Developer and the 
Owners, and such resignation shall take effect at the end of such 30 days, or upon the earlier appointment 
of a successor Trustee by the Owners or by the City; provided, however, that in no event shall the 
resignation of the Trustee or any successor Trustee become effective until such time as a successor Trustee 
has been appointed and has accepted the appointment.  If no successor has been appointed and accepted the 
appointment within 30 days after the giving of such notice of resignation, the Trustee, at the Developer’s 
expense, may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Trustee. 

 
Section 1007. Removal of Trustee.  The Trustee may be removed at any time, with or without 

cause, by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing (a) delivered to the Trustee, the City and the 
Developer and signed by the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then-
Outstanding, or (b) so long as no Event of Default under this Indenture or the Lease has occurred and is 
continuing, delivered to the Trustee, the City and the Owners and signed by the Developer. 
 

Section 1008. Appointment of Successor Trustee.  If the Trustee hereunder resigns or is 
removed, or otherwise becomes incapable of acting hereunder, or if it is taken under the control of any 
public officer or officers or of a receiver appointed by a court, a successor Trustee (a) reasonably acceptable 
to the City may be appointed by the Developer (so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is 
continuing), or (b) reasonably acceptable to the City and the Developer may be appointed by the Owners 
of a majority in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then-Outstanding, by an instrument or concurrent 
instruments in writing; provided, nevertheless, that in case of such vacancy, the City, by an instrument 
executed and signed by its City Manager and attested by its City Clerk under its seal, may appoint a 
temporary Trustee to fill such vacancy until a successor Trustee shall be appointed in the manner above 
provided.  Any such temporary Trustee so appointed by the City shall immediately and without further acts 
be superseded by the successor Trustee so appointed as provided above.  Every such Trustee appointed 
pursuant to the provisions of this Section shall be a trust company or bank in good standing and qualified 
to accept such trust with a corporate trust office in the State, and having, or whose obligations are guaranteed 
by a financial institution having, a reported capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than 
$50,000,000.  If no successor Trustee has been so appointed and accepted appointment in the manner herein 
provided, the Trustee, at the Developer’s expense, or any Owner may petition any court of competent 
jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Trustee, until a successor has been appointed as above 
provided. 
 

Section 1009. Vesting of Trusts in Successor Trustee.  Every successor Trustee appointed 
hereunder shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to its predecessor and also to the City and the Developer 
an instrument in writing accepting such appointment hereunder, and thereupon such successor shall, without 
any further act, deed or conveyance, become fully vested with all the trusts, powers, rights, obligations, 
duties, remedies, immunities and privileges of its predecessor and the duties and obligations of such 
predecessor hereunder shall thereafter cease and terminate; but such predecessor shall, nevertheless, on the 
written request of the City, execute and deliver an instrument transferring to such successor Trustee all the 
trusts, powers, rights, obligations, duties, remedies, immunities and privileges of such predecessor 
hereunder; every predecessor Trustee shall deliver all securities and moneys held by it as Trustee hereunder 
to its successor.  Should any instrument in writing from the City be required by any predecessor or successor 
Trustee for more fully and certainly vesting in such successor the trusts, powers, rights, obligations, duties, 
remedies, immunities and privileges hereby vested in the predecessor, any and all such instruments in 
writing shall, on request, be executed, acknowledged and delivered by the City. 
 

M - 7 - 112



Section 1010. Right of Trustee to Pay Taxes and Other Charges.  If any tax, assessment or 
governmental or other charge upon, or insurance premium with respect to, any part of the Project is not 
paid as required herein or in the Lease, the Trustee may pay such tax, assessment or governmental charge 
or insurance premium, without prejudice, however, to any rights of the Trustee or the Owners hereunder 
arising in consequence of such failure; any amount at any time so paid under this Section, with interest 
thereon from the date of payment at the rate of 10% per annum, shall become an additional obligation 
secured by this Indenture, and the same shall be given a preference in payment over any payment of 
principal of or interest on the Bonds, and shall be paid out of the proceeds of rents, revenues and receipts 
collected from the Project, if not otherwise caused to be paid; but the Trustee shall be under no obligation 
to make any such payment unless it has been requested to do so by the Owners of at least 25% of the 
aggregate principal amount of Bonds then-Outstanding and has been provided adequate funds for the 
purpose of such payment. 
 

Section 1011. Trust Estate May be Vested in Co-Trustee. 
 

(a) It is the purpose of this Indenture that there shall be no violation of any law of any 
jurisdiction (including particularly the State) denying or restricting the right of banking corporations or 
associations to transact business as trustee in such jurisdiction.  It is recognized that in case of litigation 
under this Indenture or the Lease, and in particular in case of the enforcement of either this Indenture or the 
Lease upon the occurrence of an Event of Default or if the Trustee deems that by reason of any present or 
future law of any jurisdiction it cannot exercise any of the powers, rights or remedies herein granted to the 
Trustee, or take any other action which may be desirable or necessary in connection therewith, it may be 
necessary or desirable that the Trustee appoint an additional individual or institution as a co-trustee or 
separate trustee, and the Trustee is hereby authorized to appoint such co-trustee or separate trustee. 
 

(b) If the Trustee appoints an additional individual or institution as a co-trustee or separate 
trustee (which appointment shall be subject to the approval of the Developer), each and every remedy, 
power, right, claim, demand, cause of action, immunity, title, interest and lien expressed or intended by this 
Indenture to be exercised by the Trustee with respect thereto shall be exercisable by such co-trustee or 
separate trustee but only to the extent necessary to enable such co-trustee or separate trustee to exercise 
such powers, rights and remedies, and every covenant and obligation necessary to the exercise thereof by 
such co-trustee or separate trustee shall run to and be enforceable by either of them. 
 

(c) Should any deed, conveyance or instrument in writing from the City be required by the co-
trustee or separate trustee so appointed by the Trustee for more fully and certainly vesting in and confirming 
to such co-trustee or separate trustee such properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations, any and 
all such deeds, conveyances and instruments in writing shall, on request, be executed, acknowledged and 
delivered by the City. 
 

(d) If any co-trustee or separate trustee shall die, become incapable of acting, resign or be 
removed, all the properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations of such co-trustee or separate 
trustee, so far as permitted by law, shall vest in and be exercised by the Trustee until the appointment of a 
successor to such co-trustee or separate trustee. 
 

Section 1012. Accounting.  The Trustee shall render an annual accounting for the period ending 
December 31 of each year to the City, the Developer and to any Owner requesting the same and, upon the 
request of the City, the Developer or any Owner (at such Owner’s expense), a monthly accounting to any 
such party, showing in reasonable detail all financial transactions relating to the Trust Estate during the 

M - 7 - 113



accounting period and the balance in any funds or accounts created by this Indenture as of the beginning 
and close of such accounting period. 
 

Section 1013. Performance of Duties Under the Lease.  The Trustee hereby accepts and agrees 
to perform all duties and obligations specifically assigned to it under the Lease. 
 
 

ARTICLE XI 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES 
 

Section 1101. Supplemental Indentures Not Requiring Consent of Owners.  The City and the 
Trustee may from time to time, without the consent of or notice to any of the Owners, enter into such 
Supplemental Indenture or Supplemental Indentures as shall not be inconsistent with the terms and 
provisions hereof, for any one or more of the following purposes: 
 

(a) To cure any ambiguity or formal defect or omission in this Indenture, or to make 
any other change which, in the judgment of the Trustee, is not to the material prejudice of the 
Trustee or the Owners (provided the Trustee is entitled to receive and may conclusively rely upon 
an opinion of counsel in exercising such judgment); 
 

(b) To grant to or confer upon the Trustee for the benefit of the Owners any additional 
rights, remedies, powers or authority that may lawfully be granted to or conferred upon the Owners 
or the Trustee or both of them; 
 

(c) To more precisely identify any portion of the Project or to add additional property 
thereto; 
 

(d) To conform the Indenture to amendments to the Lease made by the City and the 
Developer; or 

 
(e) To subject to this Indenture additional revenues, properties or collateral. 

 
 Section 1102. Supplemental Indentures Requiring Consent of Owners. 
 

(a) Exclusive of Supplemental Indentures covered by Section 1101 and subject to the terms 
and provisions contained in this Section, and not otherwise, the Owners of not less than a majority in 
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then-Outstanding may, from time to time, anything contained in 
this Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, consent to and approve the execution by the City and the 
Trustee of such other Supplemental Indenture or Supplemental Indentures as shall be deemed necessary 
and desirable by the City for the purpose of modifying, amending, adding to or rescinding, in any particular, 
any of the terms or provisions contained in this Indenture or in any Supplemental Indenture; provided, 
however, that without the consent of the Owners of 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds then-
Outstanding, nothing in this Section contained shall permit or be construed as permitting (1) an extension 
of the maturity or a shortening of the redemption date of the principal of or the interest, if any, on any Bond 
issued hereunder, or (2) a reduction in the principal amount of any Bond or the rate of interest thereon, if 
any, or (3) a privilege or priority of any Bond or Bonds over any other Bond or Bonds, or (4) a reduction 

M - 7 - 114



in the aggregate principal amount of Bonds the Owners of which are required for consent to any such 
Supplemental Indenture. 
 

(b) If at the time the City requests the Trustee to enter into any such Supplemental Indenture 
for any of the purposes of this Section, the Trustee shall cause notice of the proposed execution of such 
Supplemental Indenture to be mailed to each Owner as shown on the bond registration books required by 
Section 206.  Such notice shall briefly set forth the nature of the proposed Supplemental Indenture and shall 
state that copies thereof are on file at the corporate trust office of the Trustee for inspection by all Owners.  
If within 60 days or such longer period as may be prescribed by the City following the mailing of such 
notice, the Owners of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding at 
the time of the execution of any such Supplemental Indenture shall have consented to and approved the 
execution thereof as herein provided, no Owner shall have any right to object to any of the terms and 
provisions contained therein, or the operation thereof, or in any manner to question the propriety of the 
execution thereof, or to enjoin or restrain the Trustee or the City from executing the same or from taking 
any action pursuant to the provisions thereof. 
 

Section 1103. Developer’s Consent to Supplemental Indentures.  Anything herein to the 
contrary notwithstanding, a Supplemental Indenture under this Article shall not become effective unless 
and until the Developer has consented in writing to the execution and delivery of such Supplemental 
Indenture.  The Trustee shall cause notice of the proposed execution and delivery of any Supplemental 
Indenture (regardless of whether it affects the Developer’s rights) together with a copy of the proposed 
Supplemental Indenture to be mailed to the Developer and any Financing Party of which the Trustee has 
received written notice at least 15 days before the proposed date of execution and delivery of the 
Supplemental Indenture. 

 
Section 1104. Opinion of Counsel.  In executing, or accepting the additional trusts created by, 

any Supplemental Indenture permitted by this Article or the modification thereby of the trusts created by 
this Indenture, the Trustee and the City shall receive, and, shall be fully protected in relying upon, an opinion 
of counsel addressed and delivered to the Trustee and the City stating that the execution of such 
Supplemental Indenture is permitted by and in compliance with this Indenture and will, upon the execution 
and delivery thereof, be a valid and binding obligation of the City.  The Trustee may, but shall not be 
obligated to, enter into any such Supplemental Indenture which affects the Trustee’s rights, duties or 
immunities under this Indenture or otherwise. 
 
 

ARTICLE XII 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL LEASES 
 

Section 1201. Supplemental Leases Not Requiring Consent of Owners.  The City and the 
Trustee shall, without the consent of or notice to the Owners, consent to the execution of any Supplemental 
Lease or Supplemental Leases by the City and the Developer as may be required (a) by the provisions of 
the Lease and this Indenture, (b) for the purpose of curing any ambiguity or formal defect or omission in 
the Lease, (c) so as to more precisely identify the Project or add additional property thereto or (d) in 
connection with any other change therein which, in the judgment of the Trustee, does not materially and 
adversely affect the Trustee or security for the Owners (provided the Trustee is entitled to receive and may 
conclusively rely upon an opinion of counsel in exercising such judgment). 
 

M - 7 - 115



Section 1202. Supplemental Leases Requiring Consent of Owners.  Except for Supplemental 
Leases as provided for in Section 1201, neither the City nor the Trustee shall consent to the execution of 
any Supplemental Lease or Supplemental Leases by the City or the Developer without the mailing of notice 
and the obtaining of the written approval or consent of the Owners of not less than a majority in aggregate 
principal amount of the Bonds at the time Outstanding given and obtained as provided in Section 1102.  If 
at any time the City and the Developer shall request the consent of the Trustee to any such proposed 
Supplemental Lease, the Trustee shall cause notice of such proposed Supplemental Lease to be mailed in 
the same manner as provided in Section 1102 with respect to Supplemental Indentures.  Such notice shall 
briefly set forth the nature of such proposed Supplemental Lease and shall state that copies of the same are 
on file in the corporate trust office of the Trustee for inspection by all Owners.  If within 60 days or such 
longer period as may be prescribed by the City following the mailing of such notice, the Owners of not less 
than 50% in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding at the time of the execution of any such 
Supplemental Lease shall have consented to and approved the execution thereof as herein provided, no 
Owner shall have any right to object to any of the terms and provisions contained therein, or the operation 
thereof, or in any manner to question the propriety of the execution thereof, or to enjoin or restrain the 
Trustee or the City from executing the same or from taking any action pursuant to the provisions thereof. 
 

Section 1203. Opinion of Counsel.  In executing or consenting to any Supplemental Lease 
permitted by this Article, the City and the Trustee shall receive, and shall be fully protected in relying upon, 
an opinion of counsel addressed to the Trustee and the City stating that the executing of such Supplemental 
Lease is authorized or permitted by the Lease and this Indenture and the applicable law and will upon the 
execution and delivery thereof be valid and binding obligations of the parties thereto. 
 
 

ARTICLE XIII 
 

SATISFACTION AND DISCHARGE OF INDENTURE 
 
 Section 1301. Satisfaction and Discharge of this Indenture. 
 

(a) When the principal of and interest on all the Bonds have been paid in accordance with their 
terms or provision has been made for such payment, as provided in Section 1302, and provision also made 
for paying all other sums payable hereunder and under the Lease and the Development and Performance 
Agreement, including the reasonable fees and expenses of the Trustee, the City and Paying Agent to the 
date of retirement of the Bonds, then the right, title and interest of the Trustee in respect hereof shall 
thereupon cease, determine and be void.  Thereupon, the Trustee shall cancel, discharge and release this 
Indenture and shall upon the written request of the City or the Developer execute, acknowledge and deliver 
to the City such instruments of satisfaction and discharge or release as shall be required to evidence such 
release and the satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture, and shall assign and deliver to the City (subject 
to the City’s obligations under Section 11.2 of the Lease) any property at the time subject to this Indenture 
which may then be in its possession, except amounts in the Bond Fund required to be paid to the Developer 
under Section 602 and except funds or securities in which such funds are invested held by the Trustee for 
the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds. 
 

(b) The City is hereby authorized to accept a certificate by the Trustee that the whole amount 
of the principal and interest, if any, so due and payable upon all of the Bonds then-Outstanding has been 
paid or such payment provided for in accordance with Section 1302 as evidence of satisfaction of this 
Indenture, and upon receipt thereof shall cancel and erase the inscription of this Indenture from its records. 
 

M - 7 - 116



 Section 1302. Bonds Deemed to be Paid. 
 

(a) Bonds shall be deemed to be paid within the meaning of this Article when payment of the 
principal of and interest thereon to the due date thereof (whether such due date be by reason of maturity or 
upon redemption as provided in this Indenture, or otherwise), either (1) have been made or caused to be 
made in accordance with the terms thereof, or (2) have been provided for by depositing with the Trustee or 
other commercial bank or trust company having full trust powers and authorized to accept trusts in the State 
in trust and irrevocably set aside exclusively for such payment (A) moneys sufficient to make such payment 
or (B) Government Securities maturing as to principal and interest in such amount and at such times as will 
ensure the availability of sufficient moneys to make such payment, or (C) have been provided for by 
surrendering the Bonds to the Trustee for cancellation.  When the Bonds are deemed to be paid hereunder, 
as aforesaid, they shall no longer be secured by or entitled to the benefits of this Indenture, except for the 
purposes of such payment from such moneys or Government Securities. 
 

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of Bonds which by their terms may be redeemed 
before the stated maturities thereof, no deposit under clause (2) of the immediately preceding paragraph 
shall be deemed a payment of such Bonds as aforesaid until, as to all such Bonds which are to be redeemed 
before their respective stated maturities, proper notice of such redemption has been given in accordance 
with Article III or irrevocable instructions have been given to the Trustee to give such notice. 
 
 (c) Notwithstanding any provision of any other section of this Indenture which may be 
contrary to the provisions of this Section, all moneys or Government Securities set aside and held in trust 
pursuant to the provisions of this Section for the payment of Bonds shall be applied to and used solely for 
the payment of the particular Bonds, with respect to which such moneys and Government Securities have 
been so set aside in trust. 
 
 

ARTICLE XIV 
 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 

Section 1401. Consents and Other Instruments by Owners.   
 
(a) Any consent, request, direction, approval, objection or other instrument required by this 

Indenture to be signed and executed by the Owners may be in any number of concurrent writings of similar 
tenor and may be signed or executed by such Owners in person or by agent appointed in writing.  Proof of 
the execution of any such instrument or of the writing appointing any such agent and of the ownership of 
Bonds (other than the assignment of ownership of a Bond) if made in the following manner, shall be 
sufficient for any of the purposes of this Indenture, and shall be conclusive in favor of the Trustee with 
regard to any action taken, suffered or omitted under any such instrument, namely: 
 

 (1) The fact and date of the execution by any Person of any such instrument may be 
proved by the certificate of any officer in any jurisdiction who by law has power to take 
acknowledgments within such jurisdiction that the Person signing such instrument acknowledged 
before him the execution thereof, or by affidavit of any witness to such execution. 

 
(2) The fact of ownership of Bonds and the amount or amounts, numbers and other 

identification of such Bonds, and the date of holding the same shall be proved by the registration 
books of the City maintained by the Trustee pursuant to Section 206. 

 

M - 7 - 117



 (b) In determining whether the Owners of the requisite principal amount of Bonds Outstanding 
have given any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent or waiver under this Indenture, 
Bonds owned by the Developer shall be disregarded and deemed not to be Outstanding under this Indenture, 
except that, in determining whether the Trustee shall be protected in relying upon any such request, demand, 
authorization, direction, notice, consent or waiver, only Bonds which the Trustee knows to be so owned 
shall be so disregarded; provided, the foregoing provisions shall not be applicable if the Developer is the 
only Owner of the Bonds.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Bonds so owned which have been pledged in 
good faith shall not be disregarded as aforesaid if the pledgee establishes to the satisfaction of the Trustee 
the pledgee’s right so to act with respect to such Bonds and the pledgee is not the Developer or any affiliate 
thereof.  The parties hereto acknowledge that, as of the date of execution and delivery of this Indenture, the 
Lender is the pledgee of the Bonds and shall be deemed to be the sole holder of the Bonds for purposes of 
any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent or waiver under this Indenture.   
 

Section 1402. Limitation of Rights Under this Indenture.  With the exception of rights herein 
expressly conferred, nothing expressed or mentioned in or to be implied from this Indenture or the Bonds 
is intended or shall be construed to give any Person other than the parties hereto, and the Owners, if any, 
any right, remedy or claim under or in respect to this Indenture, this Indenture and all of the covenants, 
conditions and provisions hereof being intended to be and being for the sole and exclusive benefit of the 
parties hereto, the Lender and the Owners, as herein provided. 

 
Section 1403. Rights of Lender.   The City and the Trustee agree that in addition to any other 

rights to assign the Bonds as set forth herein, the Developer may collaterally assign its interest in the Bonds 
to the Lender for the purpose of securing the Developer’s obligations to the Lender in connection with the 
financing or refinancing of the Project.  In the event of a collateral assignment made by the Developer, the 
City and the Trustee agree, at the expense of the Developer, to execute such consents, estoppels and other 
documents related thereto as the Lender shall reasonably request and in such form with such terms as the 
City and the Trustee deem appropriate. 

 
Section 1404. Notices.  It shall be sufficient service of any notice, request, complaint, demand or 

other paper required by this Indenture to be given or filed with the City, the Trustee, the Developer, the 
Lender or Owners if the same is duly mailed, postage prepaid, sent by overnight delivery or other delivery 
service, as follows: 
 

(a) To the City: 
 

City of University City 
6801 Delmar Boulevard 
University City, Missouri 63130 
Attn:  City Manager 
grose@ucitymo.org 
 
with copies to: 
 
John F. Mulligan, Jr. 
Attorney at Law 
6 Carrswold 
Clayton, Missouri 63105 
jfmulliganjr@aol.com 
 

M - 7 - 118



(b) To the Trustee: 
 

[*Trustee*] 
__________ 
__________ 
Attn:  Corporate Trust Department 
 

(c) To the Developer: 
 

Delmar View Properties, LLC 
c/o Charles Deutsch & Company 
One McKnight Place 
St. Louis, Missouri  63124 
Attn: Charles J. Deutsch 
cdeutsch@gatecodevelopment.com 
 

 with a copy to: 
 

Spencer Fane LLP 
 1 N. Brentwood Boulevard, Suite 1000 
 St. Louis, Missouri 63105 
 Attn:  Robert Preston, Esq. 
 rpreston@spencerfane.com 

 
(d) To the Lender: 
 

    [*Lender*] 
    __________ 

__________ 
Attn:  __________ 

 
(e) To the Owners if the same is duly mailed by first-class, registered or certified mail 

addressed to each of the Owners of Bonds at the time Outstanding as shown by the bond registration 
books required by Section 206 to be kept at the corporate trust office of the Trustee. 

 
All notices given by certified or registered mail as aforesaid shall be deemed fully given as of the 

date they are so mailed, provided that any of the foregoing given to the Trustee shall be effective only upon 
receipt.  All notices given by overnight delivery or other delivery service shall be deemed fully given as of 
the date when received.  A duplicate copy of each notice, certificate or other communication given 
hereunder by either the City or the Trustee to the other shall also be given to the Developer and the Lender.  
The City, the Developer, the Lender and the Trustee may from time to time designate, by notice given 
hereunder to the others of such parties, such other address to which subsequent notices, certificates or other 
communications shall be sent. 
 

Section 1405. Severability.  If any provision of this Indenture is held or deemed to be invalid, 
inoperative or unenforceable as applied in any particular case in any jurisdiction or jurisdictions or in all 
jurisdictions, or in all cases because it conflicts with any other provision or provisions hereof or any 
constitution or statute or rule of public policy, or for any other reason, such circumstances shall not have 
the effect of rendering the provision in question inoperative or unenforceable in any other case or 

M - 7 - 119



circumstance, or of rendering any other provision or provisions herein contained invalid, inoperative or 
unenforceable to any extent whatever. 
 

Section 1406. Execution in Counterparts.  This Indenture may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same 
instrument. 
 

Section 1407. Governing Law.  This Indenture shall be governed exclusively by and construed 
in accordance with the applicable laws of the State. 
 

 Section 1408. Electronic Transaction.  The parties agree that the transaction described herein 
may be conducted and related documents may be sent, received or stored by electronic means. Copies, 
telecopies, facsimiles, electronic files and other reproductions of original executed documents shall be 
deemed to be authentic and valid counterparts of such original documents for all purposes, including the 
filing of any claim, action or suit in the appropriate court of law. 

 
Section 1409. City Consent.  Pursuant to the Ordinance, the City Manager is authorized to 

execute all documents on behalf of the City (including documents pertaining to the transfer of property or 
the financing or refinancing of the Project by the Developer) as may be required to carry out and comply 
with the intent of the Ordinance, this Indenture and the Lease.  The City Manager is also authorized, unless 
expressly prohibited herein, to grant on behalf of the City such consents, estoppels and waivers relating to 
the Bonds, this Indenture, the Base Lease, the Lease or the Development and Performance Agreement as 
may be requested during the term thereof; provided, such consents, estoppels and/or waivers shall not 
increase the principal amount of the Bonds, increase the term of the Lease or the tax exemption as provided 
for therein, waive an Event of Default or materially change the nature of the transaction unless otherwise 
approved by the City Council.  

 
Section 1410. Anti-Discrimination Against Israel Act.  Pursuant to Section 34.600 of the 

Revised Statutes of Missouri, the Trustee certifies it is not currently engaged in and shall not, for the 
duration of this Indenture, engage in a boycott of goods or services from (a) the State of Israel, 
(b) companies doing business in or with the State of Israel or authorized by, licensed by or organized under 
the laws of the State of Israel or (c) persons or entities doing business in the State of Israel. 

 
 

 
[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.] 

M - 7 - 120



 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of University City, Missouri, has caused this Indenture to be 
signed in its name and behalf by its City Manager and the seal of the City to be hereunto affixed and attested 
by its City Clerk, and to evidence its acceptance of the trusts hereby created, [*Trustee*] has caused this 
Indenture to be signed in its name and behalf by a duly authorized officer, all as of the date first above 
written. 
 
 

CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 
 
 
 

By:       
Gregory Rose, City Manager 

 
[SEAL] 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
By:       
 LaRette Reese, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[Trust Indenture] 

M - 7 - 121



       [*TRUSTEE*], as Trustee 
 
 
 

By:       
Name:       
Title:        
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[Trust Indenture] 

M - 7 - 122



EXHIBIT A 
 

PROJECT SITE 
 
 

The land situated in the County of St. Louis, State of Missouri, and described as follows: 
 

M - 7 - 123



EXHIBIT B 
 

FORM OF BONDS 
 
 

THIS BOND OR ANY PORTION HEREOF MAY BE TRANSFERRED, ASSIGNED OR 
NEGOTIATED ONLY AS PROVIDED IN THE HEREIN-DESCRIBED INDENTURE. 

 
 
No. 1 Not to Exceed 
 $90,000,000 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

STATE OF MISSOURI 
 

CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 
TAXABLE INDUSTRIAL REVENUE BOND 

(DELMAR BOULEVARD REDEVELOPMENT AREA PROJECT) 
SERIES 2022 

 
 

Interest Rate Maturity Date Dated Date 
   

5.0% December 1, 2026 
 

__________, 2022 

 
OWNER:     ______________________________ 

 
MAXIMUM PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: NINETY MILLION DOLLARS 

 
 The CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, a home-rule city organized and existing under 
its charter and the laws of the State of Missouri (the “City”), for value received, promises to pay, but solely 
from the source hereinafter referred to, to the Owner named above, or registered assigns thereof, on the 
Maturity Date shown above, the principal amount shown above, or such lesser amount as may be 
outstanding hereunder as reflected on Schedule I hereto held by the Trustee as provided in the hereinafter 
referred to Indenture.  The City agrees to pay such principal amount to the Owner in any coin or currency 
of the United States of America which on the date of payment thereof is legal tender for the payment of 
public and private debts, and in like manner to pay to the Owner hereof, either by check or draft mailed to 
the Owner at a stated address as it appears on the bond registration books of the City kept by the Trustee 
under the within mentioned Indenture or, in certain situations authorized in the Indenture, by internal bank 
transfer or by wire transfer to an account in a commercial bank or savings institution located in the United 
States.  Interest on the Cumulative Outstanding Principal Amount (as hereinafter defined) at the per annum 
Interest Rate stated above, payable in arrears on each December 1, commencing on December 1, 2023, and 
continuing thereafter until the earlier of the date on which said Cumulative Outstanding Principal Amount 
is paid in full or the Maturity Date.  Interest on each advancement of the principal amount of this Bond 
shall accrue from the date that such advancement is made, computed on the basis of a year of 360 days 
consisting of 12 months of 30 days each. 
 

M - 7 - 124



 As used herein, the term “Cumulative Outstanding Principal Amount” means all Bonds outstanding 
under the terms of the hereinafter-defined Indenture, as reflected on Schedule I hereto maintained by the 
Trustee. 
 
 THIS BOND is one of a duly authorized series of Bonds of the City designated the “City of 
University City, Missouri, Taxable Industrial Revenue Bonds (Delmar Boulevard Redevelopment Area 
Project), Series 2022,” in the maximum aggregate principal amount of $90,000,000 (the “Bonds”), to be 
issued for the purpose of acquiring a leasehold interest in certain real property located south of Delmar 
Boulevard between McKnight Place and Kingdel Drive in the City (the “Project Site”) and constructing 
thereon a development consisting of approximately 262 residential apartments, 1,300 square feet of 
commercial space, and related parking and infrastructure (the “Project Improvements”).  The City will lease 
the Project Site and the Project Improvements (collectively, the “Project”) to Delmar View Properties, LLC, 
a Missouri limited liability company (the “Developer”), under the terms of a Lease Agreement dated as of 
September __, 2022 (said Lease Agreement, as amended and supplemented from time to time in accordance 
with the provisions thereof, being herein called the “Lease”), between the City and the Developer, all 
pursuant to the authority of and in full compliance with the provisions, restrictions and limitations of the 
Constitution and the statutes of the State of Missouri, including particularly the Act, and pursuant to 
proceedings duly had by the City Council.   
 
 THE BONDS are issued under and are equally and ratably secured and entitled to the protection 
given by a Trust Indenture dated as of September __, 2022 (said Trust Indenture, as amended and 
supplemented from time to time in accordance with the provisions thereof, being herein called the 
“Indenture”), between the City and [*Trustee*], as trustee (the “Trustee”).  Capitalized terms not defined 
herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Indenture. 
 
 Reference is hereby made to the Indenture for a description of the provisions, among others, with 
respect to the nature and extent of the security for the Bonds, the rights, duties and obligations of the City, 
the Trustee and the Owners, and the terms upon which the Bonds are issued and secured. 
 
 THE BONDS are subject to redemption and payment at any time before the stated maturity thereof, 
at the option of the City, upon written instructions from the Developer, (1) in whole, if the Developer 
exercises its option to purchase the Project and deposits an amount sufficient to effect such purchase 
pursuant to the Lease on the applicable redemption date, or (2) in part, if the Developer prepays additional 
Basic Rent pursuant to the Lease; provided, however, if only a portion of the Bonds are to be redeemed, 
Bonds aggregating at least 10% of the maximum principal amount of Bonds authorized under the Indenture 
shall not be subject to redemption and payment before the stated maturity thereof.  Any redemption of 
Bonds pursuant to this paragraph shall be at a redemption price equal to the par value thereof being 
redeemed, plus accrued interest thereon, without premium or penalty, to the redemption date. 
 
 THE BONDS are subject to mandatory redemption, in whole or in part, to the extent of amounts 
deposited in the Bond Fund pursuant to Section 9.1(f) or 9.2(c) of the Lease, in the event of substantial 
damage to or destruction or condemnation of substantially all of the Project.  Bonds to be redeemed pursuant 
to this paragraph shall be called for redemption by the Trustee on the earliest practicable date for which 
timely notice of redemption may be given as provided in the Indenture.  Any redemption of Bonds pursuant 
to this paragraph shall be at a redemption price equal to the par value thereof being redeemed, plus accrued 
interest thereon, without premium or penalty, to the redemption date.  Before giving notice of redemption 
to the Owners pursuant to this paragraph, money in an amount equal to the redemption price shall have 
been deposited in the Bond Fund. 
 

M - 7 - 125



 If the Bonds are to be called for optional redemption, the Developer shall deliver written notice to 
the City and the Trustee that it has elected to redeem all or a portion of the Bonds at least 40 days (10 days 
if there is one Owner) before the scheduled redemption date.  The Trustee shall then deliver written notice 
to the Owner of this Bond at least 30 days (five days if there is one Owner) before the scheduled redemption 
date by facsimile or other electronic communication and by first-class mail stating the date upon which the 
Bonds will be redeemed and paid. 
 
 THE BONDS, including interest thereon, are special obligations of the City and are payable solely 
out of the rents, revenues and receipts derived by the City from the Project and the Lease and not from any 
other fund or source of the City, and are secured by a pledge and assignment of the Project and of such 
rents, revenues and receipts, including all rentals and other amounts to be received by the City under and 
pursuant to the Lease, all as provided in the Indenture.  The Bonds do not constitute a general obligation of 
the City or the State of Missouri, and neither the City nor said State shall be liable thereon, and the Bonds 
shall not constitute an indebtedness within the meaning of any constitutional, statutory or charter debt 
limitation or restriction, and are not payable in any manner by taxation.  Pursuant to the provisions of the 
Lease, rental payments sufficient for the prompt payment when due of the principal of and interest on the 
Bonds are to be paid by the Developer directly to the Trustee for the account of the City and deposited in a 
special fund created by the City and designated the “City of University City, Missouri, Series 2022 Bond 
Fund – Delmar Boulevard Redevelopment Area.” 
 
 THE OWNER of this Bond shall have no right to enforce the provisions of the Indenture or to 
institute action to enforce the covenants therein, or to take any action with respect to any Event of Default 
under the Indenture, or to institute, appear in or defend any suit or other proceedings with respect thereto, 
except as provided in the Indenture.  In certain events, on the conditions, in the manner and with the effect 
set forth in the Indenture, the principal of all the Bonds issued under the Indenture and then-Outstanding 
may become or may be declared due and payable before the stated maturity thereof, together with interest 
accrued thereon.  Modifications or alterations of this Bond or the Indenture may be made only to the extent 
and in the circumstances permitted by the Indenture. 
 
 THIS BOND is transferable, as provided in the Indenture, only upon the books of the City kept for 
that purpose at the above-mentioned office of the Trustee by the Owner hereof in person or by such Person’s 
duly authorized attorney, upon surrender of this Bond together with a written instrument of transfer 
reasonably satisfactory to the Trustee duly executed by the Owner or such Person’s duly authorized 
attorney, and thereupon a new fully-registered Bond or Bonds, in the same aggregate principal amounts, 
shall be issued to the transferee in exchange therefor as provided in the Indenture, and upon payment of the 
charges therein prescribed.  The City, the Trustee and any Paying Agent may deem and treat the Person in 
whose name this Bond is registered as the absolute owner hereof for the purpose of receiving payment of, 
or on account of, the principal or redemption price hereof and interest due hereon and for all other purposes. 
 
 THE BONDS are issuable in the form of one fully-registered Bond in the maximum principal 
amount of $90,000,000. 
 
 THIS BOND shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purposes or be entitled to any security 
or benefit under the Indenture until the Certificate of Authentication hereon has been executed by the 
Trustee. 
 

M - 7 - 126



 IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED AND DECLARED that all acts, conditions and things required to 
exist, happen and be performed precedent to and in the execution and delivery of the Indenture and the 
issuance of this Bond do exist, have happened and have been performed in due time, form and manner as 
required by the Constitution and laws of the State of Missouri. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of University City, Missouri, has caused this Bond to be 
executed in its name by the manual or facsimile signature of its City Manager, attested by the manual or 
facsimile signature of its City Clerk and its corporate seal to be affixed hereto or imprinted hereon. 
 
 

CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 
 
 
 

By:       
Gregory Rose, City Manager 

 
[SEAL] 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
By:       
 LaRette Reese, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 

 
CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

 
 This Bond is the Taxable Industrial Revenue Bond (Delmar Boulevard Redevelopment Area 
Project), Series 2022, described in the Indenture.  The effective date of registration of this Bond is set forth 
below. 
 
 

[*TRUSTEE*], as Trustee 
 
 
____________________    By:       
    Date       Authorized Signatory 
 
 
 
 

M - 7 - 127



SCHEDULE I 
 

 
TABLE OF CUMULATIVE OUTSTANDING PRINCIPAL AMOUNT 

 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 

TAXABLE INDUSTRIAL REVENUE BOND 
(DELMAR BOULEVARD REDEVELOPMENT AREA PROJECT) 

SERIES 2022 
 

Bond No. 1 
 

 
 
 
 

Date 

 
 
 

Principal Amount 
Advanced 

 
 
 

Principal Amount 
Redeemed 

 
Cumulative 
Outstanding 

Principal 
Amount 

 
 

Notation 
Made 

By 
 

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

  

M - 7 - 128



 
 
 

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT 
 
 

(NOTE RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFERS) 
 
 
 FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto 
 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Print or Typewrite Name, Address and Social Security or 
other Taxpayer Identification Number of Transferee 

 
the within Bond and all rights thereunder, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints 
_____________________________ attorney to transfer the within Bond on the books kept by the Trustee 
for the registration and transfer of Bonds, with full power of substitution in the premises. 
 
Dated:  ______________________. 
 
       _______________________________________ 
 NOTICE:  The signature to this assignment must 

correspond with the name as it appears upon the 
face of the within Bond in every particular. 

 
Medallion Signature Guarantee: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

M - 7 - 129



EXHIBIT C 
 

FORM OF REPRESENTATION LETTER 
 
 
City of University City, Missouri 
6801 Delmar Boulevard 
University City, Missouri  63130 
Attn:  City Manager 
 
[*Trustee*], as Trustee 
__________ 
__________ 
Attn:  Corporate Trust Department 
 
 Re: $90,000,000 Maximum Principal Amount of Taxable Industrial Revenue Bonds (Delmar 

Boulevard Redevelopment Area Project), Series 2022 of the City of University City, 
Missouri 

 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 
 In connection with the purchase of the above-referenced Bonds (the “Bonds”), the undersigned 
purchaser of the Bonds hereby represents, warrants and agrees as follows: 
 
 1. The undersigned fully understands that (a) the Bonds have been issued under and pursuant 
to a Trust Indenture dated as of September __, 2022 (the “Indenture”), between the City of University City, 
Missouri (the “City”), and [*Trustee*], as trustee (the “Trustee”), and (b) the Bonds are payable solely out 
of certain rents, revenues and receipts to be derived from the leasing or sale of the Project (as defined in the 
Indenture) to Delmar View Properties, LLC, a Missouri limited liability company (the “Developer”), under 
a Lease Agreement dated as of September __, 2022 (the “Lease”), between the City and the Developer, 
with certain of such rents, revenues and receipts being pledged and assigned by the City to the Trustee 
under the Indenture to secure the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds.  Capitalized terms 
not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Indenture.       
 
 2. The undersigned understands that the Bonds are transferable only in the manner provided 
for in the Indenture and discussed below and warrants that it is acquiring the Bonds for its own account 
with the intent of holding the Bonds as an investment, and the acquisition of the Bonds is not made with a 
view toward their distribution or for the purpose of offering, selling or otherwise participating in a 
distribution of the Bonds. 
 
 3. The undersigned agrees not to attempt to offer, sell, hypothecate or otherwise distribute the 
Bonds to others unless authorized by the terms of the Indenture and, if requested by the City, upon receipt 
of an opinion of counsel reasonably acceptable to the City, the Developer and the purchaser that all 
registration and disclosure requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission and all other 
appropriate federal and Missouri securities laws and the securities law of any other applicable state are 
complied with. 
 

M - 7 - 130



 4. The Developer has (a) furnished to the undersigned such information about itself as the 
undersigned deems necessary in order for it to make an informed investment decision with respect to the 
purchase of the Bonds, (b) made available to the undersigned, during the course of this transaction, ample 
opportunity to ask questions of, and to receive answers from, appropriate officers of the City and the terms 
and conditions of the offering of the Bonds, and (c) provided to the undersigned all additional information 
which it has requested.  [*Delete this paragraph if the Developer is the Purchaser of the Bonds.*]   
 
 5. The undersigned is now, and was when it agreed to purchase the Bonds, familiar with the 
operations of the Developer and fully aware of terms and risks of the Bonds.  [*Delete previous sentence if 
the Developer is the Purchaser of the Bonds.*]  The undersigned believes that the Bonds which it is 
acquiring is a security of the kind that it wishes to purchase and hold for investment and that the nature and 
amount thereof are consistent with its investment program. 
 
 6. The undersigned is fully aware of and satisfied with (a) the current status of the title to the 
Project and any issues related thereto and (b) the terms, amounts and providers of the insurance maintained 
pursuant to Article VII of the Lease, and the undersigned is purchasing the Bonds with full knowledge of 
such matters. 
 

7. The undersigned understands and agrees that the interest on the Bonds is subject to federal 
and state income taxation. 
 

8. The undersigned hereby directs the Trustee to hold the Bonds in trust pursuant to 
Section 204(c) of the Indenture. 
 

9. The undersigned is (a) the lessee under the Lease, (b) an affiliate of the lessee under the 
Lease, (c) the Lender, (d) a “qualified institutional buyer” under Rule 144A promulgated under the 
Securities Act of 1933, or (e) any general business corporation or enterprise with total assets in excess of 
$100,000,000. 
 
 
Dated:    , 20___ 

 
[PURCHASER OF BONDS] 
 
 
 
By:         
Name:         
Title:         
 

 
 
 

M - 7 - 131



M - 7 - 132



EXHIBIT E 
 

BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT 
 
 

(On file in the office of the City Clerk) 

M - 7 - 133



M - 7 - 134



$90,000,000 
(AGGREGATE MAXIMUM PRINCIPAL AMOUNT) 

CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 
TAXABLE INDUSTRIAL REVENUE BONDS 

(DELMAR BOULEVARD REDEVELOPMENT AREA PROJECT) 
SERIES 2022 

 
 

Dated as of September __, 2022 
 
 

BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT 
 

 
 
Honorable Mayor and City Council 
University City, Missouri 
 
 On the basis of the representations and covenants and upon the terms and conditions contained in 
this Bond Purchase Agreement, Delmar View Properties, LLC, a Missouri limited liability company 
(the “Purchaser”), offers to purchase from the City of University City, Missouri (the “City”), the above-
referenced bonds (the “Bonds”), to be issued by the City under and pursuant to Ordinance No. _____ 
adopted by the City Council of the City on _____________, 2022 (the “Ordinance”), and a Trust Indenture 
dated as of September __, 2022 (the “Indenture”) by and between the City and [*TRUSTEE*], as trustee 
(the “Trustee”).  Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the 
Indenture. 
 
SECTION 1. REPRESENTATIONS AND AGREEMENTS 
 
 (a) By the City’s acceptance hereof, the City hereby represents to the Purchaser that: 
 
  (1) The City is a home-rule city organized and existing under its charter and the laws 

of the State of Missouri.  The City is authorized pursuant to the Constitution, the laws of the State 
of Missouri, and the charter, ordinances, orders and resolutions of the City, and all necessary action 
has been taken to authorize, issue and deliver the Bonds and to consummate all transactions 
contemplated by the Ordinance, this Bond Purchase Agreement, the Indenture, the Base Lease 
dated as of September __, 2022 (the “Base Lease”) by and between the City and the Purchaser, the 
Lease Agreement dated as of September __, 2022 (the “Lease”) by and between the City and the 
Purchaser, the Development and Performance Agreement dated as of September __, 2022 (the 
“Development and Performance Agreement”) by and between the City and the Purchaser, and any 
and all other agreements relating thereto.  The proceeds of the Bonds shall be used for the purpose 
of acquiring the Project Site, constructing the Project Improvements and paying the costs incurred 
in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. 

 
 (2) There is no controversy, suit or other proceeding of any kind pending or, to the 
City’s actual knowledge, threatened wherein or whereby any question is raised or may be raised, 
questioning, disputing or affecting in any way the legal organization of the City or its boundaries, 
or the right or title of any of its officers to their respective offices, or the legality of any official act 
leading up to the issuance of the Bonds or the constitutionality or validity of the obligations 

M - 7 - 135



represented by the Bonds or the validity of the Bonds, the Ordinance, the Base Lease, the Lease, 
the Indenture, the Development and Performance Agreement or this Bond Purchase Agreement. 

 
 (b) The Purchaser represents as follows: 
 

(1) Organization.  The Purchaser is a limited liability company duly organized, validly 
existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Missouri. 

 
(2) No Conflict or Breach.  The execution, delivery and performance of this Bond 

Purchase Agreement by the Purchaser have been duly authorized by all necessary action of the 
Purchaser and do not and will not conflict with or result in the breach of any of the terms, conditions 
or provisions of, or constitute a default under, its organizational documents, any law, court or 
administrative regulation, decree or order applicable to or binding upon the Purchaser, or, to the 
best of its knowledge, any agreement, indenture, mortgage, lease or instrument to which the 
Purchaser is a party or by which it is bound. 

 
(3) Legal, Valid and Binding Obligation.  When executed and delivered by the 

Purchaser, this Bond Purchase Agreement will be, and is, a legal, valid and binding obligation, 
enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject, as to enforcement, to any applicable bankruptcy, 
reorganization, insolvency, moratorium or other laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights 
generally and further subject to the availability of equitable remedies.  The person executing this 
Bond Purchase Agreement on behalf of the Purchaser has been duly authorized to execute this 
Bond Purchase Agreement. 

 
(4) Purchaser’s Certificates.  Any certificate signed by an authorized officer or agent 

of the Purchaser and delivered to the City shall be deemed a representation and warranty by the 
Purchaser to the City as to the statements made therein. 

 
SECTION 2. PURCHASE, SALE AND DELIVERY OF THE BONDS 
 
 On the basis of the representations and covenants contained herein and in the other agreements 
referred to herein, and subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Indenture, the Purchaser 
agrees to purchase from the City and the City agrees to sell to the Purchaser the Bonds on the terms and 
conditions set forth herein. 
 
 The Bonds shall be sold to the Purchaser by the City on the Closing Date (hereinafter defined) upon 
payment of an amount equal to the Closing Price (hereinafter defined), which amount shall be applied as 
provided in the Indenture and the Lease.  From time to time after the Closing Date, the Purchaser shall 
make additional payments with respect to the Bonds (“Additional Payments”) to the Trustee under the 
Indenture, which Additional Payments shall be applied to the payment or reimbursement of Project Costs 
or as provided in the Indenture and the Lease; provided that the sum of the Closing Price and all such 
Additional Payments shall not, in the aggregate, exceed $90,000,000 plus the costs of issuance of the Bonds 
(if such costs of issuance are not paid with Bond proceeds). 
 
 As used herein, the term “Closing Date” shall mean __________, 2022, or such other date as shall 
be mutually agreed upon by the City and the Purchaser; the term “Closing Price” shall mean the amount 
specified in writing by the Purchaser and agreed to by the City as the amount required to pay for the initial 
issuance of the Bonds on the Closing Date, which amount shall be equal to (a) any Project Costs spent by 
the Purchaser from its own funds on or before the Closing Date and, at the Purchaser’s option, the costs of 

M - 7 - 136



issuance of the Bonds if such costs are not paid from Bond proceeds, or (b) the aggregate principal amount 
of the Bonds, if all of the proceeds of the Bonds are being transferred to the Trustee on the Closing Date. 
 
 The Bonds shall be issued under and secured as provided in the Ordinance, the Indenture and the 
Lease authorized thereby and the Bonds shall have the maturity, interest rate and shall be subject to 
redemption as set forth therein.  The delivery of the Bonds shall be made in definitive form as a fully-
registered bond in the maximum aggregate principal denomination of $90,000,000; provided, that the 
principal amount of the Bonds outstanding at any time shall be that amount recorded in the records of the 
Trustee, absent manifest error, and further provided that interest on the Bonds shall be payable only on the 
outstanding principal amount of the Bonds, as more fully provided in the Indenture. 
 
SECTION 3. CONDITIONS TO THE OBLIGATIONS 
 
 The obligations hereunder shall be subject to the due performance by the parties of the obligations 
and agreements to be performed hereunder on or prior to the Closing Date and to the accuracy of and 
compliance with the representations contained herein, as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date, and 
are also subject to the following conditions: 
 
  (a) There shall be delivered to the Purchaser on or prior to the Closing Date a duly 

certified copy of the Ordinance, the Indenture, the Base Lease, the Lease, the Development and 
Performance Agreement, this Bond Purchase Agreement and any other instrument contemplated 
thereby, and such documents shall be in full force and effect and shall not have been modified or 
changed except as may have been agreed to in writing by the Purchaser. 

 
  (b) The City shall confirm on the Closing Date by a certificate that at and as of the 

Closing Date the City has taken all action necessary to issue the Bonds and that there is no 
controversy, suit or other proceeding of any kind pending or, to its knowledge, threatened against 
the City wherein any question is raised affecting in any way the legal organization of the City or 
the legality of any official act shown to have been done in the transcript of proceedings leading up 
to the issuance of the Bonds, or the constitutionality or validity of the obligations represented by 
the Bonds or the validity of the Bonds or any proceedings in relation to the issuance or sale thereof. 

 
 (c) The Purchaser shall execute a certificate, dated the Closing Date, to the effect that 
(1) no litigation, proceeding or investigation is pending against the Purchaser or its affiliates or, to 
the knowledge of the Purchaser, threatened which would (A) contest, affect, restrain or enjoin the 
issuance, validity, execution, delivery or performance of the Bonds, or (B) in any way contest the 
corporate existence or powers of the Purchaser, (2) no litigation, proceeding or investigation is 
pending or, to the knowledge of the Purchaser, threatened against the Purchaser that could 
reasonably be expected to adversely affect its ability to perform its obligations hereunder or under 
the Base Lease, the Lease or the Development and Performance Agreement, (3) the representations 
and warranties of the Purchaser herein were and are true and correct in all material respects and not 
misleading as of the date made and as of the Closing Date, and (4) such other matters as are 
reasonably requested by the other parties in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. 

 
SECTION 4. THE PURCHASER’S RIGHT TO CANCEL 
 
 The Purchaser may cancel its obligation hereunder to purchase the Bonds by notifying the City in 
writing at or before the Closing Date. 
 

M - 7 - 137



SECTION 5. REPRESENTATIONS AND AGREEMENTS TO SURVIVE DELIVERY 
 
 All of the representations and agreements by either party shall remain operative and in full force 
and effect, and shall survive delivery of the Bonds to the Purchaser. 
 
SECTION 6. NOTICE 
 
 Any notice or other communication to be given under this Bond Purchase Agreement may be given 
in writing by mailing or delivering the same as follows: 
 

(a) To the City: 
 

City of University City 
6801 Delmar Boulevard 
University City, Missouri 63130 
Attn:  City Manager 
grose@ucitymo.org 
 
with copies to: 
 
John F. Mulligan, Jr. 
Attorney at Law 
6 Carrswold 
Clayton, Missouri 63105 
jfmulliganjr@aol.com 
 

(b) To the Trustee: 
 

[*TRUSTEE*] 
_______________________ 
_______________________ 
Attn:  Corporate Trust Department 
 

(c) To the Purchaser: 
 

[*Delmar View Properties, LLC*] 
c/o Charles Deutsch & Company 
One McKnight Place 
St. Louis, Missouri  63124 
Attn: Charles J. Deutsch 
cdeutsch@gatecodevelopment.com 
 

 with a copy to: 
 

Spencer Fane LLP 
 1 N. Brentwood Boulevard, Suite 1000 
 St. Louis, Missouri 63105 
 Attn:  Robert Preston, Esq. 
 rpreston@spencerfane.com 
  

M - 7 - 138



SECTION 7. APPLICABLE LAW; ASSIGNABILITY 
 
 This Bond Purchase Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Missouri.  This Bond 
Purchase Agreement may be assigned by the Purchaser to any Person that expressly assumes in writing all 
of the obligations of the Developer contained in the Base Lease and the Lease; provided that the consent of 
the City for the assignment of this Bond Purchase Agreement shall not be required if the consent of the City 
is not required for such Person’s assumption of the Lease under the provisions of Article XIII thereof.  Any 
such assignee shall agree to be bound by the terms of this Bond Purchase Agreement.  This Bond Purchase 
Agreement may be assigned, without approval of, but with notice to the City, by Purchaser to any lender of 
the Purchaser or the Developer as collateral for a loan secured by a deed of trust or mortgage of the Project 
and the Bond may be pledged, without approval of the City, by the Purchaser to any lender of the Purchaser 
as collateral for a loan secured by a deed of trust or mortgage of the Project. 
 
SECTION 8. EXECUTION OF COUNTERPARTS 
 
 This Bond Purchase Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be 
regarded as an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same document. 
 
SECTION 9. ANTI-DISCRIMINATION AGAINST ISRAEL ACT   
 

Pursuant to Section 34.900 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri, the Purchaser certifies it is not 
currently engaged in and shall not, for the duration of this Bond Purchase Agreement, engage in a boycott 
of goods or services from (a) the State of Israel, (b) companies doing business in or with the State of Israel 
or authorized by, licensed by or organized under the laws of the State of Israel or (c) persons or entities 
doing business in the State of Israel. 
 
 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.] 
 

  

M - 7 - 139



Very truly yours, 
 
DELMAR VIEW PROPERTIES, LLC, a 
Missouri limited liability company 
 
 
 
By:        
Name:        
Title:        
 

  
 
  
 

 
DATE OF EXECUTION:  _______________, 2022. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[Bond Purchase Agreement]  

M - 7 - 140



 Accepted and Agreed to this _____ day of ___________, 2022. 
 
 

CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 
 
 
 

By:       
Gregory Rose, City Manager 

 
[SEAL] 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
By:      
 LaRette Reese, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[Bond Purchase Agreement] 

M - 7 - 141



M - 7 - 142



M - 8 - 1



www.ucitymo.org 

AGENDA ITEM – STAFF REPORT 
 

MEETING DATE: September 12, 2022 

DEPARTMENT: City Manager’s Office  

AGENDA ITEM TITLE: Bill 9486 

AN ORDINANCE DESIGNATING A CERTAIN TRACT OF LAND IN THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY 
CITY AS A BLIGHTED AREA; APPROVING THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR THE DELMAR 
BOULEVARD REDEVELOPMENT AREA; APPROVING A DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE 
AGREEMENT IN CONNECTION WITH THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN; AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY 
TO ENTER INTO CERTAIN AGREEMENTS AND TAKE CERTAIN OTHER ACTIONS IN 
CONNECTION THEREWITH. 

 
ADDITIONAL BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 

The proposed “Chapter 353" ordinance: 1.  finds and determines that the "Redevelopment Area," consisting 
of  approximately 6.2 acres located south of Delmar Boulevard between McKnight Place and Kingdel Drive is a 
"blighted area" as defined in Chapter 353 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri; 2.  approves a “Development 
Plan” for the Redevelopment Area, which allows for the abatement of 100% of increased real property taxes 
resulting from the construction of a development consisting of approximately 262 residential apartments, 1,300 
square feet of commercial space and related parking and infrastructure improvements (the "Redevelopment 
Project"); and 3.  approves  a Development and Performance Agreement, providing the terms and conditions 
upon which the real property tax abatement will be available.                                                                         

The blight finding is supported by a study prepared by Development Dynamics and attached to the Development 
Plan as Appendix B. The site is comprised of an outdated office building, eight 4-unit apartment buildings from 
the late 1940s through the 1950s, and four single-family homes. The structures are obsolete and are full of 
asbestos, lead and other hazardous material.  

Please note that the state law definition of “blighted area” was recently revised and is now inconsistent with the 
definition of “blighted area” in Section 510.040 of the City Code.  Section 1 of the proposed ordinance provides 
that the state law definition of “blighted area” controls.  

A tax impact statement detailing the impact of the proposed tax abatement was prepared by Development 
Dynamics and sent to the affected taxing districts, as required by state law and the City Municipal 
Code.  Throughout the five-year abatement period, taxing districts will receive contractual payments in lieu of 
taxes equal to the taxes they would have received based on the current assessed value of the Redevelopment 
Area (i.e., only increased assessed value resulting from construction of the Redevelopment Project is subject to 
tax abatement). The estimated gross value of the real property abatement is $2,241,987. 

Under the terms of the Development and Performance Agreement, the Developer must complete the 
Redevelopment Project to activate the tax abatement. Additionally, if the Redevelopment Project is sold at a 
profit to an unrelated entity during the tax abatement period, 50% of any “Net Profits” must be paid to the City 
and all future tax abatement will be cancelled.   

The Plan Commission, at its meeting on July 27, 2022, by a vote of 5-2 recommended approval of a blight 
finding, and by a vote of 4-3 recommended approval of the proposed tax abatement. The Plan Commission also 
recommended cancellation of future tax abatement if the Redevelopment Project is sold during the tax 
abatement period, by a vote of 6 to 1. Lastly, the Plan Commission requested a net present value assessment 
of the abatement, which is approximately $1,945,000, assuming a 5% discount rate. 

M - 8 - 2



INTRODUCED BY: _____________ DATE: __________, 2022  

BILL NO.  9486 ORDINANCE NO. ________ 

AN ORDINANCE DESIGNATING A CERTAIN TRACT OF LAND IN THE CITY OF 
UNIVERSITY CITY AS A BLIGHTED AREA; APPROVING THE DEVELOPMENT 
PLAN FOR THE DELMAR BOULEVARD REDEVELOPMENT AREA; APPROVING 
A DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE AGREEMENT IN CONNECTION WITH 
THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN; AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY TO ENTER INTO 
CERTAIN AGREEMENTS AND TAKE CERTAIN OTHER ACTIONS IN 
CONNECTION THEREWITH. 

WHEREAS, the City of University City, Missouri (the “City”), is authorized and empowered to 
undertake certain redevelopment projects pursuant to Chapter 353 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri (“Chapter 
353”) and Chapter 510 of the University City Code (the “Urban Redevelopment Ordinance”); and 

WHEREAS, the Development Plan for Delmar Boulevard Redevelopment Area (the “Development 
Plan”) attached hereto as Exhibit A has been prepared and submitted to the City in connection with the 
proposed redevelopment of approximately 6.2 acres of real property located south of Delmar Boulevard between 
McKnight Place and Kingdel Drive (the “Redevelopment Area”); and   

WHEREAS, the Development Plan contemplates the use of real property tax abatement to incentivize a 
redevelopment project consisting of the development of approximately 262 residential apartments, 1,300 square 
feet of commercial space, and related parking and infrastructure within the Redevelopment Area (the 
“Redevelopment Project”); and 

WHEREAS, included as Appendix B to the Development Plan is an analysis prepared by Development 
Dynamics, LLC (the “Blighting Study”), which documents the current conditions of the Redevelopment Area 
and supports a finding that the Redevelopment Area is a “blighted area” as defined in Chapter 353; and  

WHEREAS, implementation of the Development Plan through the completion of the Redevelopment 
Project will remediate the conditions that cause the Redevelopment Area to be a blighted area; and  

WHEREAS, in accordance with the Urban Redevelopment Ordinance, the City’s Plan Commission 
reviewed the Development Plan and reported its recommendations to the Mayor and the City Council (the “Plan 
Commission Recommendation”); and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with Chapter 353 and the Urban Redevelopment Ordinance, the City 
Council held a public hearing regarding the blight designation, the proposed Development Plan and the 
contemplated grant of tax abatement on September 27, 2022, at which hearing all interested persons and taxing 
districts were given the opportunity to be heard (the “Public Hearing”); and 

WHEREAS, the City Council hereby finds and determines that it is desirable for the improvement of 
the economic welfare and development of the City to approve the Development Plan; and 

WHEREAS, the Project is also the subject of the Plan for Industrial Development Project (the “Chapter 
100 Plan”) approved by Ordinance No. ____ (Bill No.____), which Chapter 100 Plan allows for a sales tax 
exemption on construction materials used to construct the Redevelopment Project; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council further finds and determines that it is necessary and desirable in 
connection with the implementation of the Development Plan and the Chapter 100 Plan to enter into a 
Development and Performance Agreement (the “Development and Performance Agreement”) in substantially 

M - 8 - 3



-2- 

the form of Exhibit B attached hereto with the developer of the Redevelopment Project (the “Development and 
Performance Agreement”). 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. Application of Chapter 353 Amendment.  The City Council acknowledges that the 
definition of “blighted area” in the Urban Redevelopment Ordinance is inconsistent with the amended definition 
of “blighted area” in Chapter 353 (which was amended in 2021 by Senate Bills 153 and 97).  Accordingly, for 
purposes of this Ordinance, including, without limitation, the finding of blight in Section 2 below, the definition 
of “blighted area” in Section 510.040 of the Urban Redevelopment Ordinance shall not apply and any references 
to “blighted area” in the Urban Redevelopment Ordinance shall be deemed to mean a “blighted area” as defined 
in Chapter 353. 

 
Section 2. Findings. Upon due consideration of the Development Plan, the Blighting Study and 

the testimony presented at the Public Hearing, the City Council finds that: 
 
(a)  the Redevelopment Area is a “blighted area” as defined in the Urban Redevelopment 

Ordinance (as amended above with respect to this Ordinance), and redevelopment of the Redevelopment 
Area is necessary for the public interest, convenience and necessity; and 

 
(b)  the approval of the Development Plan and its implementation is necessary for the  

health, safety, morals and welfare of the public. 
 

Section 2. Approval of Development Plan.  The City Council further finds that the Development 
Plan materially conforms to the requirements for development plans set forth in the Urban Redevelopment 
Ordinance and waives any procedural noncompliance with the Urban Redevelopment Ordinance.  The 
Development Plan is hereby approved. 

 
Section 3. Approval of Development and Performance Agreement.  The City is hereby 

authorized to enter into the Development and Performance Agreement, in substantially the form presented to 
and approved by the City Council and attached to this Ordinance as Exhibit B, with such changes therein as 
shall be approved by the officials of the City executing the Development and Performance Agreement, such 
officials’ signatures thereon being conclusive evidence of their approval thereof. The City Manager is hereby 
authorized to execute the Development and Performance Agreement and such other documents, certificates and 
instruments as may be necessary or desirable to carry out and comply with the intent of this Ordinance, for and 
on behalf of and as the act and deed of the City.  The City Clerk is hereby authorized to attest to and affix the 
seal of the City to the Development and Performance Agreement and such other documents, certificates and 
instruments as may be necessary or desirable to carry out and comply with the intent of this Ordinance. 

 
Section 4. Developer Substitution.  Notwithstanding the form of the Development and 

Performance Agreement approved in substantially final form pursuant to Section 3, at the request of Charles 
Deutsch & Company, any entity controlled by Charles Deutsch & Company or Charles J. Deutsch or under 
common control with Charles Deutsch & Company may be inserted as the Developer in the Development and 
Performance Agreement prior to execution.  

 
Section 5. Further Authority.  The City shall, and the officials, agents and employees of the City 

are hereby authorized to, take such further action, and execute such other documents, certificates and 
instruments as may be necessary or desirable to carry out and comply with the intent of this Ordinance and to 
carry out, comply with and perform the duties of the City with respect to the Development Plan and the 
Development and Performance Agreement.  The City Manager is hereby authorized, through the term of the 
Development and Performance Agreement, to execute all documents on behalf of the City (including documents 
pertaining to the financing or refinancing of the Redevelopment Project by the Developer) as may be required to 
carry out and comply with the intent of this Ordinance and the Development and Performance Agreement.  The 

M - 8 - 4



-3-

City Manager is further authorized, on behalf of the City, to grant such consents, estoppels and waivers relating 
to the Development and Performance Agreement as may be requested during the term thereof; provided, such 
consents, estoppels and/or waivers shall not increase the amount or duration of the economic incentives 
provided in the Development and Performance Agreement, waive an event of default or materially change the 
nature of the transaction.  The City Clerk is authorized to attest to and affix the seal of the City to any document 
authorized by this Section. 

Section 6. Severability.  The sections of this Ordinance shall be severable.  If any section of this 
Ordinance is found by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, the remaining sections shall remain valid, 
unless the court finds that (a) the valid sections are so essential to and inseparably connected with and dependent 
upon the void section that it cannot be presumed that the City Council has or would have enacted the valid 
sections without the void ones, and (b) the valid sections, standing alone, are incomplete and are incapable of 
being executed in accordance with the legislative intent. 

Section 7.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after the date of 
its passage and approval. 

PASSED and ADOPTED THIS ___ DAY OF ____________, 2022. 

MAYOR 
(Seal) 

ATTEST: 

CITY CLERK 

CERTIFIED TO BE CORRECT AS TO FORM: 

________________________________ 
CITY ATTORNEY 

M - 8 - 5



M - 8 - 6



EXHIBIT A 

DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

(On file in the office of the City Clerk) 

M - 8 - 7



M - 8 - 8



M - 8 - 9



M - 8 - 10



M - 8 - 11



M - 8 - 12



M - 8 - 13



M - 8 - 14



M - 8 - 15



M - 8 - 16



M - 8 - 17



M - 8 - 18



M - 8 - 19



M - 8 - 20



M - 8 - 21



M - 8 - 22



M - 8 - 23



M - 8 - 24



M - 8 - 25



M - 8 - 26



M - 8 - 27



M - 8 - 28



M - 8 - 29



M - 8 - 30



M - 8 - 31



M - 8 - 32



M - 8 - 33



M - 8 - 34



M - 8 - 35



M - 8 - 36



M - 8 - 37



M - 8 - 38



M - 8 - 39



M - 8 - 40



M - 8 - 41



M - 8 - 42



M - 8 - 43



M - 8 - 44



M - 8 - 45



M - 8 - 46



M - 8 - 47



M - 8 - 48



M - 8 - 49



M - 8 - 50



M - 8 - 51



M - 8 - 52



  

EXHIBIT B 
 

DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE AGREEMENT 
 
 

(On file in the office of the City Clerk) 
 

M - 8 - 53



M - 8 - 54



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE AGREEMENT 
 

FOR THE 
 

DELMARE BOULEVARD REDEVELOPMENT AREA 
 

AMONG THE 
 

CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, 
 

DELMAR VIEW PROPERTIES, LLC 
 

AND THE 
 

AVENIR REDEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
 

Dated as of September ____, 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

M - 8 - 55



 

 

 
Recitals    ...................................................................................................................................... 1 

ARTICLE I 

INCORPORATED ITEMS; DEFINITIONS; EXHIBITS 

Section 1.1 Definitions ........................................................................................................................ 2 
Section 1.2 Exhibits ............................................................................................................................. 3 

ARTICLE II 

THE REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT 

Section 2.1 Project Construction ......................................................................................................... 3 
Section 2.2 Project Site Acquisition .................................................................................................... 3 
Section 2.3 Relocation ......................................................................................................................... 3 
Section 2.4 Schedule ........................................................................................................................... 3 
Section 2.5 City Approvals to Control................................................................................................. 4 
Section 2.6 Substantial Completion..................................................................................................... 4 
Section 2.7 Insurance ........................................................................................................................... 4 
Section 2.8 Beautification Project ..................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

ARTICLE III 

EXCUSABLE DELAY 

Section 3.1 Excusable Delay ............................................................................................................... 5 

ARTICLE IV 

TAX ABATEMENT AND SALES TAX EXEMPTION 

Section 4.1 Tax Abatement .................................................................................................................. 5 
Section 4.2 Emergency Service District Payments .............................................................................. 6 
Section 4.3 Sales Tax Exemption and Chapter 100 Transaction ......................................................... 6 
Section 4.4 Repayment of Tax Abatement Upon Sale ......................................................................... 7 

ARTICLE V 

DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

Section 5.1 Default .............................................................................................................................. 7 
Section 5.2 Remedies; Results of Termination .................................................................................... 8 

ARTICLE VI 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Section 6.1 Modifications; Successors and Assigns ............................................................................ 8 
Section 6.2 Right to Transfer the Project Site and the Redevelopment Project................................... 8 
Section 6.3 Indemnification and Hold Harmless ................................................................................. 9 

M - 8 - 56



 

 (ii) 

 

Section 6.4 Notice ............................................................................................................................. 10 
Section 6.5 Severability ..................................................................................................................... 11 
Section 6.6 Governing Law ............................................................................................................... 11 
Section 6.7 Developer’s Right of Termination .................................................................................. 11 
Section 6.8 Counterparts ................................................................................................................... 11 
Section 6.9 Reimbursement of City Expenses ................................................................................... 11 
Section 6.10 Federal Work Authorization Program ............................................................................. 12 
Section 6.11 Recording ....................................................................................................................... 12 
Section 6.12. Electronic Transaction .................................................................................................... 12 
Section 6.13. Anti-Discrimination Against Israel Act .......................................................................... 12 
Exhibit A - Legal Description of the Redevelopment Area 
Exhibit B - Form of Certificate of Substantial Completion 
Exhibit C - Form of Transferee Agreement 

 

M - 8 - 57



 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE AGREEMENT 
 
 
 THIS DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE AGREEMENT is made and entered into as 
of this ____ day of September, 2022 (this “Agreement”), by and between the CITY OF UNIVERSITY 
CITY, MISSOURI, a home-rule city organized and existing under its charter and the laws of the State of 
Missouri (the “City”), DELMAR VIEW PROPERTIES, LLC, a Missouri limited liability company (the 
“Developer), and the AVENIR REDEVELOPMENT CORPORATION, a Missouri urban 
redevelopment corporation (the “Corporation”) (the City, the Developer and the Corporation may each be 
referred to herein as a “Party,” and collectively as the “Parties”).  
 

RECITALS 
 

A. On March 11, 2022, pursuant to Chapter 353 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri (“Chapter 
353”) and Section 510.050 et seq. of the City Code, an affiliate of the Developer submitted the 
“Development Plan for Delmar Boulevard Redevelopment Area” (the “Development Plan”) for an 
approximately 6.2-area site located south of Delmar Boulevard between McKnight Place and Kingdel Drive 
in the City and more particularly described on Exhibit A attached hereto (the “Redevelopment Area”). 

 
B. The Development Plan contemplates the remediation of blighted conditions in the 

Redevelopment Area through the construction of a development consisting of approximately 262 residential 
apartments, 1,300 square feet of commercial space, and related parking and infrastructure (the 
“Redevelopment Project”). 

 
C. The City Council held a duly-noticed public hearing with respect to the Redevelopment 

Project on September __, 2022. 

D. On September __, 2022, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. _____ (1) finding and 
declaring the Redevelopment Area to be a “blighted area,”, (2) approving the Development Plan and (3) 
authorizing and directing the City to enter into an agreement with the Developer and the Corporation in 
substantially the form of this Agreement. 

E. In furtherance of the Redevelopment Project and pursuant to Article VI, Section 27(b) of 
the Missouri Constitution and Sections 100.010 through 100.200 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri and 
the City Charter, the City Council, on September __, 2022, also adopted Ordinance No. _____, authorizing 
the City to issue its Taxable Industrial Revenue Bonds (Delmar Boulevard Redevelopment Area Project), 
Series 2022, in the maximum principal amount of $90,000,000 (the “Bonds”) and approving certain 
documents in connection therewith for the purpose of facilitating a sales tax exemption on construction 
materials for the Redevelopment Project (the issuance of the Bonds and the execution of the related 
documents are referred to herein as the “Chapter 100 Transaction”).  

 F. The Parties desire to enter into this Agreement to describe the process by which the 
Developer will complete or cause the completion of the Redevelopment Project and the terms upon which 
the Redevelopment Project will receive real property tax abatement as contemplated by the Development 
Plan and sales tax exemption as contemplated by the Chapter 100 Transaction. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the foregoing Recitals (which are incorporated 
into this Agreement as an integral part hereof) and the promises, covenants and agreements contained 
herein, the Parties hereby agree as follows: 

 
 

M - 8 - 58



 

 -2- 

 

ARTICLE I 
 

INCORPORATED ITEMS; DEFINITIONS; EXHIBITS 
 
 Section 1.1 Definitions.  In addition to the terms defined elsewhere in this Agreement, the 
following capitalized words and terms shall have the following meanings: 

“Abatement Compliance Manager” means the St. Louis County officer performing the duties as 
set forth herein on behalf of the St. Louis County Department of Revenue - Office of Compliance, or any 
successor thereto.  

 
“Affiliate” means any entity that is controlled by the Developer or Charles Deutsch & Company or 

controlled by the same entity or entities that control the Developer or Charles Deutsch & Company. 
 
“Approving Ordinance” means Ordinance No. _____, adopted by the City Council on September 

__, 2022. 
 
“Assessor” means the St. Louis County Assessor. 
 
“Certificate of Substantial Completion” means the Certificate of Substantial Completion in 

substantially the same form as Exhibit B attached hereto, to be delivered by the Developer pursuant to 
Section 2.6. 
  

“Chapter 100 Documents” means the trust indenture, base lease, lease agreement and bond 
purchase agreement approved by Ordinance No. ________ and executed as part of the Chapter 100 
Transaction. 
 

“Chapter 353” means Chapter 353 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri. 
 
“City” means the City of University City, Missouri.   

  
“City Code” means the University City Municipal Code, as the same may be amended from time 

to time. 
 
“Collector” means the St. Louis County Collector of Revenue. 
 
“Construction Inspector” means such licensed engineer or architect either employed by or retained 

and designated by the City from time to time, and/or such individuals as may be designated to carry out 
inspections on behalf of the City’s planning and public works departments.  

 
“Corporation” means the Avenir Redevelopment Corporation, an urban redevelopment 

corporation formed under Chapter 353, and its permitted successors and assigns. 
  
“Developer” means Delmar View Properties, LLC and its permitted successors and assigns. 
 
“Development Plan” means the Development Plan for Delmar Boulevard Redevelopment Area 

approved by the City pursuant to the Approving Ordinance. 
 
“PILOTs” means, collectively, the unabated ad valorem real property taxes and payments in lieu 

of taxes to be made by the Developer pursuant to Section 4.1(a). 
 

M - 8 - 59



 

 -3- 

 

“Project Site” means the real property within the Redevelopment Area that the Developer 
determines is necessary to complete the Redevelopment Project. 

 
“Redevelopment Area” means the real property described on Exhibit A attached hereto, upon 

which the Redevelopment Project will be constructed. 
 
“Transferee Agreement” means the Transferee Agreement in substantially similar form to Exhibit 

C to be entered into in conjunction with certain transfers of property within the Redevelopment Area. 
 

 Section 1.2 Exhibits.  The following exhibits are attached to and incorporated into this 
Agreement: 
 
 (a) Exhibit A – Legal Description of the Redevelopment Area 

 (b) Exhibit B – Form of Certificate of Substantial Completion 
(c) Exhibit C – Form of Transferee Agreement 

 
 

ARTICLE II 
 

THE REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT 
 
 Section 2.1 Project Construction.  Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the 
Developer shall construct, or cause the construction of, the Redevelopment Project in accordance with the 
Development Plan, this Agreement and all applicable federal, state and local laws, rules, regulations, 
ordinances and approvals.  
 
 Section 2.2 Project Site Acquisition.  
 

(a) The Developer hereby confirms and represents that, as of the date of this Agreement, it 
owns the Project Site.    

 
(b) Simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement, the Developer and the City shall 

enter into the Chapter 100 Documents, including a base lease and lease agreement. 
 
(c) The Corporation shall acquire the Project Site during the first six months of the calendar 

year in which the Redevelopment Project is expected to receive a post-completion assessment by the 
Assessor (with the purpose of the Corporation’s acquisition to be the initiation of the tax abatement 
contemplated by the Development Plan and this Agreement).  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
Corporation shall not be required to accept title to the Project Site unless the Certificate of Substantial 
Completion has been approved or deemed approved by the City pursuant to Section 2.6. 

 
(d) The Corporation shall immediately transfer title to the Project Site back to the Developer.   
   

 Section 2.3 Relocation.  The relocation of any person or business from the Redevelopment 
Area, if any, shall be completed in conformance with applicable state law and City ordinances.  The Parties 
acknowledge that no relocations are anticipated. 
 

Section 2.4 Schedule. The Developer shall cause the completion of the Redevelopment Project 
by December 31, 2025, subject to any excusable delay permitted by Section 3.1; provided, however, in no 

M - 8 - 60



 

 -4- 

 

event shall the required date to complete the Redevelopment Project be extended beyond December 31, 
2026. 
 

Section 2.5 City Approvals to Control.  The Developer shall obtain or cause to be obtained 
all necessary zoning, building and other permits and approvals in conjunction with the completion of the 
Redevelopment Project. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the applicable zoning, 
building and other permits and approvals shall control the specific development of the Redevelopment 
Project.   

Section 2.6 Substantial Completion.  After substantial completion of the Redevelopment 
Project in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, the Developer shall furnish to the Construction 
Inspector a Certificate of Substantial Completion certifying the substantial completion of the 
Redevelopment Project.  The Construction Inspector shall, within 60 days following delivery of the 
Certificate of Substantial Completion, carry out such inspections as he deems necessary to verify to his 
reasonable satisfaction the accuracy of the certifications contained in the Certificate of Substantial 
Completion.  If the Construction Inspector fails to approve or reject the Certificate of Substantial 
Completion in writing within such 60-day period, then the Developer shall notify the City in writing of its 
failure to take action on the Certificate of Substantial Completion, and the City shall have 30 days from 
receipt of such notice to accept or reject the Certificate of Substantial Completion in writing.  The Certificate 
of Substantial Completion shall be deemed accepted by the Construction Inspector unless, prior to the end 
of the additional 30-day period, the Construction Inspector furnishes the Developer with specific written 
objections to the status of the Redevelopment Project, describing such objections and the measures required 
to correct such objections in reasonable detail.  Upon acceptance of the Certificate of Substantial 
Completion by the Construction Inspector or upon the lapse of the additional 30-day period without any 
written objections thereto, the Developer may record the Certificate of Substantial Completion with the St. 
Louis County Recorder of Deeds, and the same shall constitute evidence of the satisfaction of the 
Developer’s agreements and covenants to complete the Redevelopment Project.   
 
 Section 2.7 Insurance. 
 

(a) The Developer will cause there to be insurance for the Redevelopment Project as 
hereinafter set forth at all times during the process of constructing the Redevelopment Project and 
continuing (with respect to (ii) and (iii) below) during the term of this Agreement.  The policies for such 
insurance shall be placed with financially sound and reputable insurers licensed to transact business in the 
State of Missouri.  The Developer shall, from time to time at the request of the City, furnish the City with 
“Acord” certificates of insurance on: 
 

(i) Builder’s risk insurance, written on the so called “Builder’s Risk – Completed 
Value Basis,” in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the projected insurable value 
of the Redevelopment Project at the date of completion (the Parties acknowledge that such 
insurance may not be available until demolition is complete and vertical construction begins); 

 
(ii) Property and casualty insurance to keep the Redevelopment Project constantly 

insured against loss or damage by fire, lightning and all other risks covered by the extended 
coverage insurance endorsement then in use in the State in an amount equal to the Full Insurable 
Value thereof (subject to reasonable loss deductible clauses).  “Full Insurable Value” means the 
actual replacement cost of the Redevelopment Project; 

 
 (iii) Commercial liability insurance with coverages of not less than the current absolute 
statutory waivers of sovereign immunity in Sections 537.600 and 537.610 of the Revised Statutes 
of Missouri, as amended (which for calendar year 2022 is equal to $3,065,952 for all claims arising 

M - 8 - 61



 

 -5- 

 

out of a single accident or occurrence and $459,893 for any one person in a single accident or 
occurrence).  Further, the policy shall be adjusted upward annually, to remain at all times not less 
than the inflation-adjusted sovereign immunity limits as published in the Missouri Register on an 
annual basis by the Department of Insurance pursuant to Section 537.610 of the Revised Statutes 
of Missouri, as amended; and 

 
(iv) Workers’ compensation insurance, with statutorily required coverage. 

 
(b) Simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement and annually thereafter prior to the 

delivery of the Certificate of Substantial Completion, the Developer shall provide evidence of contractual 
liability insurance (in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the City Attorney) covering the 
Developer’s obligations to indemnify the City, as provided in this Agreement, by an insurance company 
with a rating by a reputable rating agency indicating excellent or superior financial strength (i.e., an A.M. 
Best rating of “A-” or better).  The Developer agrees to provide immediate written notice to the City when 
a cancellation, termination, expiration or modification of the applicable contractual liability policy occurs.  

  
ARTICLE III 

 
EXCUSABLE DELAY 

 
 Section 3.1 Excusable Delay.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the 
Development Plan or the Approving Ordinance, the time periods provided for herein shall be automatically 
extended by the number of days of delay caused by actions or events beyond the control of the Developer 
(but not to exceed one year), including acts of God, labor disputes, strikes, lockouts, civil disorder, war, 
lack of issuance of any permits and/or legal authorization by the governmental entity necessary for the 
Developer to proceed with the construction or cause the construction of the Redevelopment Project 
(provided all conditions precedent to the issuance of said permits and/or authorizations have been met and 
such permits or authorizations were applied for in a timely manner), shortage or delay in the shipment of 
material or fuel, governmental action, fire, unusually adverse weather conditions, wet soil conditions, 
unavoidable casualties, litigation relating to the Development Plan, the Approving Ordinance, the Chapter 
100 Transaction or any element of the Redevelopment Project, or any causes beyond the Developer’s 
reasonable control, or by any other cause that the City Manager in his or her reasonable discretion 
determines may justify the delay (an “Excusable Delay”).  The Parties agree that as of the date of this 
Agreement, no condition or event exists that would justify an Excusable Delay.  The Developer shall notify 
the City in writing within 30 days after a claimed event of the cause of the Excusable Delay.  An Excusable 
Delay shall not include any condition or circumstance caused or extended by the Developer or an Affiliate 
or attributable to actions or inaction by the Developer or an Affiliate.  
 
  

ARTICLE IV 
 

TAX ABATEMENT AND SALES TAX EXEMPTION  
 
 Section 4.1 Tax Abatement.   
 

(a) Ad valorem real property tax abatement pursuant to Chapter 353 and the Development Plan 
shall begin in the year in which the Corporation acquires title to the Project Site, as described in Section 
2.2(c), and, subject to Section 5.2, shall continue for four additional years (i.e., five years of tax abatement 
total).  During the tax abatement period, the Project Site shall annually be subject to: 
 

M - 8 - 62



 

 -6- 

 

(i) unabated ad valorem real property taxes determined based on the then-current tax 
levy and the assessed value of the land included in the Project Site, exclusive of improvements, in 
the year prior to the Corporation’s acquisition of the Project Site (as required by Section 353.110.1, 
RSMo.); plus    

 
(ii) payments in lieu of taxes in an amount that, when added to the amount due under 

(i) above, collectively equal the amount of ad valorem real property taxes that would be due on the 
Project Site based on the then-current ad valorem real property tax rate at the Project Site, a 
commercial assessed value of $407,460 and a residential assessed value of $1,071,740 (i.e., the 
2021 assessed value of land and improvements at the Project Site).   

 
Accordingly, during the abatement period the value of (i) plus (ii) (or the PILOTs) shall equal the ad 
valorem real property taxes that would otherwise be due based on the then-current tax levy and the assessed 
value of the Project Site, land and the improvements thereon, in 2021. 
 

(b) Following the period described in subsection (a), the Project Site, including the 
improvements thereon, shall be subject to assessment and payment of all ad valorem taxes based on the full 
true value of the Project Site and the improvements thereon.   

 
(c) PILOTs shall be paid to the Collector annually by December 31. The Parties acknowledge 

their expectation that the real property tax bills provided by the Collector will reflect the appropriate amount 
of taxes and PILOTs due pursuant to this Agreement. However, the failure of the Collector to provide tax 
bills reflecting the appropriate amount of taxes and PILOTs due with respect to the Property pursuant to 
this Agreement will not excuse the Developer or any subsequent owner from paying all taxes and PILOTs 
by December 31 of the applicable year.  PILOTs received by the Collector shall be distributed among all 
taxing districts whose property tax revenues are affected by the tax abatement provided herein on the same 
pro rata basis and in the same manner as ad valorem real property tax revenues. 
       
 Section 4.2 Emergency Service District Payments.  Notwithstanding any provision hereof to 
the contrary, the Developer shall make or cause to be made any payments to emergency service districts 
required by Section 353.110.4(2) of the Revised Statutes of Missouri (which payments, if any, the Parties 
expect to be billed and collected in the same manner as PILOT Payments described in Section 4.1, however, 
the failure of the Collector to include such payments to emergency service districts on any property tax bill 
shall not relieve the Developer of its obligation to make such payments, if any). 
 
 Section 4.3 Sales Tax Exemption and Chapter 100 Transaction.   
 

(a) The City shall issue the Bonds and close the Chapter 100 Transaction simultaneously with 
the execution of this Agreement. 

 
(b) Upon issuance of the Bonds (or such earlier time as the City Council may approve), the 

City will provide a project exemption certificate to the Developer or its designee for the purpose of 
exempting the purchase of construction materials for the Redevelopment Project from sales and use taxes 
to the extent provided by law.  

 
(c) Promptly following the acceptance or deemed acceptance of the Certificate of Substantial 

Completion pursuant to Section 2.6, the City and the Developer shall cooperate to cause the termination of 
the Chapter 100 Documents as described in Article XI of the Lease Agreement between the City and the 
Developer entered into as part of the Chapter 100 Transaction.    

 

M - 8 - 63



 

 -7- 

 

(d) Simultaneously with the issuance of the Bonds, the Developer shall pay all costs of the 
Chapter 100 Transaction, including fees payable to the City’s attorneys and the Bond trustee, and a City 
bond issuance fee of $100,000. 

 
Section 4.4 Repayment of Tax Abatement Upon Sale.   
 
(a) If the Developer sells fee simple title to the Redevelopment Project to an entity other than 

an entity controlled by or under common with the Developer or Charles Deutsch & Company prior to the 
initiation of tax abatement or during any year in which tax abatement is available pursuant to Section 4.1, 
then, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Developer shall, upon the closing of 
such sale, pay to the City an amount not to exceed the lesser of (i) the amount set forth in Subsection (b) 
below, or (ii) the sum all prior real property tax abatement received hereunder by the Developer and no 
further tax abatement under Section 4.1 shall be available for the Redevelopment Project. 

 
(b) Subject to Subsection (a) above, the total amount due to the City shall equal 50% of the 

amount of Net Profit from such sale.  As used herein, (i) “Net Profit” means the Net Sale Proceeds paid to 
the Developer less total equity paid or contributed by the Developer; and (ii) “Net Sales Proceeds” means 
the cash proceeds actually received by the Developer from the gross sales price of the Redevelopment 
Project less all transaction costs including, but not limited to, brokerage fees and commissions, title and 
escrow fees, legal fees, and lender fees. For purposes of the foregoing calculation, commencing in the year 
in which the Corporation acquires title to the Project Site, the Developer’s equity shall be increased by 8% 
per annum (on a compounding basis).  
 

If the Developer believes that the amount due to the City is controlled by this subsection, 
it shall provide the City with an accounting certified by a certified public accountant detailing the Net 
Profits resulting from the sale of the Redevelopment Project.  The City shall have 30 days to provide written 
objections to the accountant’s certification and if no objections are provided, the certification shall be 
deemed accepted by the City.     

 
(c) This Section expressly does not apply to sales that occur after the expiration of tax 

abatement pursuant to Section 4.1. 
ARTICLE V 

DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 
  

Section 5.1 Default.  The occurrence and continuance of the following shall constitute an 
“Event of Default:”   

 
(a) the Developer or subsequent property owner fails to make or cause the punctual 

payment of the PILOTs owed on or before the due date and such failure is not cured to the City 
Attorney’s satisfaction within ten (10) days after the City gives written notice of the default to the 
Developer or subsequent property owner (provided, however, that all PILOTs paid after their due 
dates will be subject to interest and penalties at the same rate as late payments of real property 
taxes); or 

 
(b) the Developer fails to timely perform, in all material respects, any obligation or 

covenant of the Developer under this Agreement, and such failure is not cured to the City 
Attorney’s satisfaction within thirty (30) days after the City gives written notice thereof to the 
Developer, or if it cannot reasonably be cured within thirty (30) days, then, subject to Section 2.4 
and Section 3.1, for such additional time as may be necessary to cure such default so long as the 
Developer is diligently proceeding to effect a cure of such default; or 

 

M - 8 - 64



 

 -8- 

 

(c) the Developer commits an Event of Default as defined in any of the Chapter 100 
Documents.   

 
 Section 5.2 Remedies; Results of Termination.   
 

(a) Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, (i) the City or any other taxing district levying 
an ad valorem real property tax at the Project Site may bring an action against the Developer or subsequent 
property owner to enforce any remedy available by law, including specific performance to enforce any 
payments due under this Agreement, and/or (ii) the City may terminate this Agreement.   

 
 (b) Upon the termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Section, a declaration of 
abandonment shall be filed with the St. Louis County Recorder of Deeds, and the Project Site and the 
improvements thereon shall from that date be subject to assessment and payment of all ad valorem taxes 
based on the true full value of the Project Site and the improvements thereon. 
 

 
ARTICLE VI 

 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
 Section 6.1 Modifications; Successors and Assigns.  The terms, conditions and provisions of 
this Agreement and of the Development Plan shall not be modified or amended except by mutual agreement 
in writing among the City, the Developer and the Corporation (provided that if the Corporation has already 
transferred the Project Site to the Developer pursuant to Section 2.2(c), no agreement of the Corporation is 
necessary).  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the City, the Developer and 
the Corporation and their respective assigns and successors in interest or title to all or any portion of the 
Redevelopment Area; provided, neither the Corporation not the Developer may assign its rights under this 
Agreement except in accordance with the provisions of Section 6.2. 
 
 Section 6.2 Right to Transfer the Project Site and the Redevelopment Project. 
 
 (a) Transfer.  Subject to the provisions of subsections (b) and (c) below, the Developer or the 
Corporation may voluntarily sell, lease, assign, transfer, convey and/or otherwise dispose of (hereinafter 
collectively referred to as a “Transfer”) their respective interests in the Redevelopment Project or any 
portion thereof to any entity without the City’s prior written consent, if the transferor provides written notice 
to the City within thirty (30) days following such Transfer.  Upon a Transfer, unless otherwise expressly 
elected by the transferor, all of the transferor’s rights and obligations hereunder with respect to the subject 
property, including, without limitation, those concerning construction, maintenance, use, tax abatement and 
the payment of PILOTs, shall transfer to such transferee, and the transferor shall be released from any and 
all further obligations under this Agreement with respect to the subject property. 
 
 (b) Transfer to Third Party Prior to Completion of Construction.  If the proposed Transfer (1) 
is to a party other than an Affiliate and (2) occurs before the City’s acceptance or deemed acceptance of the 
Certificate of Substantial Completion, then such Transfer shall include an assignment of this Agreement 
and be subject to the requirements of subsection (c) below and to the City Manager’s prior written consent 
(which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed upon a reasonable demonstration that the 
proposed transferee is sufficiently experienced and financially capable to undertake and complete the 
Redevelopment Project and the proposed assignee provides evidence to the City Attorney’s satisfaction that 
it will satisfy the requirements of Section 2.7 and Section 6.10 at the time of assignment).  In the event of 
any Transfer under this Subsection, all rights and obligations of the transferor hereunder with respect to the 
subject property, including, without limitation, those concerning construction, maintenance, use, tax 

M - 8 - 65



 

 -9- 

 

abatement and the payment of PILOTs, shall transfer to the transferee, and the transferor shall be released 
from any and all further obligations under this Agreement with respect to the subject property.   
 
 (c) Transferee Agreement.  No such Transfer shall occur without the prior execution of a 
Transferee Agreement with the City.  The parties agree that the intention of each Transferee Agreement is 
to protect the transferor and the City by ensuring that transferees of the Redevelopment Project or portions 
thereof receive actual notice of the rights, duties and obligations contained in this Agreement prior to taking 
ownership, and nothing contained in a Transferee Agreement that is in accordance with Exhibit C shall be 
deemed to impose any rights, duties or obligations that are not imposed pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
 (d) Financing.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the City hereby approves, and 
no prior consent or Transferee Agreement shall be required in connection with, the right of a party to 
encumber or collaterally assign its interest in the Redevelopment Project or any portion thereof or its rights 
and interests in this Agreement to secure loans, advances or extensions of credit to finance or from time to 
time refinance all or any part of the Redevelopment Project, or the right of the holder of any such 
encumbrance or transferee of any such collateral assignment (or trustee or agent on its behalf) to transfer 
such interest by foreclosure or transfer in lieu of foreclosure under such encumbrance or collateral 
assignment; provided that all entities lending credit to such party that will obtain a secured interest in the 
party’s interest in the Redevelopment Project through a mortgage, deed of trust or other security interest, 
will include the following language (or such other language acceptable to the City Attorney) in the 
applicable mortgage, deed of trust or other security instrument: 
 

Recognition of Lender to terms of Development and Performance Agreement.  Lender agrees that 
for so long as the [property description] is subject to and receiving abatement of ad valorem real 
property taxes pursuant to the Development and Performance Agreement dated _________, 2022 
among the City of University City, Missouri, Delmar View Properties, LLC and a the Avenir 
Redevelopment Corporation, the [Mortgage] shall be subject to the terms of the Development and 
Performance Agreement and the Lender’s rights under such [Mortgage] shall be subordinate to the 
payment of PILOTs in the same manner as if such PILOTs were ad valorem real property taxes.   

 
 Section 6.3 Indemnification and Hold Harmless.   
 
 (a) The indemnification and covenants contained in this Section shall survive expiration or 
earlier termination of this Agreement.   
 
 (b) The Developer hereby agrees that, anything to the contrary herein notwithstanding, it will 
defend, indemnify and hold harmless the City, its governing body members, employees and agents against 
any and all claims, demands, actions, causes of action, loss, damage, injury, liability and/or expense 
(including attorneys’ fees and court costs) resulting from, arising out of, or in any way connected with (i) 
the Developer’s or the Corporation’s failure to comply with any provision of this Agreement, (ii) the 
negligence or intentional misconduct of the Developer, the Corporation or an Affiliate, or their respective 
officers, employees and agents, (iii) the presence of hazardous wastes, hazardous materials or other 
environmental contaminants on any property within the Redevelopment Area, or (iv) otherwise arising out 
of the construction of the Redevelopment Project, the adoption of the Development Plan, the administration 
of this Agreement or the Chapter 100 Transaction.  If the validity or construction of Chapter 353, the 
Approving Ordinance and/or any other ordinance of the City adopted in connection with this Agreement, 
the Development Plan or the Chapter 100 Transaction or affecting the proposed Redevelopment Project are 
contested in court, the Developer shall defend, hold harmless and indemnify the City from and against all 
claims, demands and/or liabilities of any kind whatsoever including, without limitation, any claim for 

M - 8 - 66



 

 -10- 

 

attorney fees and court costs, and the Developer shall pay any monetary judgment and all court costs 
rendered against the City, if any.   
 
 (c) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the City shall not be liable to the 
Developer or the Corporation for damages or otherwise if all or any part of Chapter 353, the Approving 
Ordinance and/or any other ordinance of the City adopted in connection with this Agreement, the 
Development Plan, the Chapter 100 Transaction or the Redevelopment Corporation is declared invalid or 
unconstitutional in whole or in part by the final (as to which all rights of appeal have expired or have been 
exhausted) judgment of any court of competent jurisdiction.  
 
 (d) Notwithstanding the foregoing terms of this Section, the Developer is not obligated to 
defend, hold harmless or indemnify the City with respect to any matter or expense resulting from or arising 
out of the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the City. 
 
 Section 6.4 Notice.  Whenever notice or other communication is called for herein to be given 
or is otherwise given pursuant hereto, it shall be in writing and shall be sufficiently given or delivered if 
dispatched by certified United States first class mail, postage prepaid, delivered personally, or transmitted 
electronically (and receipt confirmed by telephone or electronic read receipt): 
 

(a) In the case of the City, to: 
 

City of University City 
6801 Delmar Boulevard 
University City, Missouri 63130 
Attn:  City Manager 
grose@ucitymo.org 
 
with copies to: 
 
John F. Mulligan, Jr. 
Attorney at Law 
6 Carrswold 
Clayton, Missouri 63105 
jfmulliganjr@aol.com 
 

(b) In case of the Developer, to: 
 

Delmar View Properties, LLC 
c/o Charles Deutsch & Company 
One McKnight Place 
St. Louis, Missouri  63124 
Attn: Charles J. Deutsch 
cdeutsch@gatecodevelopment.com 
 
with a copy to: 

M - 8 - 67



 

 -11- 

 

 
Spencer Fane LLP 
1 N. Brentwood Boulevard, Suite 1000 
St. Louis, Missouri 63105 
Attn:  Robert Preston, Esq. 
rpreston@spencerfane.com 

 
(c) In case of the Corporation, to: 
 

Avenir Redevelopment Corporation 
c/o Charles Deutsch & Company 
One McKnight Place 
St. Louis, Missouri  63124 
Attn: Charles J. Deutsch 
cdeutsch@gatecodevelopment.com 
 
with a copy to: 
 
Spencer Fane LLP 
1 N. Brentwood Boulevard, Suite 1000 
St. Louis, Missouri 63105 
Attn:  Robert Preston, Esq. 
rpreston@spencerfane.com 

 
All said notices by mail shall be deemed given on the day of deposit in the mail.  A change of designated 
officer or address may be made by a Party by providing written notice of such request to the other party. 
 
 Section 6.5 Severability.  The provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed severable.  If any 
provision of this Agreement is found by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, the remaining 
provisions of this Agreement shall remain valid unless the court finds that the valid provisions are so 
essentially and inseparably connected with and so dependent upon the invalid provision that it cannot be 
presumed that the parties hereto would have agreed to the valid provisions of this Agreement, or unless the 
court finds the valid provisions, standing alone, are incomplete and incapable of being executed in 
accordance with the intent of the Parties.   
 
 Section 6.6 Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Missouri. 
 
 Section 6.7 Developer’s Right of Termination.  At any time the Developer may, by giving 
written notice to the City and the Corporation, terminate this Agreement.  Upon termination of this 
Agreement, the Parties shall have no further rights or obligations hereunder except as may expressly survive 
termination.   
 
 Section 6.8 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of 
which shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 
 
 Section 6.9 Reimbursement of City Expenses. The Developer shall reimburse the City or 
cause reimbursement to the City for the City’s reasonable and actual expenses incurred by the City in 
connection with the approval and administration of this Agreement, the Development Plan and the Chapter 
100 Transaction. 

M - 8 - 68



 

 -12- 

 

 
Section 6.10 Federal Work Authorization Program.  The Developer and any subsequent 

owner receiving tax abatement will comply with and satisfy the requirements of Section 285.530.2, RSMo., 
which requires (a) any business entity receiving tax abatement to, by sworn affidavit and provision of 
documentation, annually affirm its enrollment and participation in a federal work authorization program 
with respect to the employees working in connection with the business entity receiving tax abatement, and 
(b) every such business entity to annually sign an affidavit affirming that it does not knowingly employ any 
person who is an unauthorized alien in connection with the entity receiving tax abatement.  The Developer 
or subsequent owner shall provide such affidavit and documentation to the City upon execution of this 
Agreement and annually on or before November 15 of each year during the term of this Agreement, 
beginning November 15, 2023.   
 
 Section 6.11 Recording.  The Developer shall, within 30 days of execution, record this 
Agreement in the real property records of the St. Louis County County Recorder of Deeds and upon such 
recording shall provide a copy to the City.   
 
 Section 6.12. Electronic Transaction.  The parties agree that the transaction described herein 
may be conducted and related documents may be sent, received or stored by electronic means.  Copies, 
telecopies, facsimiles, electronic files and other reproductions of original executed documents shall be 
deemed to be authentic and valid counterparts of such original documents for all purposes, including the 
filing of any claim, action or suit in the appropriate court of law. 
 

Section 6.13. Anti-Discrimination Against Israel Act.  Pursuant to Section 34.600 of the 
Revised Statutes of Missouri, the Developer and the Corporation each certifies that it is not currently 
engaged in and will not, for the duration of this Agreement, engage in a boycott of goods or services from 
(a) the State of Israel, (b) companies doing business in or with the State of Israel or authorized by, licensed 
by, or organized under the laws of the State of Israel, or (c) persons or entities doing business in the State 
of Israel. 
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.  Signature pages to follow.] 
  

M - 8 - 69



 

 -13- 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have set their hands and seals the day and year first above 
written. 

 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 

 
(SEAL) 
 

By:       
        Gregory Rose, City Manager 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
      
LaRette Reese, City Clerk 
 

 
 
STATE OF MISSOURI ) 

) SS 
COUNTY OF ST. LOUIS ) 
 
 

On this ____ day of ____________, 2022, before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public, appeared 
GREGORY ROSE, to me personally known, who, being by me duly sworn, did say that he is the City 
Manager of the CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, and that the seal affixed to the foregoing 
instrument is the corporate seal of said City, and that said instrument was signed and sealed by authority of 
its City Council, and said officers acknowledged said instrument to be executed for the purposes therein 
stated and as the free act and deed of said City. 
 

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal in the 
County and State aforesaid, the day and year first above written. 
 
 
 
              

Name: ___________________   
Notary Public – State of Missouri 
Commissioned in St. Louis County 

 
(SEAL)  
 
My Commission Expires: 
  

M - 8 - 70



 

 -14- 

 

DELMAR VIEW PROPERTIES, LLC 
 
 
 

       By:       
       Name:       
       Title:       
 

 
STATE OF MISSOURI ) 

) SS 
COUNTY OF ST. LOUIS ) 

 
On this ___ day of ________, 2022, before me appeared _______________, to me personally 

known, who, being by me duly sworn, did say that he is the ________ of DELMAR VIEW 
PROPERTIES, LLC, a Missouri limited liability company, and that he is authorized to sign the foregoing 
instrument on behalf of said limited liability company, and acknowledged to me that he executed the within 
instrument as said limited liability company’s free act and deed. 
 

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal in the 
County and State aforesaid, the day and year first above written. 
 
 
 
              

Name: ___________________   
Notary Public – State of Missouri 
Commissioned in St. Louis County 

 
(SEAL)  
 
My Commission Expires: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[Development and Performance Agreement] 

M - 8 - 71



 

 -15- 

 

 
AVENIR REDEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION 

 
 
 
       By:       
       Name:       
       Title:       

 
 

STATE OF MISSOURI ) 
) SS 

COUNTY OF ST. LOUIS ) 
 
On this ___ day of ________, 2022, before me appeared ____________, to me personally known, 

who, being by me duly sworn, did say that he is the __________ of the AVENIR REDEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION, a Missouri redevelopment corporation, and that he is authorized to sign the foregoing 
instrument on behalf of said redevelopment corporation, and acknowledged to me that he executed the 
within instrument as said redevelopment corporation’s free act and deed. 
 

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal in the 
County and State aforesaid, the day and year first above written. 
 
 
 
              

Name: ___________________   
Notary Public – State of Missouri 
Commissioned in St. Louis County 

 
(SEAL)  
 
My Commission Expires: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[Development and Performance Agreement] 

M - 8 - 72



 
 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE REDEVELOPMENT AREA 
 
 
  
 

M - 8 - 73



 
 

 

 

EXHIBIT B 
 

FORM OF CERTIFICATE OF SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION 
 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION 

 
 

DELMAR VIEW PROPERTIES, LLC (the “Developer”), pursuant to that certain Development 
and Performance Agreement dated as of ____________, 2022 (the “Agreement”), among the City of 
University City, Missouri (the “City”), the Developer, and the Avenir Redevelopment Corporation, hereby 
certifies to the City as follows: 

 
1. That as of ____________, 20___, the Redevelopment Project has been substantially 

completed in accordance with the Agreement. 
 

 2. The Redevelopment Project has been completed in a workmanlike manner and in 
accordance with all applicable zoning, building and other permits issued by the City. 

 
3. Lien waivers for the Redevelopment Project have been obtained. 
 
4. This Certificate of Substantial Completion is accompanied by the project architect’s 

certificate of substantial completion on AIA Form G-704 (or the substantial equivalent thereof), a copy of 
which is attached hereto as Appendix A and by this reference incorporated herein), certifying that the 
Redevelopment Project has been substantially completed in accordance with the Agreement. 

 
5. This Certificate of Substantial Completion is being issued by the Developer to the City in 

accordance with the Agreement to evidence the Developer’s satisfaction of all obligations and covenants 
with respect to the Redevelopment Project. 

 
6. The City’s acceptance (below) in writing to this Certificate and the recordation of this 

Certificate with the St. Louis County County Recorder, shall evidence the satisfaction of the Developer’s 
agreements and covenants to complete the Redevelopment Project. 

 
This Certificate is given without prejudice to any rights against third parties which exist as of the 

date hereof or which may subsequently come into being. 
 
All certifications or statements made or set forth in this Certificate of Substantial Completion are 

made solely for the benefit of the City and shall not be relied upon or used for any purpose by any third 
party in any proceeding, claim or contest of any kind, nature or character. 

 
All capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms 

in the Agreement. 

M - 8 - 74



 

B-2 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has hereunto set his/her hand this _____ day of 
____________, 20___. 

 
DELMAR VIEW PROPERTIES, LLC 

 
       By:       
       Name:       
       Title:       

 
 
ACCEPTED: 
 
CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 
 
 
By:     
 City Manager 
 

 (Insert Notary Form(s) and Legal Description) 
 
 

M - 8 - 75



 
 

 

 

EXHIBIT C 
 

FORM OF TRANSFEREE AGREEMENT 
 
 

This TRANSFEREE AGREEMENT (“Transferee Agreement”) is entered into this ____ day of 
______________, 20__, by and between the CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI (the “City”) 
and ________________, a _______ corporation (“Transferee”). 
 

RECITALS 
 
 A. The real property located at ________________ is subject to that certain Development and 
Performance Agreement dated as of __________, 2022 (the “Development Agreement”) among the City, 
Delmar View Properties, LLC (the “Developer”) and the Avenir Redevelopment Corpration, which 
Development Agreement was recorded in the St. Louis County Recorder of Deeds Office on __________ 
__, 2022, as Document No. _____.  Capitalized words used herein, but not otherwise defined, have the 
meanings set forth in the Development Agreement. 
 
 B. Section 6.2 of the Development Agreement requires, as a condition precedent to certain 
transfers of the Redevelopment Project, that the proposed transferee enter into and deliver to the City this 
Transferee Agreement, obligating the Transferee to comply with the requirements and the obligations of 
the Developer under the Development Agreement. 
 
 C. The parties desire to enter into this Transferee Agreement to satisfy the conditions 
precedent set forth in Section 6.2 of the Development Agreement. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the promises and the covenants entered herein, 
City and Transferee agree as follows: 
 
 1. The Transferee has entered into a purchase contract with the Developer, or an authorized 
successor and assign, pursuant to which the Transferee will acquire the Redevelopment Project. 
 
 2. The Transferee acknowledges that it has been provided with and/or has reviewed the 
Development Agreement, the Development Plan and the Approving Ordinance. 
 
 3. The Transferee acknowledges and agrees that its acquisition, use and enjoyment of the 
Redevelopment Project and any future disposition of the the Redevelopment Project are subject to the terms 
of the Development Agreement, the Development Plan and the Approving Ordinance. 
 
 4. The Transferee acknowledges that in the event of the sale, lease, sublease, assignment, or 
other voluntary or involuntary disposition of the the Redevelopment Project, the obligations of the 
Development Agreement shall continue and shall inure to and be binding upon the heirs, executors, 
administrators, successors and assigns of the respective subsequent transferees as if they were in every case 
specifically named and shall be construed as a covenant running with the land and enforceable as if such 
purchaser, tenant, transferee or other possessor thereof were originally a party to and bound by the 
Development Agreement.  The Transferee assumes the duty to notify any purchaser, tenant, transferee or 
other possessor of the Redevelopment Project of its rights, duties and obligations under the Development 
Agreement.   
 
 5. The parties agree that the intention of this Transferee Agreement is to ensure that 
Transferee has actual notice of the rights, duties and obligations contained in the Development Agreement 

M - 8 - 76



 

C-2 
 

prior to taking ownership of the Redevelopment Project, and nothing contained in this Transferee 
Agreement shall be deemed to impose any rights, duties or obligations that are not imposed pursuant to the 
Development Agreement. 
 
 6. This Transferee Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Missouri. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have set their hands and seals the day and year first 
above written. 
 

CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI 
 
(SEAL) 
 

By:       
Attest:        City Manager 
 
 
 
      
City Clerk 
 
 
       [TRANSFEREE] 
 
 
       By:         
       Name:        
       Title:        
 

M - 8 - 77



M - 8 - 78


	Observe and/or Listen to the Meeting (your options to join the meeting are below):
	Citizen Participation and Public Hearing Comments:
	Blank Page
	E2 - 2022-08-08 Draft Study Session Minutes - Active Shooter and Bike Path Proposal.pdf
	Blank Page

	J1 - All - Ratification Flood Expenses.pdf
	09.12.22

	J2 - Ratifying Signature SEMA Application State_Forms_DR_4665 Signed 09.07.22.pdf
	Blank Page

	J3 - All Pool Pump Replacement.pdf
	Blank Page

	K1.pdf
	Blank Page

	L2 - Bill 9475 - R-O-W.pdf
	4. SUB 22-09 Draft Ordinance (R-O-W Dedication) R.pdf
	LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  A tract of land being part of Lot 6 of Barby Lane, Recorded in Plat Book 61, Page 30, located in Section 8, Township 45 North, Range 6 East, City of University City, St. Louis County, Missouri.
	Blank Page


	All Bill 9479 -  Market at Olive Easment Vacation Ordinance (Elmore Court).pdf
	AN ORDINANCE VACATING AND SURRENDERING THE RIGHT-OF-WAY OF ELMORE COURT.
	NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS:

	Bill 9480 - All Market at Olive Easment Vacation Ordinance Orchard Court).pdf
	AN ORDINANCE VACATING AND SURRENDERING THE RIGHT-OF-WAY OF ORCHARD COURT.
	NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS:

	Bill 9481 - All Market at Olive Easment Vacation Ordinance (Richard Court).pdf
	AN ORDINANCE VACATING AND SURRENDERING THE RIGHT-OF-WAY OF RICHARD COURT.
	NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS:

	Bill 9483 All - Market at Olive Lot Consolidation.pdf
	Blank Page

	Bill 9486 - All Ordinance (Avenir -- Chapter 353).pdf
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	B - #5607716v3_spencerfane-mobility.imanage.work_ - Development and Performance Agreement (Avenir) sf2.1.pdf
	RECITALS
	INCORPORATED ITEMS; DEFINITIONS; EXHIBITS
	Section 1.1 Definitions.  In addition to the terms defined elsewhere in this Agreement, the following capitalized words and terms shall have the following meanings:
	Section 1.2 Exhibits.  The following exhibits are attached to and incorporated into this Agreement:
	(a) Exhibit A – Legal Description of the Redevelopment Area


	THE REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT
	Section 2.1 Project Construction.  Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Developer shall construct, or cause the construction of, the Redevelopment Project in accordance with the Development Plan, this Agreement and all applicabl...
	Section 2.2 Project Site Acquisition.
	(a) The Developer hereby confirms and represents that, as of the date of this Agreement, it owns the Project Site.
	(b) Simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement, the Developer and the City shall enter into the Chapter 100 Documents, including a base lease and lease agreement.
	(c) The Corporation shall acquire the Project Site during the first six months of the calendar year in which the Redevelopment Project is expected to receive a post-completion assessment by the Assessor (with the purpose of the Corporation’s acquisiti...
	(d) The Corporation shall immediately transfer title to the Project Site back to the Developer.
	Section 2.3 Relocation.  The relocation of any person or business from the Redevelopment Area, if any, shall be completed in conformance with applicable state law and City ordinances.  The Parties acknowledge that no relocations are anticipated.
	Section 2.4 Schedule. The Developer shall cause the completion of the Redevelopment Project by December 31, 2025, subject to any excusable delay permitted by Section 3.1; provided, however, in no event shall the required date to complete the Redevelop...

	EXCUSABLE DELAY
	Section 3.1 Excusable Delay.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Development Plan or the Approving Ordinance, the time periods provided for herein shall be automatically extended by the number of days of delay caused by ac...
	ARTICLE IV

	TAX ABATEMENT AND SALES TAX EXEMPTION
	Section 4.1 Tax Abatement.
	(a) Ad valorem real property tax abatement pursuant to Chapter 353 and the Development Plan shall begin in the year in which the Corporation acquires title to the Project Site, as described in Section 2.2(c), and, subject to Section 5.2, shall continu...
	Section 4.2 Emergency Service District Payments.  Notwithstanding any provision hereof to the contrary, the Developer shall make or cause to be made any payments to emergency service districts required by Section 353.110.4(2) of the Revised Statutes ...

	DEFAULT AND REMEDIES
	Section 5.2 Remedies; Results of Termination.

	GENERAL PROVISIONS
	Section 6.3 Indemnification and Hold Harmless.
	(a) The indemnification and covenants contained in this Section shall survive expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement.
	(b) The Developer hereby agrees that, anything to the contrary herein notwithstanding, it will defend, indemnify and hold harmless the City, its governing body members, employees and agents against any and all claims, demands, actions, causes of acti...
	(c) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the City shall not be liable to the Developer or the Corporation for damages or otherwise if all or any part of Chapter 353, the Approving Ordinance and/or any other ordinance of the City adopted i...
	(d) Notwithstanding the foregoing terms of this Section, the Developer is not obligated to defend, hold harmless or indemnify the City with respect to any matter or expense resulting from or arising out of the gross negligence or willful misconduct o...
	Section 6.4 Notice.  Whenever notice or other communication is called for herein to be given or is otherwise given pursuant hereto, it shall be in writing and shall be sufficiently given or delivered if dispatched by certified United States first cla...
	Section 6.5 Severability.  The provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed severable.  If any provision of this Agreement is found by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall remain valid unle...
	Section 6.6 Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Missouri.
	Section 6.7 Developer’s Right of Termination.  At any time the Developer may, by giving written notice to the City and the Corporation, terminate this Agreement.  Upon termination of this Agreement, the Parties shall have no further rights or obligat...
	Section 6.8 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
	Section 6.12. Electronic Transaction.  The parties agree that the transaction described herein may be conducted and related documents may be sent, received or stored by electronic means.  Copies, telecopies, facsimiles, electronic files and other rep...

	Blank Page


	Bill 9482 - All Market at Olive Phase IV Plat.pdf
	Blank Page

	Bill 9485 - All Ordinance (Avenir -- Chapter 100).pdf
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	A - Chapter 100 Plan (Avenir).pdf
	University City, Missouri
	PLAN FOR AN INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT PROJECT
	AND
	COST-BENEFIT ANALYSIS
	Delmar Boulevard Redevelopmnt Area Project
	Blank Page

	C - Lease (Avenir).pdf
	DEFINITIONS
	Section 1.1. Definitions of Words and Terms.  In addition to any words and terms defined elsewhere in this Lease, capitalized words and terms used in this Lease shall have the meanings given to such words and terms in Section 101 of the Indenture (wh...
	Section 1.2. Rules of Interpretation.
	(a) Words of the masculine gender shall be deemed and construed to include correlative words of the feminine and neuter genders.
	(b) Unless the context otherwise indicates, words importing the singular number shall include the plural and vice versa, and words importing Persons shall include firms, associations and corporations, including governmental entities, as well as natur...
	(c) Wherever in this Lease it is provided that either party shall or will make any payment or perform or refrain from performing any act or obligation, each such provision shall, even though not so expressed, be construed as an express covenant to ma...
	(d) All references in this instrument to designated “Articles,” “Sections” and other subdivisions are, unless otherwise specified, to the designated Articles, Sections and other subdivisions of this instrument as originally executed.  The words “here...
	(e) The Table of Contents and the Article and Section headings of this Lease shall not be treated as a part of this Lease or as affecting the true meaning of the provisions hereof.
	(f) Whenever an item or items are listed after the word “including,” such listing is not intended to be a listing that excludes items not listed.


	ARTICLE II
	REPRESENTATIONS
	Section 2.1. Representations by the City.  The City makes the following representations as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained:
	(a) The City is a home-rule city organized and validly existing under its charter and the laws of the State of Missouri.  Under the provisions of the Act, the City has lawful power and authority to enter into the transactions contemplated by this Lea...
	(b) As of the date of delivery hereof, the City agrees to acquire a leasehold interest in the Project Site pursuant to the Base Lease and construct or cause the construction of the Project Improvements.  The City agrees to lease the Project to the De...
	(c) To the City’s knowledge, no member of the City Council or any other officer of the City has any significant or conflicting interest, financial, employment or otherwise, in the Developer or in the transactions contemplated hereby.

	Section 2.2. Representations by the Developer.  The Developer makes the following representations as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained:
	(a) The Developer is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Missouri.
	(b) The Developer has lawful power and authority to enter into this Lease and to carry out its obligations hereunder, and the Developer has been duly authorized to execute and deliver this Lease, acting by and through its duly authorized officers and...
	(c) The execution and delivery of this Lease, the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, and the performance of or compliance with the terms and conditions of this Lease by the Developer will not, to the Developer’s knowledge, conflict...


	GRANTING PROVISIONS
	Section 3.1. Granting of Leasehold Estate.  The City hereby exclusively rents, leases and lets the Project to the Developer, and the Developer hereby rents, leases and hires the Project from the City, subject to the Base Lease and other Permitted Enc...
	Section 3.3. Possession and Use of the Project.
	(a) The City covenants and agrees that as long as neither the City nor the Trustee has exercised any of the remedies set forth in Section 12.2 following the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default, as defined in Section 12.1, the Developer ...
	(b) Subject to the provisions of this Section, the Developer shall have the exclusive right to use the Project for any lawful purpose contemplated by the Act and consistent with the terms of the Development and Performance Agreement.  The Developer s...


	ARTICLE IV
	PURCHASE AND CONSTRUCTION OF THE PROJECT
	Section 4.1. Issuance of the Bonds.  To provide funds for the payment of Project Costs, the City agrees that, upon request of the Developer, it will issue, sell and cause to be delivered the Bonds to the purchaser thereof in accordance with the provi...
	Section 4.2. Purchase and Construction of the Project.  The City and the Developer agree that the Developer, as the agent of the City, shall, but solely from the Project Fund, purchase and construct the Project as follows:
	(a) The City will acquire a leasehold interest in the Project Site at the execution hereof.  Concurrently with the execution of this Lease, (i) the Base Lease will be executed by the City and the Developer and placed of record, and (ii) the commitmen...
	(b) On behalf of the City, the Developer will purchase and construct the Project Improvements on the Project Site and otherwise improve the Project Site in accordance with the Plans and Specifications.  The Developer may revise the Plans and Specific...
	(c) The Developer will comply with the provisions of Section 107.170 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri to the extent applicable to the construction of the Project.
	(d) The Developer will cause the purchase and construction of the Project to be completed on or before the Completion Date, except as otherwise provided in Section 4.5.

	Section 4.3. Project Costs.  The City hereby agrees to pay for, but solely from the Project Fund, and hereby authorizes and directs the Trustee to pay for, but solely from the Project Fund, all Project Costs upon receipt by the Trustee of a certifica...
	Section 4.4. Payment for Project Costs.  The City hereby authorizes and directs the Trustee to make disbursements from the Project Fund and endorse the Bonds, upon receipt by the Trustee of certificates in substantially the form of Exhibit B attached ...
	Section 4.5. Establishment of Completion Date.  The Completion Date shall be evidenced to the City and the Trustee by approval or deemed approval of the Certificate of Substantial Completion required by the Development and Performance Agreement.  Not...
	Section 4.6. Surplus in Project Fund.  Upon receipt of the certificate described in Section 4.5 and payment from the Project Fund of the Project Costs described therein, the Trustee shall, as provided in Section 504 of the Indenture, transfer any rema...
	Section 4.7. Project Property of the City.  The Project Site and the Project Improvements located thereon at the execution hereof and which the Developer desires to lease to the City, all work and materials related to the Project as such work progres...
	Section 4.8. Non-Project Improvements, Machinery and Equipment Property of the Developer.  Any improvements or items of machinery or equipment which do not constitute part of the Project and the entire purchase price of which is paid for by the Devel...

	RENT PROVISIONS
	Section 5.1. Basic Rent.  The Developer covenants and agrees to pay to the Trustee in same day funds for the account of the City during the Lease Term, on or before 11:00 a.m., Trustee’s local time, on each Payment Date, as Basic Rent for the Project...
	Section 5.2. Additional Rent.  The Developer shall pay as Additional Rent, within 30 days after receiving an itemized invoice therefor, the following amounts:
	(a) all fees, charges and expenses, including agent and counsel fees and expenses, of the City, the Trustee and the Paying Agent incurred under or arising from the Indenture, this Lease, the Base Lease or the Development and Performance Agreement, in...
	(b) all costs incident to the issuance of the Bonds (which are to be paid on the Closing Date) and the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds as the same become due and payable, including all costs and expenses in connection with the c...
	(c) all fees, charges and expenses incurred in connection with the enforcement of any rights under this Lease, the Base Lease, the Indenture or the Development and Performance Agreement by the City, the Trustee or the Owners, including counsel fees a...
	(d) all other payments of whatever nature which the Developer has agreed in writing to pay or assume under the provisions of this Lease, the Base Lease, the Development and Performance Agreement or the Indenture.

	Section 5.3. Obligations of the Developer Absolute and Unconditional.
	(a) The obligations of the Developer under this Lease to make payments of Basic Rent and Additional Rent on or before the date the same become due, and to perform all of its other obligations, covenants and agreements hereunder shall be absolute and ...
	(b) Nothing in this Lease shall be construed to release the City from the performance of any agreement on its part herein contained or as a waiver by the Developer of any rights or claims the Developer may have against the City under this Lease or ot...

	Section 5.4. Prepayment of Basic Rent.
	(a) The Developer may at any time and from time to time prepay all or any part of the Basic Rent provided for hereunder (subject to the limitations of Section 301(a) of the Indenture relating to the partial redemption of the Bonds).  During such times...

	ARTICLE VI
	MAINTENANCE, TAXES AND UTILITIES
	Section 6.1. Maintenance and Repairs.  Throughout the Lease Term the Developer shall, at its own expense, keep the Project in reasonably safe operating condition and keep the Project in good repair, reasonable wear, tear, depreciation and obsolescenc...
	Section 6.2. Taxes, Assessments and Other Governmental Charges.  The Developer shall promptly pay and discharge, as the same become due, all taxes and assessments, general and special, and other governmental charges of any kind whatsoever that may be...
	Section 6.3. Utilities.  All utilities and utility services used by the Developer in, on or about the Project shall be paid by the Developer and shall be contracted by the Developer in the Developer’s own name, and the Developer shall, at its sole co...

	ARTICLE VII
	INSURANCE
	Section 7.1. Title Commitment.  Before leasing any real property to the City, the Developer will purchase, from a title insurance company reasonably acceptable to the City, a commitment for title insurance or provide such other report in a form reaso...
	Section 7.2. Casualty Insurance.
	(a) Prior to commencement of construction of the Project Improvements, the Developer shall at its sole cost and expense obtain a policy or policies of insurance (including, if appropriate, builder’s risk insurance) to keep the Project constantly insur...
	(b) In the event of loss or damage to the Project, the Net Proceeds of casualty insurance carried pursuant to this Section shall be (i) paid over to the Trustee and shall be applied as provided in Article IX, or (ii) applied as directed by, or on beh...

	Section 7.3. Public Liability Insurance.
	(a) The Developer shall at its sole cost and expense maintain or cause to be maintained at all times during the Lease Term commercial general liability insurance (including but not limited to coverage for operations, contingent liability, operations o...
	(b) In the event of a general liability occurrence, the Net Proceeds of liability insurance carried pursuant to this Section shall be applied toward the extinguishment or satisfaction of the liability with respect to which such proceeds have been paid.

	Section 7.4. Blanket Insurance Policies.  The Developer may satisfy any of the insurance requirements set forth in this Article by using blanket policies of insurance, provided each and all of the requirements and specifications of this Article respe...
	Section 7.5. Worker’s Compensation.  The Developer agrees throughout the Lease Term to maintain or cause to be maintained the worker’s compensation coverage required by the laws of the State of Missouri.

	ALTERATION OF THE PROJECT
	Section 8.1. Additions, Modifications and Improvements to the Project.
	(a) The Developer may make such additions, modifications and improvements in and to any part of the Project as the Developer from time to time may deem necessary or desirable for its business purposes.  All additions, modifications and improvements ma...
	(b) The Developer shall, following the Completion Date, notify the City in writing of any improvements to the Project that in the aggregate are reasonably expected to exceed $1,000,000 during any calendar year.  If such improvements constitute persona...
	Section 8.2. Additional Improvements on the Project Site.  Subject to Section 8.1(b) and Section 8.5, the Developer may, at its sole cost and expense, construct on portions of the Project Site not theretofore occupied by buildings or improvements suc...
	Section 8.3. Permits and Authorizations.  The Developer shall not do or permit others under its control to do any work on the Project or any repair, rebuilding, restoration, replacement, modification or addition to the Project, or any part thereof, u...
	Section 8.4. Mechanics’ Liens.
	(a) The Developer will not directly or indirectly create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any mechanics’ or other similar lien on or with respect to the Project, and the Developer shall promptly notify the City of the imposition of such lien of whic...
	(b) Notwithstanding Section 8.4(a), the Developer may contest any such mechanics’ or other similar lien if the Developer (i) within 60 days after the Developer becomes aware of any such lien  notifies the City and the Trustee in writing of its intent...


	ARTICLE IX
	DAMAGE, DESTRUCTION AND CONDEMNATION
	Section 9.1. Damage or Destruction.
	(a) If the Project is damaged or destroyed by fire or any other casualty, whether or not covered by insurance, the Developer, as promptly as practicable, shall either (i) make the determination described in Section 9.1(f), or (ii) repair, restore, re...
	(b) If any of the insurance monies paid by the insurance company as hereinabove provided remain after the completion of such repairs, restoration, replacement or rebuilding, and this Lease has not been terminated, the excess shall be deposited in the...
	(c) Except as otherwise provided in this Lease, in the event of any such damage by fire or any other casualty, the provisions of this Lease shall be unaffected and the Developer shall remain and continue liable for the payment of all Basic Rent and A...
	(d) The Developer will prosecute or defend any action or proceeding arising out of, or for the collection of any insurance monies that may be due in the event of, any loss or damage.
	(e) The Developer agrees to give prompt written notice to the City, the Trustee and the Lender of all fires and any other casualties occurring in, on, at or about the Project Site.
	(f) If the Developer determines that rebuilding, repairing, restoring or replacing the Project is not practicable or desirable, or if the Developer does not have the right under the Fee Deed of Trust, any Leasehold Mortgage or any other Financing Doc...
	(g) The Developer shall not, by reason of its inability to use all or any part of the Project during any period in which the Project is damaged or destroyed or is being repaired, rebuilt, restored or replaced, nor by reason of the payment of the cost...

	Section 9.2. Condemnation.
	(a) If during the Lease Term, title to, or the temporary use of, all or any part of the Project is condemned by or sold under threat of condemnation to any authority possessing the power of eminent domain, to such extent that the claim or loss result...
	(b) If the Developer determines that such substitution is practicable and desirable, the Developer shall proceed promptly with and complete with reasonable dispatch the acquisition or construction of such substitute improvements, so as to place the P...
	(c) If the Developer determines that it is not practicable or desirable to acquire or construct substitute improvements, or if the Developer does not have the right under the Fee Deed of Trust to use any Net Proceeds of condemnation awards received b...
	(d) The Developer shall not, by reason of its inability to use all or any part of the Project during any such period of restoration or acquisition nor by reason of the payment of the costs of such restoration or acquisition, be entitled to any reimbu...
	(e) The City shall cooperate fully with the Developer in the handling and conduct of any prospective or pending condemnation proceedings with respect to the Project or any part thereof, and shall, to the extent it may lawfully do so, permit the Devel...

	Section 9.3. Bondowner Approval.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article IX, subject to the rights of the Lender, the proceeds of any insurance received subsequent to a casualty or of any condemnation proceedings (or threa...

	ARTICLE X
	SPECIAL COVENANTS
	Section 10.1. No Warranty of Condition or Suitability by the City; Exculpation and Indemnification.  The City makes no warranty, either express or implied, as to the condition of the Project or that it will be suitable for the Developer’s purposes or...
	Section 10.2. Surrender of Possession.  Upon accrual of the City’s right of re-entry to the extent provided in Section 12.2(b), the Developer shall peacefully surrender possession of the Project to the City in good condition and repair; provided, how...
	Section 10.3. Right of Access to the Project.  The City may conduct such periodic inspections of the Project as may be generally provided in the City’s municipal code.  In addition, the Developer agrees that the City and the Trustee and their duly au...
	Section 10.4. Granting of Easements; Leasehold Mortgages and Financing Arrangements.
	(a) Subject to Sections 10.4(c) and (d), if no Event of Default under this Lease has happened and is continuing, the City agrees that it will execute and deliver and will cause and direct the Trustee to execute and deliver any instrument necessary or...
	(b) Subject to the Fee Deed of Trust, the Developer may mortgage or grant a deed of trust against the leasehold estate created by this Lease, with prior notice to but without the consent of the City, provided and upon condition that a duplicate origi...
	(c) The City acknowledges and agrees that the Developer may finance and refinance its rights and interests in the Project, this Lease and the leasehold estate created hereby and, in connection therewith and subject to the terms of the Loan Documents,...
	(i) there shall be no merger of this Lease or of the leasehold estate created hereby with fee title to the Project, notwithstanding that this Lease or said leasehold estate and said fee title shall be owned by the same Person or Persons, without the ...


	Section 10.5. Indemnification of City and Trustee.  The Developer shall indemnify and save and hold harmless the City and the Trustee and their governing body members, officers, agents and employees from and against all claims, demands, costs, liabil...
	Section 10.6. Depreciation, Investment Tax Credit and Other Tax Benefits.  This Lease is intended to convey to the Developer all of the benefits and burdens of ownership and to cause the Developer to be treated as the owner of the Project for federal...
	Section 10.7. Developer to Maintain its Existence.  The Developer agrees that until the Bonds are paid or payment is provided for in accordance with the terms of the Indenture, it will maintain its corporate existence in good standing, and will not d...
	Section 10.8. Security Interests.  The City and the Developer hereby authorize the Trustee to file all appropriate financing and continuation statements as may be required under the Uniform Commercial Code in order to fully preserve and protect the s...
	Section 10.9. Environmental Matters, Warranties, Covenants and Indemnities Regarding Environmental Matters.
	(a) As used in this Section, the following terms have the following meanings:
	(b) The Developer warrants and represents to the City and the Trustee that to the knowledge of the Developer there are no conditions on the Project Site which materially violate any applicable Environmental Laws and no claims or demands have been ass...
	(c) The Developer will provide the City and the Trustee with copies of any notifications of releases of Hazardous Substances or of any environmental hazards or potential hazards in material violation of Environmental Laws which are given by or on beh...
	(d) The Developer warrants and represents that the Developer has provided the City and the Trustee with copies of all emergency and hazardous chemical inventory forms (hereinafter “Environmental Notices”) showing Hazardous Substances on the Project S...
	(e) The Developer will comply with and operate and at all times use, keep and maintain the Project and every part thereof (whether or not such property constitutes a facility, as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 9601 et. seq.) in material conformance with all ...
	(f) The Developer agrees to indemnify, protect and hold harmless the City and the Trustee and their directors, officers, shareholders, officials or employees from and against any and all claims, demands, costs, liabilities, damages or expenses, inclu...


	ARTICLE XI
	OPTION AND OBLIGATION TO PURCHASE THE PROJECT
	Section 11.1. Option to Purchase the Project.  The Developer shall have, and is hereby granted, the option to purchase all or any portion of the City’s interest in the Project at any time, upon payment in full or redemption of the Outstanding Bonds t...
	(a) an amount of money which, when added to the amount then on deposit in the Bond Fund, will be sufficient to redeem all or a portion of the then-Outstanding Bonds on the earliest redemption date next succeeding the closing date, including, without ...
	(b) an amount of money equal to the Trustee’s and the Paying Agent’s agreed to and reasonable fees, charges and expenses under the Indenture accrued and to accrue until such redemption of the Bonds; plus
	(c) an amount of money equal to the City’s reasonable charges and expenses incurred in connection with the Developer exercising its option to purchase all or a portion of the Project; plus
	(d) an amount of money equal to all payments due and payable pursuant to the Development and Performance Agreement through the end of the calendar year in which the date of purchase occurs; plus
	(e) the sum of $10.00.

	Section 11.2. Conveyance of the Project.  At the closing of the purchase of the Project pursuant to this Article, the City will upon receipt of the purchase price deliver to the Developer the following:
	(a) a release from the Trustee of the Project from the lien and/or security interest of the Indenture and this Lease and appropriate termination of financing statements as required under the Uniform Commercial Code; and
	(b) such other documents as reasonably necessary to effectuate the conveyance of the Project, including without limitation a termination of the Base Lease and this Lease.

	Section 11.3. Relative Position of Option and Indenture.  The option to purchase the Project granted to the Developer in this Article shall be and remain prior and superior to the Indenture and may be exercised whether or not the Developer is in defa...
	Section 11.4. Obligation to Purchase the Project.  The Developer hereby agrees to purchase, and the City hereby agrees to sell, the Project upon the occurrence of (a) the expiration of the Lease Term following full payment of the Bonds or provision f...

	ARTICLE XII
	DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES
	Section 12.1. Events of Default.  If any one or more of the following events occurs and is continuing, it is hereby defined as and declared to be and to constitute an “Event of Default” under this Lease:
	(a) default in the due and punctual payment of Basic Rent or Additional Rent within 10 days after written notice thereof from the City to the Developer and the Lender; or
	(b) default in the due observance or performance of any other covenant, agreement, obligation or provision of this Lease on the Developer’s part to be observed or performed, and such default continues for 60 days after the City or the Trustee has giv...
	(c) the Developer:  (i) admits in writing its inability to pay its debts as they become due; or (ii) files a petition in bankruptcy or for reorganization, arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution or similar relief under the Ba...
	(d) an Event of Default under the Development and Performance Agreement, as defined in Section 5.1 thereof.

	Section 12.2. Remedies on Default.  If any Event of Default referred to in Section 12.1 has occurred and continues beyond the period provided to cure, then the City may at the City’s election (subject, however, to any restrictions against acceleratio...
	(a) cause all amounts payable with respect to the Bonds for the remainder of the term of this Lease to become due and payable, as provided in the Indenture; or
	(b) give the Developer written notice of intention to terminate this Lease on a date specified therein, which date shall not be earlier than 60 days after such notice is given, and if all defaults have not then been cured, on the date so specified, t...

	Section 12.3. Survival of Obligations.  The Developer covenants and agrees with the City and Owners that its obligations under this Lease shall survive the cancellation and termination of this Lease, for any cause, and that the Developer shall contin...
	Section 12.4. Performance of the Developer’s Obligations by the City.  Upon an Event of Default, the City, or the Trustee in the City’s name, may (but shall not be obligated so to do) upon the continuance of such failure on the Developer’s part for 6...
	Section 12.6. Waiver of Breach.  No waiver of any breach of any covenant or agreement herein contained shall operate as a waiver of any subsequent breach of the same covenant or agreement or as a waiver of any breach of any other covenant or agreemen...
	Section 12.7. Trustee’s Exercise of the City’s Remedies.  Whenever any Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Trustee may, but except as otherwise provided in the Indenture shall not be obliged to, exercise any or all of the rights of t...

	ARTICLE XIII
	ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLEASE
	Section 13.1. Assignment; Sublease.
	(a) The Developer may assign, transfer, encumber or dispose of this Lease or any interest herein or part hereof for any lawful purpose under the Act.  Except as otherwise provided in this Section, the Developer must obtain the City’s prior written co...
	(b) With respect to any assignment, the Developer or the Lender, as applicable, shall comply with the following conditions:
	(i) the Developer shall notify the City of the assignment in writing;
	(ii) such assignment shall be duly executed and acknowledged by the assignor and in proper form for recording;
	(iii) such assignment shall include the entire then unexpired term of this Lease; and
	(iv) a duplicate original of such assignment shall be delivered to the City and the Trustee within 10 days after the execution thereof, together with an assumption agreement, duly executed and acknowledged by the assignee and in proper form for recor...

	(c) Any assignee of all the rights of the Developer shall agree to be bound by the terms of this Lease, the Base Lease, the Development and Performance Agreement and any other documents related to the issuance of the Bonds.  Upon such assignment of a...
	Section 13.2. Assignment of Revenues by City.  The City shall assign and pledge any rents, revenues and receipts receivable under this Lease, to the Trustee pursuant to the Indenture as security for payment of the principal of and interest and premiu...

	Section 13.3. Prohibition Against Mortgage of Project.  The City shall not mortgage its leasehold interest in the Project but may assign its interest in and pledge any moneys receivable under this Lease to the Trustee pursuant to the Indenture as sec...
	Section 13.4. Restrictions on Sale or Encumbrance of Project by City.  During the Lease Term, the City agrees that, except to secure the Bonds to be issued pursuant to the Indenture and except to enforce its rights under Section 12.2(b), it will not ...

	ARTICLE XIV
	AMENDMENTS, CHANGES AND MODIFICATIONS
	Section 14.1. Amendments, Changes and Modifications.  Except as otherwise provided in this Lease or in the Indenture, subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds and before the payment in full of the Bonds (or provision for the payment thereof having bee...

	ARTICLE XV
	MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
	Section 15.1. Notices.  All notices, certificates or other communications required or desired to be given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed duly given when (a) mailed by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, or (b) sent by ov...
	Section 15.2. City Shall Not Unreasonably Withhold Consents and Approvals.  Wherever in this Lease it is provided that the City shall, may or must give its approval or consent, or execute supplemental agreements or schedules, the City shall not unrea...
	Section 15.3. Net Lease.  The parties hereto agree (a) that this Lease shall be deemed and construed to be a net lease, (b) that the payments of Basic Rent are designed to provide the City and the Trustee funds adequate in amount to pay all principal...
	Section 15.4. Limitation on Liability of City.  No provision, covenant or agreement contained in this Lease, the Indenture or the Bonds, or any obligation herein or therein imposed upon the City, or the breach thereof, shall constitute or give rise t...
	Section 15.5. Governing Law.  This Lease shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Missouri.
	Section 15.6. Binding Effect; Third-Party Beneficiary.  This Lease shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the City and the Developer and their respective successors and assigns.  The Lender shall be a third-party beneficiary of any p...
	Section 15.7. Severability.  If for any reason any provision of this Lease shall be determined to be invalid or unenforceable, the validity and enforceability of the other provisions hereof shall not be affected thereby.
	Section 15.8. Execution in Counterparts.  This Lease may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument.
	Section 15.9. Electronic Transaction.  The parties agree that the transaction described herein may be conducted and related documents may be sent, received or stored by electronic means. Copies, telecopies, facsimiles, electronic files and other repr...

	Blank Page

	D - Indenture (Avenir).pdf
	TRUST INDENTURE
	TRUST INDENTURE
	(b) In determining whether the Owners of the requisite principal amount of Bonds Outstanding have given any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent or waiver under this Indenture, Bonds owned by the Developer shall be disregarded a...
	EXHIBIT A

	No. 1 Not to Exceed
	OWNER:     ______________________________
	MAXIMUM PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: NINETY MILLION DOLLARS
	Blank Page

	E - BPA (Avenir).pdf
	SECTION 7. APPLICABLE LAW; ASSIGNABILITY
	Blank Page


	J3 - All Pool Pump Replacement.pdf
	Blank Page




